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Pursuant to Article VIII of the Treaty of Arbitration gigned
at Washington on the ¢nd day of February, 1807, between the
United States of Venezuela and Her Majesty, the Queen of Greal
Britain and Ireland, the Agent of Venezuela before the Arbitration
Tribunal has the hovor to submit herewith the printed argument
prepared by the counsel for Venezuela.

The Agent also has the honor to present a number of papers
which have been prepared by His Excellency Sefior Rafael Seijas,
ormerly Minister of Foreign Affairsof the Republicof Venezuela,
as also two papers prepared by the undersigned Agent.

The papers by Sefior Seijas and by the undersigned will be
found at pages iii—lxxx of Volume II.

Respectfully submitted,

J. M. pE RoJjas,
Agent of Venezuela.

W asENGTON, D. C., December 15, 1808,






Nrew York, December 15, 1898,

Your Excellency:

We have the honor to hand you herewith the printed argu-
ment prepared by us, as counsel of the United States of Vene-
zuela, in order that, in pursuance of Article VIII of the Treaty
of Arbitration between Venezuela and Great Britain, signed at
Washington, February 2, 1887, it may be delivered to the Arbi-
trators and to the Agent of the British Government.

Very respectfully,

BENJAMIN HARRISON,

BENJAMIN F. TRACY,

8. MALLET-PREVOST,

JAMES RUSSELL SOLEY,
Counsel for Venezuela.

To His Excellency, J. M. bE RoJas,
Agent of Venssuela.
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CHAPTER L

GENERAL OUTLINE OF THE CONTROVERSY.

The purpose of the Treaty by which this high Tribunal bas
been constituted is to make *' a speedy and final settlement” of a
boundary dispute of long standing, which arose in Guiana be-
tween the Kingdom of Spain and the Netherlands, and which was
left unsettled by them at the time of the acquisition of their ter-
ritories by their successors in title, Venezuela and Great Britain,
Neither the Netherlands nor Spain is a party to the present con-
troversy.

The original title of Spain to Guiana, that is to say, the terri-
tory between the Orinoco and the Amazon, rested upon discovery
and occupation.

The mainland of South America was discovered by Columbus
in 1498 in this very region. In the following years his lieutenants
explored the coast between the Amazon and the Orinoco. During
the first quarter of the sixteenth century, charters were granted
and settlements established by Spain in various parts of South
America, the city of Cumané, a short distance to the west of the
Orinoco, being one of the most ancient.

In 1530, a grant of Guiana was made by the Spanish Crown
to Diego de Ordaz. The charter defined the grant as including
the coast from the Orinoco to the Amazon. In 1531, Ordaz, in
command of an expedition, took possession under his charter,
ascending the Orinoco for six hundred miles. In 1537, his lieu-
tenant, Herrera, ascended the Orinoco still further.
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Many other Spanish expeditions are recorded during the six-
teenth century, the last and most important of them being that
of Antonio de Berrio, which started in 1582 from Santa Fé, the
capital of the New Kingdom of Granada, and proceeded down the
Meta and the Orinoco, finally establishing settlements on the
island of Trinidad and at Santo Thome, on the east or south bank
of the Orinoco, and therefore in the territory of Guiana, in 1591.
Berrio was appointed by the King of Spain, Governor and
Captain-General of Guiana, and the boundaries of his province
were defined as the Orinoco and the Amazon, and included also
the island of Trinidad. In 1595, Vera, Berrio’s principal lieuten-
ant, brought out an expedition from Spain, numbering two
thousand persons, as colonists, soldiers and missionaries,

During the ten years following the foundation of Santo
Thome expeditions were made from time to time and at various
points along the coast of Guiana and in the interior, of which
formal possession was taken with solemn ceremonies by Berrio,
The Essequibo is mentioned among the points frequented by Ber-
rio's lieutenants. It was early settled by the Spaniards, and
supplies of provisions for Santo Thome and Trinidad were obtained
from there. Trade was carried on at that point and in the inter-
vening territory of Barima and Moruca.

In 1581 the Netherlands formally renounced the sovereignty of
Spain, of which they had until that time been the vassals, and
the war then raging between the two countries continued until
1648, with an interval of truce from 1609 to 1621.

The first mention of a Dutch voyage to Guiana was in 1598,
when a trading vessel of the Dutch ascended the Orinoco to Santo
Thome. The Dutchman Cabeliau took part in the voyage and
gave an account of it. It was purely a mercantile venture.

No Dutch settlement is mentioned on the coast of Guiana prior
to 1613, in which year the Spaniards surprised and destroyed
their settlement upon the river Corentin. No Dutch settle-
ment i8 known at this period west of the Corentin; but in 1616
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there was a settlement of Spaniards, who were engaged in tilling
the soil in Essequibo.

In 1621, the truce having come to an end, the Dutch West India
Company was chartered by the Netherlands for the purpose of
concentrating Dutch trade and maritime enterprise in connection
with both continents of America in the hands of a single com-
pany. About 1626 the company sent persons to “ lie " in the river
Essequibo, and at some time within the next eighteen years a fort
was built upon the site of an earlier Spanish fort on the island of
Kykoveral, situated in the Mazaruni River, close to the point at
which it empties into the Essequibo.

By the Treaty of Munster (1648), at the end of the war, Spain
acknowledged the independence of the Netherlands, and released
and confirmed the possession to them of the places which they at
that date ‘* held and possessed.” At that date the Dutch held and
poesessed several places in the territory of Guiana, such as Suri-
pam, Berbice, and Essequibo. During the war they had also
twice successfully attacked and sacked Santo Thome, the Spanish
capital of Guiana. As far as the evidence shows, however, the
westernmost of the places held or possessed by the Dutch at the
date of the Treaty was the fort at Kykoveral.

Upon the facts, Venezuela contende that an original title was
established and perfected by Spain to the whole of Guiana by dis-
covery and occupation; that by the Treaty of Munster, at the close
of the Thirty Years’ War, Spain confirmed the Dutch title to the
places they held and possessed at the date of the Treaty, which
places they had acquired by conquest during the war, and that the
weatarnmost of the places so held and possessed was the island of
Kykoveral, to which access from the sea was only obtained by the
river Essequibo; that therefore the river Essequibo, with the said
island, forms the western boundary of Dutch acquisition in 1848,
and determines the western limit of the Dutch territories at that
period.
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During the following period, lasting for one hundred and sixty-
gix years, the Dutch remained in possession of the Essequibo, and
gradually developed a settlement and plantations on that river.
At first the centre of settlement was the island of Kykoveral, the
plantations being grouped around it on the neighboring banks of
the Essequibo, the Cuyuni and the Massaruni.

All these rivers, at a distance of less than twenty miles from
their point of union, are obstructed by falls or rapids, at which
point navigation ends. The settlements never went beyond these
falls. Their tendency during the whole period of Dutch rule was
down the river, until finally the neighborhood of the original post
was almost abandoned, the plantations growing in number and
extent, however, towards the river mouth.

In 1858 a new colony was established on the Pomeroon, a
river about thirty miles northwest of the Essequibo, emptying into
the sea. This was destroyed by a hostile English attack in 1665,
again founded in 1686, and finally destroyed by the French in
1689. From that time Dutch dominion on the Pomeroon was
only asserted by a trading post. The territory west of Moruca,
where the post was finally placed, the Dutch never settled, and
hardly traversed, except in the early period for the purpose of
trading with the Spaniards of Orinoco.

In 1674 the Dutch West India Company came to an end, and a
charter was given to a new company, which took the place of the
old one, but whose operations were restricted specifically to Esse-
quibo and Pomeroon,

A great growth of Spanish settlement was witnessed in the
territory on the upper Cuyuni and its tributaries, starting from
the immediate neighborhood of Santo Thome, until at the end of
the eighteenth century there were over thirty such settlements in
this gquarter, most of them conducted by Spanish missionaries.
There were also important towns, such as Upata and Tupuquen.
Great numbers of Indians established themselves with the
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Spaniards at the mission settlements, and under their direction
and supervision engaged in agriculture or other occupations.
The produce of these towns and settlements, especially the
tobacco of Upata and the cattle and bides from the missions,
became the principal exports of the Spanish colony. A fort was
placed oa the south bank of the Cuyuni, oppoeite the Curumo.

The Spaniards also maintained an occupation of the lower
Orinoco, which gradually developed until at the end of this
period there were five posts at intervals on the banks of the river
or ita islands below the old site of Santo Thome. Above that
point waa the capital, Angostura, and the important settlements
of Suay, Piacoa and others, all on the soutb of the Orinoco. The
lowest of the flve posta on the river was a pilot station on
Papagos Island, a sbort distance above the river mouth.

'The dispute between Spain and the Netherlands as to the
posses-gion of territory west of the falls of the Cuyuni, in the
interior, and of Easequibo, on the coast, firat arose on the
occasion of the sta-tioning of a trading agent by the Dutch in
the Cuyuni at a point about fifty miles from its mouth, or from
thirty-five to forty miles above the falls which marked the limit
of Dutch settlement. The Spanish Commandant of Guayana,
asgerting that this was an intruwsion upon Spauish territory,
destroyed the post in 1788 and made prisonersof the occupants,
upon which the Netherlands made a remonstrance. The Dulch
remonstrance was not pressed, and no attention was ever paid to
it by Spain, which thereafter maintained an active patrol of the
interior and of the coast territory to the limits of Dutch
settlement.

In 1810 Venezuela declared her independence of Spain, and
after a protracted war obtained its recognition.

By the final Treaty of Peace and Recognition between
Vene-suela and Spain, dated March 80, 1845, Spain ‘' renounces
for her-self, her heirs and successors the sovereignty, rights and
action which she has upon the American territory known under
the
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old name of Captaincy General of Venezuela, now Republic of
Venezuela,” (V. C., vol, iii, p. 48.)

Article IT defines the territory thus renounced and ceded as
follows:

“In consequence of this renunciation and cession H. M. recognizes the
Republic of Veneanels as » free, sovereign and independent nation, com-
posed of the provinces aud territories mentioned in her Constitution and
other posterior laws, to wit : Margarita, Guayana, Cumana, Barcelona, Car-
acas, Carabobo, Barquisimeto, Barinas, Apure, Merida, Trujillo, Coro and
Maracaibo and any other territories or islande which may belong to her.”
(V. C., vol. iii, pp. 48-49).

The boundary of the province of Guayana is stated in the
Instruccion of Don Jose Abalos, Intendant General of the Cap-
taincy General of Venezuela, in February, 1779, ** for the settle-
ment of the Proviuce of Guayana,” as follows:

“The bonndaries of the said Province of Guayana, which begins, on
its eastern side, to windward of the outflow of the River Orinoco into the

sea on the border of the Dutch Colony of Essequibo.” (B. C., IV, pp. 194
195.)

During the war of 1803 the British took Easequibo and held it
by military occupation until 1814. By the First Additional Ar-
ticle of the Treaty of London dated August 13, 1814, the
Netherlands ceded to Great Brituin the ‘‘establishments of
Demerara, Essequibo and Berbice.” (V. C., vol. iii, p. 47.) The
territory ceded came subsequently to be known as British
Guiana.

It has been the contention of Venezuela that at the time of the
acquisition of British Guiana by Great Britain, in 1814, the
western boundary of the Dutch territory was the boundary which
had been established by the Treaty of Munster, and that the
Spanish title to the territory west of that boundary had not been
divested by any act of the Dutch in the intervening period; that
in so far as the rule of adverse holding which has been agreed to
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by Venezuela in the Treaty of Arbitration is concerned, no exten-
gion of Dutch settlement or control beyond the boundaries here-
tofore named has brought the Dutch occupation during this
period within the terms of the rule, and that the boundariee
existing in 1814 are, therefore, the same as those existing in
1648,

No question as to the boundary arocse hetween Venezuela and
Great Britain until 1841, when the British Surveyor Schomburgk
set up boundary poste along a certain line, afterwards known as
‘“the Schomburgk line,” upon territory to which Venesuela
claims title. Upon the protest of Venezuela, Great Britain dis-
claimed any intention of asserting dominion by the placing of the
poets, and removed them. A negotiation between Lord Aberdeen
and Seflor Fortique thereupon took place in reference to the
boundary, which, however, came to no result.

As to the period from 1814 to 1897, Venesusla contends that,
ander the terms of the Treaty by which the Arbitrators were
directed to ¢ investigate and ascertain the extent of the territories
belonging to, or that might lawfully be claimed by, the United
Netherlands or by the Kingdom of Spain respectively at the time
of the acquisition by QGreat Britain of the Colony of British
Guiapa,” the cousideration of acts performed by Great Britain
snbsequent to this period is excluded, in 8o far as the question of
establishing the title by adverse holding is concerned.

The apprehension of attempts to occupy the territory in dispute
led, in 1850, to an exchange of notes between the two parties,
embodying an agreement on the part of each not to occupy or
encroach upon the territory in dispute. Charges have been made
on one side or the other of violations of the agreement, and, in
consequence of Great Britain’s refusal to withdraw her stations
and officials from the disputed territory, diplomatic relations were
broken off by Venesuela in 1887. The agreement has never been
abrogated, however, and was appealed to by Great Britain as late
a8 the year last mentioned.
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Negotiations have from time to time been attempted in refer-
ence to the boundary, in the latest of which, that in 1893, Great
Britain laid claim not only to the territory bounded by the Schom-
burgk line, but to a vast region to the west of it, including
territory which had been occupied by the Spanish settlements of
the eighteenth century. These negotiations have proved fruitless.

During the last twelve years settlements have been made in
the disputed territory under the authority of Great Britain,
lands have been allotted, plantations established, numerous police
stations and Government offices have been erected, and an
enormous revenue has been derived by the Colonial authorities
from the royalty on gold mining.




CHAPTER IL
THE TREATY OF ARBITRATION.

Before proceeding tu the consideration of the facts which are
made, by the Treaty, the subject of inquiry in the present contro-
versy, it is necessary to examine the provisions of the Treaty
itaelf.

L THE PURPOSE OF THE TREATY.

The purpose of the Treaty of Arbitration entered into by and
between the Governments of Great Britain and Venezuela is stated
in the preamble as follows:

¢ Her Majesty the Queen of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and
Ireland, and the United States of Venezuela, being desirous to provide for
an amicsable settlement of the question which has arisen between their re-
gpective Governments concerning the boundary between the Colony of
British Guians and the United States of Venezuels, have resolved to submit
to arbitration the question involved."”

I. THE QUESTION IN CONTROVERSY.

The duty imposed upon the Tribunal is stated in Article T of
the Treaty as follows:

« An Arbitral Tribunal shall be immediately appointed to determine the
boundary-line between the Colony of British Guisua and the United States
of Veneznela."

The first point to be noticed in the Treaty is that the question
in controversy, as established both by the preamble and by Article
I, is ““to determine the boundary-line between the Colony of
British Guiana and the United States of Venezuela.” This fact is
of prime importance. What is to be determined is the boundary
line, and the boundary line between two Btates. It is a single
line. The States are recognized as coterminous. The territory in
question is territory that belonge either to one or to the other.
There are not two boundary lines to be fixed. There is no inter-
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mediate stretch of territory between the two States which belongs
to neither. The boundary is a line which marks not only the
frontier of one, but the frontier of the other.

This statement of the question in controversy is in accordance
with the history of the dispute. From the time the question of
frontiers first arose by the confirmation of the Dutch title to what
they ““held and possessed” in 1648, it has been a question of a
boundary line between two coterminous States. It has never
been regarded otherwise by either the present contestants or by
their respective predecessurs in the title, Spain and the Nether-
lands. There never has been a time when either party admitied
or in any way implied the existence of an unappropriated belt of
territory between them. Nor has any third party ever suggested
the existence of such a belt.

The British Counter-Case, however, ignoring the fundamental
article of the Treaty that the question to be decided is a single
boundary line, and that the territories of the parties to the Treaty
are thereby recognized as coterminous, advances an extraordinary
proposition, of which no intimation is conveyed by the Case, as to
the acts of Great Britain during the present century as a founda-
tion for British territorial claims. It states (p. 108):

‘“ Moreover, there has been nothing to prevent the extension of British
settlement and contrel if the regions into which such extension was made
were st the time lying vacant. Territory added to the British Colony by
such extension cannot be awarded to Venezuela, however recent the British
possession may have been.”

The meaning of the above passage depends entirely upon the
significance of the word ‘‘vacant,” If by that word is meant
merely ** unoccupied by settlements,” no more extravagant pre-
tension was ever made as to the right of territorial extension.
It would amount to saying that any State may extend its settle-
ment and control info adjoining regions which were unoccupied
Ly actual settlement, irrespective of any question of title to those
regions. It would mean, for example, that the United States
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might, by means of settlement and control, extend the bounda-
ries of Alaska, oreven of the States lying on its northern frontier,
by the mere encroachments of settlers under its political control
into the neighboring territory of British Columbia, on the ground
that *‘ the regions into which such extension was made were at
the time lying vacant.” Itis an attempt to make frontiers de-
pendent not upon title, but upon settlement; and if such a theory
were correct, no State would be safe from encroachment unless
its frontier territory was populated throughout its whole extent.
If, on the otber hand, by the words * lying vacant,” as used in
the above passage, it is meant, “ not under any claim of title by a
civilized State,” then the proposition has no application to the
present controversy, unless, at the time of the encroachments,
there was a region of territory, intermediate between Venezuela
and British Guiana, which belonged to neither; which was under
no claim of title by auny civilized State; or, in fine, which was
terra nullius.

The Counter-Case, however, leaves no doubt that of the two
meanings above suggested the latter is the one intended to be
conveyed. It makes the statement, on page 114:

 Great Britain denies thnt her present occupation (extending to the
Schomburgk line) does in fact include sny greater extent of territory than
was occupied or politically controlled by the Dutch and by Great Britain
gince her gnccession to the Duteh title The only change has been that in
the lust fifteen or twenty years her occupation of the outlying districta has
been marked by more complete political administration. But even if that
were not so Her Majesty's Government would be entitled to retain the whole
territory up to the Schomburgk line, on the simple ground that at the
date of the Treaty of Arbitration they were in possession, and that the

territory in question cannot be shown to have ever belonged either to Spain
or Venezueln." (B. C.-C., p. 114.)

The above passage makes it clear that in the previous citation
the regions that are referred to as “lying vacant” were regions
that helonged to nobody. The passage lays down three proposi-
tions:
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(1) That the territory in dispute, up to the Schomburgk line,
belonged neither to Spain nor to Venezuela.

(9) That at the date of the Treaty of Arbitration, Her
Majesty’s Government were in possession of it.

(8) That by reason of this fact alone, even without any earlier
occupation or political control by the Netherlands or by Great
Britain, they are entitled to retain the whole territory.

The propositions above cited amount to saying that if the ter-
ritory in dispute was not Dutch, neither was it Spanish, and as
certainly no third party had a claim to it, it was open to the occu-
pation of the first comer; that no other State having taken
poesession, and that Great Britain at the time of the Treaty of
Arbitration, namely, 1897, having acquired such possession, her
title is thereby established.

The above claim is in substance a claim that the houndary line
shall be determined not, as provided in Article III of the Treaty,
by the conditions existing in 1814, but by those existing at the
date of the Treaty of Arbitration in 1897. It ignores all reference
lo 1814; ignores the Spanish title originally established over the
whole of this territory, and the indisputable fact that both parties
to the controversy have from the beginning regarded the terri-
tory in controversy as belonging either to one or the other,

While the question whether any portions of Europe or
America were a subject of colonization by the civilized world
may bave been open to discussion in the last century, it can
hardly be said to be open to discussion now. The guestion
whether territory in a given locality is open to colonization is
a question of fact, depending upon whether that territory has
been so occupied by any civilized State that a title has been
acquired thereto. We shall have occasion repeatedly in the
course of this argument to refer to the fact that a large part of
the territory of many civilized States is more or less destitute of
settlement. The fact is true even of some European countries.
It is also true of large tracts of territory on the American conti-
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nent. The title, however, of the States within which such terri-
tories are included is not thereby rendered inoperative, nor are
such territories, by reason of their unsettled character, the sub-
ject of colonization by any and every civilized State that may
undertake the planting of colonies. Certainly this is true of the
entire continent of Europe, whether settled or unsettled. It is
submitted that as to the continent of America, for very many
years, it has been equally true. To claim that at any time, within
the last half of the 19th Century, portions of America, by reason
of their unsettled character, were like the unsettled and unoccupied
parts of Africa, is to disregard the evidence both of history and
political geography.

It is not alone, however, the history and political geography of
the American continent in general which are appealed to in oppo-
gition to the doctrine of ferra nullius thus advanced in the present
controversy. The history and political geography of this particular
region absolutely negative such an idea. Whatever may be said
of the condition of this region during the one hundred and sixty-
six years between the Treaty of Munster and the Treaty of
London, it cannot be said that it was nobody’s territory. The con-
troversy as to the territory was a controversy between the Spanish
and the Dutch alone. Not a shadow of claim was ever put for-
ward to it during this period by any other State. The occupation
of it was either Dutch or Spanish occupation. The control of it
was either Dutch or Spanish control. The title to it was either
Dutch or Spanish title. Any part of it that was not Spanish was
Dutch. Any part of it that was not Dutch was Spanish. Wher-
ever the true boundary line of the territory acquired by Great
Britain may be found to have been at the date of the acquisition,
that boundary line was a boundary between Spanish and Dutch
possessions. It was not two boundary lines, separating the terri-
tory of the Netherlands, on the one hand, and of Spain on the
other, from a neutral belt of unoccupied territory, of nobody’s
property, open to all the world, intermediate beiween the two.




14 TREATY OF ARBITRATION.

Wherever it was, it was a single boumdary between coterminous
States, and it is so regarded by the Treaty.

Every fact advanced in behalf of the Venezuelan claim, on the
one hand, and in behalf of the British claim, on the other, in the
history of the century and a half intervening between the two
Treaties goes to disprove the existence of such a meutral belt.
The determipation of the single boundary could have been made
in 1814 as exactly and certainly as it is to be made now. Nobody
bat the two claimants was concerned in the dispute; no occupation
was ever projected or attempted, much less carried out, by any
other State upon this territory. Spain and the Netherlands were
left to fight out the question between them, and upon every occa-
sion upon which the question arose it will be found that it was
treated on both sides, during this whole period, solely as a question
where the line of demarcation between the territories of the two
States should be run.

The extravagance of this extreme British doctrine of a ferra
nullius existing as late as '* the last fifteen or twenty years” can
best be ghown by referring briefly to the historical facts, any one
of which is sufficient to contradict it, and all of which in order to
its acceptance must be totally ignored.

The first of these is the original Spanish title. The inchoate
title by discovery is admitted by the British Case. A vast number
of acts, performed by the Spanish in the century and a half fol-
lowing discovery and preceding the acknowledgment of Dutch
title to Essequibo in the Treaty of Munster, many of them acts
performed while the Dutch were still the subjects of Spain, and
therefore incapable of acquiring an independent title, perfected
the inchoate title by discovery, as will presently be more fully
shown.

The essential fact, however, which destroys the theory here
advanced in the British Case of a neutral belt between the two
colonies, which was terra nullius, is that, during the history of
Dutch and Spanish control to the very time of British acquisition,
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neither party admitted the existence of such a belt, but both, on
the contrary, repeatedly denied it either expressly or by implica-
tion.

No instance can be found where the territories of the two
colonies are referred to otherwise than as being separated by a
single boundary.

In 1712 the boundary was referred to in a session of the Society
of Surinam, where it was spoken of as ‘‘the boundary in
America between the subjects of the States-General and those
of the King of Spain.” (V. C..C., vol. ii, p. 182.)

In 1746 the Commandeur at Essequibo called attention to the
necessity of taking action in reference to the founding of a Span-
ish fort between the Orinoco and Essequibo, and said:

** I dare not take anything upon myself, especially as the proper frontier
line there is unknown to me.” (B. C., 1I, p. 45.)

Later in the year he again writes (ib., pp. 46-47) of the peril
to the colony ‘‘ to have such neighbors so close by, who in time of
war would be able to come and visit us overland, and especially to
make fortifications in our own land is in breach of all custom. I
gay upon our own land—I cannot lay this down, however, with
full certainty because the limits west of this river are unknown
to me.”

In 1750 he reported (ib., p. 67):

¢ Becanse the limits are unknown, we dare not openly oppose them."”

In 1754 the Director-General of the colony is awaiting ** the so
long sought definition of the frontier, so that I may go to work
with certainty.” (V. C., vol. ii, p. 118.)

In 1758, on the occasion of the capture of the Dutch post in
the Cuyuni, the two parties to the dispute laid claim to the same
point of territory, each contending that it appertained to its own
colony—a conclusive proof that the territories were coterminous.

In the same year the Director-General at Essequibo referred
(b., p. 126) to D’Anville's map, and said:

** Qur boundaries are portrayed on it."”
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The map in question, which is shown in the British Atlas
(map 18), shows a single boundary.

In 1759, the Director-General, discussing the boundary, referred
to ‘‘the Wayne, which is pretended to be the boundary-line,
(although I think the latter ought to be extended as far as
Barima).” (B. C., IL, p. 180.)

In the same letter, referring to the Cuyuni post, he sums up
the situation by the statement that—

“In the same way as they are masters npon their territory to do what

pleases them, so your Lordships are also masters upon youra” (B. C., II,
p- 180.)

Here is no suggestion of intermediate territory.

In his letter of May, 1760 (B. C,, II, p. 184), the Director-
(Feneral referred to the line as *‘ the dividing boundary in South
America.”

In 1767 he said (¢b., III, p. 141):

“That we, as well as the Spaniards, regard the River Barima as the

boundary division of the two jurisdictions, the east bank being the Com-
pany’s territory, and the west bank Spanish.”

In 1794 Sirtema van Grovesting, the first Governor-General of
Essequibo after the final termination of the West India Comn-
pany’s charter, refers (V. C., vol. ii, p. 248), in a letter to the
Council of the Colonies, to *‘ the creek of Moruca, which up to
now has been maintained to be the boundary of our lerritory with
that of Spain.”

In the Insiruccion of Don José Abalos, Intendant-General of
Venezuela in February, 1779 (B. C., IV, p. 184), “ for the Settle-
ment of the Province of Guayana,” he refers to ‘*the boundaries
of the said Province of Guayana, which begins, on its eastern side,
to windward of the outflow of the River Orinoco into the sea on
the border of the Dutch Colony of Essequibo.”

Guayana is specifically named as among the provinces of the
Captaincy General of Venezuela, renounced and ceded by the
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Spanish Crown by the Treaty of Peace and Recognition between
Venezuela and Spain in 1845 (V. C., vol. iii, pp. 48-49).

In 1801 the Dutch Council of the American Colonies, with the
approval of the Government, secretly sent an envoy to the Con-
gress of Amiens with confldential instructions to * try to have the
limits between the Batavian [Dutch] and Spanish possessions in
South America irrevocably defined.” (V. C.-C., vol. ii, p. 189.)

In 1808, during the British occupation, the Secretary of
Demerara, writing an official letter to Gerrit Timmerman, ap-
pointing him Protector of the Indians, namee the district which
is placed under his supervision as ‘' the west coast of the afore-
said Colony from the Creek Supename right up to the Spanish
boundary, the River Pomeroon being included therein.” (B.C.,
V., p. 181.)

Finally, the proposition of Lord Salisbury with which the
negotiations resulting in the present Treaty of Arbitration was
begun is conclusive as to the position of the British Govern-
ment that the territories of Spain and the Netherlands were co-
terminous in 1814, and that there was only a single boundary line
between them. Lord Balisbury’s proposition, made May 22, 1806,
was that a mixed commission be appointed ““to investigate and
report upon the facts which affect the rights of the United
Netherlands and of Spain, respectively, at the date of the acquisi-
tion of British Guiana by Great Britain. -

* Upon the report of the above Commission being issued, the
two Governments of Great Britain and Venezuela, respectively,
ghall endeavor to agree to a boundary line upon the basis of such
report.” (V. C., vol. iii, p. 805.)

Lord Salisbury then proposes that ** failing agreement, the re-
port, and every other matter concerning this controversy on which
either Government desire to insist, shall be submitted to a tribunal

which tribunal shall fix the boundary line upon the basis
of such report, and the line so fixed shall be binding upon Great
Britain and Venezuela.”
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Whatever inferences may be drawn from this proposition of
Lord Salisbury in reference to other questions, one thing is
certain: that it necessarily implied the existence of a single
boundary line in 1814, and as necessarily excluded any possibility
at that date of a ‘“ vacant” territory between the two countries.

The principle advocated by Lord Salisbury was embodied in
the Treaty, which, by providing for the ascertainment of the
territorial limits in 1814 and by calling for the determination of
‘“a boundary line” between the two countries, negatives the idea
that either in 1814 or at the date of the Treaty of Arbitration
any such intermediate belt could have been in existence.

_From the earliest consideration of this question by Venezuela
and Great Britain, no suggestion has ever been made of an inter-
mediate territory between the two countries. Beginning with the
earliest negotiations, in 1844, between Lord Aberdeen and Sefior
Fortique, every discussion has been on the basis of a single
boundary line between the two countries. These negotiations
negative the theory that any intermediate territory existed in the
view of either of the parties to the dispute.

Ii. THE DATE AS OF WHICH THE BOUNDARY IS TO BE
ASCER TAINED.

The Treaty next fixes the date as of which the boundary is to
be determined. It says (Article III):

“The Tribunal shall investigate and ascertain the extent of the territories
belonging to, or that might lawfully be claimed by the United Netherlands or
by the Kingdom of Spain respectively at thetime of the acquisition by Great
Britain of the Colony of British Guiana, and shall determine the boundary
line between the Colony of British Guiana and the United Stlates of
Venezuela."”

The first point necessarily to be defined by the Treaty was
the scope of the inquiry to be made by the Tribunal in determin-
ing the question of boundary. The question here was upon what
state of facts the Tribunal was to reach its decision. The history
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of this territory from its first discovery to the Treaty of Arbitra-
tion covered a period of four hundred years. For two centuries
and a half the Dutch or their grantees had been at Essequibo.
During all this time a boundary line had existed, althongh it had
never been laid down. The line was necessarily to be ascertained
as of some specific date, and it was necessary that the date should
be named in the Treaty.

It was contended by Venezuela that the question of title was
finally settled in 1648; that the extent of the territories of both
parties, and therefore the question of title had been finally ascer-
tained at that date, and that the boundary should be ascertained
as of that date.

It was contended by Great Britain, on the other hand, that as
the question of territorial limits had been seriously affected by
acts occurring subsequently to the Treaty of Munster, the bound-
ary should be determined as of a later date, to wit, the date of the
British acquisition of British Guiana, in 1814.

The British contention prevailed, and the date was so fixed by
the Treaty. Olearly the rights of Great Britain, while extending,
under this provision of the Treaty, to the territory belonging to or
that might lawfully be claimed by the Netherlands at the later
date, were limited to such territory, and could not be extended by
subsequent British encroachments. Such is the plain and obvious
reading of the Treaty.

Nothing could be clearer from a mere inspection of the Treaty
than the fact that the Arbitral Tribunal is to determine the true
boundary line by ascertaining the extent of the Spanish and Dutch
territories at the time of the acquisition by Great Britain of the
colony of British Guiana; that the facts which it is to consider are
facts bearing upon the conditions existing in 1814; and that, in
considering the territorial rights and clairos of the respective par-
ties, either as arising under law in general or under the specific
rules subsequently preacribed in the Treaty, no question can arise
in reference to encroachments since 1814 upon Spanish or Venez-
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uelan territory of which the Dutch were not in possession at that
date.

The Treaty recognizes the fact that a line existed as of right
in 1814, which determined the possessions of the two contending
parties at that date, and it is the extent of the territories at that
date which the Tribunal is instructed to investigate and ascertain.

Although this proposition is so plain that an extended argu-
ment of it could hardly be required, it would appear to be dis-
puted in the British Case.

It has, therefore, been desmed best at the outset to point out
that the proposition here contended for is established not only by
the language of the Treaty, but also by the equities of the case
and the history of the controversy; that this treaty provision was
adopted at the instance and upon the proposal of Great Britain
herself and againet the contention of Venezuela, as shown not
only by the negotiations which led up to the Treaty, but, finally,
by the position taken in the British Counter-Case itself.

1. TBE LANGUAGE OF THE TREATY.

The Treaty in express terms fixes the date as of which the
extent of the territories of the two contending parties shall be
ascertained. That date is the time of the acquisition by Great
Britain of the colony of British Guiana, namely, the date of the
signing of the Treaty of London, in 1814, This date is actually
prescribed as the date as of which the territorial limits on each
side are to be ascertained and determined, and the fixing of the
limits as of this date is the duty imposed upon the Arbitrators by
the Treaty. Such being the case, no acts of Great Britain either in
the nature of settlement or of control over territory of which the
Dutch had no possession in 1814 can affect the question before the
Tribunal.

This is the plain reading of the Treaty. If it is not, for what
purpose and to what end was the Tribunal expressly directed to
ascertain the extent of the territories of Spain and the Nether.
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lands respectively at the date in queetionf The Tribunal is not
here to engage in an academic discussion; it is constituted to deter-
mine the boundary between Venezuela and British Guiana. By
the agreement of the contending parties, its inquiry is to be
directed to investigating and ascertaining the extent of the terri-
tories of each as they existed at the date when Great Britain ac-
quired British Guiana. It surely could not be the intention of the
Treaty that the Arbitrators, having solemnly reached a true line
upon the basis laid down by the Treaty for the determination of a
boundary, namely, the extent of the respective territories in 1814,
were thereupon to cast aside the result of their deliberations, to
reject the true line so ascertained, and to make a fresh start on
the basis of some other date which is nowhere suggested by the
Treaty. To bold otherwise would be to contend that this august
Tribunal was directed in terms by the Treaty constituting it to
reach an express conclusion which was not to be a conclusion; to
determine a true boundary line which was not to be a boundary
line; to consider, by ‘‘ investigating and ascertaining,” a state of
facts expressly defined, which had been no sooner considered than
it was to be thrown aside as unworthy of consideration.

Notwithstanding this provision, formulated in language as
plain as could be devised, the British Counter-Case takes the posi-
tion (pp. 107-8) that, under Rule (a) of the Treaty, which provides
that adverse holding for fifty years may make a good title,

¢« Grest Britain is entitled to retain whatever territory has been held by
her, or has been subject to her exclusive political control, for & period of
filty years, although the result might be to give to Great Britain territory
which bad never been Dutch, and might even conceivably have at one time
been Bpanish.”

In support of this claim the British Uase has offered an im-
mense mass of evidence, compriging an entire volume of its
Appendix, covering the history of the British colony since 1814,
aud has devoted Part Il of the chapter on political control to
“ British Administration.” (B. 0., pp. 99-112.)
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If Rule (a) had been intended to apply to the period of British
occupation or of British rule since 1814, why was the Tribunal of
Arbitration expressly required *‘to investigate and ascertain the
extent of the territories belonging to, or that might lawfully be
claimed, by the United Netherlands or by the Kingdom of Spain
respectively at the time of the acquisition by Great Britain of the
Colony of British Guiana$”

If no distinction is to be made in their effect upon the
boundary question between acts belonging to the Dutch period
and acts belonging to the British period, why was the Tribunal
expressly instructed to direct its attention to the conditions exist-
ing at the time of the British acquisition, and not to the condi-
tions existing at any other timei Under the theory of the British
Counter-Case, the Tribunal is to give precisely the same consider-
ation to what happened after this date as to what happened
before, and the insertion of ths fundamental instruction in the
Treaty for the guidance of the Arbitrators is a meaningless string
of words, to be rejected by the the Tribunal as utterly vain and
purposeless.

It is not believed that the Tribunal will find itself able to
adopt any such interpretation of the Treaty. That concise
instrument was not drawn with the intention that its clauses
and paragraphs should be regarded as mere verbiage, des-
titute of meaning and purpose. When it laid down in so
many words that the extent of the territories was to be in-
vestigated and ascertained as it existed at a certain date, it
meant that it should be investigated and ascertained as of
that date. When it prescribed that date in its rule of inves-
tigation and ascertainment, it did not intend to prescribe as
the rule of investigation and ascertainment some other date,
namely, the date of the Treaty, the only date to which the
investigation and ascertainment, under the contention of the
British Counter-Case, can be referred.
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2. Tuae EqQuIiTiEs oF THE CASE,

The controversy between the Netherlands and Spain had
been from the beginning, and is stated in the Treaty as
being, a controversy as to what should be the boundary between
the two countries in South America; in the language of the
preamble, ‘‘the question which has arisen between their re-
spective Governments concerning the boundary between the
Colony of British Guiana and the United States of Venezuela.”
The question was, and had always been, where a certain
line should be fixed. Each side admitted, and each sgide
claimed, that at any time during the history of the con-
troversy a line could be drawn which should as of right form
the true boundary. The dispute was as to where that line
lay. The territories of the two States were contiguous. It
was understood that everything which was not Dutch was
Spanish; that everything which was not Spanish was Dutch; and
no one disputed the fact that the title was in one or the
other of these two, or set up any third claim to any part of
the territory. The only question was as to the respective ter-
ritories of each State, or, in other words, as to what was
the exact geographical location of the line which marked the
limitation of their coterminous frontier.

At the time of the British acquisition of the colony of Guiana
the controversy had been agitated for more than half a century.
During this entire period acts of territorial control had been
repeatedly performed in the territory in question. The Dutch
had attempted to establish a post in the territory for the purposes
of trade and the recapture of runaway slaves, and the post had
been destroved by the Spanish authorities and the occupants ar-
rested and imprisoned. The conflicting claims had been the sub-
ject of diplomatic correspondence and of active controversy, and
all this had taken place a long time previous to the acquisition of
the ‘* Establishment of Essequibo” by Great Britain,
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It was a standing international controversy; the facts bearing
upon it were matters of history; its notoriety and publicity were
unquestioned, and it was a controversy to which Great Britain
succeeded, upon the acquisition of the territory whose boundary
was the matter at issue. Whatever the territory was that passed
to Great Britain by the Treaty of London under the name of the
‘“ Establishments of Demerara, Essequibo, and Berbice,” it was
taken subject to the Spanish claim as to the disputed boundary.

At the time of Great Britain’s acquisition of the ** Establish-
ment of Essequibo,” a line existed as of right which formed the
boundary between it and the adjoining territory of Spain, although
the line had never been traced, and was the subject of controversy.
It was plainly the intention of the Treaty that the determination
of this line should settle the boundary dispute. It was not, and
could not have been, its intention to allow one of the parties to it
to set up a title founded upon its own encroachments upon the ter-
ritory whose boundary at the outset of its acquisition might thus
be fixed as of right, and so to take advantage of its own wrong
committed while the controversy was pending. It was not, and
could not have been, the intention of the Treaty to fix such a date
for the ascertainment of the true line, as to include in its consider-
ation every act of trespass which one party had been enabled by
the simple operation of vis major to commit, and to make these
very trespasses the foundation of title. Especially was this true
when the parties had made a solemn agreement in 1850, which
both repeatedly recognized and appealed to,—Her Majesty’s Gov-
ernment, in one case at least as late as 1887,—and which never
has been abrogated, that neither should extend its occupation on
the territory in dispute—an agreement which by its very date pre-
cluded any fifty years’ adverse holding subsequent to the date of
the British acquisition.

In the nineteenth century the period was long since past when
any territory could be acquired in South America by mere
encroachment, Modification of frontiers might still be accom-
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plished by means of conquest and cession, but the advancement of
a boundary line by simple appropriation of the territory of a
neighbor was no more possible at that date in South America
than it would be possible to-day in Europe or in North America.
It was doubtless for this reason that the Treaty fixed the date of
the acquisition by Great Britain of its Colony of British Guiana as
the date to which the boundary question should be referred and
which should mark the epoch whose conditions should determine
its ascertainment. The reason for the provision, however, is
purely a philosophical discussion. Directions to the Arbitrators
are stated plainly in the Treaty, and whatever may have been the
reason for the Treaty, the fact that the date was fixed by the
Treaty is sufficient to dispose of the question.

3. Tee Histrory oF THE CONTROVERSY.

A reference to the history of the controversy between Vene-
zuela and Great Britain will abundantly disclose thaf Venezuela
has always contended that British Guiana did not extend beyond
the actual possessions of the Dutch at the date of the Treaty of
Munster (1648). Her contention has been that by the Treaty
of Munster the Dutch were limited to the settlements as they
actually existed at that date; that they had no right to extend
their territory beyond such limits; that any such attempted exten-
sions were met by protests or resistance on the part of Spain, and
were of no validity; that the limits of the territory which the
Netherlands ceded to Great Britain in 1814 were no greater than
the territory ceded by Spain to the Netherlands in 1648, Upon
this reasoning Venezuela had sought to fix the date as of which
the line should be ascertained at 1048,

If the Dutch actually possessed in 1648 any part of the disputed
territory (which is denied), it was but an insignificant part of the
lerritory which Great Britain now claims. Great Britain accord-
ingly rested her case upon the proposition that, even though the
title of the Dutch under the Treaty of Munster was limited to the
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territory which at that time they actually possesed in fact, she
can now claim additional territory by virtue of a later occupation
made by the Dutch between 1648 and 1814, and continued long
enough to ripen into a fitle by preseription.

Such was the British claim, and it was admitted in the Treaty
by fixing the date of determining the boundary of the territories
at 1814, as against the Venezuelan contention of 1648, and such is
undoubtedly the law of this case, made so by the express provision
of the Treaty.

That this has been the history of the controversy between
Great Britain and Venezuela from its commencement in 1841
down to the signing of the present Treaty in 1897, is clearly
shown by the correspondence—Venezuela seeking to fix the line
of 1648, and claiming that British territory could not go beyond
this line; and Great Britain seeking to fix the line of 1814, and
claiming thereby the benefit of all alleged extensions of the line
of 1048 caused by the Dutch occupation.

The establishment in the Treaty of the date of 1814 as the date
at which the Arbitrators should find the line was a diplomatic
victory for Great Britain, and the recognition of the principle for
which she had always contended. Nowhere, and at no time, has
Great Britain ever asserted that the territory to which she now
~lays claim was other than that to which the Netherlands were

entitled at the time of the acquisition by Great Britain of the
‘* Establishments of Demerara, Essequibo, and Berbice.”

4, TBE CORRESPONDENCE LEADING UP TO THE PRESENT TREATY.

If the language of the Treaty in reference to this point ad-
mitted of any doubt as to the intention of the parties, the cor-
respondence between the United States and Great Britain which
immediately preceded and led up to the negotiation of the Treaty
would remove it.

On May 22, 1898, Lord Salisbury, in a letter to Sir Julian
Pauncefote, proposed a form of arbitration of the boundary dis-
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pute. His proposition was that, by agreement between Great
Britain and the United States, a commission be created, consisting
of four members, namely, two British subjects and two citizens
of the United States, *‘ to investigate and report upon the facts
which affect the rights of the United Netherlands and of Spain,
respectively, at the date of the acquisition of British (GGuiana by
Great Britain, (V. C. vol. iii, p. 804.)

“ This commission,” Lord Salisbury proposed, * will only ex-
amine into questions of fact, without reference to the inferences
that may be founded on them; but the finding of a majority of the
commission upon those questions shall be binding upon both
Governments,

“ Upon the report of the above commission being issued, the
two Governments of Great Britain and Venezuela, respectively,
shall endeavor to agree to a boundary line upon the basis of such
report. Failing agreement, the report, and every other matter
concerning this controversy on which either Government desire
to insist, shall be submitted to a tribunal of three—one nomi-
vated by Great Britain, the other by Venezuela, and the third by
the two so nominated; which tribunal shall fix the boundary line
upon the basis of such report, and the line so fixed shall be bind-
ing upon Great Britain and Venezuela. Provided, always, that
in fixing such line, the tribunal shall not have power to include
as the territory of Venezuela any territory which was bona fide
occupied by subjects of Great Britain on the 1st of January, 1887,
or as the territory of Great Britain any territory bona fids oc-
cupied by Venezuelans at the same date.” (V. C., vol. iii, p. 305).

‘* In respect to any territory with which, by this provision, the
tribunal is precluded from dealing, the tribunal may submit to
the two powers any recommendations which seem to it calculated
to satisfy the equitable rights of the parties, and the two powers
will take such recommendations into their consideration.”

“It will,” continues Lord Salisbury, ‘‘ be evident from this
proposal that we are prepared to accept the finding of a commis-
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sidn voting as three to one upon all the facts which are involved
in the question of Dutch and Spanish rights af the {ime of the ces-
sion of G'uiana to Great Britain, We are also prepared {o accept
the decision of an arbitral tribunal in regard to ownership of all
portions of the disputed territory, which are not under settlement
hy British subjects or Venesuelan citizens,”

In reply to this communication, Mr. Olney (after pointing out
the defects of the two commissions proposed by Lord Salisbury,
and their inability to reach an effective conclusion, and to dispose
finally of the question in controversy between the two govern-
ments), speaking of the commission of four which was to investi-
gate and report the facts, said: ‘' It is to report the facts affect-
ing the rights of the United Netherlands and of Spain, respect-
ively, at the dale of the acquisition of British Guiana by Great
Britain. Upon the basis of such report, a boundary line is to
be drawn, which, however, i8 in no case to encroach upon the
bona fide settlements of either party.” (V. C., vol. iii, p. 308.)

Further pointing out the defects of the two commissions pro-
posed, and suggesting that it was not apparent why the same
commission should not be charged with determining all the facts
which the controversy involved, Mr. Olney declared that Lord
Salisbury’s proposals, ‘“ looked at as embodying a practical scheme
for a speedy and final settlement of the boundary dispute,” could
not be regarded as satisfactory. Further commenting upon Lord
Salisbury’s proposals, Mr. Olney (sb., p. 808) says: * In the opinion
of this Government, however, such bona fides on the part of the
British settler is quite immaterial. So far as bona fides is put in
issue, it is the bona fides of either Government that is important,
and not that of private individuals. Suppose it to be true that
there are British subjects who—to quote the dispatch—* have set-
tled in territory which they had every ground for believing to be
British,’ the grounds for such belief were not derived from Ven-
ezuela. They emanated solely from the British Government; and
if British subjects have been deceived by the assurances of their
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Government, it is a matter wholly between them and their own
Government, and in no way concerns Venezuela. Venezuela is
not to be stripped of her rightful possessions because the British
Government has erroneously encouraged its subjects to believe
that such possessions were British. * * * Venezuela's claims
and her protests against alleged British usurpation have been
constant and emphatic, and have been enforced by all the means
practicable for a weak power to employ in its dealings with a
strong one, even to the rupture of diplomatic relations. It would
seem to be quite impossible, therefore, that Great Britain should
justify her asserted jurisdiction over Venezuelan territory upon
which British subjects have settled in reliance upon such assertion
by pleading that the assertion was bona fide without full notice of
whatever rights Venezuela may prove to have.” (ib., p. 808.)

“ In the opinion of this government,” continued Mr. Oluoey,
“ the proposals of Lord Salisbury’s despatch can be made to meet
the requirements and the justice of the case only if amended in
various particulars.

“ The commission upon facts should be so constituted, by add-
ing one or more members, that it must reach a result, and cannot
become abortive and possibly mischievous. -

“That commission should have power to report upon all the
facts necessary to the decision of the boundary controversy, inclad-
ing the facts pertaining to the occupation of the disputed territory
by British subjecta.

“The proviso by which the boundary line as drawn by the
arbitral tribunal of three is not to include territory bona fide occu-
pied by British subjects or Venezuelan citizens on the 1st of Janu-
ary, 1887, should be stricken out altogether, or there might be
subetituted for it the following:

“ Provided, however, that, in fixing such line, if territory of one
party be found in the occupation of the subjects or citizens of the
other party, such weight and effect shall be given to such occupa-
tion as reason, justice, the rules of international law, and the equi-
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ties of the particular case may appear to require.” (V. C., vol. iii,
p. 309.

The suggestions made by Mr. Olney were substantially adopted.
The proposal of Lord Salisbury, providing that the tribunal should
not have power to include as territory of Venezuela any territory
which was bona fide occupied by subjects of Great Rritain, was
stricken out. The commission of four was dropped, and the arbi-
tral tribunal was changed from three to five. No change was
made in the date as of which the territorial rights of the contend-
ing parties were fo be ascertained.

The date as of which the true boundary line should be drawn
was a vital fact, and its importance could not have been overlooked
by either Lord SBalisbury or Mr. Olney. It must be ascertained
as of some particular date. All the facts bearing upon the rights
of the parties as to that date must be investigated and the facts
found in order that the true line may be ascertained. This date
might have been: first, that of the acquisition by Great Britain of
British Guiana, namely, 1814, The investigation would then in-
volve the clains and the acts of two Governments not parties to
this Treaty, namely, the Netherlands and Spain. Under such an
inquiry, no act or fact arising subsequently to 1814 would be of
the slightest materiality or relevancy. All the investigation
would be directed to the history of the settlements made by the
Netherlands of the territory in question, the character of the
government which they had established, the extent of the terri-
tory over which they exercised jurisdiction, the nature, character
and extent of their settlements; in short, every act or fact tending
to prove the title of the Dutch to the territory in question would
have been pertinent and essential to the ascertainment of the true
boundary line, as showing the character and extent of the Dutch
possession, which it asserted adversely to the prior title of Spain.

Or, second, the date of the inquiry might have been fixed as
the date of the Treaty. Had the commission been required * to
investigate and ascertain the extent of the territories belonging to
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or that might lawfully be claimed by British Guiana or by the
United States of Venezuela respectively, at the date of this
Treaty,” a different and much wider field of investigation would
have been opened, and other and different facts would require to
be investigated, ascertained and determined. The whole history
of this territory for nearly a century subsequent to 1814, all the
acts and controversies, the correspondence, claims, assertions, de-
nials, and acts of jurisdiction of the two countries respectively,
would have been the subject of investigation, and would largely
have constituted the basis of determination.

In this correspondence Lord Salisbury nowhere suggests that
the boundary line should be ascertained as of the date of the
Treaty of Arbitration. The only circumstances arising subse-
quent to 1814 which arve referred to as having a bearing upon the
question are stated in the proviso originally suggested, as follows:

* Provided, always, that in fixing such line, the tribunal shall not
have power to include as the territory of Venezuela any territory which was

bona fide occupied by subjects of Great Britain on the first of January,
1687."

This proposition was rejected, and at Mr. Olney’s suggestion a
rule was inserted in ite place, which became Rule (c) of the
Treaty, as follows:

“'In determining the boundary-line, if territory of one Party be found
by the Tribunal to have been at the date of this Treaty in the occupation
of the subjects or citizens of the other Party, such effect shall be given to

such ocoupation as reason, justioe, the principles of international law, and
the equities of the case shall, in the opinion of the Tribunal, require.”

Thus, every question, both of fact and of law, involved in the
question of Dutch and Spanish rights in regard to the ownership
of all portions of the disputed territory at the time of the cession
of GQuiana to Great Britain, was submitted fo the ascertainment
and determination of a single tribunal, with the express provision
that the rights of ownership thus established in one of the parties
over any territory should not be affected by tha fact that such ter-
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ritory had subsequently been occupied by the subjects or citizens
of the other.

5. THE PosSITION ADOPTED BY GREAT BRITAIN IN THE
COUNTER-CASE.

Finally, the foregoing contention is expressly admitted in the
British Counter-Case. At page 114 her position is stated as follows:

““ Great Britain denies that her present ocoupation (extending to the
Schomburgk line) dues in fact include any greater extent of territory than
was occupied or politically controlled by the Dutch and by Great Britain
since her succession to the Dutch title,”

This important admission of the British Case shows the reason
why Great Britain was willing to take the line of 1814 as the
boundary to be fixed and to eliminate any acts subsequent to that
date from the controversy, except as provided in Rule (¢) That
Great Britain should have agreed to the establishment of the line
of 1814 was quite reasonable, in view of the fact that she does not
now put forward any prescription based upon the extension by her
of that line. It was not claimed in the diplomatic correspondence
that led up to the Treaty, nor is it claimed in the British Case that
Great Britain extended the line of Dutch occupation to any terri-
tory that she might now prescribe for under Rule (a) of the Treaty.
It was also well known to Great Britain that the Agreement of
1850 cut off any possible claim by her to such a prescription.
The British settlers, in whose behalf Lord Salisbury’s solicitude
was excited, had not entered the disputed territory before 1880,
and, so far as their case might be regarded as matter of interna-
tional consideration, it was provided for in Rule (¢). It was be-
cause, as Great Britain herself states, her present occupation,
meaning thereby her occupation not only up to the date of the
Treaty, but up to the very filing of the Case, does not include any
greater extent of territory than the Dutch occupied at the time
of the cession. This is the fundamental fact in the interpretation
of this clause of the Treaty—that British occupation of the present



TREATY OF ARBITRATION. 34

day extends no farther than the Dutch occupation which preceded
it. Upon that statement, made solemnly in her own Case, Great
Britain stands or falls. The fact once admitted that the present
occupation is not in excess of the occupation of 1814, no reason
can be shown for admitting evidence as to occupation since that
date.

IV. THE THREE RULES OF THE TREATY.

The Treaty, having stated the general subject-matter of the
arbitration as being the determination of the boundary line in ac-
cordance with the extent of the territories of Spain and the
Netherlands respectively in 1814, proceeds to lay down three
Rules, which, as well as the appropriate principles of international
law not inconsistent with such Rules, are to govern the decision
of the Arbitrators. Article IV is as follows:—

“In deciding the matters snbmitted, the Arbitrators shall ascertain all
facts which they deem necessary to a decision of the controversy, and shall
be governed by the following Kules, which are agreed upon by the High
Contracting Partios as Rules to be taken as applicable to the case, and by
such principles of internationsl law not inconsistent therewith as the Ar-
bitrators shall determine to be applicable to the case :

RULES.

“(a) Advers holding or prescription during & period of fifty years shull
make a good title. The Arbitrators may deem exclusive political control
of a district, sa well a8 actusl sottlement thereof, sufficient to constitute
adverse holding or to make title by prescription.

“(b) The Arbitrators may recognize and give effect to rights and claims
resting oo any other ground whatever valid according to international law,
and on any principles of international law which the Arbitrators may deem
to be applicable to the case, and which are not in contravention of the fore-
going rule.

“(¢) In determining the boundary-line, if territory of one party be
found by the Tribunal to have been at the date of this Treaty in the occupa-
tion of the subjects or citizens of the other Party, such effect shall be given
to smch occupation a8 reason, justice, the principles of international law,
and the equities of the case shall, in the opinion of the Tribunal, require.”
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RULE (o
1. Apvirse Horpmwe—DuraTioN AXD CHARACTER.

Rule (a), in reference to adverse holding, is as follows:

‘¢ Adverse holding or prescription during a period of fifty years shall
make & good title. The Arbitrators may deem exclusive political control
of a district, as well as actual settlement thereof, sufficient to constitute
adverse holding or to make title by preseription.”

The subject of inquiry having been broadly laid down in Ar-
ticle III of the Treaty, namely, that the Arbitrators are to *‘ in-
vestigate and ascertain the extent of the territories belonging to,
or that might lawfully be claimed by, the United Netherlands or
by the Kingdom of Spain respectively at the time of the acquisi-
tion by Great Britain of the Colony of British Guiana,” certain
rules are added, which are to be followed by the Arbitrators in
conducting this investigation and ascertainment. The rules do
not change the subject of inquiry as thus broadly laid down, but
serve as a guide to the Arbitrators in conducting the inquiry.
That inquiry is as to the extent of the territories of the two parties
in 1814. Manifestly, the subordinate rule cannot, by specifying
certain applications of the principle of adverse holding, reverse
the fundamental definition of the subject-matter of the arbitra-
tion, and be construed as enlarging the field of inquiry thus de-
fined, because the date named in the primary definition is not re-
peated in the rule itself. Such an interpretation would nullify the
fundamental basis of the Treaty.

Inquiry as to the facts constituting, or claimed as constituting,
an adverse holding, within the meaning of the Treaty, must there-
fore be limited to matters occurring prior to 1814,

The term *“ adverse holding ” means a naked holding or pos-
session, by which title may be acquired, adversely or in opposition
to the holder of the prior title. OFf course a claim of adverse
holding presupposes a prior title, as is admitted by the British
Counter-Case, where the principle is thus stated at page 114:
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“ But no question of adverse holding or prescription can arise except
where one Power has occupied territory by right belonging to the other.”

A plea of adverse holding is, therefore, an admission of the
existence of a ruperior title, and the burden rests upon the claim-
ant to show an adverse holding sufficient to establish a title.

The adverse holder must show actual settlement or exclusive
political control for fifty years, but no specific requirement is pre-
scribed in proving the anterior title. This is left to be determined
by general principles of law.

“ Adverse holding " is in general used of individuals and as bear-
ing on the ownership of land under the municipal law of the
State of whose territory it forms a part. In the Treaty, howerver,
it is used of States and as bearing upon the title or right of sover-
eignty of a State in and to its territory. One relates to private
title, or ownership of the fee; the other to public title, or
dominion over the territory.

The foundation of title by adverse holding is the actual pos-
seasion of land. The fact of possession is the determining fact in
the creation of title. In the case of individuals, the fact of pos-
session is one readily comprehended and recognized. In the case
of States, it is a much more complex and difficult question.
States do not act through individuals, but through governments.
The acta of individual subjects of a State are not the acts of the
State. The declarations of individuals are not the declarations of
the State. The evidence of possession as to adverse holding is,
therefore, not the same in the case of States as in the case of
individuals. So also with the effect of adverse holding. The
condition of private ownership, which expresses the relation of
an individual to bis land as the effect of adverse holding, is re.
placed by the condition of dominion or soversignty, which ex-
presses the relation of the State to ite territory. In the case of
States, the fact of possession must, therefore, be determined with
reference to this effect of creating public title, that is to say,
sovereignty or dominion; while, in the case of individuals, it is
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determined only with reference to the effect of creating private
title or ownership.

In view of the fact that the question presented in this arbitra-
tion is a question not as to individuale, but as to States, with all
that the distinction implies, the first point to be determined is: In
seeking to establish the public title of a State by adverse holding
what acts are to be deemed the equivalent of possession in the case
of individuals?

The first requisite, which lies at the foundation of the whole
subject, is that the act, whatever it is, must be a national act.
The party here seeking to acquire title is the State. The posses-
sion must, therefore, be the possession of the State.

When the subjects or citizens of one State enter the terri-
tory of another and make settlements there, their acts are those
of mere private individuals. Unless expressly authorized, or
adopted by the State itself, to which they belong, they remain
nothing more than private and individual acts. No claim of ad-
verse holding can be made on behalf of the State, for the State
itself has not entered. The act of entry must be a national act, in
order to be the foundation of public title,

The settlement of persons associated together upon unoccupied
territory of a foreign State is a matter of frequent occurrence; yet
no claim could be made that such settlement operated, no matter
how long it might last, to transfer the dominion of the land upon
which they settled to the State of which they had been and might
continue to be the subjects. A claim of adverse holding, to be
made by a State, must be based on public acts of possession and
control. It must in some way have the stamp of authority from
the sovereign, either by holding under grants from him or by
declarations made by him. Unless it is so defined as an act of
sovereignty, it cannot become the basis of adverse holding to
establish a sovereign’s title.

The act must also be done under a claim of right, and a claim
not only on the part of the individuals, but on the part of the sov-
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ereign who seeks to take advantage of their acts. This principle
lies at the bottom of all adverse holding. Unless the adverse
holder enters under a claim of ownership he does not oust the
prior holder. Heis understood to hold under the prior owner. The
claim must, therefore, be a claim of territorial sovereignty, for
nothing less would lay the foundation of public title, and it must
be a claim made by the sovereign himself, because no one but the
sovereign can assert such a claim. The claim, as a claim of the
sovereign, must be open and notorious. No State can be per-
mitted to send its subjects into the unoceupied territory of another
State, to establish themselves there, and then, after a long time
has elapsed, to assert that their entry was made by its direction
and under a claim of right on its part which no one ever heard of
before. 'The holding can only be computed from the time when
the State makes the open claim. What may have been done be-
fore that time goes for naught.

Nor is it enough that the act shall be in its inception an act of
the intruding sovereign and made under a claim of right on his
part. It must continne to be the act of the sovereign. The com-
munity so formed in the territory of another by which public title
is attempted to be created must be controlled and governed by the
State which claims the benefit of the intrusion. It must be not
only a public act of the intruding State in the beginning, but it
must continue to be such a public act. It can only keep this char-
acter as long as the intruding sovereign maintains political control
over the territory thus occupied. Political control, therefure, is
an indispensable accompaniment of all adverse holding by which
public title is to be created.

The political control, moreover, must be a political control
over the territory to which the claim extends. It is not suffi-
cient that it should be merely the control of subjects as subjects
who happen to be in the territory. It must be a territorial
control; or, in other words, a control of all persons within the
territory. A control of, or jurisdiction over, the persons merely
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of subjects, as subjects, even within the territory, is a personal
control or jurisdiction. It is not a territorial control. Nothing
less than a territorial control is sufficient to establish this form
of fitle.

The term ‘‘adverse holding” is a term familiar to English
jurisprudence, and its application is subject to well-detined prin-
ciples. As used in Rule (a), it has, in addition, certain express
qualifications, to be found in the text of the Rule itself. These
qualifications do not affect the general principles above referred
to, which are inherent in the meaning of the term. They
operate as specific restrictions or definitions in the application, in
the present proceeding, of the term as generally understood.

In this proceeding, as already stated, the question involved is
not one of private title, or ownership of the fee, but of public
title, or dominion over the territory. It is chiefly on account of
this distinction that the necessity arises for the express qualifica-
tions of the term ‘‘adverse holding ” in the Treaty.

These express qualifications relate to two facts; FirsT, The
Period of Duration of the holding or possession; SECOND, Iis
Character.

First; In the case where individual title to land is created by
adverse holding, the period of duration of the holding necessary to
make title is prescribed by the municipal law of the State within
whose territory the land lies, either by statute or otherwise. There
being no fixed rule prescribing such a period in international law,
which regulates international controversies, it became necessary
to assume a period which should have the effect of creating title,
and this period was fixed by agreement in the Treaty, for the
purposes of this arbitration, at fifty years.

Second; The possession of an adverse holder, where the question
involved is one of public title, must be evidenced by actual settle-
ment.

In the case of an individual claiming under an adverse posses-
sion, possession must be evidenced by actual occupation. As the
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claim of the adverse holder is a claim to disseize him who has the
possession, the burden is upom bim to establish an occupation
which amounts to an actual ouster. The mere performance of
acts which are no indication of ownership and which are done on
safferance is not an ouster and does not constitute adverse posses-
sion.

With stronger reason does the same principle bold in the case
of States. The burden here is upon the intruding State to show
possession by positive and actual occupation of the soil itself.
This can only be accomplished by settlement.

This principle is recognized in terms by Rule (a) of the Treaty,
which says that ' the Arbitrators may deem exclusive political
control of a district, as well as actuval settlement thereof, suffi-
cient to constitute adverse holding.” The meaning of this para-
graph is clear. It is that actual settlement of a district is a
necessary condition to constitute adverse holding: but it states
that, apart from the rule of law and for the purposes of this
investigation, the Tribunal may, in its discretion, take into con-
sideration another condition as well as the legal one of actual
settlement.

In so far as actual settlement is concerned, therefore, the
Treaty is allirmative of the general rule of law. It is to be
noted, however, that in defining what shall constitute the test of
adverse holding by States—what, in other words, shall correspond
fo possession in the case of adverse holding by individuals—the
Trealy has employed not loose and general phrases, but phrases
that are emphatic, well defined and specific. It is not mere pos-
session that will be sufficient, it is not even mere use and enjoy-
ment, but settlement, a thing very different from possession or
from use and enjoyment. Nor is it mere settlement that is re-
quired; it must be actual settlement, and actual settlement of a
district. It would be difficult to find language more precise and
exact. Each and all of these terms is to be given full force and
offect in determining the merits of any claim of adverse holding.
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Even in the case of individual proprietors, acts are often al-
lowed upon the land which the proprietor does not choose to con-
sider a trespass. Much more is this the case with reference to
individual strangers in the territory of a State. In most countries,
even those which are most completely settled and organized, for-
eigners are allowed to go and come at will. So long as they keep
the peace and do not violate the law, they are not molested in
any way; they travel, they hunt, they fish, they pursue their
runaway cattle over the border, they trade, in many States they
even buy land and build houses, till the soil, and use its natural
products, or they may settle as mere squatters, without being
disturbed or proceeded against by the State. If this is true of
countries that are settled, much more is it true of conntries where,
although held under a perfect and undisputed title, no settlements
have yet been made. The fact that individuals are suffered to do
these acts, that they are tacitly allowed this use and enjoyment of
ihe territory, indicates no such territorial possession as to make
them adverse holders, as the subjects of a foreign State. Not
only this, but a foreign State may itself, through its agents,
do many of these acts within the territory of another State,
as the acts themselves involve no claim of sovereignty, as
well as private individuals, and no significance can be attached
to the fact that they perform such acts. A Government may
engage in trade, in which case its property so engaged in
trade in a foreign country comes under the same rules as
that of private individuals (The Charkieh, L. R. IV, Adm. &
Ecc. 59, 1878). Or it may delegate a certain portion of gov-
ernmental authority to a private trading corporation which may
engage in trade in a foreign country. The acts of such a trading
corporation which it performs on sufferance in the territory of
another do not constitute possession in any sense, nor can it claim
an adverse holding by reason of such acts.
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2. SETTLEMENT, A8 Basis vOoB ADVERSE HoLbDING.

Such possession, under the general rules of law, can‘only be
evidenced by settlement, accompanied by the exercise on the part
of the sovereign claiming to hold adversely, of political control
under a claim of right, and this principle is recognized by the
Treaty.

The first question to be considered is what is meant by *‘set-
tlement.”

First; ** Settlement” implies ficity of abode. It implies
the creation of dwellings. Mere transit over a territory will
not create it. Travelling, exploring, voyaging with whatever
object, whether for hunting or for any other purpose, is not set-
tlement. Trading in the heart of a country, however extensive
or however regularly pursued, is not seftlement. 8Still less is
trading by water. The casual use and enjoyment of natural
products is not settlement. The pursuit of runaway slaves or of
cattle is not settlement. None of these acts, even though by their
frequency they may develop into habitual practices, has any bear-
ing upon the question of settlement. The only act that can con-
stitute settlement is the establishment of fixed abodes.

Secondly; the idea of settlement involves the establishment of
abodes by persons in more or less considerable numbers. It means
at least the nucleus of a permanent population; persons whose
homes and occupations are at that point, and who form what may
have some claim at least to being called a community.

A whaling ship voyaging to the Pacific leaves one of its crew
on the Galapagos Islands, where he remains for a year or two
before another ship takes him off. The whaler does not consti-
tute a settlement.

John Sutton goes to live for a few months on the shell-bank at
Waini, where he trades with the Indians (B. C., VI, p. 128). Sat-
ton does not constitute a settlement.

The boy William Kendal, a servant of Father Cullen, at the
Santa Rosa Mission, runs away and lives for a dozen years wilh
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the Indians on the Auka, and marries a daughter of one of the
head men, and is discovered there, after this long absence, by
some one who chances to pass that way (B. C., VII, p. 238). But
Kendal does not constitute a settlement.

““A Dutchman had been eight years domiciled in the River
Aguirre,” and this fact is thought worthy of being staled in the
British Case (p. 48), although the Aguirre is undisputed Venez-
uelan territory, which even the wildest claims either of Great
Britain or the Netherlands have never called in question. Butthe
fact of the Dutchman being so domiciled does not constitute the
Aguirre a Dutch settlement.

Thirdly ; settlement implies, necessarily, the eslablishment of
homes by inhabitants—dwellers. The designation of a trading
agent to remain at some point for purposes of traffic in an un-
settled part of a neighbor's territory does not constitute settlement,
though he builds a cabin and occupies it and derives his sus-
tepance from the cultivation of the soil. The Dutch post in
Cuyuni, the only post which they ever established in the disputed
territory west of Moruca, had, therefore, no elements of a settle-
ment.

Still less does the mere erection of a building for shelter, to be
occupied from time to time by such an agent, or by traders or
hunters gencrally, as occasion may arise, fulfil the requirements
of this term. Thus, the shelter which Beekman erected in Barima,
even if it had been used, which the evidence fails to show, would
have had no claimn to be called a settlement.

In support of this proposition we quote from the Britich
Counter-Case (p. 44), the language of Queen Elizabeth, in reply to
the complaint of the Spanish Ambassador respecting the expedi-
tion of Sir Francis Drake, in 1580;

** Besidea Her Mujesty does not understand why her subjects and those
of other Princes are prohibited frum the Indies, which she could not per-

suade berself are the rightful property of Spain by donation of the Pope
of Bome, in whom she ucknowledged no prerogative in matters of this




TREATY OF ARBITRATION. 43

kind, much less sntlority to bind Princes who owe him no obedience, or
to make that New World as it were a fief for the Spaniard und clothe him
with possession: and that only on the ground that Spaniards have touched
here and there, huve erected shelters, have given names to a river or
promontory; acts which eannot confer property.”

A trading agent's cabin, whether temporary or permanent,
may be dignified by the name of a ‘‘post,” and its cccupant may
be called a ** Postholder,” although, as a matter of fact, the Dutch
called him merely an ‘‘ Ouilier.” But whatever else such post may
be called, it cannot be called a settlement. A settlement may grow
up in the neighborhood of such a pust, by the building of dwell-
ings and their occupation by those who till the soil, or gather its
products, or conduct trading or other enterprises from that point.
But the post by itself is not a settlement.

Fourthly; a setllement, as already stated, to be the basis of ad-
verse bolding, must be subject to the political conirol of the
sovereign who claims as an adverse holder. If the settlement
is detached from such control, if there is nothing to show that his
laws and his government extend over it, and extend overitasa
portion of his territory, so that they apply to all persons within
the limits of the settlement, whether subjects or foreigners, it is
not a settlement within the meaning of the law governing adverse
holding.

Much more strongly does this restriction upon settlement as a
foundation for adverse holding apply in a case where the State
claiming as an adverse holder not only fails to assume the govern-
ment of the settlement, but expressly disavows it. Thus, when
the Colonial authorities of Essequibo, in 1786, on account of the
distarbances which Dutchmen from Surinam had created in
Barima, forbade colonists to settle there, it precluded itself from
any advantage which it might otherwise have acquired. Under
ite own law, the act of ita subjects was illegal, and while the law
remained in force the Dufch sovereign could not derive any
dominion from the act.
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Similarly, in 1850, when Great Britain entered into an agree-
ment with Venezuela not to occupy the territory in dispute, it
became illegal for British subjects to settle in the territory. So
long as that agreement remained in force, Great Britain could not
take advantage of such a settlement as an adverse holder, because
by her own treaty she had expressly prohibited and rendered illegal
such an act.

Fifthly; The settlement must be actual. In the caseof individ-
uals, the phrase ‘‘actual possession” is used in oppoesition to *‘ con-
structive possession.” Thus, while one who holds adversely, under
documentary title defining his holding by metes and bounds, is
only in actual occupation of a part of the land covered by his deed,
he is held to be constructively in occupation of the whole,

In the case of States, ‘‘actual settlement ” is used in contra-
distinction to ‘‘constructive settlement,” that is to say, the con-
structive extension of the settlement beyond the localities of
actual settlement. The object of the Trealy in using the word
** actual ” is to exclude, once and for all, all loose and vague claims
to extend the effect of such adverse holding beyond the localities

-actually settled. No constructive extension of the term, such as
is recognized in the case of individual possession can be admitted.
In order that a district may be claimed, the district must be act-
ually settled. A seitleruent at the mouth or on the lower banks of
a river cannot be extended constructively to include the head-
waters of the river or its upper banks. It is not an actual settle-
ment of that district. No claim of adverse holding can be al-
lowed as to any locality unless it is shown, to the satisfaction of
the Arbitrators, that actual settlement was made at that locality.

To sum up; in order to fulfil the effective conditions of adverse
holding under the head of settlement, as to any particular locality,
it is necessary that inhabitants in greater or less numbers should
have adopted that locality as a fixed place of abode, and should
have established there, their homes and occupations with a certain
degree of permanence; that they should be under a recognized
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and actual political control; and, finally, no such claim can be es-
tablished beyond the area of actual settlement. To make a good
title under the Treaty, adverse holding must be peaceable and not
by force. No holding by force, against the protest of the State
whose territory has been seized, will ever ripen into a title by pre-
scription. As between individuals the bringing of an action
arrests the running of the statute. There is no tribunal to which
an injured State can appeal to recover the territory of which it
has been deprived by force. Its maintained protest has the same
effect to arrest the maturing of the title by prescription as the
bringing of an action by an individual.

3. Excrusive PouriTicarL CoNTROL.

We have seen that, both by the Treaty and by the general
principles of law, the essential test of adverse holding, in the case
of Stutes, is actual settlement; that the settlement must be a
national act, and that it must be under the national control.
Without such control settlement cannot lay the foundation of ad-
verse holding. It remains to consider how and how far, under
the Treaty, political control of itself may operate to establish a
claim of adverse holding without settlement.

Here a broad distinction is taken by the terins of the Treaty.
‘While the reference to actual settlement is mandatory, the refer-
ence to political cortrol apart from settlement is merely permis-
give. The language of the Rule is:

*“ The Arbitrators may deem exclusive political control of a district, as
well as actoal settlement thercof, sufficient to constitute adverse holding.”

The obvious force of this distinction between settlement and
political control as tests of the effectiveness of an adverse holding
to create a title is that, while the Arbitrators are to be concluded
by the fact of actual settlement, they are not necessarily to be
concluded by the fact of political control, upnaccompanied by
settlement. They are to examine the attendant circumstances
and conditions surrounding such control, if they find it, and
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are to accord to the claim such weight as they may deem
just, having in consideration all these circumstances and
conditions. Exclusive political control is by no means a final
test. It may be found to exist, but it does not on that account
necessarily Jay the foundation of title, If, for example, such con-
trol rests on the exercise of force, in the face of the protest of a
weaker Power holding the prior title, it could have, and should
have, but little significance in determining the question of adverse
holding. All the circumstances surrounding the claim are to be
considered and weighed by the Arbitrators, and it is only to have
the effect and significance to which it is entitled by a just and
equitable congideration of all the facts of the case. To entitle it,
however, to be considered at all by the Arbitrators, it must, in the
terms of the Treaty, be ‘‘exclusive political control of a district.”

The language referring to control is not loose and inexact any
more than the language referring to settlement. It is not mere
infAluence, or alliance, or superiority, or leadership, that is re-
quired, but control—a very different thing from all the others.
Nor is it mere control. It must be political control; and more
than that, it must be exclusive political control, and exclusive pol-
itical control of a district. Only if it fulfils all these requirements
can it be the subject of consideration by the Tribunal at all; and
if it fulfils these requirements, it is then for the Arbitrators to de-
termine how far they will consider it.

It is necessary to define at the outset the tarms which consti-
tute this remarkably precise and exact phrase of the Treaty.

“ Political control” means the exercise of sovereignty over a
territory, through political or governmental administration.

‘ Polilical control of a districi” means the actual exercise of
sovereignty over that district, through political or governmental
administration.

“ Exclusive polilical control of a district” means such an exer-
cise of sovereignty over that district to the exclusion of all other
sovereignty.
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First; Political conirol must be in the exercise of sowereignly.
The question which is being here considered is the question
how far an adverse holding based upon political control may
operate to the extinguishment of a prior title and the ousting
of its holder. The title in question, as ha3 been repeatedly sug-
gested, is not the private title of an individual who owns the fee,
but the public title of the State to the territory of which it is
sovereign. The claim of adverse holding presupposes the exist-
ence of a prior title, and in the present case a prior public
title of the sovereign existing in all its completeness. The ques-
tion is what form of political control shall be sufficient to create
a title adversely to this previously existing title of the sovereign.

Obviously, the first consideration is that the political control
which is to constitute such an adverse holding must be a control
that is maintained in the exercise of a like relation, namely, the
relation of sovereignty. In this manner of creating a title ad-
versely, nothing less than acts which are both in intention and
in the nature of the acts themselves acts of sovereignty can dis-
place a previously existing sovereignty. It is against the title
of a sovereign, formally asserted and maintained, that the claim
of adverse holding is now sought to be enforced. Clearly, no
acts can lay the foundation of an effective holding unless made
in pursuance of an equally definite assertion of sovereignty. A
claim of sovereignty, therefore, made openly and notoriously, is
the first requigite to fulfil the necessary conditions.

Secondly; the acts themselves must be such as necessarily
imply sovereignty and, what is more, lerriforial sovereignly. As
has been already pointed out, individual foreigners are allowed,
according to the customs of most countries, a large latitude of
action in the country in which they may for any purpose sojourn.
The fact that such foreign individuals are also agents of a foreign
government does not cut them off from the liberty of action which
ia allowed to foreigners generally. The doing of an act in an-
other’s territory by such an agent, even an act which may be in
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the execution of some official function or duty, carries with it no
Decessary implication of sovereignty. The fact that in doing an
act, which a private individual would equally be allowed to do, he
is performing an official duty does not alter the character of the
act as an act habitually permitted by the territorial sovereign to
be done. The latter does not view the official person sojourning
upon his domain in any other light than that in which he views
all other sojourners. Such a sojourner may be acting officially
with respect to his own Government, but he is not acting officially
with respect to the Government of the territory. Consequently,
no implication can be drawn from his acts.

The facts above stated are important, because it is precisely of
acts of the character described that the British Case on political
control is made up. As a matter of fact, there was no such thing
as political control exercised by the Dutch in the territory in dis-
pute. Individual Dutchmen were, however, allowed a consid-
erable liberty of movement by the Spanish authorities, and
whether these individual Dutchmen were merely private traders
or were the officials or employees of the Dutch West India Com-
pany made no difference to the King of Spain,

These facts were all the more striking in this particular case
by reason of the peculiar character of the Dutch West India Com-
pany as a company at the same time engaged in mercantile trad-
ing and in the government or management of a trading colony.
A trading company clothed, as was this corporation, on the one
hand, with certain delegated powers of government to run a
colony and, on the other, occupied with the question of trade
and trade profits as a private corporation, stands in a peculiar
condition. It is in great danger of mixing up its two func-
tions. It may, for instance, have a certain territorial scope for its
trade, which of course does not imply sovereignty in any sense.
It may thus extend its trade on its neighbor’s territory. It also
regulates the trade of its colonists, who are quasi-subjects; and it
regulates their trade not only in the colony, but out of the colony,
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and particularly it regulates their competition outside of the
colony with its own trade outside. It uses its powers of govern-
ment to back up its functions of trade. The conseguence is that
it exercises a personal juriediction over its subjects on foreign
territory in connection with matters of trade more extensive than
that which Governments ordinarily attempt to exercise. Having
begun with matters of trade, it extends this regulation and juris-
diction to other matters, and it is all the more ready to do thisg in
that the colonial character of its enterprise gives it large powers
and supervision over the persons and occupations of ita colonists.

Thus, the West India Company, through the Colonial author-
ities, was in the habit of sending its employees, who were chiefly
old negro slaves, to trade in the neighboring wilderness with the
Indians. It also had Dutch employees who did the same business.
These employees were likewise sometimes used to pursue and cap-
ture runaway slaves, as they would cattle, upon foreign territory
and to bring them back.

There was also a class of employees, a degree higher in the
official scale than the roving traders or outrunners. These were
called Oulliers, a name which is generally translated in the evi-
dence, Postholders. An outlier was sent to a certain point to look
after the trade at that point, to give information of the move-
ments of runaways and capture them if possible, and to keep the
Colonial authorities informed generally of what was going on.

There is really only one case, that of the post in Cuyuni,
which has any material bearing upon the boundary dispute, and
nothing in the nature of sovereignty could be attributed to the
Outlier who was stationed there,

The Colonial authorities also maintained close supervision over
the colonists. Regulations and laws were made which the
colonists were obliged to observe, not only in the colony itself,
but when they went into the adjoining territory of Spain. This
personal jurisdiction over the Dutch colonists was not an exercise
of sovereignty over the territory in question, because it related
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solely to Dutch subjects and followed them wherever they went.
There is not an instance in this whole controversy of the exercise,
or attempted exercise, west of Moruca, of any control over any-
body but Dutchmen.

Thirdly; Political conirol requires that there should be an
actual exercise of sovereigniy through the medium of government.

While it may not be necessary that the government should be
of an elaborate or highly organized type, sovereignty must
actually be exercised through governmental agents. This does
not mean that they must necessarily be the ordinary civil agents
of government. Political control may be exercised by military as
well as by civil agents, but sovereignty must be actually exercised
by agents, and these agents must be governmental agents.
Unless government officers are actually and effectively controlling
a district there is no political control of that district within the
meaning of this rule of the Treaty.

The definition given above requires that the control be exer-
cised over the territory as territory, and upon all persons within
it, whether subjects or foreigners. The control which is exer-
cised only over subjects sojourning within a given territory is
not political control over that terrvitory. It is merely a personal
control over subjects irrespective of territorial control. If it ap-
pears as to this territory in dispute, that one Power exercised
control over all persons within the territory, and that the other
did not, the first alone exercised political control over the
territory. The performance of acts connected with trade in the
territory has of itself no significance, because it is no indication of
political control; but the exclusion of persons, and especially of
persons other than subjects, from the performance of such acts of
trade is an indication of political control. It is not necessary in
order to political control that this right of exclusion shall be
exercised at all times and in all places any more than it is neces-
sary in order to assert political control over the territory of any
civilized State that the Government should exclude foreigners or
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refuse to allow them to trade there. But if it does exclude them,
and they assent to the exclusion, it is an assertion on the one part
and an admission on the other of territorial sovereignty and
political control in the Goveroment that exercises the right of
exclusion.

Of course in an unsettled territory there will be far less to in-
dicate political control than in a settled territory. But that can-
not affect the question of title. If political control is to be proved
in such a territory, the acts which indicate it will doubtless be less
numerous and less extensive than in fully organized districts con-
taining a settled population. The tests of political control in such
a district are the actual exercise of a right to exclude foreigners
therefrom, and to control the actions of foreigners as well as sub-
jects therein. The apprehension of foreigners for violations of
governmental regulations in such territory is an act of great
significance. On the other band, the fact that a sovereign issues
regulations as to acts of his own subjects in a territory does not
constitute an exercise of political control therein, especially when
he has no governmental agencies to enforce such regulations, and
when, as a matter of fact, such regulations are not enforced by him.

The enforcing of governmental regulations in an unsettled
territory is not necessarily in the hands of civil officers. It
is enough that it is in the hands of governmental officers. The
distinction between the military police and civil police does not
by any means universally exist even in civilized countries, and
in wild and unsettled colonies it is almost wholly obliterated.
The exercise of control may therefore be in the hands of military
officers, coast guard officers and the like, as well as in the hands
of civil police. They are agents of the government charged with
the duty of enforcing the regulations of the government, and they
have the ability to enforce them and do, in fact, enforce them.

The question further arises in a country in the unsettled parts
of America us to whether control is exercised over the Indians, and
in what such control consists.
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The territory in question, during the greater part of its his-
tory, while Spain asserted over it the rights of a sovereign and
while it was the resort of Spaniards in great numbers for the pur-
pose of trading with the Indians, gold seeking, hunting and other
purposes, was in large part unsettled. A considerable part of the
forests which covered it was traversed at will by roving tribes of
Indians, who, like many others of their race, had no regular
abode. They were the uatives of the soil, the aborigines who,
under the principles which have universally governed the relations
of the civilized settler and the pative American, remained in the
territory on sufferance without political rights and with only such
liberty of action and movement as the dominant race saw fit to
allow.

Whatever may be assumed to be the meaning of the Treaty as
to exclusive political control over a district, certainly the rela-
tions of the Government setting up a claim of such control over
these roving bands of Indians could have no bearing upon the
question. The claim is made in the British Case and dwelt on at
considerable length that, from time to time, the colonists of Esse-
quibo entered into various agreements with some of these tribes
and exercised some influence over their predatory occupations and
over the choice of their chiefs; but such interference und in-
fluence, could not, from the nature of things, constitute a politi-
cal control. In the first place, the tribes were wandering in-
babitants of the forest, and could not be said to belong to
any particular district. In the second place, the tribes of Indians
had not, and could not have, any political status. Still less
could they bave any international status. International law
deals only with civilized States and their relations, and a question
of disputed sovereignty arising between two such States can be
in nowise affected by the attitude which some particular band of
Indians, from considerations of fear, convenience, or temporary
interest, may assume towards some particular colonists. The
natives certainly had oo political control over a district them-
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selves. Still less could the acquisition of influence over them
be construed as transmitting through them a political control,
which they did not, and could not, themselves possess. Influence
over and alliance with the Indians does not amount to political
control.

Fourthly; In order to creale adverse holding of a district,
the political control must be exercised over the district. As with
the question of settlement, so with the question of political con-
trol; whatever may be its significance, it can only extend
over the territory where it is actually exercised. No control ex-
ercised only within a part of a district can be extended construct-
ively over the whole district. The establishment even of complete
forms of government, fully equipped with all governmental ma-
chinery, at one point, although constituting the exercise of politi-
cal control at that point, cannot he construed to extend any
further than the limits of the control actually exercised. No
claim of adverse holding at any locality, based on political con-
trol, can be allowed, unless the Arbitrators are satisfied that
political control was exercised throughout the locality. It follows
that, under the Treaty, no claims can be sustained on the ground
of the exercise of political control to territories of vague and ill-
defined boundaries, where there is no area that can be ascertained
specifically over which the political control is exercised.

Fifthly; Political confrol must be exclusive. 1In order to have
gignificance in this proceeding, as the equivalent of adverse hold-
ing, political control, or the exercise of sovereignty through political
or governmental administration, must be to the exclusion, during
the entire period, of all other sovereignty or control. No acts or
classes of acts which are equally performed in the territory in
question by both parties can have any bearing upon the claim of
adverse holding. The exercise of control in the locality, during
the period, by the party holding the anterior title puts an end to
the claim as to that locality.
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The above principles apply equally to prescription. Prescrip-
tion is that operation of law by which title is established: (1) by
lapse of time, where the title, although its origin is unknown, has
been held so long that the memory of man runmeth not to the
contrary, or, in other words, where the foundation of the title is
lost in the mists of aatiquity; (2) where, by lapse of time, a
wrongful possession comes to have the force of a rightful title.

The first meaning obviously bas no application bere. In the
second meaning, ‘‘ prescription” is synonymous with * adverse
holding,"” and is governed by the same rules.

RULE (b)

The effect to be given to general principles of international
law in the determination of the true boundary line is thus stated
in Rule (b) of the Treaty:

““The Arbitrators muy recognize and give cffect to rights and claims
resting on any other gronnd whatever valid secording to international law,
and on any prineiples of international law which the Arbitrators may deem
to be applicable to the case, und which are not in contravention of the fore-
going rule.” [Rule a].

The only class of rights and claims referred to in the present
controversy are the territorial rights and claims of the parties to
this Treaty, in so far as they affect the primary question which
the Arbitrators are directed by the Treaty to decide. The Arbi-
trators are to recognize and give effect to all such territorial rights
and claims resting on:

(a); any ground whatever valid according to international
law, and )

(b); any principles of international law which the Arbitrat-
ors may deem to be applicable to the case, and which
are not in contravention of Rule (a).

As the Treaty at the outset prescribes the date as of which the
extent of the territories of the respective parlies is to be deter-
mined, the clause now under consideration must be read in con-
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nection with that statement. As in the case of Rule (a), it is only
a8 determining the question of the boundary of 1814 that these
territorial rights and claims are to be considered, for it is clearly
not the intention of the Treaty that the three subsidiary Rules
should extend the limits of the subject matter of the controversy
beyond the date fixed by Article ITI, except in so far as said Rules
direct the consideration of a different date.

Under Rule (b), the Tribunal is directed to recognize as valid
any title which is valid under the rules of international law, ex-
cept in so far as Rule (a) may establish a different principle.

The only claim of title which has so far been specifically re-
ferred to by the Treaty is title under an adverse holding, which
can never be an original title. Rule (b) admits the proof of
original titles, and directs the Tribunal to consider any claim of
title, including, of course, such original titles as they may deem
valid under international law and not in contravention of Rule
(a). It also introduces such rules of international law as may be
used to define the terms *‘adverse holding ™ or *' prescription.”

The original title under which the whole territory in dispute
is claimed by Venezuela is the title by which the whole of Guiana
from the Orinoco to the Amazon was originally held by Spain.
Under the principles of international law, discovery accompanied by
intention to acquire possession creates an inchoate title. Where
this inchoate title is followed by occupation, consisting of acts of
military or political control, explorations, surveys, establishment
of trading posts, grants of land to subjects, charters and othet
acts indicative of possession or control, the title by discovery
becomes complete. The original title of Spain, which Venezuela
as a party to this controversy now sets up, is a title by a perfected
discovery, and the principles of law governing the establishment
of such a title are to be applied in the present case.

The original title of the Dutch, on the other hand, to the
‘* Establishment of Essequibo™ is a title based upon conquest
from Spain and the ceesion of the territory by Bpain to the
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Netherlands under the Treaty of Munster; and the validity of
such titles and the extent to which they are to be established are
matters to be determined by the Arbitrators who, in making their
determination, are to be governed by the principles of international
law that may be applicable to the case. The only express proviso
which is attached to the application of these principles is that they
shall not be in contravention of Rule (a). Where a title is'sought
to be established as against an original title, on the basis of adverse
holding, no claim can be considered unless its duration is for the
period of fifty years, and unless it fulfils in other respects the
requirements of that Rule and of the general rules of international

law.

RULE (¢)

The adjustment of the relations between the territorial sover-
eign and subjects of the other party who may be found in occupa-
tion of the territory of such sovereign is covered by Rule (c) of the
Treaty, which is as follows:

“‘In determining the boundary-line, if territory of one party be found
by the Tribunal to bave been ut the date of this Treaty in the occupation
of the subjects or citizens of the other party, such effect shall be given to
such occupation as reason, justice, the princijles of international law, and
the equities of the case shall, in the opinion of the Tribunal, require.”

This Rule recognizes the fact that when the territories of each
party shall have been ascertained by the defining of the true bound-
ary line, it might be found that the subjects or citizens of one party
were at the date of the treaty actually settled upon territory thus
ascertained to belong to the other. The question would then arise
how, with the greatest fairness both to the State in whose territory

.such settlers were found and to the settlers themselves, an adjust-
ment should be made of the relations between the two; and it was
accordingly provided in the Treaty that the Tribunal should itself
finally adjust these relations, upon considerations of reason, jus-
tice, the principles of international law and the equities of the
particular case.
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It is not stated by the Treaty what form of adjustment, if
any, is to be adopted by the Arbitrators in carrying out the pro-
visions of Rule(¢). The whole matter isleft to their judgment and
discretion. It is clearly contemplated by the Rule that some pro-
vision shall be made to settle the relations of both parties, but that,
as far as the status of the territory upon which such cases arise is
concerned, the territory having once been fixed by the determina-
tion of the boundary line, the existence of such cases as are re-
ferred to in Rule (¢) cannot cause any modification of the line.
The case only arises, in fact, where the subjects or citizens of one
State are found in the territory of the other, as determined by
the fixing of the boundary line, and the language of the Rule in
itself megatives the idea that the fact of their settlement there
shall alter the political status of the territory.

That this is the correct interpretation of the Rule is confirmed
by the provisions of Rule (a). Under Rule (a), it i8 provided that
adverse holding shall only be established by settlement or exclusive
political control for fifty years. If it were the intention of Rule
(c) that the occupation therein referred to should have the effect
of deflecting Lhe boundary line, then Rule (a) would hecome mean-
ingless, and the possession of fifty years would be no better than
the possession of yesterday. Such a construction of the Treaty
would virtvally read the fifty.year provision entirely out of it. It
would, in substance have the etfect of saying that where the sub-
jects ur citizens of one party were found in the territory of the
other party that fact of itself should put an end to its status as
the territory of such other party—a eonclusion which is obviously
untenable.

That such is the meaning of the Rule is further confirmed by
the negotiations which led up to it. The proposition waa origi-
nally made by Lord Salisbury that while the line was to be deter-
mined by the Commission as of the date of 1814, no territory
ghould be included as Venezuelan which was found in the occupa-
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tion of British subjects on January 1, 1887. The exact language
of his proviso is as follows:

“ Provided, always, that in fixing such line the tribunal shall not bave the
power to include as the territory of Venezuela any territory which was bona
Jide occupied by subjects of Great Britain on the first of January, 1687.”
(V. 0., vol. iii, p. 805.)

This proposition was rejected, Venezuela refusing to agree that
the line of 1814, having once been ascertained, should be modified
by the mere fact of occupation of what was shown thereby to be
Venezuelan territory by British settlers in 1887, -

The grounds of the objection to Lord Balisbury’s proposition
are thus stated by Mr. Olney, who was conducting the negotiation:

“The decisive objection to the proposuls is that it appears to be a funda-
mental condition that the boundary line, decided to be the true one by the
arbitrators, shall not operate upon territory bona fide occupied by a British
subject January 1, 1887—shall be deflected in every such case so as to make
such territory part of British Guisna. It is true that the same rule is to
apply in the case of territory bova fide occupied by a Venezuelau January 1,
1887, But, as Great Dritain asks for the rule and Venezuela opposes it,
the inevitable deduction coincides with the undisputed fact—namely, that
the former’s interest is believed to be promoted by the rule, while the
latter’s will be prejudiced.

““The true question, therefore, is, is the rule just in itself—without
reference to its actual working—so that Greut Britain has a right to imposs
her will upon Venezuela in the matter? How this guestion cun be
answered in the affirmative it ise most difficult to perceive, and is not even
attempted to be shown by the despatch itself. It is a rule which is cer-
tainly without support in any principle of international law, or in any
recognized international usage.” (V. C., vol. iii, p. 807.)

L * * * * *

““Venezuela is not to bo stripped of her rightful possessions becanse the
British Government has erroneously encouraged its snbjects to Lelieve that
such possessions were British.” (id., p. 808.)

* * * * @ .

* The proviso by which the boundary line ss drawn by the arbitral
tribunal of three iz not to include territory bona fide occupied by British
subjects or Venezuclan citizens on the lst of January, 1887, should be
stricken out altogether, or there might be subetituted for it the following:




TREATY OF ARBITRATION, 59

Provided, however, that, in fixing such line, if territory of one party be
found in the occupation of the snbjecta or citizens of the other party, such
weight and effect shall be given to vuch occupation as reason, justice, the
rules of international law, and the equities of the particular case may
appear to require,” (id., p. 309.)

The contention of Mr. Olney that the proposal of Lotd Salis-
bury was unjust to Venezuela, in that it provided that where
territory was bona fide occupied by subjects of Great Britain, * the
boundary line shall be deflected in every such case so as to make
such territory part of British Guiana,” prevailed, and the present
rule was inserted, which provided for the claims not only of
British occupants in 1887, but the claims of British occupante
down to the date of the Treaty. Instead, however, of a provision
that such occupancy should deprive Venezuela of territory which
might ba ascertained to be hers by the line of 1814, the provision
in the Treaty laid down that the Tribunal should itself adjust the
relations between these British occupants and the Venezuelan
Government on considerations of reason, justice, the principles of
international law, and the equities of the case.

Assuming that tha facts will discloss cases in which British
subjects have settled on what is found to be Venezuelan territory,
the question arises as to what adjustment shall be made of their
relations with Lhe Venezuelan Government. If such settlers are
mere squatters, holding under no grant, their cases require no
consideration. They would not be entitled to recognition even by
Great Britain, much less would there he any obligation upon Ven-
ezuela to recognize them. I[f, however, such occupants hold
under grants from the British Crown, it would seem that such
grants would become invalid as being void ab inifio, unless con-
firmed by Venezuela. What is io be the validity of such grants,
and whether they are void or voidable, or whether Venezuela
ghall bs required to confirm them, or whether they shall be
deemed to have been so confirmed by virtue of a provision in the
arbitral decision itself, are questions for the Tribunal to determine.
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The evidence annexed to the British Case and Counter-Case,
covering the history of British administration, while it fails to
state with particalarity the number, location or character of tem-
porary or other grants in the disputed territory at the date of the
Treaty, gives certain general indications in reference to the history
of settlement gince the acquisition of the colony by Great Britain.

Down to 1850 there was no occupation of the disputed territory
by British settlers, either with or without a grant, on the coast,
west of the Moruca or in the interior above the first falls of the
Cuyuni.

In 1850 an agreement was entered into by the two parties that
neither should occupy or encroach upon the territory in dispute;
and no territorial benefits can certainly be derived by Great
Britain from any occupation which took place while that agree-
ment was in force. Neither can reason, justice, the principles of
international law, or the equities of the case, require that Vene-
zuela should assume any obligations in reference to the com-
pensation either of the British Government or of British subjects
for the revocation or invalidation of grants made by the British
Government during that period.

The construction correctly put upon this agreement by Great
Britain is shown by the text of the proclamation issued January
30, 1867, by the Colonial authorities of British Guiava, as
follows:

““ Whereas in the year 1850 & mutual cngagement was entered into by
the Government of Great Brituin and that of Venezuels, to the effuct that
neither Government wonld ocenpy or encroach upon certain tracts of
country theretofore in dispunte, lying between the boundary of British
Guisns, a8 claimed by Great Britain, and the boundary of Venesnelan
Guians, a8 claimed by Venezuels ;

‘“ And whereas &8 company has been lately formed assuming the name of
British Guiana Gold Company, for the purpose of sesking for gold and
working any deposits thereof to be found within the tracts aforesaid, and
it is understood that British subjects are employed by the said company
within the said tracts: Now, this is to inform those British subjects and all
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others concerned, and they are hereby required to take notice, that Her
Majesty's Government can not undertake to afford protection to British sub-
jects so employed in these tracts sa aforesaid, and that all such British sub-
jects can only be recognized as & community of British adventurers, acting
on their own responsibility and at their own peril and cost.” (V. 0.,
vol. iii, pp. 148-149.)

The Agreement of 1850 has never been abrogated or repudiated
and was appealed to by Great Britain as late as January, 1887, in
the letter of the Earl of Iddesleigh of that date to Mr. St. John,
the British Minister at Caracas. By this express admission it was
in force at that date, and no action taken since that date has dis-
turbed it.

Apart, however, from the question whether the Agreement
of 1850 was in force subsequent to 1887, and even assuming
that it was not, the British Government has, by ita own ac-
tion, put the holders of grants upon notice that such grants
were taken under an uncertain tenure.

In June, 1887, the Governor of British Guiana, by express
instruction from the Home Government, addressed the Court
of Policy in the following terms:

“¢ Before we proceed to the order of the day, I am anxious to make state-
ment with reference to the question of the boundary between this colony
and the Republic of Venezuela. Among the applications which have been
received for mining licenses and concessions, under the mining regunlations
passed nnder ordinance 16 of 1880, 16 of 1886, and 4 of 1887, there are
many which apply to lands which are within the territory in dispute be-
tween Her Majesty’s Government and the Venezuelan Republic. I have
received instructions of the secretary of state to cantion expressly all per-
sons interested in such licenses or concessious, or otherwise acquiring an
interest in the disputed territory, that all licenses, concessions, or grauts
applying to any portion of such disputed territory will be issued and must
be accepted subject to the possibility that, in the event of a settlement of
the present disputed boundary line, the land to which such licenses, con-
cessions, or grants apply may become & part of the Veneszuelan territory;
in which case no clsim to compensation from the colony or from Her
Majeaty’s Government can be recognized ; but Her Majesty’s Government
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would, of course, do whatever may bz right and practicable to secure from
the Governmont of Venezuela a recognition sud confirmation of licenses,
ete., now isened.” (V. C,, vol. iii, pp. 307-308.).

This wise precaution was doubtless taken in view of the fact
that the Agreement of 1850 was still in force; but whether it was so
or not, the effect of the caution was to put all grantees upon notice
that their grants might be defeated by-the determiination of the
boundary question, and no person holding under such a grant can
claim any indemnity if that which he was notified might happen
did happen, namely, tha determination of the territorial sover-
eignty of the territory where the grant.“_ia]r against Great Britain.
It will be noticed that there is here no suggestion that the
boundary line was to be deflected to, or include, such settlements.

Even if such a reservation had not been made by Great Britain,
however, the failure to make it, in view of the circumstances of
the case, would not be a matter for which Venezuela was
responsible. In fact, a short time later, that is to say, on Sep-
‘tember 5, 1887, the caution previously given was withdrawn by
Great Britain, and on that date, the Secretary of State for the
Colonies wrote to the Governor of British Guiana:

“ Her Majesty's Government have decided that mining concessions and
granta of land may be made by the Government of British Guiana within
the line referred to in the Gazelts notice of 218t October last as the bound-
ary of the territory claimed by Great Britain ” [the Schomburgk line],
““ without any reservation, and on the understanding that, should negocia-
tions with Venezuela be renewed, no territory within that line (subject to
somepossible modification for the purpose of giving to Venezuela the com-
mand of the mounths of the Orinoco) will be conceded to that Republic.”
(B. C.-C., App., p. 812.)

It thus appears that Great Britain first put all her subjects
upon notice and then distinctly withdrew and contradicted the
notice, and gave them an affirmative assurance that their titles
would be defended, even if it should be found that they were in
territory that might be rightfully claimed by Venezuela. As to
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the responsgibilities towards its own grantees in which this extra-
ordinary action of the Government involved it, we have nothing
to say except to call attention to the fact that the responsibilities
thus assumed were far more onerous and emphatic than would
have been the case had the Governor of British Guiana not made
his reservation of the previous June, only to be followed by a
positive contradiction in September.

Wherein lies the responsibility of Venezuela with reference to
these grantees, under the circumstances here relatedi As Secre-
tary Olney says, in his letter to Sir Julian Pauacefote, of June 12,
1890:

“ Buppose it to be true that there are British subjects who—to quote the
despatch—* have settled in territory which they had every groond for be-
lieving to be Britieh,’ the grounds for such beliel were not derived from
Venezoels. They emanated solely from the British Government; and if
British snbjects have been deceived by the ussurances of their Government,
it 18 & matter wholly between them and their own Government and in no
way concerns Veneznela. . . . In but one possible contingency could
any claim of that sort by Great Britain have even a semblanco of plausi-
bility. If Great Britain’s assertion of juriediction, on the faith of which
her subjects made settlements in territory subsequently ascertained to be
Venezunelan, conld be shown to have been in any way assented to or
acquiesced in by Venezuela, the latter Power might be held to be concluded
and to be estopped from setting up any title to such settlements. But the
notorious facts of the case ure all the other way, Venezuela's olsime and
her protests against alleged British nsurpation have been constant and em-
phatic, and have been enforced by all the means practicable for & weak
power to employ in its deslings with a strong one, even to the rupture of
diplomatic relations.” (V. C., vol. iii, p. 808.)

Under these circumstances, it is asserted by Venezuela that
the adjustment of the equities of such settlers, provided for by
Rule (¢), whatever it requires, does not require any compensation
to British settlers in territory which proves in the arbitration to
have been Venezuelan. The grants to these settlers are of the
most recent origin. As there was no British settlement in the
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disputed territory in 1850, west of the Moruca, neither was there
any settlement in that territory until after 1880. All grants which
have been issued have been issued subsequent Lo that date. As
appears from the statement of Mr. imn Thurn, grants were not made
in the coast territory until 1890, and then they were given gratuit-
ously to settlers who had up to that time been mere squatters,
and many of ' whom had no connection with the British Govern-
ment except the fact that they had settled upon land which that
Government claimed. (B. C., VII, p. 273.)

Taking all these facts into consideration,—the recent character
of the settlement, the Agreement of 1850 not to occupy this ter-
ritory, still appealed to by Great Britain in 1887, the action of the
British Governor in issuing conditional grants in June of that
year, the action of the Colonial S8ecretary in removing the condi-
tions annexed to those grants, in the following September,—can
it be said that the adjustment of the equities of such settlers in
territory which proves to be Venezuelan is a matter that devolves
upon Venezuelal! Is there any obligation upon Venezuela to
respect such grants! Whatever may be the obligations of the
British Government towards the grantees, is there any such obli-
gation on the part of Venezuelai Will this Tribunal, in the face
of the history of this dispute and of the action of Great Britain
during the present century impose any liability upon the Vene-
zuelan Government in behalf of these settlersi Will it not
rather say that the grants were void ab dnitio, and that if the
grantees are to remain in possession, they can only do so upon
such terms as Venezuela may prescribet

Only one more fact remains to be taken into consideration.
A large part of the concessions given by the British Government
gince 1887 in the disputed territory relate to mining privileges. By
reason of these privileges an immense quantity of gold, amount-
ing in value to about twenty mullion dollars, has been taken
from the territory. As far as placer mining is concerned, it has
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been stripped of an enormous source of natural wealth. The
revenue derived by the British Government from royalties on
these concessions has amounted to over a million dollars, a
revenue which bas, if this territory is decreed to be Venezuelan,
been abstracted from it by the British Government at substan-
tially no cost to itself. In wview of this fact, certainly Great
Britain should take care of her own grantees. She had the use
of the territory without right for ten years, and in the exercise
of that use she stripped it of its resources, at enorinous pecuniary
advantage to herself. Can she now, by reason of the fact that she
took the risk of giving to her subjects the privilege of operating
this business, to strip this territorv to her own great pecuniary ad-
vantage, and in utter disregard of the possible rights of Vene.
zuela, claim that Venezuela is under any responsibility to make
good to these grantees any damages which they may suffer by
reason of the establishment of Venezuelan title to the territoryil
To give such effect to British occupation would outrage reason,
justice, the principles of international law, and the equities of
the case.






CHAPTER IIL

DIPLOMATIC CORRESPONDENCE.

Having thus considered the meaning and scope of the treaty
of arbitration, it is now proposed to take up the diplomatic cor-
respondence between Spain and the Netherlands, and between
Venezuela and Great Britain, with a view to ascertaining what
territorial claims have been advanced, and upon what grounds
those claims have been rested.

In a note addressed to Sir Julian Pauuncefote November 20,
1895, Lord Salisbury stated that ‘' the dispute on the subject of
the frontier did not, in fact, commence till after the year 1340 "
(V. C.-C., vol. iii, p. 275.) This is true, so far as Great Britain
and Venezuela are concerned; but to begin the study of the
diplomatic correspondence at that point, ignoring what passed
on the same subject between Spain and the Netherlands during
the eighteenth century, would be to pass by a vital part of the con-
tioversy.

The significance of Great Britain's claims subsequent to 1840
can be appreciated only when it is considered that she succeeded
to the rights of the Dutch. 1t is to the year 1747, therefore, that
we first invite attention.

In the year 1747 there was a profound ignorance on the part of
the Dutch as to the proper location of the boundary between the
colony of Essequibo and tho Spanish dominious. In September of
that year ‘*the Ten " adopted a resolution instructing that ** all
the respective Chambers, each by itself, investigate and inquire
whether it can be discovered how far the limits of this Company
in Rio Essequibo do extend ” (V. C., vol. ii, p. 9).

In December, 1743, the Governor wrote to the Company, and,



68 DIPLOMATIC CORRESPONDENCE.

after referring to the talk of some old people and Indians,
added: ** but this talk gives not the slightest certainty ” He also
expressed a wish ““that, if it were possible,” he ** might know the
true boundary ” (V. C., vol. ii, p. 101).

The visit of the Governor to Holland in 1750 led to many con-
sultations on this point between himself, the Company and the
Stadtholder—all without result—and he returned to Essequibo
with the boundary still a matter of conjecture.

In 1754 he again appealed to the Company for *‘the so long
sought definition of frontier (V. C., vol. ii, p. 118), and asked: “*Is
not this regulated by the Treaty of Miinster!” To this the Com-
pany answered: ‘‘ We would we were able to give you an exact
and precise definition of the proper limits of the river of Esse
quibo such as you have several times asked of us; but we greatly
doubt whether any precise and accurate definition can anywhere
be found, save and except the general limits of the Company’s
territories stated in the preambles of the respective charters
granted to the West India Company at various times by the States
General” (V. C., vol.'ii, p. 117).

The Spanish attack on the Cuyuni post in 1758 brought matters
to a crisis. It obliged Governor Storm van 's Gravesande to takea
definite stand in the matter; and hence, by his orders, the Military
Commandant in Kssequibo wrote, on December 8, 1754, to the
Spanish Commandant in Orinoco:

““That in the name of the Btates General his SBovereigns he persists, and
now for the second time demands the freeing of the prisoners and a suit-
able satisfaction for this violation and insult done to the territory of his
Sovereigns, and that, since it seems to him, socording to the letter in ques-
tion, that you in Guayana and at Cumané are ignorant of the boundaries
of the territory of His Catholic Majesty and those of the States (General ac-
cording to the treaties at present subsisting, he has ordered me to send you
the enclosed map on which you will be able to see them very distinctly.

" (V. 0, vol. ii, p. 128).

D'Anville’s map, here referred to, is reproduced as No. 16 in
the Atlas accompanying the British Case; and it is important to
note that the line there shown gave Barima Point and both
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the Barima and Amacura rivers, from their sources to their
mouths, to Spain. The extreme claim of the Dutch in 1758, as
regards the coast, is thus seen to have extended no further than
just beyond the Waini River.

This statement of the Dutch claim in 1758 was communicated
by the Dutch Governor to the Dutch West India Company; and
the Company, so far from enlarging on it in the Remonstrance
presented in 1759 to the Court of Spain, limited itself to affirming
its immemorial possession, not of the Barima, nor of the Amacura,
nor even of the Waini, but merely of the Essequibo River and all
its branches. 1t asked '* that reparation may be made for the said
hostilities, and that the Remonstrants may be reinstated in the
quiet possession of the said post on the river of Cuyuni, and also
that through their High Mightinesses and the Court of Madrid a
proper delimitation between the Colony of Essequibo and the
river Orinoco may be laid down by authority, so as to prevent any
future dispute™ (V. C., vol. ii, p. 134),

Spain made no formal answer to this Remonstrance, and it is
hardly necessary to add that the Dutch received no satisfaction.
The practical result of the appeal was that Spain continued to
occupy the Cuyuni and to exclude the Dutch from the post in the
quiet possession of which these latter asked to be reinstated.

The Dutch Remonstrance of 1759 was followed by another in
1769. Between these dates the Dutch continued to exhibit vac-
illation and uncertainty regarding the location of their boundary,
and to search for information as to where the line should run.
The Spaniards, on the other hand, continued to exclude the Dutch
from both the interior and the coast, and to assert sovereignty over
the whole disputed region. A glance at some of the correspond-
ence between the Dutch Governor and the Colony during this
period cannot fail to be instructive. That correspondence shows,
on the one hand, the ignorance of the Dutch authorities as to the
extent of their territory, and their admission as to the extent of
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Spanish territory, and, on the other hand, the trifling and insig-
nificant grounds upon which they based their extreme pretensions.
First, as to the ignorance of the Dutch:
Referring to the destroyed Cuyuni post of 1758, the Company
thus wrote to the Governor on May 81st, 1759:

* Meanwhile we should like on this oceasion to be exactly informed
where the aforesaid Post on the Riverof Cuynni was sitnated; for in the latest
map made by you of the Colony we huve found indeed, that river, but have
not yet succeeded in finding the Post itsell. Furthermore, what grounds
you might be able to give ns to further support our right to the possession
of the aforessid Post—perhaps s declarution by the oldest inhabitants of the
Colony conld in this connection be handed in, which might be of service.
We should also like to have a more specific description of the Map of Amer-
iea by M. D'Anville, to which you appeal ; for that gentleman has issucd
many mape desling with that continent, and in none of these which have

come to our notice have we been able to discover any traces [of what you
mention,”] (B. C,, II, p. 174).

Again, on December 3rd, 1759, they wrote:

“Wherefore we still request you to Jay before us everything which might
in any way be of service in proof of our right of ownership to, or poesession
of, the aforesaid river, because after receiving it we might perhapa present
to the States-General a fuller Remonstrance on this head, with a statement
of fncts joined thereto. For this purpose there might especially be of use to
us & small map of the River of Cuyuni, with indication of the places where
the Company's Post, and also the grounds of “Oud Duinenburg’ and of the
Company’s coffee and indigo plantations were situsted, and, finally, of the
so-called Blue Mountain in which the miners carried on their work for ounr
account,” (B. C,, II, p. 161).

And in the same letter they add:

*“ We see from your letter that you extend the bouudary of the Colony in
the direction of the Orinoco not ouly as far as Waini, but even as far as
Barima. We should like to be informed of the grounds upon which you
base thie contention, and especially your inference that, Cuyuni being
sitnate on this side of Waini, it must therefore necessarily belong to the
Colony; for, so far as we know, there exist no Conventions that the boundary
lines in South Amerieamn in a straigit line from the ses-coast inland, as

do most of the frontier lines of the English Colonies in North America *
(B. C. TT, p. 182).
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Seven years later the Company still continued in ignorance as
to the proper boundary of their Uolony. On Beptember 25, 1766,
they thus wrote to the Governor:

“ In one of your preceding letters you told na that the place sbout the
Barima, where some scum and offsconringsof folk were staying together
and leading a scandalous life, was Spanish territory, and that yon intended
to have Mr. Ronsselet, who was going on a mission to Orinoco submit
some propositions to the Spanish Governor for the extirpation of thut gang.
And now you ioform us of your having sent thither the Postholder of
Moruks with positive orders, probably propris aufhorifate without any
concurrence of the aforesaid Governor, inasmuch as Mr. Rousselet had not
yet departed thither on his mission, and we cannot quite make this tally
with the other. If that place is really Hpanish territory, then you have
acted very imprudently and irregularly; and, on the contrary, if that place
forma part of the Colony, and you had previonsly been in error as to the
territory, then youn have done very well, and we must fully approve of your
conrse, as alao of the Court's Resolution that henceforth no one shall be ut
liberty to stay on the Barima. But il the Uourt has no juriadiction in that
place, we see little result from that Resolution : exira ferrilorium suum jus
dicents enim impune non paretur” (B. 0., III, p. 137).

The above extracts are all taken from letters of the Company;
and it will be observed that the ignorance which these exhibit is
complete, so much so, indeed, that not even a suggestion came
from the Company to enlighten the Governor or to help him to an
understanding of what he should regard as being within his juris-
diction.

The letters of the Governor during this period prove the
same ignorance on his part; they also serve to make clear the ex-
treme Dutch claims of the eighteenth century; they disclose the
origin of those claims, and they reveal the foundations upon which
both those claims and the subsequent British pretensions have
been built.

It will be remembered that in writing to the Spanish Com-
mandant on the Orinoco complaining of the attacks upon the
Cuyuni Poet of 1758, Storm van's Gravesande had transmitted
a copy of D'Anville's map. That his own views were based
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upon D’Anville’s authority is shown by the following ex-
tract from his letter to the Company, dated September 9,
1758:

“ It is my opinion that this river is of the greatest importance to yonr
[sordships, much more so than any one of the others, and also that it is
perfectly certain and indisputable that they have not the slightest claim to
it. If your Lordships will be plessed to look at the map of this conntry,
drawn by Mr. D’Anville with the utmost care, your Lordships will clearly
see that this is g0 " (B. C., II, p. 144).

It was during 1759 that van 's Gravesande seems to have first
had any independent views of his own as to the boundary, for
on September 1st, of that year, he thus wrote to the Company:

“The time ie too short to enable me to send what your Lordships re-
quire concerning Onyuni, and in this despatch I shall have to content my-
self with informing your Lordsbips that Cuyuni being one of the three
arms which constitute this river, and your Lordships having had for very
many years the coffee und indigo plantation there, also that the mining
master, with his men, having worked on the Blue Mountain in that river
without the least opposition, the posseagion of that river, as far, too, as
this side of the Wayne, which is pretended to be the boundary-line (al-
though I think the latter ought to be extended as far as Barims), cannot
be questioned in the least possible way, and your Lordships’ right of owner-
ship is indisputable, and beyond all doubt” (B, C., II, p. 180).

It is important to note with regard to this letter, first that
van 's Gravesande gives the Waini as the ““ pretended boundary "—
pretended, of course, by the Dutch, not by the Spanish; second,
that his own views, which were at that time the extreme views,
were, for reasons not stated, that the line should go as far as
Barima—that is to say, up fo the Barima; third, that whatever
rights the Company then had to the River Cuyuni were based
upon certain facts, or supposed facts, which van 's Gravesande
enumerates, namely, that the Cuyuni was an affluent of the Esse-
quibo, that the Company had had * the coffee and indigo planta-
tion there,” andthat ‘' the mining master ” had at one time done
some prospecting '‘ on the Blue Mountain.”
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What weight ought to attach to the fact that the Cuyuni is an
affluent of the Essequibo is a matter which will be considered in
another part of this argument, and with regard to which the
opinion of van 's Gravesande can hardly be controlling; the coffee
and indigo plantation to which he refers was located below the
lowest fall, and can hardly, therefore, be regarded as constitut-
ing an occupation of the river above those falls; similarly the
work of the  mining master,” by whom of course is meant Hilde-
brandt, was confined to the lowest reaches of the river, and even
so was abandoned, as a failore, almost as soon as begun.

These were all the grounds adduced by van ’s Gravesande in
sapport of his claim, but that he rested little on them, and that
what really influenced him was D’Anville’s authority, is shown by
the limit which he admits with regard to the Cuyuni, since his
claim there was only to such part of it as lay * this side of the
‘Wayne,” that is to say, this side of that imaginary line appearing
in D’Anville’s map.

All this is confirmed by a later letter of van ’s Gravesande,
written on May 2nd, 1760, in which he says:

*“I trust and donbt not that their High Mightinesses will obtain proper
satisfuction for an act that iz so entirely contrary to the law of nations,
and I can very well understand that the death of the King of Spain must
delay the settlement of the matter.

“]1 have very little to add to what I have already had the hononr of
submitting to your Lordships in several of my despatches, and although
I am aware, as your Lordships are pleased to inform me, that no Treaties
have been made which decided that the dividing boundary in Sounth
America should ron inland in a direct line from the sea-coast, as is the
case with the English in North Ameriea, it still appears to me (salvo
meliors) to be an irrefutable fact that the rivers themselves, which have
been in the possession of your Lordships for such a large number of years,
and have been inhabited by subjects of the State without any or the least
opposition on the part of the Spanish, are most certainly the property of
your Lordshipe. I am strengthened in my view of this matter by the fact
that Cuyani is not s separate river like Weyne and Pomeroon (which last
has been occupied by us, and still containg the foundations of your Lord-
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shipe’ fortresses), but an actual part of the River Essequibo itself, which is
divided into three arms about 8 to 10 miles above Fort Zeelandia, and abont
one long cannon shot below Fort Kijkoveral, and to each of which the
Indians give a separate name—the first Cuyuni, the second Massarnni (in
which is Kijkoveral), and the thind Esseqnibo—the principal stream below
this division being called not Essequibo, but Araunama by the Arawaks,
the real aborigines of this conntry.

““ Althongh I do not doubt that your Lordships will now have re-
ceived the map compiled by Mr. D’Anville, I have, in order to make the
matter clear to your Lordships, copied that part of the map which relates
to our possessions, and filled in with as much precision as possible the
sitea of your Lordships’ plantation of Dnynenburg, situated partly in Mas-
surnni and partly in Cayuni, In Coyoni I have marked yoor Lordships'
coffee planiation, indigo plantation, the dwelling place of the half-free
creoles (to which the Spaniards came very close), and Blauwenborg, and
[the] Post which was sacked, together with the sites of your Lordships'
three other Posts in Maroco, Maykouny, and Arinda, up in Essequibo”
(B. C., II, pp. 184-185).

Here again van 's Gravesande bases his claims, first, upon
D'Anville’s authority; and second, upon a supposed possession
of certain rivers by the Company. When detailed reference is
made to this so-called possession, it is significant that the Barima
18 not mentioned; that, in speaking of the Waini and the Pom-
eroon, van ’s Gravesande distinctly limits the Company’s posses-
sion to the Pomeroon—'* which last,” he says, ‘‘ has been occu-
pied by us”-—and that the possession of the Cuyuni and Maza-
runi is made to rest, (a) upon the existence of the plantation
Duynenburg, situated at the point of junction of the Mazaruni
and Cuyuni, (b) upon the coffee and indigo plantation, (e) upon
the dwelling-place of the half-free creoles, (d) upon the mining
at Blauwenberg, and (e¢) upon the Post which had been sacked.

The location of all of these places, except Blauwenberg and
the sacked Post was below the lowest fall; while these two
were but a short distance above them. The prospecting opera-
tion of Hildebrandt in the Blauwenberg, or Blue Mountain, have
just been referred to above. As for the Post which had been
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sacked, it is clear that the establishment of a Post which was im-
mediately destroyed by the Spaniards under a claim of right, can
hardly prove either Dutch occupation or Dutch title.

Again, on August 12th, 1761, van 's Gravesande wrote:

“ After taking everything out of the Company’'s canoce of Aechtekerke
they let it go, and it came home, but they have kept the fine new canoe
belonging to the plantation Duynenburg. The latter having been cap-
tured this side of Barima, T am of opinion that it was captnred npon the
Honourable Company’s territory, for, although there are mo posilive proofs
fo be found here, so has alwaye been so consilered by the oldest seltlers,
as also by all the free Indians. Amongst the Jatter 1 have spoken with some
very old Caribg, who told me that they remember the time when the HTon-
ourable Company had a Post in Barima, for the re-cstablishment of which
they had often asked, in order that they might be relieved from the annoy-
ance of the Surinam pirates; and then, lastly, becawnse the bowndaries are
always thus defined by foreigners, as may be scen on the map prepared dy
D' Anwills, the Frenchman, a small extract of which I have sent by the
‘ Demerary Welvaeren.’

“ These are the only reasons, your Lordships, upon which I bage my opin-
inne, beeanse there are no old papers here out of whick any informalion rouli
be obiained " (B. C., II, p. 201).

It is now known that the tradition about a former Dutch post
in Barima, here referred to by van ’s Gravesande, was without
foundation; and in this connection attention is called to the fact
that the Dutch (Governor himself, the person most interested in
proving the existence of such a post, and the one most likely to
have had at hand the proofs, if any had existed, distinctly states that
““there are no positive proofs to be found here,” and that ** there
are no old papers here out of which any information could be
oblained,” Even had such proofs been found, and the existence
of the mythical posi been established, van 's Gravesande distinctly
limited his claim to ** this side of Barima.”

That the Barima was regarded by van 's (Gravesande as
Spanish appears even more clearly in the following extract from a
letter, dated August 18, 1764, and in the British Case attributed
to ’s Gravesande. In this he says:
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“ Whilst on thie subject I take the liberty to inform your Exoellency
that mentioning the River Barima in those passes causes complainta from
the Spaniards, who, maintaining that the river belongs to them, in which I
believe they are right, some of these passes have already been sent to the
Conrt of Spain " (B. C., IIL, p. 114).

It should be stated in this connection that D'Anville, along
with other geographers, placed the Barima west of the Amacura.
A reference to the Barima River may, therefore, really be to the
Amacura. It is not, however, likely that van’'s Gravesande made
any such distinction between the two in the passages above
quoted. As has been seen, his notions of boundary were derived
from D’Anville, and all his arguments regarding Dutch possession
and Dutch territorial rights were arguments intended to support,
not any theory of his own, but simply I’ Anville's line. Now, that
line gave both the Amacura and the Barima to Spain; and hence,
such must have been van ’s Gravesande's own views of the matter.
In further explanation of van’s Gravesande language, it should
also be remembered that the names Barima and Barima River
were, in those days, as they have been since, often used to desig-
nate the entire region which constitutes the southeastern bank of
the Main or Ships Mouth of the Orinoco; and that it consequently
included both the Barima and Amacura Rivers. When van
's Gravesande speaks of D’Anville’s line and of the Dutch boundary
going “as far as Barima,” he evidently means as far as this unde-
fined Barima region. Indeed, he could hardly mean anything else,
because the D’Anville line does not in fact go as far as the river
which D'Aunville called Barima, but only as far as the river which
he called Amacura.

Of equal, if not of greater importance, with van ’s Gravesande
declarations was the following formal statement, made on July
28, 1767, by the Amsterdam Chamber of the Dutch West India
Company to the States General, in reply to the Memorial of the

shareholders of the Zeeland Chamber:

“*The second reason why there is no foundation for the claim of the Zee-
land Chief Participants, that the silence of the Representative and the Direct-
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ors respecting the alleged addition of the oft-mentioned words ‘and adjoined
or subordinate rivers and places,’ implies an acknowledgment that under
this term Demerara must also be included, and that therefore from our side
consent has been given to the surrender of that Colony, consista herein, that
the patural meaning of the expression * Essequibo and adjoined or snbordi-
nate rivera’ is not that which the Zeeland Chiel Participants attribute to it
(oamely, that all the places which are sitoate on the mainland of the
so-called Wild Coast, between the bonndaries which the Chief Participants
themselves have arbitrarily and without giving any grounds therefor defined
as extending from Moruka to Mahsicony, or from Rio Berbice as far as the
Orinoco, are ‘adjoined, subordinate to, and inseparable from,’ the Colony
Essequibo), but, on the contrary, only this, that under that description are
comprehended the varions mouths and rivers, originating from Rio Esse-
quibo or emptying into it, which are marked on the map, such as, for
instunce, Cuyuni, Massaruni, Sepenouwy, and Magnouwe” (B. C., 1II,
p- 147).

Certainly the Amsterdam Chamber in this statement regarded
the Moruca as the extreme western boundary on the coast.

The final deliverance of the Dutch authorities on the boundary
question is to be found in the Remonstrance of 1769. Ten years had
passed since the Court of Spain had been appealed to for re-
dress on account of the attack on the Dutch Cuyuni Post. No
answer had been returned to that appeal, except that Spain
continued to exclude the Dutch from both the interior and the
coast. The Dutch attempt, in 1766, to establish another Post
on the Cuyuni, below the Post of 1758, had resulted in the
abandonment of that Post and in the removal of the post-
holder to a new location still further down among the lowest
falls of the Cuyuni. This removal was due to fears of Spanish
attack. Spain had maintained an undisputed control on the
Cuyuni River; Dutch and Caribs had been driven out; the
Spaniards had been coming with impunity down to the lowest
falls. On the coast the Dutch had been effectively excluded
from the entire Barima-Waini region; they had been prevented
from fishing in the Orinoco mouth; their trade on the Orinoco
and Barima had been interdicted; Dutch slave traders had been
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cleared out of Barima; Dutch vessels in that region had been
captured; the Spaniards had come even as far as the Moruka,
and had attacked the Dutch post located there. It was
because of all this that another and final Remonstance was
addressed by the States General to Spain. The following are
extracts from that Remonstrance:

“LieaD to the Assembly the Remonstrance of the Represcntative of
his Sercue Iighuness the Prince of Orange and Nassau, and Directors of
the Churtered West Iudis Compuny in the Presidial Chamber of Zealand,
on behalfl of the Company in generul, as huving the particular direction
and care of the colony of Hesequibo, and of the rivers which belong to
it, declaring that they, the remonstrants, had in this capacity from time
almost immemorial Leen in possession not only of the afuresaid River
Essequibo nnd of several rivers and croeks which flow into the sea wlung
the coust, but also of ull bravches wnd streams which fall into the same
River Essequibo, und more particularly of the most northerly arm of the
sane river, called the Cuyuni; that from time immemorial also on the
banks of the same River Cuyuni, which is considered as a dumain of the
State, there has been cstablished s so-called Post, consisting of a wouden
lodge, which, on behalf of the Company, like several others in this Colouy,
18 occupied and guarded by s Postholder and outrunner or assistunt,
with some sluves and Indians.

** That, aceordingly, the remunstrants, especinlly ufter whut had lap-
pened in 1759, had been extremely surprised to learn by u letter from
Laurcus Storm van ’s Gravesunde, Director-General of the Colony of Esse-
(uiby, written the 9th Februsry last, thut u Spanish detschment coming
from the Orinoco had come ubove that Post and had carried off several
Indiuns, threatening to return ut the frst following dry season and visit
Musseroeny, another arm of the Essequibo, lying between that und the
Cuyuni River, and, therefore, nlso unquestionably forming part of the terri-
tory of the Republic, in order also to carry off from thence a body of Caribs
(an Indmn nation allies of the Dutch and under their jurisdiction), and
then to descend the River Musseroeny, ascend the Cuyani, and visit the
Company’s said Post in Cuyuni. (B. C., IV, p, 20.)

* * - L] L] »

“ That they, the remounstrants, had taken all that s a mere threat,
which, us on many other occasions, would have no effect, and this, although
the Director-General aforesaid had also informed them, by a letter of the
%18t February, 1769, of which they produced an extruct (Addendum B),
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of the establishment of two Spanish Missions, oconpied by a strong force,
one not far above the Company’s said Post in Cuyuni (apparently, however,
on Spanish territory), and the other a little higher up on & ecreek which
flows into the afuresaid Cayuni River.

“ That if, indeed, they could have expected or have had to lovk forward
to an attack from the Spaniards in time of peace, it must, therefore, cer-
tainly have been from that side, especially in view of all that the Dirvector-
General had further mentioned in his letter of the 3rd Murch last, und of
which an extract was added as Addendum C; but that they, the remon-
strants, had learned with the greatest astonishmeunt from a letter written by
the Director-General, dated the 10th March last, to his son-in-law, the
Commandeur of Demerara, which the latter had sent them iu the original,
and of which & copy forms Addendam D, that the Spaniards had begun to
carry off the Indians from Morucs, snd had made themeelves masters of
the Company’s Post there, being a small river or creek south of the Weyne
River, situated between the latter and the Pomaroon River, where [from
time immemorial the Company had aleo a trading place snd a Post, and
which also incontestably belonged to the territory of the Dutch. (B. C.,
IV, p. 80.)

- ® L - = »

« T'hat they, the remonstrants, considered it their duty to further bring
to the koowledge of their High Mightinesses on this occasion that the people
of the Orinoco had some time ago not only begun to dispute with the people
of the Essequibo about the fishing rights in the mouth of the Orinoco, und
thereupon to prevent them by force from enjoying the same, notwithstand-
ing that the people of Essequibo had been for many years in peacelul and
quiet possession of that fishery, which was of great value to them on ac-
count of the abuudance of fish in it; but that, further, the people of
Orinoco were beginning to prevent, by foroe, their fishing upon the terri-
tory of the State itself, extending from the River Murowyne to beyond the
River Wayne, not far from the mouth of the Orinoco, as could be seen
by the maps extant of those regions, particulurly that of M. d’Anville,
which on account of ita precision was regarded as oue of the best * * %7
(B. C, IV, p 81.)

These extracts should be read in the light of the correspond-
ence between the Company and van’s Gravesande, to which ref-
erence has ahove been made, The correspondence explains what
was meant by the States-General when they allege ‘‘an almost
immemorial possession” of the Kssequibo, *'of the rivers and
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creeks which flow into the sea along the coast,” and of the
Cuyuni. van's Gravesande had distinctly limited that *‘ posses-
sion” to the Pomeroon on the coast, and to the indigo and coffee
plantations, the mining operations of Hildebrandt, and the de-
stroyed or abandoned Posts in the interior. It was that posses-
sion which the States-General had in mind when they drew up
their last Remonstrance. In this Remonstrance the States-Gen-
eral bear testimony to the effectiveness of Spanish control.
They declare that Spanish forces had come down to the very
junction of the Cuyuni and Mazaruni rivers, and had carried In-
dians away from there as captives.

In the next paragraph the States-General refer to the estab-
lishment of two Spanish missions, *‘ one not far above the Com-
pany’s said Post in Cuyuni,” **and the other a little higher up on
a creek which flows into theaforesaid Cuyuni River”; and the im-
portant admission is added, with reference to the nearer of these
Spanish Posts, that it is “apparently, however, on Spanish terri-
tory.” Thusdid the Dutch recognize the fact that the Spaniards
had rights upon the Cuyuni river, and that at least a part of that
river was Spanish territory.

The next paragraph calls attention to the coast region. The
Spaniards are declared to have made themselves masters of the
Moruca Post; and, feeling that Dutch rights there were in question,
the States-General sought to justify their title by alleging that the
Moruca was south of the Waini, and near the Pomeroon, of which
the Dutch had been long in possession.

The next quoted paragraph is all important, for it furnishes
the final, authoritative, and official definition of the extreme pre-
tensions of the Dutch onthe coast. It begins by bearing testimony
tothe fact that the * people of the Orinoco ”” had by force prevented
the Dutch from even fishing in the mouth of the Orinoco. As
showing that territorial rights were not in the thought of the Dutch
in connection with these Orinoco tisheries, the States-General
add, that further than that, S8paniards were beginning to prevent
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their fishing even ** upon the territory of the Stale ttself.” Then
follows a most important clause—a definition in express terms of
that territory as *‘ extending from the River Marowyne to beyond
the River Wayne, not far from the mouth of the Orinico, as could
be seen by the maps extant of those regions, particularly that of
M. d’Anville ” (see British Atlas, maps 16 and 23).

Here, then, we have a statement of the Dutch exlreme claim
on the coast, formulated by the Dutch West India Company, ap-
proved by the States-General, and communicated by them in a
formal diplomatic Remonstrance to the Court of Spain. That
statement is a distinct recognition of Barima Point and of the
Barima and Amacura Rivers as Spanish, and it effectually estops
the Dutch, and their successors the British, from claiming any
part of that Point or of either of those rivers.

This Remonstrance, as we have said, was the last official
Dutch utterance on the subject. Spain never answered it, but
continued to exclude the Dutch from the Barima-Waini region
and from the Cuyuni. The Dutch acquiesced; further pro-
tests were useless; they had no power to expel the Spuniards;
and so seventy-one years of diplomatic silence ensued. No
wonder that Lord Salisbury was led to believe that ““ the dispute
on the subject of the fronticr did not, in fact, commence until
after the year 1840.” Had he, and his predecessors in the
Foreign Office, been more fully informed as to the earlier
diplomatic history of the question, it is inconceivable that they
would ever have put forward, as a demand based on Dufch
righte, a claim either to Barima Point or to the Barima or Amacura
Rivers, which the Dutch never dreamed of as theirs, and which
the States-Gieneral, in 1769, distinctly and formally recognized to
be Spanish territory.

A single incident breaks the silence between 1769 and 1840,

On February 10, 1836, and again on April 27 of the same
year, Mr. Hamilton, British Vice-Consul at Angostura, wrote
to Sir Robert Ker Porter, British Minister at Caracas, calling at-
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tention to the dangerous navigation of the Orinoco by the Boca de
Navios or ships’ mouth, A British brig had, in the month of Jan-
uary preceding, been lost there; and Mr. Hamilton, in reporting
the circamstance, spoke of the advisability of having a beacon
erected on the Point of Cape Barima, and urged the British Minis-
ter to bring the matter to the attention of the Venezuelan Govern-
ment. He added the information that *‘there was a pilot-boat
which was to have gone out every day from Point Barima and
cruise about, but it was badly managed” (B. C., VII, p. 84). Of
course he meant a Venezuelan pilot boat, and it is perfectly clear
that in his mind Barima Point, from which the pilot boat had
made or was to have made its daily start, and upon which he sug-
gested the erection of a beacon, was Venezuelan teriitory. Thisis
most important evidence-as to the current local belief of the time
regarding the ownership of Barima Point. Mr. Hamilton was a
British official residing at Angostura, perfectly informed as to the
'ua.vigatiqn of the Orinoco, and naturally conversant with the
views current there. Had there been a possibilty in his mind of
Barima being English he would never have written as he did.
That Sir Robert Ker Porter made a request to the Venezuelan
Government in conformity with Mr. Hamilton’s suggestion, and if
he did not at the time apprise his own Government of that request,
his neglect simply shows that in his mind Barima was so indisput-
ably Venezuelan that it never occurred to him that his action in
making the request could ever come to have a political significance.
Barima had never been held by the Dutch; had never been claimed
by them or by Great Britain; had, on the contrary, been formally
recognized by the highest Dutch authorities as Spanish. Spain
had always held and claimed it, until succeeded in her rights by
Venezuela; and thereafter Venezuela had continued to do the same.
No thought had ever been entertained that it was other than
Venezuelan territory. What more natural, therefore, than
that a British Consul and a British Minister should act upon
that belief. What better witnesses, what stronger evidence
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can we have, that the position deliberately laken by the
States-General in 1760 regarding Barima had undergone no
change during the sixty-seven intervening years? It hﬂa
been recognized as Spanish in 1760 by Dutch officials; it was
recognized now as Venezuelan by British officials, withont hesita-
tion and without a thought that it could be regarded as debatable
ground. No wonder, then, that when, in 1841, pnews reached
Angostura that the British flag was flying at Barima, the intell-
gence should have created ‘‘the utmost surprise and alarm”
there (B. C., VII, p. 72). It proves how unprepared the public
mind was for such an announcement; and it was not strange that
Mr. O'Leary, then British Minister, in communicating the report
to the Governor of British Guiana, should bhave refrained from
justifying such action (B. C., VII, p. 72).

This incident of flag flying was pregnaut with trouble. It was

the unauthorized act of a young German naturalist, who for .

some years had been at work in British Guiana under the auspices
of the Royal Geographical Society, and who had offered to, and
been authorized by, the British Government to locate the bound-
ary which he alleged to have been claimed by the Dutch during
their possession of the Colony. Schomburgk’s work will be mmade
the subject of a separate chapter. For the prescunt it is enough
to point out that prior to his time nv Dutch or British offi-
cial had claimed Barima, and that his action in that regard gave
rise to a controversy which has lasted fifty-eight years, and
which, but for him, would never have involved the Barima region.

Confirming Schomburgk’s views that whatever right Great
Britain had to the Barima, was a right derived from the Dutch,
(tovernor Light, on October 20, 1841, in writing to Sefior Aranda,
spoke of the ** occupation of the Barima by the Dutch,” and added
the phrase, ‘ from whom Great Britain derives her claim” (V. C,,
vol. iii, p. 198).

So the Earl of Aberdeen, in hia note of January 31st, 1842, to
Sr. Fortique, declared that in removing the posts erected at Barima



84 DIFLOMATIC CORRESPONDENCE.

and Amacura by Schomburgk, * Her Majesty’s Government must
not be understood to abandon any portion of the rights of Great
Britain over the territory which was formerly held by the Dulch
tn Guiana® (B, C., VII, p. s0).

This view of the matter was later repeated in even stronger
terms by Lord Aberdeen in his note of March 30th, 1844, to Sr.
Fortique, where, reviewing the whole subject, he presented Great
Britain's claim at length, basing it exclusively upon an alleged
prior Dutch occupation.

These views, that British rights were founded exclusively on
Dutch rights, that however the boundary might be run, it was a
boundary separating former Dulch territory from former Spanish
territory, and that there was no such thing as ferra nullius be-
tween them, were in complete accord with historical facts and with
the claims of all prior diplomatic correspondence.

The formal declaration of Lord Aberdeen on this subject com-
mitted Great Britain to the position thus taken. Unless Great
Britain can show that she has, since 1844, acquired title to terri-
tory which, in 1844, belonged to Venezuela, her position must still
be what her Priine Minister in that year declared it to be, and she
should be held to it, taking the consequences, whatever they
may be.

We have said that Schomburgk’s survey was the immediate
cause of the present boundary dispute. The origin of the Schom-
burgk line, its publication to the world, and its claims to con-
sideration, will be discussed in another chapter. As a link in
the diplomatic correspondence under examination, only that
phase of it will now be considered which has direct roference to
_the extent and character of the claims put forth at various times
by Great Britain,

The Schomburgk line was intended, both by Schomburgk and
by the British Foreign Office, to be the definition of Great
Britain’s extreme claim founded upon Dutch occupation. The
line involved no concession to Venezuelan rights, It meant
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no surrender of British territory. It was an expression of Great
Britain's Case at the time. Whatever question there might be as
to territory lying to the east, there was and could be none as to
that lying west. That territory, past all doubt, was Venezuelan.
Lord Aberdeen on October 21 1841, in waiting to Sefior
Fortique, referred to Schomburgk as one appointed *‘to survey
and mark out the boundaries between British Guiana and
Venezuela” (V. C. III, p. 199). And in another note of March
30th, 1844, in speaking of the British claim to the Orinoco and of
the Venezuelan claim to the Essequibo, he uses this lJanguage:

“If the undersigned were inclined to adopt the epirit of M. Fortique's
note, it is obvious, from what has been stated, that he must claim for Great
Britain, iu her right of succession to Holland, the entire coast from the
Orinoco to the Essequibo.

“ But the Undersigned is of opinion that negotiations are not facilitated
by putting forward claims which it is not serionsly intended to maintain,
and, therefore, he will not follow M. Fortique's example, but will declare at
once what concessions from fher exireme claim Great Brituin, ont of friendly
regard to Venezuela, and from a desire to prevent the occurrence of any
serious differences, is willing to admit.

“ Believing, then, that the undivided possession of the Orinoco is the
object most important for the interests of Venezuela, Her Mujeaty's Gov-
ernment are prepsred to cede to the Republic a portion of the coast amply
sufficient to insure Venezuela against the mouth of this, her principal river,
being at the command of any foreign Power. With this view, and regurd-
ing it us a moat valuable concession to Venezuela, her Majesty's Government
are willing to waive their claim to the Amacura as the western boundary of
the British territory, and to consider the mouth of the Moroco River us
the limit of her Majesty's posacssions on the sea-coast.

* They will, moreover, consent that the inland boundary shall be marked
by a line drawn directly from the mouth of the Moroco to the junclion of
the River Barama with the River Wuini, thence up the River Burama to
the Annama, snd op the Annama to the point at which that stream ap-
proaches nearest to the Acarabigi, and thence down the Acarabisi to its con-
fuence with the Coyuui, from which point it will follow the bavk of the
Cayuni upwards until it reaches the high lands in the neighbourhood of
Mount Rorsima which divide the waters flowing into the Essequibo from
those which flow into the Rio Branco.
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“ AUl the territory lying bolwsen a lins such as is hore described, on the
one side, and the River Amacura and the chain of hills from which the
Amacura rises, on the other, Great Britain is willing to cede to Venezuela,
upon the condition that the Venezuelan Government enter into an engage-
ment that no portion of it shall be alienated at any time to a foreign Power,
and that the Indian tribes now residing within it shall be protected against
all injury and oppression” (B, C., VII, p. 90).

Now the line proposed above as the boundary to be agreed upon
is what has come to be known as the Aberdeen Line; if to the terri-
tory lying east of that line there be added the territory described
in the last paragraph above cited the result will be a territory
bounded on the west by the present Schomburgk Line. Lord Aber-
deen’s proposition was that Great Britain should keep a part of this
territory, and should cede the balance to Venezuela. Of course this
was intended to be a complete and final settlement of the entire
boundary question; Great Britain by the proposed cession forever
extinguishing all claims which she might have to territory bevond
the Aberdeen Line. This proposed cession, however, was of ** all
the territory lying between a line such as is here described (the
Aberdeen Line) on the one side, and the River Amacura and the
chain of hills from which the Amacura rises, on the other.” If this
meant anything it meant that that was the only territory west of
the Aberdeen Line to which Great Britain could even pretend that
she had a claim; or in other words that the Schomburgk Line con-
stituted Great Britain's extreme claim, Even this extreme claim,
Lord Aberdeen admits, it was ‘‘ not seriously intended to maintain,”
and it was from this '‘ extreme claim” that Great Britain, out of
friendly regard to Venezuela, ‘‘ was willing to make concessions.”

Were it necessary more cvidence might be referred to in sup-
port of the statement that the Schomburgk line in 1841 rep-
resented the extreme British claim. Certainly it cannot be
necessary. Even the evidence already cited would seem to be in
support of a fact too clear to meed proof, were it not that Great
Britain's extreme claim has constantly grown since, and that it
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has subsequently been seriously argued in her behalf that the
Schomburgk line represented great concessions to Venezuela; that
immense tracts lying to the west, and which for centuries have
been the principal site of Spanish missions and villages, belonged
of right to Great Britain; that those tracts are within the so-
called disputed territory; and that Venezuela's continued occupa-
tion of them constituted a violation of the agreement of 1850.

A further important fact to be noted regarding Schomburgk's
survey is that it did not constitute even a pretended occupation of
the disputed territory. The correctness of this statement might
well be questioned were it not that we are bound to accept upon
this point the word and assurances of no less a person than Lord
Aberdeen. As Prime Minister of Great Britain he distinctly dis-
claimed at the time any intention to occupy, and he declared that
Schomburgk's acts were not to be construed by Venezuela as im-

plying an occupation. The following are Lord Aberdeen’s words:

“ The Undersigned begs leave to refer to his note of the 21st October
last, in which he explained to M. Fortique that the proceeding of Mr.
Schomburgk in plauting boundary posts at certain points of the country
which he has surveyed was merely a preliminary measure open to future
discussion between the two Governments, and that it would be pre-
matuare to make a8 Boundary Treaty before the survey shall be completed.

* The Undersigued has only further to state that much unnecessary
inconvenience would result from the removal of the posts fixed by Mr.
Schombuargk, as they will afford the only tangible means by which Her
Majesty’s Government can be prepared to discuss the guestion of the
boundariez with the Government of Venezuels. Those posts were erected
for that express purpose, and no/, ne the Venezuelan Government appesr
to apprehend, as indications of dominion and empire on flhe part of (Freat
Britain.

“ And the Undersigned is glad to learn from M. Fortique’s note of the
8th instant that the two Venezuelan gentlemen who have been sent by their
Government to British Guiana huve had the means of ascertaining from the
Governor of that Colony that the Brilish authoritiss have not occupied
Point Barina” (B. C., VII, p. 79).

That the Colonial authorities were of one mind with Lord
Aberdeen on this subject is clear from the language of Governor
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Light, as reported by Sefior Fortique to the Earl of Aberdeen.
Sefior Fortique says:

“ The second is the conduct observed by the Governor of English
Guians in his conferences with the Commissioners whom the Government
of Venezuela accredited to him with the view of asking for explanations of
those demarcations, a8 he manifested to them *that inasmuch as the real
boundaries between the two Guisnas are undefined and questionable, the
operation of Mr. Schomburgk neither has nor could have been underfaken
for the purpose of taking possession, but vnly in the way of gsimply laying
down the boundary-line supposed or presumed on the part of British
Guiana, and that, therefore, while the confines remain undetermined, the
Governument of Venezusla ouyht to rest assured that no fort would be
ordered to be built on the terrilory in question, nor that any soldiers or
force whatever would be sent thither' ” (B, 0., VII, p. 78).

It was in answer to this that Lord Aberdeen wrote the note
before, in part quoted.

Thig, then, was the situation when, in 1841, Lord Aberdeen
gave his consent to the removal of the Schomburgk posts. Great
Britain had notified Venezuela of the commission issued to
Schomburgk; had adopted Schomburgk’s work as an expression of
the extreme British claim; had rested that claim upon a supposed
former Dutch title; had disclaimed any intention to occupy the
Barima; had thereby admitted that such occupation did not in fact
exist; and, yielding to the force of Sr. Fortique’s arguments, had
ordered the removal of every semblance of British dominion from
the line run by Schomburgk.

The order for the removal of the S8chomburgk posts was fol-
lowed by an interchange of diplomatic notes, which resulted on
March 30th, 1844, in Lord Aberdeen’s proposal of the line which
bears his name. This proposal was not accepted by Venezuela,
and the negotiations were thereupon suspended.

Matters continued in this unsettled state during the years
from 1844 to 1850. In the latter year rumors were circulated,
on the one hand, that Great Britain intended to ‘‘lay claim to
the Province of Venezuelan Guiana” (Blue Book, Venezuela
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(1898) No. 1, p. 256); and, on the other hand, that Venezuela
intended to erect a fort at Barima. These reports were communi-
cated by the British Minister at Caracas to the Home Government,
and, as a result, the former, acting under instructions from Vis-
count Palmerston, on November 1sth, 1850, addressed a note to
Sr. Lecuna, the Venezuelan Secretary of State for Foreign
Affairs. In this note, after referring at some length to the
rumors above mentioned, he said:

““The Venezuelan Government cannot, without injustice to Great
Britain, distrnst for A moment the sincerity of the formul declaration, now
made in the name and by express order of Iler Majesty's (iovernment, that
Great Britain has no intention of occupying or encroaching upon the dis-
puted territory; hence, in a like spirit of good faith and friendliness, the
Venezuelan Government cannot object to make a similar formal declaration
to Her Majesty’s Government, namely, that Venezuela bersell has no in-
tention of ocenpying or encroaching upon the dispnted territory” (V. C.
vol. iii, p. 212).

To this Sr. Lecuna replied, on December 20th, 1330, in part,
aa follows:

“ By order of His Excellency, the President of the Republic, the Un-
dersigned bega to state in reply that the Guvernment never could have
persuaded itself that, in despite of the negotiation open in this matter, and
of the rights of Venezuels ulleged in the question of boundaries pending
between the two conntries, Gireat Britain wonld desire to employ force in
order to occupy the territory claimed by each country; much less could the
Government think this possible after Mr. Wilson has so repeatedly assured
it, and as the Executive Government believes with sincerity, that these
imputations are destitute of any foundation whatever, and, on the contrary,
are the very reverse of the truth.

“ Reposing in this confidence, fortified by the protestations contained
in the note under reply, the Government has no difficulty in replying that
Venezuels has no intention to occupy or encroach upon (‘‘ usurpar”) any
part of the territory, the dominion of which is in dispute, and that it will
not view with indifference that Great Britain shall act otherwise” (V. C.,
vol. iii, p. 213).

This interchange of formnal declarations is what has come to be
known as *““The Agreement of 1850.” In subsequent years each
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party has charged the other with violating it. It will be well to
pause for a moment and to consider certain points which will later
be useful in determining the truth of these charges.

Whether or not the Agreement has been violated depends, in
the first place, upon what territory was intended to be included
within its provisions. In his note to Sr. Lecuna, Mr. Wilson had
used the phrase ‘‘ disputed territory,” without defining it in any
way, except that in another part of the same note he referred to .
Point Barima as a place ‘' the right of possession to which is in
dispute between Great Britain and Venezuela” (Blue Book, Vene-
zuela (1896) No. 1, p. 263).

In his reply Sr. Lecuna was somewhat more explicit. He said
that the Venezuelan Government could never have persuaded
itselfl that *‘ Great Britain would desire to employ force in order to
occupy the territory claimed by each conntry,” and then declares
his own country’s intention not to occupy “ any part of the terri-
tory the dominion of which is in dispute” (V. C. vol. iii, p. 218).

This definition of the ‘“ disputed territory " was satisfactory to
the British Government, and must therefore be taken as binding
upon it. What was *‘the territory claimed by each country” in
18501 No diplomatic correspondence on the subject had passed
since 1844. The claims made by each Government iu that year
still held good. What were those claims?

So far as Great Britain was concerned we have already shown
that her extreme claim did not go beyond the Schomburgk line.
Indeed, in referring to that boundary, Lord Aberdeen had dis-
tinctly said that it was * not seriously intended to maintain” it.
It is clear therefore that the western boundary of the disputed
territory could have gone no further than the Schomburgk Line,
if indeed it went even as far as that.

The eastern boundary is equally free from doubt. Spain’s claim
to the Essequibo had been repeatedly presented to Great Britain.
Referring to it, in his note of March 80, 1844, Lord Aberdeen says:
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¢ Such a claim, independently of ull question of right, would he prac-
tically far less injurious to Venesuela than that which M. Fortique hus
asserted is to Great Britain, inasmuch ss, whilst Venezuela is withont a
settlement of any sort upon the territory in question, the admission of the
Essequibo as the boundary of Veneruela wonld involve at once the surrender
by Great Britain of about half the Colony of Demerary, including Cartabo
Point and the Island of Kyk-over-al, where the Dutch had their earlieat
settlements npon the Masaruni, the missionary estublishment at Bartika
Grove, and many sctually existing settlements upon the Arabigi coast to
within 50 miles of the capital” (B. C., VII, p. 90).

This may seem an extreme view, from the Brilish standpoint;
but, extreme or not, there was the claim; and in 1850 the British
Government accepted Sr. Lecuna’s description of the ** disputed
territory ” as * ferritory claimed by each country.”” Great Britain
bound herself to respect that claim, and to neither *‘occupy or
encroach ” upon that territory. It is, indeed, reasonable to sup
pose that neither government expected, at the time, that any
plantations or settlements actually located within the disputed
territory were to be withdrawn. Indeed, the agreement did not
contemplate evacuation, It provided that the territory in dispute
should not be occupied or encroached upon; and such a stipulation,
if interpreted as it might well be as having regard to the future,
is quite consistent with the continuance of the plantations then
existing along the Arabian coast. Its sole effect with regard to
them would be to stop the running of any prescription which
might otherwise be claimed in their favor.

But Lord Aberdeen is by no means the only witness to the fact
that practically the entire territory between the Schomburgk line
and the Essequibo was to be Lreated as disputed territory. On
November 19, 1850, the very day following the British declara-
tion that it would not encroach upon this territory, Mr. Wilson,
the British Minister, in a despatch to Viscount Palmerston, said:

“ Qongidering, however, the intrigues on foot to mislead and excite the
public mind by the malicions assertion of the occupation of ¢ Fuerte Viejo '
by British troops,” ete. (V. C., vol. iii. p. 212).
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Now, Fluerfe Viejo appears under the name of Viejo Fuerte int
Codazzi's map. So far as we are aware it occurs in no other
map. 1n Codazzi’s map it is identified with Kykoveral, long since
abandoned by both Dutch and British, How long must it have
been abandoned, and how far removed from actual British settle-
ments must it have been for Mr. Wilson to have indignantly re-
ferred to the ‘“ malicious assertion ” that the British had occupied
it? His reference to it at this time and in this way is proof that
he regarded it as located within the disputed territory.

So matters stood in 1850. Both Governments excluded them-
selves from this disputed territory; and so long as the agreement
continued neither Government, by acts in violation of it, could
acquire title to the territory in question.

In 1876 and 1877, an ineffectual effort was made by Venezuela
to arrive at some settlement regarding the boundary. Notes were
addressed by Sr. Calcafio and Sr. de Rojas to the Earl of Derby,
but nothing came of them. In 1879, the question was once more
brought to the attention of the British Government, and negotia-
tions were begun with the Marquis of Salisbury.

In a note dated May 19, 1879, Sefior de Rojas called attention to
the fact that thirty-eight years had passed since Venezuela had
first urged Her Majesty's Government to conclude a Boundary
Treaty. He referred to the line of right which Venezuela claimed,
and stated that his Government was prepared to arbitrate that
right. At the same time he suggested that Great Britain might
prefer to agree to a line of accomodation or ‘‘ convenience,” and
that if so he was prepared to negotiate on that basis,

Lord Balisbury’s reply, while it contained an important admis-
gion, showed how the British view had changed since Lord Aber-
deen's day. It contained an important admission because it recog-
nized the fact that this boundary question cannot be decided, as a
matler of right, without taking into account the rights that, under
the rules of international law, belong to discovery, first settle-
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ment, conquesi, cession and trealies. These are Lord Salisbury’s
words:

*““With regard to the first of these questions, I have the honour to state
that Her Majesty’s Government are of opinion that to argue the mat-
ter on the ground of strict right would involve 8o many intricate guwes-
tions connecled with the original discovery and sefilement of fhe conniéry, and
snbsequent conguesfs, cessions, and Trealies, that it would be very inlikely
to lead to a satisfuctory eolution of the question” (B. C., VII, p. 96).

In view of subsequent British statements, which seem to treat
the question of discovery, first settlement, conquest, cession and
treaties as something having nothing to do with this case, this state-
ment of Lord Balisbury, which is in entire accord with the views
of the most accredited writers on international law, and which has
reference to this particular boundary dispute, is most important.

Haviog thus committed himself to the principles referred to,
Lord Salisbury proceeded to define the extent and the basis of
(3reat Britain's extreme claim. These are his words:

“The boundary which Iler Majesty’s Government claim, in virtue of
ancient Treaties with the aboriginal tribes and of subsequent cessions from
Holland, commences at a point at the mouth of the Orinoco, westward of
Point Barimu, prooceeds thence in n southerly direction to the Imataca
Mountains, the line of which it follows to the north-west, passing from
them by the Highlands of Sants Maria just south of the town of Upata
until it strikes a range of hills on the eastern bank of the Cuaroni River,
following these southwards until it strikes the great backbone of the
Guisna district, the Rorsima Mountsins of British Guiana, and thence,
still southward, to the Pacarsima Mountains” (B. C., VII, p. 96).

It is hardly necessary to point out the enormous jump which
the British ‘' extreme claim” thus took. It was, indeed, a re-
markable growth for thirty-six years, since the time when Lord
Aberdeen had proposed to cede to Venezuela the Barima-Waini
region; at that time Lord Aberdeen contenting himself with the
mouth of the Moruca on the coast, had probably * compensated
himself in the interior by claiming west as far as the great bend
of the Cuyuni. That claim may have done very well for 1844, but
1880 demanded greater things, and so about 15,000,000 acres were
suddenly added to Great Britain's pretensions,
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It will be noted, too, that the basis of the British title had
been modified. Schomburgk, Lord Aberdeen, and all who went
before, had been content to rest British rights upon the former
Dutch occupancy. Whether or not doubts had in the meantime
arisen at the Foreign Office in London regarding the sufficiency of
such Dutch rights, the fact is that another source of Dutch title
was now for the first time alleged, and ** ancient Treaties with the
aboriginal tribes ”” were now for the first time invoked.

These treaties must have antedated the Dutch cession, for that
cession is referred to by Lord Salisbury as something subsequent.
What these treaties may have been, we are at a loss to know.
They are not given in either the British Case or Counter-Case, and
no explanation of them has ever been vouchsafed. If, in fact,
they were ever made, or if, as seems more likely, Lord Salisbury
was misinformed regarding them, it is very certain—for reasons
sot forth in another Chapter of this Brief —that they could have
conferred no rights of sovereignty upon Great Britain. The sub-
sequent diplomatic correspondence, and the Case and Counter-Case
submitted to the Avbitral Tribunal by Great Britain, would seem
to indicate that this claim of title based on Indian treaties has
been abandoned.

The Marquis of Salisbury was succceded shortly by Earl
Granville, and the negotiations begun with the former were
continued with the latter, Propositions and counter-proposi-
tions were followed, on September 15th, 1881, by a proposal
from Lord Granville for the adoption of the line since known
as the Granville line. The memorandum submitted by Earl
Granville with his note of that date contains two passages
which demand attention. They are the following:

“ As regards that portion of the territory which lies Letween the
and the mouth of the Orinoco, ller Majesty’s Government

h“ll{'vu that that no impartial person, after studying the records, can escape
the conviction that the Barima was undonbtedly before, and at the time of
the conclusion of the Treaty of Munster (1048), held by the Dutch, and
that the right of Her Mujesty’s Government to the territory up to that

point is in consequence unassailable (B. C., VII, p. 99).
-* #* ﬂ' » " -
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*“ This bonndary [referring to his proposed line] will surrender to Ven-
ezuela what has been called the Dardanelles of the Orinoco. It will give
to Venezuela the entire command of the mouth of that river, and it yields
about one-half of the dispuled territory, while it secures to British Guiana,
a well-defined natonral boundary along almost its whole course, except
for about the first 50 miles iuland Mrom the sea, where it is necessary to lay
down an arbitrary boundary in order to secure to Venezuels the undis-
turbed possession of the mouths of the Orinoco; but even here sdvantage
has been taken of well defined natural land-marks. The Barima, con-
nected a8 before mentioned by ita tributaries with the centra of the country
of Eseequibo, is also connected with the Waini by a channel through which
the tide flows and ebbe ” (B. C., VII, p. 100).

Both of these paragraphs, taken in conpection with Earl
Granville's proposition to draw a line which should give
Barima to Venezeula, show that Earl Granville was in ac-
cord with Lord Aberdeen, both as to the basis of (reat
Britain's claim to Barima, and as to the superior right of Venez-
uela to the same place upon the principle of security.

Lord Granville distinctly says that ** the right of Her Majesty's
(Government to the territory up to” the mouth of the Orinoco
was ‘‘ in consequence " of a supposed former Dutch possession of
Barima. Indeed, he goes even further, and by implication admits
that such supposed Dutch possession, in order to have been effect-
ive, must have antedated the Treaty of Munster, and must have
continued to the very date of that Treaty. This is certainly good
law,

In the second paragraph above quoted (which is the ninth of
the memorandum) Lord Granville recognizes the superior right of
Venezuela to Barima on the principle of security. It would be
difficult to improve on Earl Granville’s language. His testimony
{o the fact that Barima and the region thereabout constituted the
** Dardanelles of the Orinoco” is testimony to a fact—a fact which
should be controlling in this controversy. On the other hand, his
proposition to surrender the Barima to Venezuela “‘in order fo
secure to Venezuela the undisputed possession of the mouths of the
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Orinoco " is a recognition of the principle of security and of the
right of Venezuela to have awarded to her whatever might be
necessary to insure that security to her Orinoco settlements.

Later correspoudence of Lord Granville shows how fully he
recognized this principle of security, and proves that while he
was prepared to concede the application of the principle to Vene-
zuela as her right, he was also influenced by it in considering
what territory Great Britain must herself have.

It was on May 25th, 1883, that he thus wrote to Colonel Mans-
field:

“It was considered that the proposals then made would yield to
Venezoeln evory reasonable requirement, while securing the interests of
British Guiana, and that any further Concession to Vencznela than is
proposed in the Mcemorandum which was transmitted to you with my
despatch of the 30th September, 1881, would have the effect of bring-
ing the boundary-line into inconvenient proximity to the settled dis-
tricts of the Colony of British Guiana, and would tend to deprive the
Colonial Government of complete control over the water system of ita
territory ¥ (B. €., VII, p. 103.)

Here we see clearly that, even as applied to Great Britain, who
represented the title of a second comer, Lord Granville was of
opinion that no line should be drawn which would bring Venezu-
ela within ‘‘ inconvenient proximity” to the settled districts of
the Colony, or which should deprive Great Britain * of complete
control over the water systen of its territory.” If Venezuela
were to receive no morve than that at the hands of this Tri-
bunal, she would have awarded to her the whole of the Barima-
Waini region as far as the mouth of the Moruca, for not other-
wise can she enjoy that *'complete control” of her water sys-
tem, which Lord Granville invoked as a correct principle to
apply to the case of even a second comer.

Earl Granville's propositions were not accepted by Venezuela.
Negotiations continued, and had, in 1885, reached a point where
an arbitration of the question had been agreed to. At this stage
Lord Granville was succeeded by Lord Salisbury, who withdrew
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the consent of the British Government previously given to arbi-
tration, and the question of boundary was once more set afloat
on the sea of diplomacy.

The next two years witnessed a series of unsuccessful efforts
to settle the question—efforts which, unfortunately, in February,
1887, resulted in the suspension of diplomatic relations between
the two countries. The immediate cause of this suspension was
an invasion of the Barima-Waini region by Great Britain, an
invasion which Venezuela resented as a violation of the Agree-
ment of 1850. Great Britain alleged in justification of herself
that Veneguela had herself first violated that Agreement. To
determine the truth of the matter, we must go back a few
years.

Up to 1863 there was, so far as appears, no infraction of the
Agreement of 1850 by either Government—understanding, of
course, that this Agreement referred to only that territory which
was in dispute in 1850. In 1863 an English Mining Company was
formed in Gleorgetown to work mines located on the Cuyuni,
about two days' journey above its mouth, and from twenty to
thirty daye’ journey below Tupuquen —that is to say, located close
to the Essequibo River. In 1867 the British Government caused
a notice to be given to the Company to the effect that if the
Company continued its operations in the disputed territory, those
going there would be regarded as adventurers not entitled to
British protection (V. C., vol. i, p. 183). The Company came to
an end, and the action of the British Government in giving the
above notice proves that it looked upon the locality where the
mines were as a part of the disputed territory, and that it still
considered itself bound by the Agreement of 1850.

Between 1880 and 1882, British mining exploration of the in-
terior was renewed; and during the latter year the Puruni
River, a branch of the Mazaruni, became known as a rich gold
field (V. C., vol iii, p. 828). The Puruni was much further
in the disputed territory than the mines which had been worked
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in 1%68 to 1867; and, of course, if the British Government had
intended to observe the Agreement of 1850, it would have put
a stop to these new mining operations just as it had done to
the operations of the Georgetown Company in 1887. Instead
of doing this, the British Government, in 1884, actually estab-
lished regulations for the work; established offices for the col-
lection of revenue from these mines; and imposed upon the
gold produced a royalty which was thereafter regularly col-
lected (V. O., vol. iii, p. 328). Here was clearly an infraction
by Great Britain of the Agreement of 1850.

Prior to 1884, the Venezuelan Government had granted three
different concessions for lands bordering on British Guiana.
There is not, and never has been, any pretence that any
actual entry was ever made under any of these grants into any
part of the territory which was in dispute in 1850; but the
granting of these concessions was, in 1884, used by the British
Government as a pretext for taking formal possession of the
Barima-Waini region as far west as the River Amacura.

The first of these concessions, dated May 192th, 1881, was
granted to General Pulgar. It gave the right to work mines
““in the Btate of Guayana,” to construct railroads in that
State, and to enjoy exclusive use of its water ways. It con-
tained nothing derogatory to British rights in the disputed ter-
ritory; and no one under its authority ever set foot im that
territory. 1If, as the British Case alleges, General Pulgar ever
published a map claiming any part of the disputed territory
as included in his grant, that map was prepared and published
without the sanction or knowledge of the Venezuelan Government,

The second concession was granted to O. O. Fitzgerald on Sep-
tember 22nd, 1888. It conferred upon the grantee certain rights
in the Island of Pedernales, and also in the following described
territory:

*“ The torritory from the mouth of the Araguso, the shore of the At-
lantic Ocean, the waters above the Greater Araguao, to where it is joined by
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the Araguaito stream, from this point following the Araguaito to the Orin-
oco, and thenoe the waters of the Upper Orinoco surrounding the Island of
Tortola, which will form part of the territories oonceded, to the junction
of the Jose stream with the Piacos, from this point following the waters of
the Jose stream to its source, thenoe in a straight line to the summit of the
Imataca runge, from this summit following the sinuosities and more ele-
vated summite of the ridge of Imataca fo the limit of {he British Guiana,
from this limit and along it toward the north to the shore of the Atlantio
Oocean, and lastly from the point indicated, the shore of the Atlantic Ocean,
to the mouth of the Araguso, including the island of this name, snd the
others intermediate or situated in the Delta of the Orinoco, and in contig-
uity with the shore of the said ocean.” (B. 0., VI, p. 219.)

Mr. Fitzgerald having obtained this concession, which it is
needless to point out does not in any way encroach upon British
territory since it is in terms limited ‘‘fo the limit of the Brilish
Guiana,” appears to have published a map and a prospectus,
both of which are reproduced in the Appendix to the British
Case. Neither the map por the prospectus was issued with either
the sanction or the knowledge of the Venezuelan Government,
and no possession was, under the authority of that conceesion,
ever taken of any land within the disputed territory.

The third concession was to Herbert Gordon, and was dated
May 21st, 1884, The limits of this concession were as follows:

¢ Om the north the highest points of the Imatacs range, and the lands
granted to 0. 0. Fitzgerald; on the south the chain of Pucaraima; on the
west a straight line drawn from the peak of Barlina in the Imataca range,
passing the torrent and hills of Tasconi, and ending in the Pacaraima chain;
and on the sas! British Guayana.” (B. C., V1, p. 311.)

Under this concession no possession of any part of the disputed
tarritory was taken, and it will be observed that the concession
iteelf was in terms bounded on the east by Brifish Guiana.

None of these conceesions were regarded seriously by the British
Government. It was clearly understood by the British author-
ities that the maps and prospectuses published by the concessionees
were not issued under Government authority. Colonel Mansfleld,
writing to Earl Granville on July 26th, 1884, said:
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1 huve the honour to report to your Lordship that the Venezuelan
Government has constitated a new * Federal Territory® under the name of
the ¢ Federal Territory of the Delta of the Orinoco,’ which, according to the
Decree, is to be bounded on the east by British Guiana, actual frontier not
gpecified.

““ A Governor and staff of officials have been appointed, and the site of
the capital, which is to be called Manoa, has been selected on the south:
easternmost branch of the Orinoco, or perhaps more properly on the extreme
right channel of the Delta.

““I beg to enclose a small map, more or less giving the limits of the
new territory. This map has been published by Mr. Fitsgerald, of the
Manos Company, who has a concession for colonizing the district, and not
upon the authorily of the Venezuelan Government, whose Decres, as I
mentioned above, merely speaks of Brilish Quiana as the limit.

"“The sbove is of interest in connection with the pending question of
the limits of British Guiana.” (B. C., VI, p. 223.)

When Colonel Mansfield thus wrote, all three of the conces-
sions above mentioned had been granted; and it is clear from the
way in which he refers to them that the thought of their consti-
tuting an infraction of the Agreement of 1850 never occurred to
him. Lord Grauville evidently took the same view of the matter,
for, referring to the Gordon concession, he wrote to Colonel Mans-
field on August 19th, 1884, as follows:

“ I bave communicated to Iler Majesty’s Principul Sceretary of State
forthe Colonies yourdespateh of the 2nd ultimo relating to & contract signed
on the 218t May, whereby u concession hus been granted by the Venezuelan
Government to Herbert Gordon, an inhabitant of the Federal territory of
Yuruary, for the colonization of a lurge district, the sovoreignty over which
i claimed both by Her Majesty’s Government and by that of Venezuels.

“ With reference to this matter, I have to request that you will find
meaus to caution Mr. Gordon that hie concession would not be of any valid-
ity in respect of any territory, proving to be Engligh, which it may purport
to cover.

“ You should alse find sn opportunity tv convey sn intimation to the
game effect to the Government of Venezuels, in order to guard against the
posaibility hereafter of the tacit acquiescence of Her Majesty’s Government
in the concession being advanced in support of the claim of Venezuela to
the district in dispute.” (B. C., VI, p 223.)
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On October 9, 1884, Colonel Mansfield wrote to Earl Gran-
ville as follows:

“[ am informed that the Manoa Company is but a shadowy uffair,
not to call it, as my informant did, a mere bubble with a mendacious
prospectus; while Mr. Gordon is living in a needy manuver in Caracas
snd La Guayrs, which does not look like colonizing a district half the
size of Belgiom.” (B. C, VI, p. 224,)

Certainly Colonel Mansfield did not regard this ** concession”
as a very serious affair; and so little bearing did he consider that
it had upon the Agreement of 1850 that when, on the samne day,
he wrote to the Venezuelan Minister, informing him of the notice
which he had given Gordon and Fitzgerald that their concessions
would not be regarded as valid in respect of territory claimed by
Great Britain, instead of complaining of any infraction of the
Agreement of 1850 by Venezuela, he limited himself to making
the following representation:

“ Lord Granville also wishes me to convey an intimation to the same effect
to the Government of Venezvels, in order to guard sgainst the possibility
hereafter of the tacit ncquiescence of Her Majesty’s Government in the
concessions being advanced in support of the claim of Venezuela to the
distriots in dispute.

“ ] have the honour to request your Excellency to explain to the Eresi-
dent of the Republic that the above intimation ia not inspired in the
smallest degree by a spirit of hostility, but simply to guard against a
misunderstanding in any future discussion of the bonndary, a question
which your Excellency is well aware is one of long standing, and which Her
Majesty's Government would gladly see brought to & satisfactory solution.”
(B. C., VI, p. 224).

It was in the same month of October, 1884, that, according to
the testimony of Sir Henry Irving, Governor of British Guiana,
an agent of the Manoa Company posted up certain notices on the
east side of the Amacura River. These notices were to the effect
that all persons holding land on the Company’s property should
communicate with the Company. It will be noted that the post-
ing of these notices was not an act of the Venezuelan Government;
and even if it had been it would not have constituted any occupa-
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tion of the disputed territory; but, whatever the character of the
act itself, the letter in which the British Governor communicated
the information to the Earl of Derby furnishes the best possible
proof of the way in which, for years before that time, Great
Britain had, in the disputed territory, been doing systematically
thiogs of a far more serious nature and about whose official char-
acter and meaning there could be no doubt. This is what Sir
Henry Irving had to say:

‘“ Information having lately resched me that notices, of which I enclose
& specimen, were being served by the agent of a Company styling itself
* The Munos Company, Limited,’ on the inhabitants of the territory lying
on this side of the Amacura River, I deemed it proper to dispatch an officer
of this Government to the district to sscertain and report on the operations
of the Company.

“ 2. I sclected for this daty Mr. McTurk, the Acting Special Magistrate
of the Pomeroon distriot; and I have the honour to transmit to your Lord-
ship copies of the instructions with which I caunsed him to be furnished
and of his report. I also incloee copies of letters which I have received from
the President pro fem. of the Manos Company, sccompanied by a pros-
pectus and map.

“8. The Company has, it will be seen, obtained & concession from the
Venezuelan Government of the territory lying between the Orinoco and the
boundary-line of British Guiana. The line is nof defined by the concession,
but the Company have defined it for themselves by exhibiting in their map
and prospectus the Moruca River as the limit of their grant.

““4 This is a definition against which the Colonial Government is
bound to protest. Its effect wonld be to sever from the Colony the whole
of the territory lying between the Moruca and the Amacara Rivers,
within which the Colonial Government has exercised jurisdiction for a long
series of years, to hand over to the tender mercies of a Foreign Joint Stock
Company & considerable population of aboriginal Indians, many of whom
have taken refnge in this territory from Veneznelan ill-usage, and who
have learat to regard thewselves as living under British rule and under the
protection of British law; and to surrender to s foreign power a control
over the inland water communication of the Colony which would now be a
source of embarrassment to the Government, and which might in the
fatare endanger the safety of the Uolony.

“ 5. The boundary between Venezuela and British Guiana being unset-
tled, the Colonial Government has had lo delermine for itself the limits of
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wla jurisdiction. This it could only do by adopting some definite boundsry
line, and it Bas faken for ihe purposs the line of compromise suggested by
Sir R. Schomburgk, which, as your Lordship is aware, is considerably
within the territorial claim of Great Britain, Althoogh that line has never
been officiully recognized by both Governments, it has for a long series of
yoears been laken for all practical purposes as the settled boundary of the
Colony. In illustration of this, I may state that in criminal cases juris-
diction has besn from {ime fo time proved by showing that the crime
occurred af a places on the British Guiana side of that boundary line. The
definite line thus adopted and recognized can ounly be given up if another
definite line be adopted under proper sanction.

“ 6. The concession from the Veneznelan Government to the Manoa
Company is to the boundary of British Guians, without defining sach
boundary; and if doss nof, therefore, in terms, appsar fo inlerfere with the
rights of the Colony. The Company, however, under color of the Vene-
suelan claims, sre now seeking to exzercise proprictary rights within the
Colony, and are interfering with the inhabitants.

« 7. In these circumstances, the Coloninl Government has no alternative
but to oppose the claims of the Company, and to take steps for the main-
tenance of order and for the protection of life and property.

¢« 8, The means I shall propose to adopt for this purpose would be the
employment of a revenue schooner carrying s small force of police, and the
erection of oue or more temporary buildings at the mouths of the Amacurs,
Barima, and Waini Rivers, or elsewhere, which counld be occupied by the
men a8 police stutions, as occasion might require;” (B. C., VL, p. 225.)

Could any confession be more completei In 1842, if the aseur-
ances of Lord Aberdeen and Governor Light are to be believed,
Great Britain was not occupying the Barima. In 1850 the British
Government entered into a solemn engagement with Venezuela
not to occupy or encroach upon it. Venezuela had relied upon
the good faith of Great Britain to keep that engagement; yet it
appears that after a lapse of thirty-eight years, that engage-
ment sat so light upon British officials that a British Governor
could say, in the most matter of fact way in the world, that * the
Colonial Government has exercised jurisdiction for a long series
of years " between the Moruca and the Amacura; that it had, of
its own motion adopted the Schomburgk line as the definite
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boundary line of the Colony; that that line had * for a long series
of years been taken for all practical purposes as the settled bound-
ary of the Colony ;" and that **in criminal cases jurisdiction” had
‘““ been from time to time proved by showing that the crime oc-
cured at a place on the British side of that boundary line.”

Venezuela does not admit many of the statements made by
Governor Irving—but they constitute a complete estoppel against
Great Britain to allege that Venezuela had by the acts complained
of violated the Agreement of 1850; and in view of his statements,
it may well be asked, what had become of the Agreement of 18501
Had not Venezuela ciaimed the Barima-Waini region in 1850%
Had vot Great Britain solemnly bound herself to respect that
claim, and not to ‘' occupy or encroach upon” that region! Yet
here is the British Governor reciting what he had been doing
there for years past in violation of that Agreement; and then pro-
posing to send an armed force and to erect posts and buildings there
—and for what! To keep out a number of private individuals who,
without any authority from Venezuela, he alleges threatened to go
there, and who were acting under a concesssion which the British
Governor himself declared ““doesnol . . . in terms, appear
to interfere with the rights of the Colony.”

In other words, the British Governor gives his testimony, on
the one hand, to the fact that the Venezuelan Government had
not passed the Schomburgk line; and, on the other hand, alleges the
further fact that for years past his own Government had, in viola-
tion of that Agreement, been occupying the whole of the disputed
territory up to the very line which, in 1850, had marked the limits
of Great Britain’s extreme claim. Having stated these facts, the
British Governor then proposes to strengthen the British hold
upon that territory by sending an armed force into it and erecting
police stations at the mouths of the Amacura, Barima and Waini
Rivers.

Had the threatened action of the Manoa Company, which
the British Governor feared, been invested with an official charac-




DIPLOMATIC CORRESPONDENCE. 105

ter; had it, in fact, constituteda violation by Venezuela of the
Agreement of 1850; and had Great Britain, up to that time, faith-
fully observed that agreement herself, she would have been within
her rights had she denounced that Agreement as no longer binding
vpon ber. Butthe action of the Manoa Company was not the
action of the Venezuelan Government; the posting up of the
notices on the Amacura and the Barima was not an occupation of
the dieputed territory; Great Britain had herself been for years
systematically violaling the Agreement of 1850; and she not only
failed now to denounce that Agreement, but continued for years
thereafter to invoke it and to appeal to it as still in force.

While on the subject of this Agreement, it may be well to
follow to the end the events which further determine its place in
the present controversy.

What immediately followed was in line with Sir Henry Irv-
ing’s recommendations. Mr. McTurk was sent to take forcible
possession of the mouth of the Orinoco; and in 1885 the Barima-
Waini region was organized into a separate British ‘' district ”
under the jurisdiction of a special commissioner (V. C., vol. i, p. 186).

It might be inferred from this that Great Britain proposed to
treat the Agreement of 1850 as no longer in force. Certainly,
after Sir Henry Irving’s confessions in 1884, after the formal and
forcible occupation of the Barima by Mr. McTurk a few months
later, and after the erection of the Barima.-Waini region into a
British ** district ” in 1885, Great Britain was hardly in a position
to appeal to the Agreement of 1850 as against Venezuela; yet,
strange to say, this is precisely what she did. It was in Decem-
ber of 1886 that the Venezuelan Government, having just learned
of the British encroachments upon the Barima and upon the
Amacura, determined to erect a lighthouse at Barima Point. Mr.,
St. John, the then British Minister at Caracas, gives a most in-
structive account of what took place; and the resulting corre-
spondence between himself and the Earl of Iddesleigh throws
much light upon the British attitude at that time,
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According to his own account (B. C., VIL, p. 117), Mr.
8t. John, pursuant to request, called upon President Guzman
Blanco, on December 6th, 1886, and was informed by the President
that the Venezuelan Government proposed to erect a lighthouse
at Barima Point. While the President explained that such action
would be but to comply with the ‘‘ alleged desire of ” Her Majesty's
Government in 1836, yet it is clear that the real reason which
moved him was the then recent action of the British at Barima.
The President informed Mr. St. John of ‘‘news of the very
gravest kind ” which had reached him, namely, that ‘ Her
Majesty’s Government ” had *formally taken possession of the
disputed Guiana territory by establishing British functionaries
upon it in violation of all previous understanding and arrange-
ment.” The answer of Mr. St. John was most significant. Not for
one moment did he deny the existence of the * previous understand.
ing and arrangement,” referred to by President Guzman Blanco;
neither did he allege any violation of that Agreement by Vene-
guela; neither did he attempt the slightest justification of the acts
attributed to the British authorities; his only answer was that the
rumor *‘ was probably untrue.” Certainly this was an admission
that, if true, Venezuela’s complaint was well founded; and that,
if true, Great Britain had violated her engagements.

Having attempted in this way to meet President Blanco’s
charge, the British Minister next proceeded to protest against
the proposed erection of a Venezuelan lighthouse at Barima
Point, on the ground that ‘‘the erection of a lighthouse would
still constitute a violation of disputed ground” (B. C., VII,
p. 117). Here, then, we find the British Government at the
very moment when, in violation of the Agreement of 1850,
it was itself in full possession of the Barima-Waini region, in-
voking that Agreement against Venezuela. Was not this an
admission that Venezuela had kept the Agreement up to that
time! Or, if not this, was it not at least an admission that if
there had been a previous violation on the part of Venezuela,
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Great Britain elected to stand by the Agreement and to hold it as
etill binding upon both Governmentst Mr. St. John's action,
which was reported to and approved by the Home Government,
whatever other significance it may have had, cerlainly had this:
It overlooked the acts of the Manoa Company, and all other pre-
vious acts which might ba claimed to have been in violation of
the Agreement of 1850; and it continued the life of that Agree-
ment, notwithstanding such acts. If this be so, the British
occupation of Barima at that time, an occupation of which
Mr. St. John was evidently ignorant, forever barred Great Britain
from justifying her own violations of the Agreement of 1850 by
alleging previous violations by Venezuela.

That there may be no question as to the formal approval of
Mr. 8t. John's action, and of the formal appeal made by Great
Britain as late as 1887 to the Agreement of 1850 as an Agreement
still in force, we quote Lord Iddesleigh’s note in answer to Mr. St.
John. That answer was dated January 12th, 1887, and contained
the following words:

“ You will inform President Blanco . . . thatan sttempt to erect
sach s lighthouse without the consent of Her Majesty's Government would
be a departure from the reciprocal engagement taken by the Governments

of Venezuela snd England in 1850 not to ocoupy or encroach upon the
territory in dispute between the two conntries;"” (B. C., VII, p. 118.)

In view of this appeal, in January, 1887, to the ‘‘ reciprocal
engagement ” of 1850, and in view of the opposition made to the
erection of a lighthouse by Venezuela as an act which would have
been in violation of that Agreement, it is interesting to note,
amopg others, the following passages:

From letter of Francis Stephen Neames, British Rural Con-
stable, to Jesus Manuel Tebar and Santiago Rodil, dated December
84th, 1886:

“ The Undersigned have received the official note, dated the 24th Decem-

ber, 1886, requesting to answer yon about our appointments by the English
Government of Georgetown, Demerara, and we have the honour to tell you
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that, in reality, we have deen appointed by Mr. Michael MeTurk, one of
her Majesty's Stipendiary Magistrates in and for the Oolony of British
Guisna, f0 be @ Rural Constabls in Brilish Guiana, 88 you have seen it in
the precept signed by said Michael McTurk which we have handed to you.
We also inform you that the Undersigned Francis Stephen Neames has been
acting Rural Constable since the 18t March, 1885, and the Undersigned
George Benjamin Jeffrey has been appointed and acting as Consiable since
the 6th Ssplember, 1888, both as Conslables in Amacura River.

‘* We have not received instructions to interfere with the Venezuelan
authorities on tho right bank of the Amacura River, but we have instruc-
tions to prevent any foreign vessel from selling rum and other spirituons
liquors on the English territories, in which case any vessel selling rnm
withont a proper licence given by our government may be seized at any time.”
(V. C., vol. iii, pp. 252-253.)

From letter of Senor Urbaneja to Mr. St. John, dated Jan-
uary 26, 1887:

" The Head of the Commission has just returned here, and has in-
formed the Government of its result.

“ Unflortanately, the grave reports which caused that step are confirmed.

" Firatly, the Commission found in the neighbourhood of the right
bank of the River Amacura two Commissaries, Messrs. Francis Stephen
Neame and J. B. Jeffry.

L] - L o ] ] L L L]

““In the said village of Amacara the Commision took declarations on
oath from the Venezuelan Commissary, Mr. Robert Wells, and Messra,
Aniceto Ramufiez and Alfonso Figneredo.

“ Their depositions . . . established the fact of the existence of
a wooden house with & tiled roof, which serves as a public office, flies the
British flag, was built by order and at the expense of the Colonial Govern-
ment, and was gecn by the Commisioners. It was in the same manner also
proved that an English revenue-cutter, named * Transfor, had on varions
occagions made voyages to the Amacura, conveying the British Magistrate
and armed police functionaries, with the object of inquiring into, judging,
sud deciding criminal and police cases; and that vessals legally dispatched
from Oiudad Bolivar are registered in Amacura ss well as in Barima, and
are prohibited from selling their goods and continaing their conrse on the
Barima nnless in ballast, requiring them, in order to trade, that they obtain
permission in Georgetown.” (V. O., vol. iii, pp. 266-266.)
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Were these formal British acts —the exclusive jurisdiction
established, the erection at Amacura of a ** wooden house with a
tiled roof which serves as a public office, flies the British flag,
was built by order and at the expense of the Colonial Govern-
ment,” any less ** a departure from the reciprocal epgagement
taken by the Governments of Venezuela and England in 1850,
not to occupy or encroach upon the territory in dispute between
the two countries,” than would have been ‘‘ the erection of a
lighthouse without the consent of Her Majesty's Government ”
at Barimal If so that ‘* engagement ” could hardly have been
i reciprocal.“

We have said that Mr. St. John's action was reported
to and approved by the Home Government. In this connection
there is a circumstance which is mot calculated to inspire con-
fidence in the sincerity of the British authorities at that time.
Mr. S8t. John had stated to President Blanco that ** in order to
prevent the disputed territory from becoming an asylaum for
criminals, these had often been pursued by British police, and
could be similarly pursued by Venezuelan police when escaping
from the other side” (B, C., VIIL., p. 118). This statement of
Mr. St. John, so far as regards the pursuit of criminals by Venez-
uelan police, was distinctly disapproved by the Earl of Iddesleigh,
who thus wrote on January 12th, 1887:

“In the first place I have to acquaint you thal the lauguage which you
inform me you held at vour iuterview with General Guzman Blanco has the
upproval of Her Majesty's Goverument ; they do nof, however, wish you fo
say anything furfher concerning the pursuil of fugitives info the disputed
lerrilory by the Venezuelan police, as il is not desirable to encourage the
Venezuslan Government to adopt such action.” (B.C,, VIL, p. 118

Are we to understand from this that Great Britain, while
claiming for herself, under the Agreement of 1850, the right to
pursue fugitives from justice into the disputed territory, denied
that right to Venezuelai If not, then only one of two interpreta-
tions can be placed upon the words of the noble Earl. Either both
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nations had the right to make the pursuit, in which case it appears
that Her Majesty’s Government proposed to *‘discourage” Vene-
zuela, that is, to prevent Venezuela from doing what she had a
right to do; or else neither nation had the right, in which case,
gince Lord Iddesleigh approved of what Mr. St. John had said
relating to British police, it appears that Her Majesty's Govern-
ment proposed to do and continued to do things which were in
violation of this treaty engagement. There seems to be little
choice between the horns of this dilemma. Either one places the
British Government of that time in a very unenviable light.

It will be remembered that up to this time no violation of the
Agreement of 1850 by Venezuela had been even alleged. The
sending of Mr. McTurk to th> Barima, in 1884, and the erection of
the Barima-Waini region, in 1885, into a separate ** district,”
were in consequence of the acts of a private Company, acting
under a charter which Sir Heary Irving himself declared at the
time, ‘‘ does not, therefore, in terms, appear to interfere with the
rights of the Colomy” (B. ., VI, p. 295). It was not
until three years later, when diplomatic relations between the
two countries had, in consequence of British encroachments upon
the disputed territory, been suspended, that Great Britain's action
in that regard was sought to be justified by alleged prior viola-
tions by Venezuela of the Agreement of 1850, It was then that
the action of the Manoa Company was for the first time laid at
the door of the Venezuelan Government, and that that Govera-
ment was charged with other acts of alleged *' occupation and
encroachment.”

It was on March Tth, 1887, that Lord Salisbury thus wrote to
Mr. St. John:

““The Venezuelan Government, in their note, also charge Her Ma-
jesty’s Goverument with a breach of the reciprocal engagement of 1850.

“ You are already aware, from General Gusman Blanco’s note to the
Earl of Rosebery of the 28th July, 1886, s copy of which was forwarded
to you in the Earl of Iddesleigh's despatoh of the 25th August last, that,
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although bis Ezcellency complained of the action of the British Colonial
suthorities at the mouth of the Orinoco River in October 1884, and de-
clared it to be  violation of the Agreement of 1850, no allusion whatever
was made to the fact that on repeated occasions long prior to that date the
Venesuelan Government had violated that engagement by granting conces-
sions of land in the disputed territory for mining and other purposes.

“] refer especially to the concessions made on the 12th May, 1881,
ou the 22nd September, 1883, and on the 20th March, 1884, at the
very time when proposals made by the British Government for the settle-
ment of this long-dispated boundary question were said to be actually
under consideration by the Veneznelan Government.

“ Her Majesty’s Government, therefore, consider that they were fully
justified 1n issuing the Notice which appeared in the 'London Gazette’ of
the 22nd October, 1886, wnd in taking euch other precautions as seemed
to be necessary to safeguard the rights of Great Britain.” (B. C., VII, p.
183.)

Six years later, when negotiations were proceeding in London
with a view to re-establishing diplomatic relations, Lord Rosebery
thus wrote to Senor Michelena:

“ With regard to clanse 4 of the pro memorid, in which it is proposed
that both ITer Majesty’s Government and that of Venezuela shall acknowl-
edge and declare that the sfalus guo of the boundary question is that which
existed in 1850, Her Majesty’s Government coosider that it is quite impos-
gible that thoy sbould cunseut to revert to the sfalus guo of 1850, and
evacuste what has for some yeurs conslituted an integral portion of Brit-
ish Gniana. They regret, therefore, that they eannot entertain this
proposition.

¢The Decluration made to the Venezuelan Government in the year
1850 by Sir Belford Wilson, the British Chargé d'Affaires, was as follows:
That * whilst on the one hand Great Britain had no intention to occupy or
encroach on the disputed territory, it would not on the other hand view
with indifference aggreasions in that territory by Venesuela.’ The arrange-
ment on this basis was disturbed by Veneznela on several successive occa-
sions prior to soy attempt on the part of Her Majesty’s Government to
exercise jurisdiction in the districte in question. In the same year (1850)
in which the Declarution was made, the Venezuelan Government began to
establish new positiona to the east of Tumeremo, and in 1458 they founded
the town of Nuevs Providencia, on the south side of the River Yuruari.
Apgsin, in 1876, licences were granted by the Government of Venezuela to
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trade and cut wood in the district of Barims, and to the eastward of that
district. In 1881, the Venezuelan Government made a grant of a great part
of the disputed territory to General Pulgal, and in 1884 it made conces-
sious to the Manoa Company and others, which were followed by actual
attempts to settle the territory.

*“In contrast to this action, the attitude of the British Government was
marked by great forbearance and a strong desire to execute the arrange-
meant in good faith. In proof of this disposition, it may be instanced that
when applied to in 1881 to grant a Concession in the disputed territory to
certain applicants they distinctly declined to entertsin the proposul, on the
ground that negotiations were proceeding with Venezuels, and it was not
until the encroachments of the Muuoa Company began to interfere
seriously with the peace and good order of the Colony that Her Mujestv's
Government decided that an effective occupation of the territory could no
longer be deferred, and steps were taken for publicly asserting what they
believe to be the incontestable rights of Great Britain.

““ Those rights they are unable now to abandon, and they could not con-
sent that any sfatus guo except that now cxisling should remain in force
during the progress of the negotiations.” (B. C., VII, p. 143.)

Fivally, in his note of November 26, 1895, to Sir Julian
Pauncefote, Lord Salisbury, after referring to the Declarations
exchanged in 1850 between Venezuela and Great Britain, thus
continues:

““ This conatitutes what has been termed the * Agreement of 1850," to
which the Government of Venezuela have froquently appealed, but which
the Venezuelans havo repeatedly violsied in succeeding yeurs.

“* Their first scts of this nature consisted in the occupation of fresh
positions to the east of their previous settlements, and the founding in
1855 of the town of Nucva Providencia on the right bank of the Yuruari,
all previous settlements being on the left bank. The British Goverument,
however, considering that these settlements were so near positious which
they had not wished to claim, considering also the difficulty of controlling
the movements of mining populations, overlooked this breach of the
Agreement. (V. C.-O,, vol. iii, p. 279.)

* * L] - L4 - - L
““In 1876 it wus reported that the Venezuelan Government had, for
the second time, broken ‘ the Agreement of 1830" by granting licences to
trade and cut wood in Barima and eastward. (ib., pp. 279-280.)

- & # * * L * -
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“This boundary was proposed to the Vonezuelan Government by Lord
Granville in September 1881, but no answer was ever returned by that
Government to the proposal.

“ While, however, the Venezuelan Minister constantly stated that the
matler was under active consideration, it was found that in the same year a
Concession had been given by his Goverument to General Pulgar, which
inoluded a large portion of the territory in dispute. This was the third
breach by Veneznela of the Agreement of 1850.

« Early in 1884, news arrived of a fourth breach by Venezuela of the
Agreement of 1850, through two different grants which covered the whole
of the territory in dispute, and as this waa followoed by actnal attempts to
settle on the disputed territory, the British Government could no longer
remsain inactive.” (ib., p. 281.)

It will be noticed, in the first place, that these statements of
Lord Salisbury and Lord Rosebery regarding alleged violations of
the Agreement of 1850 by Venezuela referred to acts, or supposed
acts, which took place prior to December, 1886, when, as we
have seen, Mr. St. John, on behalf of Great Britain, and with
a full knowledge of these facts, invoked that Agreement as still
in force. Whether or not these allegations had any foundation
in fact, Great Britain, by appealing to that Agreement, as it did
in 1886, elected to disregard them, and to hold by the Agreement
itself as still binding. That a failure to denounce the Agreement,
after receiving information of its violatiog by the other party,
constituted an election to regard the Agreement as still binding,
is asserted by Lord Salisbury himself, who, in the passages above
quoted, referring to what he calls the first case of violation by
Venezuela in 1858, says: ‘‘The British Government, however,

overlooked this breach of the Agreement” (V. C.-C.,
vol. iii, p. 279). That is to say, a breach may be overlooked by
the innocent party, if he so wishes, and, in case of such election,
the original Agreement continues in force. It follows as a matter
of course that if the breach be overlooked and if the Agreement
be regarded thereafter as still in force, the overlooking constitutes
a waiver of the breach, and that, consequently, the breach so
waived cannot thereafter be alleged to justify another breach by
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the party who elected to waive the first one. Such being the law,
it follows that when, in December of 1886, Great Britain invoked
the Agreement of 1850 as still binding, and when she based
upon it her objection to the erection of a Venezuelan lighthouse
at Barima Point, she thereby overlooked all those violations al-
leged by Lord Rosebery and Lord Salisbury, and having thus
waived them could not thereafter, and cannot now, use them to
justify violations of her own.

But, however sound this position may be in point of law,
Venezuela has no need to rest upon it. As a matter of fact she
has never—not even to this day —violated the Agreemnent of 1850.

Let it be remembered that that Agreement had reference to
territory in dispute —not now—but in 1850. At that time the
present Schomburgk line, according to Lord Aberdeen, marked the
extreme British claim. About the territory to the west of it there
was no dispute whatever. Tumeremo, to which Lord Rosebery
referred, was, according to the British Atlas (map 4) eighty-five
miles due west of that line, and had been founded as early as
1788. Nueva Providencia, to which Lord Rosebery and Lord
Salisbury both referred, was, according to another British map
(Blue-Book, V. p. 1, 1896) fifteen miles west of Tumeremo, that is
to say, one hundred miles west of the territory which was in dis-
pute in 1850. The grants to Pulgar, Fitzgerald and Gordon, as
already explained, and as Sir Henry Irving at the time stated, did
not interfere with the rights of the Colony; and the Venezuelan
Government was certainly less responsible for the unauthorized
acts of these concessionees than Great Britain herself had been for
the acts of the British mining company which was organized in
Georgetown in 1863, and which, from 1863 to 1867, continued to
work mines in the disputed territory with the knowledge and
without the interference of the British authorities. Even after
four years' existence the British Government did nothing to pre-
vent those mining operations; it merely refused to sanction them,
or to extend its support to the Company. If that was a good rule
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to apply in 1867 to Great Britain, who for four years had allowed
a British company to mine in the disputed territory, why is it not
a good rule to apply to Venezuela in 1884 with regard to an insig-
nificant, unmeaning and unauthorized act of an agent of a Vene-
zuelan companyf

The only other Venezuelan ‘‘ encroachment” referred to by
Lord Rosebery and Lord Balisbury, is that of certain licenses
alleged to have been issued in 1876 ‘‘to trade and cut wood in
Barima and eastward.” What these licences may have been
nowhere appears, for there is no evidence regarding them; and,
as the British Case makes no mention of them, it is to be presumed
that later investigation has satisfled the compilers of the British
Case that no such licenses were issued.

To sum up, then, the various alleged Venezuelan violations
relied upon by Lord Rosebery and Lord Salisbury amount to this:
that Venezuelan settlements were made in Venezuelan territory
at a distance of eighty-five and one hundred miles, respectively,
west of the disputed territory, one in the year 1788 and the other
in the year 1858; and that in 1881, 1888 and 1884 three grants
were made by Venezuela relating to lands west of the British
boundary, which did not, according to the statement of the then
British Governor *‘in terms appear to interfere with the rights of
the Colony.”

As against theee, we have, on the British side, this: for years,
prior to 1884, according to Bir Henry Irving, the British treated
their extreme claim of 1850 as the actual boundary of the Colony;
they exercised jurisdiction there; in 1884, they took forcible pos-
session of the mouth of the Orinoco; in 1885, the Barima-Waini
region was organized into a separate British district; buildings
were erected there under the protection of the British flag; and
to-day, against Venezuelan protests, Great Britain is holding by
force the territory which she agreed in 1850 to neither occupy
nor encroach upon.

It is a familiar rule of law that rights are not acquired by
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repeating wrongs. British occupation, against Venezuelan pro-
test and in violation of British Agreement, cannot be made the
basis of British title.

The armed invasion of the disputed territory by Great Britain
in violation of her Agreement of 1850, and her refusal to evacuate
it, were the immediate cause of the suspension of diplomatic
relations in February of 1887. Let us now take up the diplomatic
correspondence which followed that suspension,

In January, 1800, some three years after the suspension of
diplomalic relations, Venezuela attempted to reopen the discussion
of the boundary question with Great Britain. She was induced to
this action by certain representations made to her Minister in
Parig by Sir Andrew Clarke and Captain Lowther, persons whom
the Venezuelan Government then believed were acting with
authority from the British Government. Clarke and Lowther
represented to Venezuela that Great Britain was prepared *‘to
ovacuate the invaded territory, and to submit the case to the arbi-
tration of a friendly Power, provided Venezuela would declare
diplomatic relations to be re-established between the two coun-
tries ” (V. C., vol. iii, p. 278).

The action of Bir Andrew Clarke and Captain Lowther was
subsequently disavowed by the British Government, but it was
due to the representations made by them that in January, 1890,
Senor Urbaneja addressed himself to the Marquess of Salisbury.
These advances by Venezuela were met by Great Britain with the
following statement:

““ As regards the frontier between Venezuela and the Colony of British
Guians, Her Majesty’s Government could not sccept as satisfactory
any arrangement which did not admit the British title to the territory
comprised within the line lasid down by Sir R. Schomburgk in 1841.

They would be ready to refer Lo arbitration the claim of Great Britain to
certain territorics to the west of that line ” (V. O, vol. iii, p. 274).

That a British Minister could, in 1890, make such a proposition
shows the great expansion of the British claim since the days of
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Lord Aberdeen, and proves the completeness with which Great
Britain had made herself mistress of territory, which, in
1850, she had solemnly pledged herself neither to occupy nor
encroach upon. In 1844 the British premier put forward the
Schomburgk line as Great Britain’s extreme claim, thereby admit-
ting that the territory fto the west belonged to Venezuela.
Forty-six years later (1890) another British premier refused to
discuss the title to that territory which, in 1844, his predecessor
had admitted to be doubtful; but expressed his willingness
to submit to arbitration the title to territory which had not
been in dispute in 1844, and which Lord Aberdeen had, at that
time, admitted to belong to Venezuela. Could such a proposition
be other than offensive to any self-respecting power! Venezuela
declined the offer and these preliminary negotiations came to
an end.

While these negotiations were without results, some of the
correspondence merits attention.

A Memorandum from the British Foreign Office, dated Feb-
ruary 18, 1890, affirmed the position taken by the British Pro-
memorid of February 10, 1880, and contained, among other
things, the following statements:

“ The claim of Great Britain, on the other hand, to the whole baein of
the Onyuni and Yurusri is shown to be solidly lounded, and the grenter part
of the disirict has bean for thres canturies under continuous seitlement by

the Dutch and by the British as their successors.” (V. C., vol. iii, p.
277).

This statement is made with reference to the region in which
most of the Spanish Capuchin missions had been established,
and of which, therefore, Spain and its successor, Venezuela,
had been in exclusive possession for at least onme hundred
and fifty-six years prior to 1880. It was the region from which
the Dutch were expelled by the Spanish in 1758, when the
former attempted to put up a trading post on the lower
Cuyuni; it was the region which, as regards the part west of



118 DIPLOMATIO CORRESPONDEKCE.

the Cuyuni proper, Lord Aberdeen had, in 1844, admitted to be
indisputably Venezuelan; and it was the region which, having
been entered by British adventurers for the first time in 1863,
was in 1867 declared by the British Government to be beyond the
limits where British subjects could look to it for protection. Quite
apart, however, from these facts, which alone suffice to disprove
the above quoted declaration of the British Foreign Office, it is
important to note that here again, as late as February, 1890,
Great Britain still rested her title to the interior upon supposed
Dutech settlements, and upon her succession to Dutch rights in
that quarter.

This continued reliance by Great Britain upon former Dutch
rights is even more clearly shown in the following passage, taken
from a later British Memorandum, dated July 24th, 1890:

“That territory, and by far the greater portion of the large tract of
country which the Venesuelan Government seeks to put in question,
accrued to the Netherlands under the Treaty of Munster of 1648 by right
of previous occupation. It was constantly held and claimed by the States-
General in succeeding years. It was publicly snd effectively occupied by
Great Britain during the wars at the close of the last century, and the for-
mal transfer of the conntry so ocenpied was effected by the Treaty of Peace
with the Netherlands of the 13th August, 1814, and was in no way ques-
tioned by Spain on the conclusion of peace with her in the same year.” (V.
0., vol. iii, p. 283).

The Memorandum from which this passage is taken con-
tains another important statement. The Venezuelan Case re-
gards the Barima as a part of the Orinoco system, and treats
Point Barima as Orinoco territory (V. C., vol. i, p. 14). The
British Case (p. 8), on the other hand and also the British
Counter-Case (p. 6) attempt to deal with the Barima as though
it were something separate from the Orinoco, and treat the
Barima-Waini region, including Barima Point, as a basin by
itself (British Atlas, map 8). The British Memorandum of July
24th, 18980, to which we have referred, was a reply to a propo-
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sition submitted by Sefior Pulido. Pulido’s memorandum was in

part as follows:

“The Government of the United States of Venesunela should formally
declare that the River Essequibo, its banks, and the lands covering it be-
long exclusively to British Guiana, and Her Majesty’s (overnment should
formally declare that the Orinoco River, its banks, and the lande covering
it belong exclusively to the United States of Venezneln.” (V. C., vol. iii,
p- 280.)

The British answer to this was as follows:

** The proposed Declaration, if it be correctly understood, would recog-
nize the right of Great Britain to the main stream only of the Essequibo and
the land immediately upon ita bauks, without incloding its tributaries, in
exchange for a similar recognition of the right of Venezuela to the main
stream of the Orinoco, and the land upon its banks sud in the neighbour-
hood of its month, ineluding Point Barima and the adjacent district, . . .”
(V. C., vol. iii, p. 283.)

This definilion by the British Foreign Office of what was
included under the term ' Orinoco River, its banks, and the
lands covering it,” formulated at a time when British interests
were apparently not menaced by such definition, is obviously
entitled to greater weight than the subsequent allegations of the
British Case and Counter-Case contradicting it.

These preliminary negotiations of 1880, as already stated,
ended without accomplishing anything. Another and final at-
tempt was made by Venezuela three years later, through Sefior
Michelena. This attempt was likewise doomed to failure; but
certain statements made in the course of the correspondence
merit attention.

On May 26, 1893, Sefior Michelena submitted to the Earl of
Rosebery a Pro-memoria containing certain proposed bases for the
settlement of the boundary question. The first of these bases
began thus:

*“The Government of Great Britain claims certain territory in Guians,
ss successor in title of the Netherlands, and the Government of Venezuela
claims the same territory as being the heir of Spain*; (V. O, vol. iii, pp.
286-287).
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These had up to that time been the acknowledged bases upon
which both titles rested: Great Britain had never claimed any
other source of title. This formal statement presented by Vene-
zuela, as a mere preamble to a proposition for the settlement of
the boundary dispute, was returned by Lord Rosebery, amended
as follows:

“[Whereas] The Government of Great Britain claims certain territory
in Guayana as snccessor in title of the Netherlande and [by right of con-
quest o8 against Spain, and whereas] the Government of Venezuela claims
the same territory as being the heir of Spain; . . . ” (V. C., vol. iii,
p. 289).

The modifications thus introduced give to this preamble an
importance which it would not otherwise have. As modified it
must be taken to embody, in an authoritative manner, all that
could, at the time, be claimed as sources of British title. If Great
Britain had, in 1898, relied in any measure upon prescription, or
upon fhe existence of a no-man's land between the original Dutch
and Spanish possessions and a British occupation of that land, or
upon Indian treaties or Indian relations of any kind, Lord Rose-
bery would certainly have so stated in this preamble. The fact
that he made modifications in it, and that he added words which
more clearly defined the origin of the British title, proves that he
intended the preamble to be both accurate and exhaustive in this
regard. Whatever other sources, therefore, the British title may
in fact have, it is clear that no other was known to the British
Government in 1893.

Having noted this fact, let us next inquire into the meaning of
the words added by Lord Roseberry to this preamble. A title ‘ by
right of conquest as against Spain ” can refer to nothing later than
1648, The Netherlands certainly acquired no title by conquest after
that year. It has at times been contended, and is now maintained
by the British Case that, after the Treaty of Munster, the Dutch en-
larged their domains; though it is at the same time asserted that
such enlargement was the result of peaceful occupation under the
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terms of the treaty, not of conquest. So also with regard to Great
Britain, since Lord Rosebery wrote in 1893, a number of new claims
have been put forward, to prove British rights to the disputed terri-
tory; but there is no pretence, so far as we are aware, that Great
Britain ever conquered any part of it from Spain— certainly there
could be no foundation for such a c¢laim were it made. Such being
the case, it must be that when Lord Rosebery inserted the words
““by right of conquest as against Spain,” he referred to the title
originally acquired by the Dutch, for that title was, in fact, “‘a
title by conquest.” If we are correct in the interpretation thus
placed upon Lord Rosebery's words, the admission is a most
important one, for it recognizes that the Dutch came to Guiana to
war against Spaio on SBpanish soil, and that the rights which they
thus acquired are to be measured by the strict rules applicable to
such cases,

But this is not the only admission made by Lord Rosebery in
the course of this correspondence of 1883.

One of the claims of the British Case is this:

“* That prior to 1796 the Dutch, and, since that dale the British, have
been in possession of all the territory now in dispute” (B. C., pp. 18-19).

This claim is repeated later in the following language:

‘* After the acquisition of the Colony by the British, Great Britain exer-
cised over the territory now in dispute all those rights by which nations
usunally indicate their claim to territorial posseasion.” (B. C., p. 120.)

It goes without saying that if the British have been in posses-
ston of this territory during the entire century; if they have, in
fact, exercised over it all the sovereign rights of a nalion during
that period; and if this possession and exercise of sovereign ler-
rilorial rights are to serve as bases of British title—and such is
evidently the intention of these allegations--then that possession
or occupation must bave been effective—nothing else can suffice;
nothing else can sustain the allegations of the British Case, 1t ia
precisely here that Lord Rosebery upsets the British contention;
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for, writing to Sefior Michelena on July 8rd, 1898, he says, speak-
ing of the Agreement of 1850:

‘In contrast to this action, the attitude of the British Goveroment was
marked by great forbearance and a strong desire to execute the arrangement
in good [aith. In proof of this disposition, it may be instanced that when
applied to in 1581 to grant a Concession in the disputed territory to certain
applicants they distinctly declined to entertain the proposal, on the ground
that negotiations were proceeding with Venezuels, and it was not until the
encroachments of the Manoa Company began to interfere seriously with the
peace and good order of the Uolony that her Majesty’s Government decided
that an effective occupation of the territory could no longer be deferred, and
steps were taken for publicly asserting what they believe to be the incon-
testable rights of Great Britain," (V. 0., vol, iii, pp. 288-289).

If this mean anything, it means that prior to 1884, the now
alleged British occupation of the Barima-Waini region and of the
Cuyuni region had not been ““ an effective occupation”—an occu-
pation, that is to say, which under the rules of international law
could be made the basis of a title by occupation. Of course this
admission by a British premier is conclusive, for it is an admission
against interest,

With the failure of Sefior Michelena’s mission, the diplomatic
correspondence between Great Britain and Venezuela came to an
end.

Before closing this Chapter atlention should be called to one or
two passages in subsequent instructions, to Sir Julian Pauncefote,
which show that, as late as the close of 1895, the British Govern-
ment still continued to rely exclusively upon a Dulch title.

On February 28, 1895, the Earl of Kimberley thus wrote to
the British Ambassador in Washington:

“On the other hand, Great Britain has throughout been prepared to
muke large abatements from her extreme claim, although Her Majesty's
Government have been continually accumulating stronger documentary

proofs of the correctuess of that arireme claim as being their inheritance
from their Dulch predecessors.” (V. C., vol. iii, p. 260.)
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On November 26, 1885, Lord Salisbury thus stated the origin
of the British claim:

“The title of Great Britain to the territory in question is derived, in the
first place, from conquest and military occupation of the Duich seitlements
in 1796. Both on this occasion, and at the time of a previons occupation
of those sefllemenis in 1781, the British suthorities marked the western
boundary of their possessions as beginning some distance up the Orinoco
beyond Point Barims, in accordance with the limits claimed and actually
held by the Dutch, and this has always since remained the frontier claimed
by Great Britain.” (V. C.-0., vol iii, p. 275.)

To the very last, therefore, the British rested even their exfreme
claim upon the ‘‘inheritance from their Dutch predecessors,” and
asserted a frontier '* in accordance with limits claimed and actually
held by the Dutch.” Theee repeated statements by British
authorities with regard to the exclusively Dufch origin of the
British title have been dwelt upon at length because of the com-
plete change of front, in this regard, presented by the British
Counter-Case in the following passages:

“It is admitted that Great Britain aoquired Guiana from the Dutch,
but, for the reasous given in other parts of this Counter-Case, Her Majesty’s
Government protest against the attempt made in the Veneznelan Cuse to
contine the extent of British dominion to the limits of territory acinally
weitled by the Datch.” (B. C.-C., p. 83.)

““ The history of the British occupation of Easequibo is entered npon in
the Veneznelan Case with a reservation that the definition of the present
boundary must dopend upon the extent of Datch and Spanish rights in
1808, and that the British claims cannot in law have anything in the
history of the present century to support them  (44., p. 107.)

* » L] - - L L]

“The contention that the British claims cannot in law have anything
in the history of the present century to support them, is not correct. In
the first place it is clear that by virtue of Article IV, Rule (a) of the Trealy
of Arbitration, Great Britain is entitled to retain whatever territory has
been held by her, or has been subject to her exclusive political control for &
period of fifty years, although the result might be to give to Great Britain
territory which had never been Dutch, and might even conceivably have
stone time been Spanish. Moreover, there has been nothing to preveut
the extension of British settlement and control, if the regions into which
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such extensions were made were at the time lying vacant. Territory added
to the British Colony by such extension cannot be awarded to Venesnela,
however recent the British possession may have been.” (B. C.-C., pp. 107-
108.)

If the earlier claim of the Earl of Kimberley and of Lord
Salisbury, and of every other British premier and Foreign
Becretary who has written on the subject during the past
sixty years, are sound, then every inch of territory within
Great Britain’s exfreme claim, is now British because it was
Sormerly Dutch. In this last British utterance, however, new
Bources of title are, for the first time, alleged. Prescription is
invoked under Article IV, Rule (a), of the Treaty of Arbitration;
and that, too, with regard to territory, which, it is suggested,
‘* had never been Duich, and might even conceivably have at one
time been Spanish.” 8o, too, contrary to every historical fact, and
in conflict with every claim ever made by Dutch or British, it is
suggested that there was a no-man’s land between Dutch-British
settlements, on the one hand, and Spanish-Venezuelan settle-
meunts, on the other, and that this *“ vacant ” territory could law-
fully be appropriated by Great Britain, and must now be awarded
to her ' however recent the British possession may have been.”

What is the significance of a claim which prior British asser-
tions render impossible and untenablei Has faith in ** Dutch
inheritance ” begun to weaken! Is the fact at last realized by our
adversaries that ‘‘ British possession ” is, in fact, a matter of very
recent datef




CHAPTER V.
THE SCHOMBURGK LINE

Our study of the Diplomatic Correspondence would not be
complete did we omit to consider more fully than we have yet done
Schomburgk’s work and the various lines which bear his name.

The Schomburgk Line has played an important part in this
boundary controversy. Schomburgk’s survey of the Barima
and Amacura in 1841, the erection of boundary posts at the
mouths of those rivers, and his formal assumption of possession
of that region on behalf of Great Britain, revived a dispute which
had lain dormant for seventy-two years. The claims to which that
and subsequent Schomburgk surveys gave rise, the treatment of
those claims and surveys in after years by the British Govern-
ment, and the contradictory character of maps and lines which
have at various times been attributed to him, or which have been
alleged to be based on his authority, have given rise to a host of
questions whose scope would seem to cover the whole boundary
dispute, and whose seeming contradictions have at times seemed
to baffle solution.

The investigations of the United States Commission, the con-
tributions which have since been made to the subject, and the
important maps and papers recently submitted with the Case of
Great Britain, tend to simplify these questions, and for the first
time render possible a satisfactory answer to them. It is the pur-
pose of this Chapter to formulate and to consider some of these
questions.

Before doing this, it may be well to state very briefly the facts
which constitute the history of the Schomburgk lines; the proof
of what we have to say will follow.

In 1839 Schomburgk proposed to the British Government to
survey a line which, beginning at the mouth of the Amacura
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River, runs substantially south, and cuts the Cuyuni some
fifty or sixty miles west of the Essequibo; this is what has
been called Schomburgk's Original Line That particular line
was approved by the British Government in 1840, and S8chom-
burgk was authorized to survey it. Between 1840 and 1842
Schomburgk surveyed parts of anofher line, and suggested that
other line to the British Government as a desirable boundary;
this new line is what has been called Schomburgk's Erpanded
Line. The British Government, having had that expanded line
mapped by Mr. Hebert, filed it away in its secret archives, to-
gether with Schomburgk's maps and reports, and for the next
forty-four years-—that is to say, until 1886—continued to treat the
Original Schomburgk Line of 1839 as the boundary line of the
Colony, publishing it as such on several official maps. In 1886
the Expanded Line, which had been proposed by Schomburgk in
1842 and which had lain rejected by the British Government for
forty-four years, was first published, and from that date to this,
that once rejected line has been treated by Great Britain as the
actual boundary of the Colony.

Let us now formulate and consider the various questions to
which these facts give rise. And, firsf, what was the purpose of
the Schomburgk surveyf

In his Memoir of July 1, 1839, addressed to Governor Light,
Schomburgk said:

“* By an Additionsl Article to a Convention signed at London, the 13th
August, 1814, Demerara, Essequibo, and Berbice were finally ceded to Great
Britain. The British Empire acquired, therefore, Guians, with the sams
claims ¢o the lermini of ils boundaries as held by the Dutch before if was
ceded by Treaty to Great Brilain.” (B.C., VII, p. 8.)

“ When the settlements were in the possession of the Netherlands the
present countries of Demerara and Essequibo were divided into the Colonies
of Pomeroon, Essequibo and Demerara. * * * Asg the first was the most
weatern possession, and formed the boundary between Spanish Guiana, its
limits were considered to extend from Puanta Barima, at the mouth of the

Orinoco, in latitude 8° 4’ north, longitude 80° 6" west, south-west by west
to the mouth of the River Amaours, following the Cafio Cayuni from its
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confluence with the Amacura to its source, * * * These limits of our
territory were contested by the SBpaniarda.” (id., p. 4.)

Then follows a discussion ofﬁalleged historical and geographical
facts, concluding with this statement:

« Aocording to the foregoing remarks and propositions the boundaries
of British Gaians would be: * * *

3, The Western Boundary—From the source of the River Takatu,
slong its right bank to the junction of the River Xuruma of the Portu-
guese, to the source of the River Cristaes or Coting, in 5° 9” 30" north lati-
tude along the northern elope of the Roriema Mountains, to the source of
the Caco, pursuing from thence, in a northern direction, the line of separa-
tion between the rivers that flow into the Mazaruni, and the tributaries of
the Cayuni, towards the Rinacotto, traversing the River Cayuni at the
mouth of the streams Arnarua and Parawayauri, and extending in a north-
erly direction across the Sierra Imataca, to the source of the atream
Cayuni, following that river to its junction with the River Amacuro to the
embouchure of the latter river at the mouth of the Orinoco.” (B, C., VII,
p 6).

After a further review of the question, he arrived at this con-
clusion:

*“ My deductions from the different circumstances to which I have at-
tempted to draw the attention of your Excellency, are that it is practicable
to ran and mark the limits of British Guiana on the system of natural divi-

sions, and that {he limits thus defined are in perfect nnison with the title of
Her Britannic Majesty to the full extent of that territory.” (B. C., VII,

P 7)

This Memoir, with an accompanying map, reproduced as
Number 43 in the British Atlas, was forwarded by Governor
Light to the Marquess of Normandy, with a recommendation
that Schomburgk be employed to survey the limits of British
Guiana (B. C., VII, p. 1). The Britich Colonial Office referred
Governor Light's recommendation to the British Foreign Office,
with the following statement:

“] am directed by Lord John Russell to request that you will submit
for the consideration of Viscount Palmerston the accompanying copy and

extruct of despatches which have been received from Mr. Light, Governor
of British Guiana.
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“I am to request that you will observe to Viscount Palmerston that
Lord John Russell considers it to be important that the boundaries defween
British Guiana and ths conterminous ferrifories should be ascertained and
sgreed upon if possible, and that Mr. Schomburgk’s researches in those
parts, which were conducted under the direction of the Hoyal Geographical
Society with the aid of Her Majesty's Government, have qualified him in a
peculiar manner to be of use shonld the services of any person acquainted
with the geography of British Guiana be required for the delimifation of
the Brilish ferritory” (V. C., vol. iii, p. 76).

The answer of the Foreign Office was, in part, as follows:

““ With reference to that part of your letter in which you state that Lord
J. Ruseell considers it to be important that the boundaries of British Guiana
should be ascertained and sgreed upon if possible, and that Mr. Schom-
burgk’s researches in those parts have qualified him in & peculiar manner to
be of use, shonld the services of any person acquainted with the geography
of British Guiana be required for fixing fAs doundaries of British territory,
I am to state to you that the course of proceeding which Lord Palmerston
would suggeet for the consideration of Lord J. Russell is ¢hat a map of
British Guiana should be made out according to the boundaries descrided by
Mr. Schomburgk, and that the said map shonld be accompanied by a Memoir
describing in detail the natural features which define and constitute fhe
boundaries in question, and that copies of that map and Memoir should be
delivered to the Governments of Venezuels, of Brazil, and of the Nether-
lands as @ statement of the Britishclaim. That, in the meanwhile, British
Commissioners should be sent to erect landmarks on the ground in order to
mark out by permanent erections the line of boundary so claimed by Great
Brifain. It would then rest with each of the three Governments above
mentioned to make any objection which they might have to bring forward
against these boundarics, and to state the reasons upon which snch objee-
tions might be founded, snd Her Majesty’s Government would then give
such answers thereto as might appear proper and just” (V. O., vol. iii,
pp- 16-77).

It will thus be seen that Mr. Schomburgk proposed to survey a
line which he specifically described; which he declared to be the
line formerly claimed by the Dutch as the limit of their Colony;
that he proposed that line because, according to him, the British
boundary and the former Dutch boundary were identical; and
that finally it was proposed by Lord Palmerston to draw the line
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so described as a stafement of the British claim, and to present it
as such to Holland, Brazil and Venezuela.

The propositions of Schomburgk were accepted by the British
Government; and, with Schomburgk’s map before it (British
Atlas, map 43), showing a line which runs practically north and
gsouth from Barima Point to Mt. Roraima and which cuts the
Cuyuni some sixty or seventy miles above its junction with the
Essequibo, that Government authorized a survey of ‘‘ the boun-
daries described by Mr. Schomburgk™—that is to say, of that
north and south line—and directed that, upon the completion of
that work, the new map to be prepared, with that line upon it,
should be delivered to the Governments of Venezuela, of Brazil
and of the Netherlands *‘ as a stalement of the British clatm.”

This is certainly good evidence of Great Britain's extreme claim
at that time. It is also evidence of the fact that British limits,
were, in 1840, regarded by the British Government as identical
with the Dutch limits of the preceding century, and that these
limits had constituted a common boundary with Spain.

It is evident, from what has been said, that the purpose of the
Schomburgk survey was to mark out the limits which had been
claimed by the Dutch as-the boundary of their Colony, so that
the line so surveyed might be presented to the Govermments of
Venezuela, Brazil and the Netherlands “as a statement of the
British claim.”

Furthermore, it is evident that both Schomburgk and the
British Government regarded the north and south line of Schom.
burgk’s map of 1839 (British Atlas, map 43) as a correct statement
of what the Dutch had claimed.

Whether or not they were right in this last assumption is a
question of some importance, for if the north and south line pro-
posed by Schomburgk in 1839 in fact exveeded the earlier Dutch
claim, then Great Britain’s express determination to accept the
Dutch claim as a definition of British rights would necessarily op-
erate to cut down still further the British exfreme claim in 1839,
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Second.—This leads us to inquire what basis there was for
Schomburgk's assertion that his line of 1839 did in fact express
the Dutch claims of the Eighteenth Century. In his Memoir of
July 1 (16), 1839, he cites no authority for this assertion, but states
it simply as a fact. Two years Jater apparently some doubt on this
point bad arisen in the minds of the British authorities, for on
October 23, 1841, Schomburgk, at Governor Light’s request, made
a “‘special report” on the subject. The following statements are
taken from that report:

“In compliance with your Excellency's desire to be informed upon what
grounds I claimed, in Her Britannic Majesty’s nume, the right of posses-
sion of the River Barima, and the castern bank of the River Amacurs us
the western boundary between Her Majesty's Colony of British Guisna aud
the Venezuelan territory:

“1 beg leave to observe . . . that, according to Hartsinck, the
Dutch West India Company considered the mouth of the Orinoco to be the
limit of their possessions;

“Modern English geographers assume the Amucura as boundary from
whenoe the line of limit extends to the sources of the Canno Coyunni, and
from thence to the River Cuyuni.

“I refer your Excellency to the mape published by Mr. Arrowsmith and
others in the course of the last ten years.” (B. C., VII, pp. 31-32.)

8o, in a Memorandum on the same subject, dated November
80, 1841, he says: '

“In 1621 the States-General granted to some Dutch merchants, who
formed a corporation under the name of the West Indische Maasschappy,
or West India Company, an exclusive right to all the African and Amer-
ican commerce, and the right of governing any new colonies which it
might acquire, retaining to themselves the power of nominating the Com-
pany's Governor-General abroad.

*“This grant comprised the coust from the Orinvco to the eustwurd and
Hurtsinck, the anthentic historiun of Guiana or  the Wild Uoast,’ us it then
was called, mentions in several places that the limits of the West India
Company extended to the month of the Orinoco.

* * #* * *

“It has been my aim, with the limited resonrces which I have at my

command, to prove that the Orinoco was, at the 17th century, politically
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recognised as the boundary of the Dutch West India Company.” (B. O.,
VII, p. 35).

These various extracts give us Schomburgk’s aathorities on
the subject of Dutch claims. In addition to these he cited
historical facts, or alleged facts, to prove that the Dutch had a
right to the mouth of the Orinoco; but we are not at this moment
concerned with Dutch rights. What we are now considering is
what the Dutch claimed, not what they had a right to claim; and
upon this point we find that Schomburgk’s authorities are: (a)
The Charter of the Dutch West India Company of 1621, (b) Hart-
sinck, (¢) Rolt, (d) W. Faden, (¢) Thomas Jefferys, (/) Arrow-
smith, We submit that these authorities are hardly sufficient to
establish Schomburgk’s contention respecting Dutch claims. As
regards the effect of the Charter granted to the Dutch West
India Company in 1621, the claim made above by Schomburgk
was repeated in the British Case, and was thus answered in the
Venezuelan Counter-Case:

“The States General of the Netherlands, by the charter which they
granted to the Dutch West India Company in 1621, granted to that Com-
pany only such monopoly of trade as it was in their power to grant, to wit,
s monopoly against other Dutchmen, not a monopoly against the world.
The territorisl limits of that munopoly were no less than the whole of
North and South Americs snd s good part of Afriea. It will hardly be
contended that the States-General claimed to control the trade of those
continents; much Jess can it be maintained, as intimated by the British
Case, that the Company was, by virtue of the charter, vested with a
monopoly of trade as against other nations.,” (V. C.-C., vol. i, p. 74.)

This whole subject is fully discussed by Professor Burr in bis
Report to the United States Commission, and the fallacy of the
position taken by Schomburgk is there fully demonstrated.

Schomburgk’s other authorities are Hartsinck, who published
in 1770, Rolt, who wrote in 1750, and three English geographers
whose maps were published in 1773, 1708 and 1832, respectively.
These authorities may have been sufficient for Schomburgk in
1839-1841, because at that time very little was known about the
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subject. Governor Light himself, in writing to the Marquess
of Normanby, on July 15, 1839, had said:
*“ There are no documents in the archives of the Colony respecting the

western or southern limits of British Guiana. The memoir of Mr. Schom-
burgk is therefore valuable.” (B. C, VII, p 1.)

This being the case, Schomburgk can hardly be blamed for
having relied on the only authorities within his reach. Fortu-
nately, however, we do not now have to depend upon the say-so
of historians or map-makers, but can go direct to the archives of
the Dutch West India Company. Those archives place the matter
quite beyond dispute: they furnish us with the reports of the
Dutch Governor to the Dutch West India Company, with the
record of the Proceedings of that Company, and with the di.plu-
matic correspondence on the subject between the Netherlands and
Spain. That correspondence has been examined in the preceding
Chapter, and need not be repeated here further than to quote the
following passage from the so-called (Freat Remonstrance presented
to the Court of Spain in 1769:

“That they, the remonstrants, considered it their duty to further bring
to the knowledge of their High Mightinesses on this occasion that the
people of the Orinoco had some time ugo not only begun to dispute with
the people of the Essequibo about the fishing rights in the mouth of the
Orinoco, and thereupon to prevent them by foree from enjoying the same,
notwithstanding that the people of Essequibo had been for many years in
peaceful and qniet possession of that fishery, which was of great value to
them on account of the ubundance of fish in it; but that, further, the
people of Urinoco were beginning to prevent, by foree, their fishing upon
the territory of the Stute itsell, extonding from the River Marowyne fo
beyond the River Wuyne, not JSar from the mouth of the Orinoco, as could
be seen by the maps exlant of these reyions, particularly that of M. d’An-
ville, which on account of its precision, wus regurded sg one of the Lest”
(B. C., IV, p. 31).

This was the last authoritative Dutch utterance on the sub-
ject, and must be deemed conclusive as against Great Britain.
The d'Anville line, which is here presented as the extreme Dutch
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claim, is thus described by Messrs. Coote and Bolton in the
Appendix to the British Case:

“ Tt is drawn in a straight line from a point on the coast which almost
coincides with that known as Mocomoco, nearly to the Amuku Lake, sep-
arating the waters of the Orinoco from those of the Amazon, leaving the

Rivers Amakura, Barima, Carapana and Caroni to the west."”
(B. C., VII, p. 353.)

This entirely coincides with the definition of territorial rights
given above by the States General, when they declared that the
“territory of the State itself” extends '‘from the River
Marowyne to beyond the River Wayne, not far from the mouth of
the Orinoco.”

Clearly, then, the Datch had not claimed Barima Point nor the
Barima River nor the Amacura, but only as far west on the coast
as about Point Mocomoco; and Schomburgk was wrong when he
asserted that the Dutch claim had included that point and those
rivers.

The result of all this is important. Whether the line asserted
by Schomburgk in 1838 to be the line which marked thé limits of
prior Dutch claims did or did not correctly mark those limits,
Great Britain, by her action at the time, accepted without gquali-
fication the principle laid down by Schomburgk that British
claims were to be measured by Dutch claims. Having committed
herself to that principle, the British extreme claim must neces-
garily be limited by the Dulch extreme claim; and hence Schom-
burgk’s error as to what that Dutch extreme claim had been
places Great Britain in this dilemma: either she must surrender
her claim to all territory west of Point Mocomoco, including
Barima Point and the Barima and Amacura Rivers, because the
Duatch claim did not include these; or else she must violate the
principle which she laid down for her own guidance in 1840, and
press a claim to territory which the Dutch did not claim, and
which both the Dutch West India Company and the States
@General of the Netherlands admitted, in 1769, to be Spanish.
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Having thus disposed of Schomburgk’s assertion that his line
of 1839 represented what the Dutch had claimed, and having
shown the position in which the approval of Schomburgk’s pro-
positions and proposals by the British Government places that
Government, let us next inquire

Third.—What was it that Schomburgk actually did in the
execulion of the task entrusted to him.

It is now claimed by Great Britain that as a result of his sur-
veys Schomburgk finally proposed as the western boundary of
British Guiana the line which appears on Hebert’s map of 1842
(British Atlas, maps 88, 38). Let us, for the present, assume the
correctness of that statement. Between this line and the line
proposed in 1838 there is a difference of about 10,300 square
miles. If the line of 1839 already exceeded the extreme claim of
the Dutch, what shall be said of this new line of 18421 Clearly it
cannot have been drawn with any regard to Dutch claims. The
fact is that having once obtained his commission and started out
on his work of survey, Schomburgk’s enthusiasm seems to have
quite run away with him; and, instead of adhering to his instruc-
tions to survey the line proposed by him in 1839, and to mark out
what the Dutch had claimed, he seems to have almost forgotten
that line, and to have regarded Dutch claims only when they hap-
pened to fall in with his own notions of British interests. In
illustration of this we quote the following passages from his
reports:

“ Taking namely the mouth of the River Barima as the place of depart-
ure; the line of demarcation onght 1o be directed to the mouth of the River

Amacurs, in order to be able to insure the political imporlance whick always
would be attached to the mouth of the Orinoco” (B. C., VII, p. 5).

Again, after having stated in his report of August, 1841, that
during the period 1750-1760, *' the Dutch possessions extended
to the foot of that series of falls of which Kanaima is the most
considerable ” (B. C.,VII, p. 28), and having also stated that the
Island Tokoro-patti had been **towards the close of the last
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century the furthest oulpost of the Dutch” (B. C., VII, p. 28), he
nevertheless makes the following claim in his report of January
93, 1842:

“] consider that Her Majesty has undoubted right to any territory
through which flow rivers that fall directly, or through others, into the
River Essequibo. Your Excellency is well aware that the Cuyuni falls a
few miles above the penal settlement into the Mazaruni, and both rivers
after their junction empty themselves at Bartika Point into the Easequibo.
Upon this principle the bonndary line would run from the sources of the
Carimani towards the sonrces of the Cuynui proper, and from thence
towards its far more northern tributaries, the Rivers Iruari and Iruang, and
thus approach the very beart of Venezuelan Guiana.

“t These rivers are of less importance to Great Britain, but as a maritime
power the possession of Point Barima is of great importance, and relin-
quishing the claim to the territory watered by the Upper Cnyuni and its
northern tributaries, the Irnari or Inruario, and Irnang, Her Majesty's Gov-
ernmen t acquires additional grounds to impress the claim of Point Barima
the Dardanelles of the Orinoco, as it has been lately styled by the Venezue-
lans. Dpon these grounds 1 considered it unnecessary to proceed further
towards the sonrces of the Cuyuni ” (B. C., VII, p. 50).

Whether Schomburgk was right or wrong in holding these
views—and we are not now discussing that point—it must be clear
that the line which he was surveying when he wrote the above
was not a line based upon Dutch claims. Neither could it have
been based upon Dutch occupation, for, according to his own
statements, Tokoro-patti, which is about 220 miles east of the
extreme line above suggested, was the farthest outpost of the
Dutch.

Of course, Schomburgk never seriously proposed any such pre-
posterous line as that suggested in the passage above quoted. The
most that he proposed in the Cuyuni region was the line ap-
pearing in Hebert's map of 1842, but that he regarded even that
line as extravagant, and as going beyond the limits of Dutch
rights can be seen from the following passage taken from his final

Memorandum to Lord Stanley, dated December 26, 1844:

1 expect likewise that the Venezuelan Government will oppose the
right bank of the River Cuyuni being taken as & boundary line from where
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that river receives the Acarabisi to its source, and from thence to Mount
Roraima, in conssquence of the Spaniards having had a fortified post, called
Cadiva, opposite the mouth of the River Curumu. Her Mujesty’s Govern-
ment may easily meet such an opposition by drawing their attention to the
circumstance that the Dutch possessed a fortified post where the River
Barima falls into the Orinoco; nevertheless, Her Majesty’s Government
has resolved to forego the claim to the possession of that territory, between
the former Dutch post and the Maroco, in order to facilitate the negotia-
tions for an adjustment of the limite. (B. ., VII, pp. 60-61.)

In order to grasp the full meaning of this passage, it should be
remembered that it was written as a commentary on the line pro-
posed a few months before by Lord Aberdeen. Lord Aberdeen
had proposed to yield to Venezuela the entire Barima region, and
had suggested the line on the Cuyuni River in the interior.
Schomburgk at once recognized the fact that that interior Cuyuni
line could not be upheld upon the basis of any Dutch claim or
Dutch occupation, and that therefore the British had no right to
it. He recognized, too, that Venezuela counld allege a better title
to that river by actual occupation, for he said the Spaniards ‘* had
a fortified post, called Cadiva, opposite the mouth of the River
Curumu,” but he suggested that this objection, which he fully ex-
pected would be rajsed by Venezuela, might be met by Great
Britain by her saying: ‘ True, Spain was in possession of the
Cuyuni, but so were the Dutch in possession of Barima, and, as
we have given you Barima on the coast, yon should give us the
Cuyuni as compensation in the interior.”

We can hardly want better evidence to prove how completely
Schomburgk had abandoned all thought of Dutch claims or even
of Dutch rights, and how intent he had become upon securing for
Great Britain everything that could hy any possibility be obtained
for her.

We do not mean by this that Schomburgk ever completely
lost sight of the fact that he must allege some Dutch justifica-
tion for his Line, or that he must advance arguments to prevent
it from baving the appearance of being wholly arbitrary. On
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the contrary, he seized upon every possible circumstance to im-
press upon his line a Duch character, and to make it appear as
though even his extreme pretensions had some sort of Dutch
basis. What we mean is that he did not feel himself bound or
limited by any such considerations, One cannot read his reports
and letters, especially his ‘‘ confidential " letter to Governor Light,
without feeling that Schomburgk, ever zealous for British success
and for the extension of British rule, had made up his mind to
claim certain points because he regarded them as of political im-
portance; and that his argumente, drawn from supposed his-
torical or other considerations, were of the nature of after-
thoughts, intended to support what he had already determined to
claim. His *‘ conjidential” letter of October 23, 1841, is alone
sufficient to prove this point; its importance warrants ifs gquota-

tion in full:

“In my letter of this day's date, I informed your Excellency upon
what grounds I founded the right of possession of Her Majesty to the
Barima, and I have now to point out the importance which is attached to
this position, should the Dritish Government establish the Amacura ss
the boundary between British Guiana and Venezuela.

“The River Orinoco may be termed the high-rond to the interior of
the territories of Venezuels and New Granada. It hus at his mouth the
appearance of an ocean, and articles of commerce may be transported on
this stream for 400 or 500 leagues. Nearly 300 tributary streams, of more
or less importance, flow into it, which may serve as additional canals and
facilitate the commerce of the interior. Santa Fé de Bogota may be reached
within & distance of 8 miles by one of its tributary streams, the Meta, and
operations of commerce or war, combined with others from the Pucific,
conld be carried on by means of the vast plains or llancs. A small fleet
may go up the Orinoco and the Meta within 15 or 20 leagnes of Santa Fé,
and the flour of New Granada may be conveyed down the same way.

« And the only access to this vast inland communication for sailing
vessels of more than 10 feet draft of water is by means of the Boca de
Naviog, which is commanded from Point Barima.

 The River Barima falls into the south side of the Orinoco near the
most eastern point of its month and in a direction almost parallel to the
coust. [Point Barima is, therefore, bonnded to the west by the river of that

L]
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name, to the north by the Orinoco, to the east by the Atlantic, and to the
south by impenetrable foroste. Colonel Moody considers this position © sus-
ceptable [#ic] of being fortificd so as to resist almost any attack on the sea-
side—the small depth of water, the natnre of the tides, and its muddy
gshores, defend it. The Barima, and the uncultivated forests on marshy
gronnd, present an impenetrable barrier againet the interior, and debarka-
tion from the Orinoco might be put under the fire of any number of gnne—
and the Jand reproaches [sic] on that soil conld be easily rendered inacces-
sible to an invading force.”

“This is the importance which Colonel Moody in & military respect has
attached to this point, and which, so far as my knowledge goes in this mat-
ter, is fully born out by personal inapection during my late survey of the
entrance to the Barima.

“The Venezuelan Government, ae at present organised, tottering in
their interior relations, and embarrassed by & number of slaves who wonld
hail the opportunity to shake off their fetters, hated and despised Ly the
aborigines, whom maltreatment and cruelties have alienated, would be an
insignificant enemy—bunt in the hands of any of the maritime European
powers, matters wonld assume another aspect.

““France has attempted to establish a fortified position at the mouth
of the Amazon near Macapa, which she claims as the eastern bonundary of
Cayenve. A settlement at this spot commands the commerce of the Ama-
zon, and this no doubt, is the reason why this Power puts such importance
upon ita possession. Supposing that unforeseen circumatances should put
France in occupation of Point Barima at the Orinoco, and that Macapa at
the Amazon is ceded to her, she will then command the commerce of the
two first rivers of South America, and hold the military keys of the north-
ern provinces of Brazil and of the former Spanish provinces of South Am-
erica, north of the equutor, which territories will be always at the mercy of
that power which commands the channels to their commerce.

“* Finally, trusting to the prospects of prosperity and a continued emig-
ration to British Guiana, there counld not be a more favourable position for a
commercial gettlement than Point Barima. The capitsl of Spanish Guayana
is Angosturs, situsted a distance of 85 lesgues from the mouth of the
Orinoeo, and the intricate navigation of that river presents numerous diffi-
culties to foreign vessels going up the Orinoco as far us Angostura.

““ A commercial settlement established at the extreme point of Barima,
where one part of the town would front the River Barima, and the other
the Orinoco, would soon induce foreign vessels to dispose of their cargoes at
the new settlement, and leave the further transport to the interior to
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smaller craft ; naturally this premises the supposition that amicable rela-
tions and commercial treaties exist between Great Britain and Veunczuela.
The bar at the Barima admits vessels of 16 feet draft of water, which if
once entered, may safely anchor in from 4 to 5 fathoms water. The pecu-
liar formstion of the fluvisl aystem of the coastland between the Barima
and the Essequibo admits an inland navigation, in punts and barges, to
Richmond Estate, on the Arabisi Coast of the Essequibo, which with a few
improvements might vie with any of the interior canals of England.” (B.
C., VII, pp. 33-34).

In line with the above are the following statements taken from
three other of Schomburgk’s letters:

“Tyking namely the mouth of the River Burima as the place of depart-
ure; the line of demarcation ought to be directed to the mouth of the River
Amacura, in order Lo be able to insure the political importance which always

would be altached to the mouth of the Orinoco, and to prevent stragglers
from escaping into the Republic of Venezuela” (B. C., VII, p. 5).

Again: _

““ A ghort distance above the mouth of the River Araturi is the Vene-
suelan Post Coriabo, ‘I'he importance of this natural canal in a military or
& commercial point of view is undeniable, but its importance to Venezuela
(if a denser population shonld make it euch) ia rendered abortive in a mili-
tary aspect if Great Britain possesses the right or eastern bank of the Ama-
ecura” (B. C., VII, p. 16).

Again:

I have the honour to enclose herewith a memorial in which the grounds
are recapitulated, chiefly with regard of Her Majesty’s right of possession to
the Barima—a point of more importance to Great Britain than I have ven-
tured to make it appear in mymemorial.” (B. O., VII, p. 34).

With such views regarding the mouth of the Orinoco, it is not
sorprising that Schomburgk should have gone beyond everything
ever claimed by the Dutch, and that he should have dwelt at
length upon and given importance to supposed historical facts,
some of which were without foundation, and many of which were
trivial in the extreme.

It is not the purpose of this Chapter to discuss those alleged
facts. That will be done in other parts of thie argument. For
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the present it will suffice to say that Mr. Schomburgk had very
limited means for ascertaining the truth of what he asserted, and
that many points which were formerly in doubt are now too clear
to admit of discussion.

It may be worth while to point out in connection with Schom-
burgk’s allegations of historical facts that while he was able to
find, either in historical works or in current Indian traditions,
statements which seemingly supporled a Dutch claim to the
Barima, he failed to find anything whatever to support his claim
to the line around the great bend of the Cuyuni in the interior.
Indeed, he found evidence of the strongest kind to contradict that
claim, for he himself testifies that the Spaniards had *‘ had a forti-
fied post, called Cadiva, opposile the mouth of the River Curumu "
(B. C., VII, p. 60), and, commenting on Lord Aberdeen's proposed
line of 1844, he frankly said that he expected Venezuela would,
because of that Spanish fort, object to that part of the live. He
was certainly right in thus appreciating the importance of the
Curuma fort. If * & small shelter” at Barima in 1684, which had
erected without the knowledge or sanction of the Dutch West been
India Company, which as soon as its existence had been reported
to that Company had been ordered to be abandoned, which after a
temporary occupation of at most a few months had been deserted
and forgotten, and which had remained abandoned for over a
century and a half, could be invoked by Great Britain to
prove a Dutch title; surely a Spanish fort, authorized by the
Spanish Government, erected on the southern bank of the Cuyuni
by Spanish authorities, manned by Spanish troops, and maintained
by Spain for the very purpose of asserting her sovereignty over
that region, might not unwarrantably be invoked to prove a
Spanish title,

It was in the face of this recognized Venezuelan right that
Schomburgk ran his line past the remains of the old Spanish fort
and around the great bend of the Cuyuni, leaving the very site of
the Spanish fort within British limits. This is the line which
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until 1897, Great Britain refused to arbitrate, and with reference
to which, in 18985, Lord Salisbury thus wrote:

« It is important to notice that 8ir K. Schomburgk did not discover or
invent any new boundsries. He took particular care to fortily himeelf with
the history of the case. He had further from actual exploration and infor-
mation obtained from the Indinne, and from the evidence of local remains,
as at Barima, and local traditions, as on the Cuyuni, fixed the limits of the
Dufch possessions, and the zone from which all frace of Spanish influence
was absen!, On such dala he based his reporis™ (V. C-C., vol. ii, p. 217).

Evidently the views entertained by Lord Salisbury in 1885 were
not the views entertained by his predecessors in 1842, for upon no
other theory can we explain the fact that this new line proposed
by Schomburgk was not published to the world or communicated
to Venezuela until 1886, that is to say, forty-four years after Heb-
ert had completed the map now published on pages 38-39 of the
British Atlas.

It will be remembered that when Lord Palmerston authorized
the surveys proposed by Schomburgk, he had before him Schom-
burgk’s map of 1839, with the line which, running apparently
north and south, cuts the Cuyuni fifty or sixty miles west of the
Essequibo, He also had before him the Memoir in which Schom-
burgk described that line. With that map and that Memoir before
him, Lord Palmerston suggested to Lord John Russell '‘that a
map of British Guiana should be made out according to the boun-
daries described by Mr. Schomburgk” (V. C., vol. iii, p. 77); and
then added that the map thus to be prepared should, with an ac-
companying Memoir, be delivered to Venezuela, Brazil and the
Netherlands, ‘ as a statement of the British claim” (V. C., vol. iii,
P .

Schomburgk, having received his commission, made his sur-
veys and prepared various maps, memoirs and reports. The line
which he in part drew upon these maps, and in part suggested in
his reports, was by Hebert transferred in full on to a map pre-
pared by him for the British Government in 1842, This new line
was not the line whose survey Viscount Palmerston had author-
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.ized in 1840; it was not the line which he had suggested should be
presented to Venezuela, Brazil and the Netherlands as a sfate-
ment of the British claim; and the British Government, in 1849,
with Hebert's map, with 8chomburgk’s map and with a number of
Schomburgk’s reports before it, recognized these facts, and, instead
of presenting this new map and these reports to Venezuela, Brazil
and the Netherlands, as a stalement of the British claim, filed
them away in its secret archives and kept them there for foriy-
four years.

But this is not the only proof which we have that the British
Government, in 1843, refused to accept as a stafement of the
British claim that new line suggested by Schomburgk; and that,
instead, it adhered to the north and south line of 1839. Let us look
a little further into this matter.

It was in 1867 that Great Britain was first called upon to
utilize the Schomburgk maps. In that year, according to the
statements of the British Case, a tracing of Schomburgk’s large
‘“ physical map ” (British Atlas, maps 47-48), upon which Schom-
burgk had drawn no boundary whatever, was ‘‘made by Mr.
Stanford for the use of the Colonial Government” (B. C., p. 143).
Now, although no boundary appears on Schomburgk’s original
“ physical map, " it is clear, from what follows, that the copy of that
map, which was prepared by Mr. Stanford, and which was by the
British Government furnished ** to the Colony in February, 1867,
for the use of the colonial surveys” (B. C., p. 143), did have a
boundary upon it. The surveyors in question were Messis.
Brown and Sawkins, who were employed to make a geological
survey of the British Colony. OFf course, in order to do this, they
had to know how far the Colony extended, and hence a map of
the boundary was furnished them by the British Government.
Referring to the map thus furnished, and which could have been
no other than that sent out for their use from London, Messrs.
Brown and Sawkins use such expressions as these: ‘* The bound-
ary of Venezuela, according fo the map furnished us,”” ** as far as
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Ottomong River, which forms the boundary line between this
Colony and Venezuela,” ** near the boundary line of the Colony, as
drawn on Schomburgk’s map.” The report of Brown and Saw-
kins on the geology of British Guiana was published by order of
the Lords Commissioners of the Treasury in 1875 (B. C., p. 143),
and the map accompanying that report gives a boundary line cor-
respouding substantially with the north and south line proposed
by Schomburgk in 1889, and adopted in 1840 by the British Gov-
ernment ‘‘as a statement of the British cluim.” The geological
features of this map, and its boundary line, were reproduced by
one of the maps published by the United States Coinmission and
reprinted in the Venezuelan Atlas as Map No. 2 (see also, same,
map 90).

Where did the line which appeared on the map furnished
to Messrs, Brown and Sawkins as a guide for their work come
fromi It was certainly placed there by authority. The map
itself had been copied by Mr. Stanford in London from a Schom-
burgk map upon which no boundary appeared. The only conclu-
sion to be drawn from these circumstances is that Mr. Stanford
was directed by the British Government itself to place upon the
map prepared for the use of the surveyors the line which Brown
and Sawkins afterwards found on that map. By this action, and
by its subsequent adoption of Brown and SBawkins' work, as evi-
denced by the publication of that work by order of the Lords
Commiesioners of the Treasury, the British Government for the
second time since 1840 declared the north and south Schomburgk
Line of 1889 to be the boundary of the Colony. That the British
Government had in ite possession at the time the Hebert map of
1842 and the various Schomburgk maps and reports which have
since been published, merely proves that it had not yet given its
assent to Schomburgk’s proposals of 1842, and that it still re-
garded his Exzpanded Line of that date as too extravagunt to
adopt even as the British extreme claim.
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Another British official map was published in 1876. The Brit-
ish Case gives the following account of it:
““The third of these maps was prepared by Mr. Stanford in 1875, and

published in 1876. It was prepared at the instance of the Colonial au-
thorities, and had upon it the following note—

** Nore.—-Ths boundaries sndicaled on this map are those laid down by
the late Sir Robert Schomburgk, who was engaged in exploring the Colony
during lhe years 1835 to 1839 under the direction of the Royal Geographi-
cal Sociely. Bul the boundaries thus laid down between Brazil on the one
side and Venesueln on the other and iho Colony of British Guiana must not
be taken as authorilative, as they have never been adjusted by the respective
(fovernmenis: And an engagement snbsists belween the Governments of
Gireal Brilain and Veneruela by which neither is at liderty to encroach
upon or occupy ferritory claimed by both.” (B. C., p. 144.)

This is the map published on page 41 of the British Atlas and
as No. 88 in the Venezuelan Atlas. It was prepared by M.
Stanford, the same who, in 1867, had copied the map furnished to
Brown and Sawkins; as might be expected, this new map gave
the Schomburgk north and south line of 1839 as the boundary of
the Colony. The British Case informs us that the map was pre-
pared * at the instance of the Colonial authorities;” and this, of
course, stamps it as an official publication.

The note appearing upon the face of the map is most signifi-
cant, and should be read in connection with our discussion in the
Chapter preceding, on the subject of the extent of the territory in
dispute in 1850, In that Chapter we assumed, for the sake of
argument, that the Schomburgk Line, which marked Great Brit-
ain’s extreme claim in 13850, was the Erpanded Schomburgk Line
of 1842; here, however, we have the evidence to prove that Great
Britain’s extreme claim at that time, and for at least Lwenty-six
years thereafter, went no further than the line proposed by
Schomburgk in 1889. No other interpretation can be put upon
this note; its purpose is clearly to warn British settlers from going
into the disputed territory, and to let it be known that the line
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claimed in the map was a claim only, and not a boundary which
was accepted as settled.

This note has another significance. It states that “ the bound-
aries indicated on this map are those laid down by the late Sir
Robert Schomburgk.” This is a distinct declaration by the
Colonial authorities, at whose instance the map was prepared
and published, that the line appearing on that map was a line
which, at that time, the British Government regarded as the
Schomburgk Line. That map, with that statement upon it, was
in use for both official and private purposes for ten years before
the British Government discovered that the Schomburgk Line,
which had been proposed in 1839, which had been accepted by
Lord Palmerston and Lord John Russell in 1840 as a statement of
the British claim, and which the British Government bad since
that time treated as the extreme boundary of the Colony, was
neither the Schomburgk Line, nor a statement of the British claim,
por the boundary of the Colony; it was af the same time discov-
ered that another line, which had been proposed by Schomburgk
in 1842, which 8chomburgk himself in 1844 had regarded as ex-
travagant, and which the British Government had, at that tiine,
considered and refused to adopt, was after all the only Bchom-
burgk Line, and the true boundary of the Colony. Can the
British Government be permitted thus to contradict its previous
gtatements, thus to brush aside the history of forty-four years,
and by the stroke of a pen to thus add 10,000 square miles to her
domain?

But we have not yet finished with this pregnant note. Why
was it erased when, in 1888, the original Schomburgk Line was
taken out and the Expanded Schomburgk Line substituted in its
place! In 1886, and even as late as 1887, the British Government
was still appealing to the Agreement of 1850 as yet in force; the
note could mot, therefore, have been erased because of any state-
ment which it contained with reference to that Agreement, un.
less indeed Great Britain is ready to confess that it was no longer
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her intention to observe that Agreement, and that therefore she
erased the note. The only other statement contained in the note,
apart from the purely formal one that Schomburgk had been en-
gaged in exploring the Colony during the years 1835-1889, was
the statement that the boundaries on the map published in 1876
were those laid down by Sir Robert Schomburgk. The boundary
which for ten years that note had declared to be the Schomburgk
Line was now to be erased and a new line substituted. With the
old line, therefore, disappeared also the old statement—and yet
Great Britain maintains to-day that there is only one Schomburgk
Ltne, and that the line first published in 1886 is that line!

After these various official publications of the original Schom-
burgle Line of 1889 as the boundary claimed by Great Britain,
reference to other maps, published by persons who were in a posi-
tion to know what Schomburgk’s views were, and what the Brit-
ish Government claimed as a result of his surveys, would seem to
be unnecessary., There were many such publications; we shall
briefly refer to only one or two of them, but before doing so we
stop to correct an erroneous statement of the British Case to the
effect that as early as the date of Schomburgk’s surveys the
Venezuelan Government was notified of the Expanded Line and
made remonstrance upon the subject. The following is the
language of the British Case in this connection:

“The Venesuelan Government were aware of the position of the
boundary posts erected by Schomburgk, and made remonstrances to Her
Majesty's Government npon the subject.

“ The line proposed by Lord Aberdeen in 1844, from the source of the
Acarabisi to its junction with the Cuyuni and then along the Ouyuni to its
source. corresponded with the line proposed by Schomburgk for that part
of the frontier.

“From that time up to 1877 no definite proposals were put forward,
snd there was consequently nothing to call for any reference to the Schom-
burgk line. But in the first proposal made by Her Majeaty's Government

after the resumption of negotiations in 1881 specific reference was made to
‘Bchomburgk’s original Map' and to ‘the boundary line proposed by
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Schomburgk,’ and the latter was described in terms which lesve no doubt
as to its direction. Moreover, the map illustrating the proposal, which was
sent to the Government of Venezuels in Earl Granville's despatch of the
15th September, 1841, was & reduction of Hebert's Map, and gave the true
Schomburgk line, with those variations only, in the vicinity of the coast,
which were necessitated by the terms of Lord Granville's proposal.” (B. 0.,
pp. 144-145.)

In this passage the British Government alleges three sources
whence Venezuela, prior to 1888, might have derived knowledge
of Schomburgk’s Expanded Line: the first was the erection of
the Schomburgk boundary posts; the second Lord Aberdeen’s
proposal in 1844; and the third Lord Granville's proposal in
1881.

As regards the Schomburgk posts, we have to remark that
the two great bends which characterize the Expanded Schom-
burgk Line, namely, the one around the head waters of the Barima,
and the one around the Cuyuni to its source, were not marked by
Schomburgk with any posts whatever, because he never visited
either locality. A glance at Schomburgk’s maps and at Hebert’s
map, British Atlas (maps 88, 39, 44, 46), shows that on the western
boundary, after leaving the mouth of the Amacura River, the
few boundary marks which Schomburgk fixed were all far in the
interior where probably no one ever saw them. Such boundary
marks, even if they had been known to the Venezuelan Govern-
ment, would have been entirely inadequate to convey any notion
of Schomburgk’s Expanded Line, and therefore to cite these as a
proof that Venezuela had knowledge of that line is hardly calcu-
lated to inspire confidence in the belief that any very conclusive
evidence on that point can be adduced. The only posts to which
Venezuela’s attention appears to have been drawn were those at
Barima Point, and at the mouth of the Amacura River; both of
these points are on the Schomburgk Line of 1859, and hence
these boundary posts could not have indicated that Great Britain
claimed any other than that Line.
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Lord Aberdeen’s proposal of 1844 was for a line starting from
the mouth of the Moruca, thence to the Cayuni by the Waini,
the Aunama and the Acarabisi, and thence up the Cuyuni to its
source and to Mount Roraima. It was on its face a compromise
proposal, and Lord Aberdeen nowhere referred to any part of it
as the Schomburgk Line. Clearly, then, the present British con-
tention that Lord Aberdeen’s proposal of that line to Venezuela
was a notification to that Government of the Ezpanded Schom-
burgk Line cannot be sound; with equal reason might Venezuela
contend that she herself bad the right to regard the whole of the
Aberdeen Line as the line proposed by Schomburgk; for certainly
Lord Aberdeen, in describing his line, made no distinction be-
tween what was and what was not Schomburgk’s; and in the
course of the whole dispatch concerning this proposal Schom-
burgk is mentioned only once, when reference is made to the fact
that on his visit to the Barima be had there found ** traces of the
entrenchment and surrounding cultivation,” attributed by him to
the Datch.

Coming now to the dispatch of Earl Granville of September
15, 1881, we confidently affirm that it proves the very reverse
of what Great Britain contends, As stated in the British Case,
that dispatch to the Government of Venezuela was accompanied
by a map which showed the line proposed by Lord Granville,
which in the interior followed the great bend of the Cuyuni to its
source, and which in that respect coincided with Schomburgk’s
Expanded Line of 1842, But the significant point of the matter
is that Earl Granville, in the dispatch in question, not only failed
to identify his proposed line in the interior beyond the junction of
the Acarabisi and Cuyuni with the Schomburgk Line, but on the
contrary, distinguished it from that line, and showed conclusively
by the language he used that what he regarded as the true Schom-
burgk Line was a line different from that around the Cuyuni
bend. This is the language in which Earl Granville defined that

part of his proposed line:
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“Thence (that is to say, from the junction of the Cuyuni snd the
Acarabisi) along the left bank of the River Ouyuni to its source, and from
thence in a south-easterly direction T'@ the line as proposed by Schom-
burgk.” (B. 0., VII, p. 100.)

No man could bave used thal language if he understood that
the line he was deecribing was the Schomburgk Line from the
junction of the Cuyuni and the Acarabisi to the end. Lord Gran-
ville wrote the above in 1881; for forty-one years his Government
had been treating the Schomburgk Line of 1839 as the only
Schomburgk Line and as the boundary of British Guiana; it bad
authorized the geological survey of the Colony upon the basis of
that 1839 boundary; it had published the great Colonial map of
1876 with that boundary upon it, and no other line would so
naturally have been in Earl Granville’s mind when he penned the
above words, 1t was from the Acarabisi that hie own proposed
line was to run, and, having traced the Cuyuni to its source, that
propoeed line was then to turn in a southeasterly direction and go
back T© the Schomburgk Line. Can such language be held to be
notice to Venezuela of the Expanded Schomburgk Line of 18421
And if it could, can the British Government explain why it waited
from 1842 to 1881 to give that noticet

Having thus disposed of the claims now made by the British
Case with regard to Venezuela’s having had notice of the Ez-
panded Schomburgk Line, let us once more return to the matter
of publications, and see what light other maps throw on Great
Britain's attitude from 1840 to 1886.

A full account of Sir Robert Schomburgk’s boundary explora-
tions was published at Leipzig, in 1847, in three volumes, prepared
by his brother Richard, who accompanied him most of the way as
botanist. The text of this work made no reference to boundary,
but its map—stated in a note to have been prepared from Sir
Robert’s large map in the Colonial Office in London—gave the
boundary line, declared by another note to be the boundary claimed
by Great Britain; the line given is substantially the north and
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south line of 1880 (British Atlas, map 40). The British Case in-
forms us that Richard Schomburgk had access only “to the map
of the Colony prepared by his brother, showing merely the physical
features.” This may be so, and yet Richard Schomburgk’s rela-
tions to Sir Robert were such that it would require strong evidence
to convince an impartial judge that the line appearing on the
Leipzig map received no inspiration from either Robert Schomburgk
or from the British officials who permitted Richard to copy his
brother’s map at the Colonial Office.

Another map, which may be termed semi-official, is that pub-
lished in the Colonial Office List. This List is published in Lon-
don in serial continuity, and states on its title page that it is com-
piled from official records by permission of the Secretary of State
for the Colonies, by Mr. John Anderson, an official of the Colonial
Office. Theedition of this List published in March, 1886, as also
the prior editions, give Schomburgk’s north and south line of 1839
as the western boundary of British Guiana (Ven. Atlas, map 86).
The edition published in December, 1886, and all subsequent editions,
give instead the Expanded Schomburglk Line (Ven. Atlas, map 86).
Taking this in connection with all that has gone before, is it too much
to affirm that the maps of this Colonial Office List must have had
if not the formal approval, at least the quiet sanction of the British
Government; and that these maps are to-day evidence of what
the British Government claimed in and prior to 18861

In the Atlas accompanying the Venezuelan Case are reproduced
still other maps giving the Schomburgk Line of 1888. They are
all maps for which, either directly or indirectly, either Schom-
burgk or the British Government must be held to be ultimately
responsible. These ure: the map printed in Parliamentary Papers,
1840, Vol, 84 (Ven. Atlag, map 82); the map in Schomburgk’s De-
soription of British Gufana; London, 1840 (Ven. Atlas, map 88);
Schomburgk’s map, Leipzig, 1841 (Ven. Atlas, map 84); the Schom-
burgk map, reproduced from original in Exposttion Universelle de
Paris, 1867, Catalogue des produite exposes par la Guyane
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Auvglaise, London, 1867 (Ven. Atlas, map 89); map by C. Barring-
ton Brown, London, 1876 (Ven. Atlas, map 90), one of the
surveyors employed by the British Government to make the
geological survey of the Colony. In addition there are scores of
others which it is not worth while to mention here.

To sum up: in 1839 Schomburgk proposed to the British
Government to survey as a boundary of British Guiana the
line appearing in his map of that date; the British Government
approved that proposal, anthorized that survey, and declared its
intention of proposing that line as a statement of the British claim,
Schomburgk, instead of surveying that line, surveyed another, or
rather part of another, line which goes much further west,
and suggested that new line to the Government as a desirable
boundary; the British Government not only failed to approve
Schomburgk's new proposals, but continued for forty-four years
to adbhere to the original Schomburgk Line of 1839. During that
period Schomburgk's reports and his Expanded Line were kept
secret, and every British publication, whether official, semi-official,
or private, proclaimed as the western boundary of British Guiana
the original Schomburgk Line of 1839. In 1886 the British Gov-
ernment published the Expanded line for the first time, declaring
it to be the only Schomburgk Line and the boundary of the
Colony. That Government thus reversed the action of all former
British administrations for forty-six years, and comes into court
to-day, asking this Tribunal to stamp its approval upon such a
course of dealing.






CHAPTER V.

THE GEOGRAPHICAL FEATURES OF THE TERRITORY IN
DISPUTE AS BEARING ON THE QUESTION OF TITLE.

The Lerritory in dispute comprises a considerable portion of the
land lying between the Essequibo, on the east, and the Caroni, a
tributary of the Orinoco, on the west.

The course of both the Essequibo and the Caroni is nearly due
north; that of the Orinoco is nearly east and west. The main
tributaries of the Essequibo are the Cuyuni and the Massaruni.
The course of these rivers, with their branches, is also approxi-
mately east and west. As a consequence, it happens that the
Cuyuni River System practically traverses in the interior the en-
tire territory between the Essequibo and the Caroni, including
the whole width of the territory in dispute.

The territory between the Essequibo and the Caroni is
bounded on the north by the Orinoco and by the sea. To the
north of the Cuyuni valley, which, as already stated, has an east-
erly and westerly trend, lies a range of mountains, defined on the
mape with considerable clearness, which is known as the Imataka
Ridge or Imataka Mountains. This ridge runs in general parallel
with the Cuyuni and its tributary the Curumo in a northwest
and southeast direction, across the whole territory between the
Caroni and the Essequibo. Near its eastern extremity is a small
spur or group of hills, known as the Blauwenberg or Blue Moun-
tains. The range is sufficiently defined to form a clear division
between the basin of the interior and the territory watered by the
rivers which run north into the Orinoco and the sea.

In the discussion of the various districts in controversy in this
Argument the region south of this range of hills is designated the
Interior Territory, the region north of them the Coast Territory.

The physical features of the Interior Territory had a marked
influence upon its history. Its extreme eastern border extends
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close up to the fringe of settlements on the Essequibo. This river
runs in & line almost due north for a distance of over five hundred
miles. Ite mouth forms a large estuary, and in the lower part
of its course it contains many islands. The rivers Cuyuni and
Massaruni empty into it at a point about sixty miles from the sea.
Just before reaching the Hssequibo the two rivers unite.

The lower Hssequibo ie a large navigable river, though naviga-
tion ceases at no great distance above the mouth of the united
Cayuni and Massaruni. On the Cuyuni and Massaruni naviga-
tion is also brought to an end a short distance above the mouths
of these rivers by falls or rapids. The Cuyuni is over 300
miles long. The lowest falls are about twelve miles from its
mouth., Iu the Mazarunithe lowesl falls are about ten miles from
its mouth. The obstructions to navigation in the falls or rapids
constituted a physical barrier, a natural boundary, beyond which
settlement at no time passed, and it determined ultimately the
development of the colony away from the upper waters and their
tributaries.

The British Counter-Case dwells at great length (pp. 15-20)
upon the character of the falls in these two rivers, with a view to
show that they were not impassable. It objects to the name
‘“falls,” although that designation was invariably applied to them
by the Dutch for more than a century, and although its own
Atlas calls them °‘cataracts.” It insists that they are not falls
but rapids, and that they can be passed. The question is one of
material importance, for the falls were one determining feature in
the history of the Cuyuni. As to the character of the obstruction,
no one denies that it was possible to pass it by taking the canoces
overland, and sometimes by ‘‘shooting ” the falls, though only at
great risk. This, however, is not navigation, and a river which,
is in the condition described is not a navigable river.,

Whether the obstructions to navigation in the Cuyuni are
known as ‘‘ falls ' or ‘‘ rapids,” and whether it was possible in some
way aod at some times to pass them, the fact remains as an incon-
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trovertible fact, that their presence was effectual in determining
the limits of colonial development. Had the rivers been navigable
highways, which they were not in any sense, they would undoubt-
edly have led to the establishment of some settlements or planta-
tions above the point where settlements and plantations absolutely
stopped.

The early plantations of the Hssequibo colony clustered about
the point where the union of the Cuyuni and Mazaruni with the
Essequibo forms a small inland basin. On the four radiating
arms of this basin, from the point of union as a centre, the entire
settlement was established within a distance of twelve miles
from the contral point. For a long time the colony was nearly
stationary, and when about 1734 it began to develop, the move-
ment was entirely towards the mouth of the Essequibo. Tn 1740
the fort was removed from Kykoveral to Flag Island, and from
that time on the old plantations in the neighborhood of the union
of the three rivers were almost wholly abandoned.

It was well known that the land beyond the falls was adapted
for cultivation, but at no time was there any movement towards
settlement in that direction. This was due entively to the ob-
struction of the falls. Of this fact there is abundant evidence.

The engineer Saincterre reported to the Company, March 19,
1723 (B. C. I, 252): “The ground is even better above in the
Rivers Essequibo, Mazaruni and Cuyuni, than below; but because
they are full of rocks, falls, and islands, and much danger is to be
feared for large sugar canoes, this is the reason why up to this
time the Europeans have not been willing to establish sugar
plantations there,” showing that no such plantations-had yet
been established. |

The Court of Policy, in a letter to the West India Company,
July 14, 1781 (B. C. II, 14) states: “ The great number of rocks
which lie in these two rivers, and which occasion the falls by
reason of the strong stream rushing over them, makes these rivers
unnavigable for large vessels, wherefore it is impossible to estab-
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lish any plantations there, although the scil is very well fitted
for it.”

In 1789 the Commandeur reported (B. C. 1I, 30), speaking of
the prospecting for minerals in the Uuyuni above the falls:

‘“ As the continnous rainy season . . . makes the road [wag]
above the falls very dangerous, it has prevented the making of any further
discovery—assnming that auything at all is to be found there,”

Hildebrandt, the Mining Engineer, reported (V. C. II, 98) in
1741 that be *‘ came to a great fall named Tokeyne, where we had
great[er] trouble to get up than we had anywhere, the perpen-
dicular height of the above named fall being 4} fathoms [27 feet].
If T had not had the luck [to meet] six Indians who showed them-
selves helpful in dragging over my boat, I should have found it
impossible to get up; and I kept these Indians by me still after
they had helped me, in order to show the way further through
the many islands and two other difficult falls.”

And, again, in the following year (V. 0. II, 94), he
‘“came to beneath the second great full and saw almost no chance to get
up, so was the water swollen, which in my former joarney I could not get

throngh ; so that the additional Indians were very opportune for me, and
it was dark by the time we had the two boats up above.”

Even Schomburgk gives his testimony to the existence of these
conditions and their effect upon the colony. He mentions one
fall (B. C. VII, 28) as *‘ called the Canoe-wrecker, in consequence
of many fatal accidents which bave occurred here.” Speaking of
the Camaria, one of the lowest group of falls in the Cuyuni, he
said (B. C. VII, 29):

“ As s did not afford any portage, we attempted to descend it in our
craft. It nearly proved our destruction, As it was, the craft filled with

water, and it was only the presence of mind of some of our crew to which,
under the Almighty, we were indebted for our safety.”

At the next fall, ‘‘ Ematubba, generally called ‘the Great
Fall,’” he had to unload and haul his corials overland.
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His general conclusion in reference to the Cuyuni is thus
stated (B. C. VII, 30):

“ Bat the dificulties which the Cuyuni presents to navigation, and
those tremendons falls which impede the river in the firas day's ascent, will,
I fear, prove a great obstacle to making the fertility of its banks available

to the Colony. The Amacurs, Barima and Waini, are, for a great distance,
free of snch impediments.”

Even the Indians were not exempt from these accidents. In
1778, Director-General Trotz recorded the fact (B. C. IV, 180)
that an Indian Owl named Taumaii, in descending the river,
“ had the mischance to go down the first fall with his vessel,
whereby all his goods were lost,” and that a friend who accom-
panied him was drowned.

A word of comment must be given to the evidence upon
which the British Counter-Case contends that the falls so de-
scribed in other parts of its evidence are not obstructions to
navigation. It relies upon an affidavit of Mr. McTurk, Stipen-
diary Magistrate of the colony of British Guiana, and of all
its officials the most zealous promoter of extended frontiers.
The examination will be valuable at this early stage of
the Argument as showing the value of Mr. McTurk’s depo-
sitions in general, a subject to which we ehall have occa-
gion to refer more than once at a later stage. Mr. McTurk’s
afidavit (B. C.-C. App., 408-5) was made June 14, 1808, for use
in this arbitration. He undertakes to make two points: First,
that the falls of the Cuyuni are not very difficult or dangerous;
and, second, that the most difficult falls are not in the lower,
but in the upper part of the river. Unfortunately for Mr.
McTurk, the evidence annexed to the British Case contains
several of his reports, made before it was supposed that the
boundary question would be submitted to arbitration, and these
reports contain evidence quite at variance with that of his later
deposition. In order to show the difference between Mr. Mc-
Tark reporting the facts to his superior officer and Mr. McTurk
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making a deposition to be used in this arbitration, they are

printed in parallel columns.

(1.) As to the Difficulties and Dangers of Navigation.

Deposition 1808,

“ The falls and rapids on the
Coynni, Massaruni, and Kasequibo,
althongh difficalt and tedions to
pass, offer no insuperable difficulties
to navigation, which is conclusively
shown by the number of boats which
aounally pass up and down, aud in
those cases where accidents have
occurred it has been on acconnt of
the carclesaneas or incompetency of
thoee in command of the boat.”

Report of Descent of Cuyuni 1891.
(B. C. VI, 248-9).

*“ On the 14th the boat went twice
oo the rocks, the first time splitting
the larboard streak, and the second
time pitching me out, when I got a
nomber of bruises. This was
through no fault of the steersman,
bul because we came so suddenly on
the rocks round points above them.
We then had to clear s road scroes
an island about 400 yards long, lay
rollers, unload, and haul the boat
over, This ooccupied nearly half a
day. At12.80 p. M. we started for
the other side.

“ The sppearance of the river from
the lower aide of this portage was
most appalling; as far as the view
was clear the river was a seething
maas of broken water, with nomer-
ons whirlpools and pointed rocks
showing between the waves. We all
viewed them with dread, knowing
we had to pass over them somehow.
Placing myself at the highest part of
the lading with the glasses, I directed
the steersman, and by alternately
runving and lowering, at 1 p. .
came ont into clear water, finishing
one of the most dangerons passages
through falls it has been my lot to
experience.

“Qn the 16th Janoary we had to
unload and haul over the boat twice
owing to the sise of the falls swollen
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by the rains, and again once more on
the 17th. On this morning the
boat was flung bodily on to a rock by
the bursting up of the water, the up-
rising of the accumnlated water from
below. One man, who was standing
up at the time, was thrown several
feet clear of the boat, and was driven
down the fall, but clung to some
bushes below. We jumped on the
rock, aud at the next uprising of the
water the boat swnng round and
floated off; one man not jumping in
in time was left on the rock. As
800D a8 we acquired control over the
boat, we picked uap the men holding
on to the bushes, and went as near
as we could to the other on the rock,
about 40 yarde off, as we counld get
no nearer; he was motioned to swim,
snd I stood ready with & rope to
throw to his mssistance; he jumped
in and reached the boat safely. We
arrived, without farther mishap, at
the penal settlement at 10.80 A. w."”

Raport January 28, 1890,
(B. C. VII, 825.)

“9, There have been several aoci-
dents during the year, and in many
cases attended with the losa of life.”

Report February 17, 1891.
(B. C. VII, 821.)

“ As in lsst year, there have Leen
several accidenta on the rivers, and a
deplorable loss of life.”
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Report August 5, 1895.
(B. C. VII, 885.)
““ The steersman ran the boat into
s fall dangerons at all times, but es-

pecially so in the then state of the
river; in each case the reanlt was the
same—a lamentable loss of life.”

Report September 7, 1891,
(B. C. VI, 253 )

“*If it is decided that a station is
to be put up at the month of the
Urnan, the matter mnst be taken in
hand while the dry weather lasts, as
it is not only a very laborions but
dangerons undertaking to ascend the
Cuyuni at any other time.”

(2.) Asto the comparative extent of obstructions in the upper and
lower Cuyuns.
The proposition here is thus stated by the British Counter-Case
(p. 18), on the strength of Mr. McTurk’s deposition:

*“ In other words, the obstacles to navigation on the Cuyuni below the
Uruan are distributed along the whole course, and are not, as the Vene-
suelan Case suggests, confined to the lower part, where indesd they are less

formidable than further up.”

The sole authority cited for this statement is Mr. McTurk's
deposition. In the columns following this deposition is compared

with his previous reports:

Deposition 1898,
(B. C-C. 4pp., 408.)

“ The snggestion in the Vene-
zuelan Case that the falls and rapids
in the Coyani render it almost im-
poesible to traverse from the Esse-
quibo end, and that these rapids and
falls constitute s natoral bLarrier
against any one ascending the river

Report February 16, 1889,
(B. C. VII 322.)

** The lower part of the Cuoyuni is
very much obstructed by falls, which
though not so nomerous as those on
the Mazaruni, are larger and tortuous
in their course. The latter circum-
stance adds to the difficulty and dan-
ger of getting over them. Beyond
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from its mouth while leaving the
upper part of the river above these
falls emsy to traverse, is entirely er-
roneous. As a mabter of fact, the
falls and rapide occur throughout the
whole distance hetween the mouth of
the Coyuni and the Uruan, and it is
not correct to snppoge that the most
difficult falls are those nearest its
mouth,”

i

the falls at Womopoh the river is
clearer, the fulls being small and
congidernble distances apart.”

Report January 20, 18U1.
(B. C. FI,241.)
“On the lst Jannary we cumeo
out from umong the islands into the
open river nhove Kanaimu fulls,”

Kanaima is about half way between Uruan and the lowest fall
in the quuﬁi. Womopoh is two days below Kanaima. In the
report last cited Mr. McTark mentions the passage on his way up
of twenty-one falls before reaching *‘ the open river above Kanaima
falls.” He does not mention one between there and Uruan, a
distance of over one hundred miles. On his way down he does
not mention a fall above Kanaima, and his experience below that
point is quoted in the first series of parallel columns.

On Mup 1 of the British Atlas sixteen cataracts, purtages,
rapids, and *‘great cataracts,” are mentioned by name below
Kanaima, while only two of this class of obstructions are men-
tioned above.

If McTurk's deposition is not sufficiently contradicted by Mc-
Turk’s reports, the following statements of British officials are a
conclusive answer.

Hilhouse, who had been for many years in the colony, and
had held a high Colonial oftice in connection with the Indians,
asrended the Cuyuni in 1837, and stated that he ascended fully 77
feet in the first day (V. C., p. 29, note). He added:

“ It is evident thal eolonization can never be attempted on this river:
the first day’s jonrnal determines that.”

Mr. Perkins, the Government Surveyor of British Guiana, said
in 1893 of the Cuyuni (V. C., p. 30):

It has long been known as amongst the most dangervus, if not the
moet dangerons, of all the larger rivers of British Guians, and there are
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times when the height of its waters, either above or below a certain point,
gives it every right to claim this unenviable notoriety. My first experience
was & highly unpleasant one in 1877. . . . In coming down stream
our boat capsized at the Accaio—the lowest fall in the river—where one
man was drowsed and everything was lost.”

An important point in the phraseology of the Dutch records is
here to be noled. It has been said that the plantations of the
colony of Essequibo proper, during the first century of its exist-
ence, extended around the water basin formed by the junction of
the three rivers, with their four arms, namely, those of the Esse-
quibo, the Massaruni and the Cuyuni as far as the obstructions of
the falls and on the lower Essequibo to an undefined distance in
the direction of the sea. The general designation used by the
Dutch authorities in referring to the plantations on the Cuyuni
and Massaruni in this circle around the water basin and below the
falls was “‘in Cuyuni,” or ‘“in Massaruni.” A plantation “‘in
Cuyuni” meant a plantation between the Cuyuni falls and the
mouth of the river. A plantation ‘‘in Massaruni” meant a
plantation between the Massaruni falls and the mouth of the
river. Later, when the trend of the settlements in Essequibo
was toward the river mouth, and all but a few of the upper plan-
tations were abandoned, the fort being moved 80 miles lower
down, it became customary to speak of these localities below the
falls as *‘up in Cuyuni,” or *‘ up in Massaruni.”

This phraseology is important, in view of the loose mauner in
which the phrases **in Cuyuni” and “‘in Massarani” are used in
the British Case. Their use there would seem to imply that they
had reference in the Dutch documents to the upper waters of the
two rivers. Such is not the fact. The expressions were used
habitually in reference to the settlements about the river mouth,
and those only.

Thus the British Case (p. 15) says:

“The timber in the forests of Massaruni, Cuyuni and Waini was granted
out by the Government for felling,”
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No timber grant was ever made in Massaruni or Cuyuni be-
yond the falls.
Even in 1880, im Thurn says (V. C., vol. iii, p. +07):

*“It is at present impossible to cut timber profitably beyond the
cataracts [on the various rivers], owing to the dificulty of carrying it to
market.”

Again (p. 29) the Commaudeur is reported as stating that ** he
has ‘again begun to make here a new plantation, in the River
Cuyuni above the fort.””

Here the reference is to the same portion of the river below the
falls.

The British Case states (p. 35) that a settlement of ** a novel
kind was established in au island in the Cuyuni,” referring to the
creole settlement. This, again, was below the falls.

It also speaks (p. 36) of several grants of land * in Massa-
runi ” and “ in Cuyuni,” possibly half a dozen. There never was a
grant of land by the Dutch above the falls of either the Cuyuni or
the Massaruni.

The existence of the falls in the Cuyuni and Massaruni was
the determining factor in the history of the river-valleys.

The Eastern border of the interior territory where it approaches
the Essequibo, is rugged and at the period in question was covered
with a deuse forest. The rivers which would otherwise have con-
stituted natural highways of travel were closed to navigation.
The difficulties of access on this side were such as to determine the
relations of the Dulch colony of Essequibo to this territory. No
settlement ever penetrated beyond the natural boundary made by
the falls. No body of soldiers from the garrison ever passed this
boundary. Neither the Governor, the Secretary, the commandant
of the garrison, or any other officer, except the postholder, ever
set foot in it. The only other Dutchmen who ever passed the falls
from Essequibo were isolated individuals, and these only on oc-
casiopal visits. The only persons connected with the Dutch colony
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that are ever mentioned as passing this barrier are the Com-
pany’s old negro traders, the Outlier, who was for a short time
in the Cuyuni, the two Byliers who were employed at the same
post, the Outruuners, who went to trade with the Indians, and
occasional individuals trading on their own acconnt.

On the other ha.nii, the western side of the interior district,
which immediately adjoined the Orinoco, was open country, sep-
arated from the valley of that river only by low hills, which were
freely passed and repassed by the Spaniards from the provinces of
Cumand and Barinas, across the river, and from the capital of
Santo Thome, on the eastern side of the river itself. This open
country consisted of plains, prairies or savannas, as they were
called, admirably adapted for the pasturage of cattle. The exist-
ence of these immense savannas determined from the beginning
the great product of Spanish Guiana, namely, cattle, horses and
hides; and it was over these savannas that the Spaniards passed
to the Cuyuni.

The Spaniards, descending the slopes of the low hills that
bordered the Orinoco valley, established themselves and their
herds in the immense district watered by the tributaries of the
Cuyuni. Their missionary efforts among the Indians, which had
begun in the seventeenth century under the royal direction, in the
early part of the eighteenth resulted in the planting of settle-
ments, of which the first, that of Suay, commonly known as
Purisima Concepeién, was in the immediate neighborhood of
Santo Thome, and became the residence of the Prefect of the
Missions. During the century a great number of these settlements
were established, the earliest of them not far to the southward of
Suay, until they fllled a vast extent of territory. Some of these
were towns with a mixed population of Indians and Spaniards,
such as Upata and Guasipati; some of them were enormous cattle
farms, such as Divina Pastora; some of them were settloments of
Indians exclusively, in charge of missionaries, where the Indians
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erected houses, dwelt and labored and, abandoning their wander-
ing life, were taught the cultivation of the soil and the practice of
useful arts. At these settlements were soldiers from the Spanish
garrison of Guayana, and at one of them, that opposite the mouth
of the Curumo, on the south bank of the Cuyuni, there was a fort
with a garrison of its own.

That the accessibility of this territory from the west necessarily
resulted from the character of the country is shown by the evi-
dence.

The English engineer Barry, who visited the gold mines near
Guacipati, by the usual route from the Orinoco, describes the
character of this region (V. C., p. 82), where the traveler
“ emerges on open tracts of moderate extent not bare, but diversi-
fied by clumps of trees dotted about, while the rolling ground re.
minds him of the most beautiful parts of English country scenery.
Park, as it were, succeeds park, till he is at last fairly puzzled
where to select to encamnp, among so much contented and rival
loveliness, and here, at a nominal rent, the cattle breeder may
come and establish himself, with the certainty of realizing thirty
per cent. per annum on his outlay.”

In another place, he describes the country as *‘ vast undulating
plains of waving grass, dotted at intervals with clumps of splendid
trees. . . . Occasionally a thin belt of forest marked the
course of a stream.”

The British Counter-Case relies on Mr. McTurk’s deposition
(B. C.-C. App., 408) to dispute the facility of access to the Cuyuni
valley from the Orinoco. As a matter of fact, ite accessibility is
proved, though unintentionally, by Mr. McTurk’s statement.

While he says:

** These savannahs do not tonch the Upper Cuyuni,”

he adds that it is only

'3 day’s journey on mules to the edge of the savannah, or about 30
miles ”
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One could desire no better evidence of facility of access than
this, The distance from Santo Thome to the Cuyuni at Uruan is
150 miles, of which 120 is the “ open park ” described by Barry,
and the remaining 80 is traversed on mules through the forest in
one day.

For a hundred miles further below Uruan the Cuyuni is * the
open river above Kanaima falls ” described by McTurk.

It is this point to which particular attention is directed here,
namely, the accessibility of the region from the west, not only to
the Cuyuni, but along the Cuyuni valley, as contrasted with its
inaccessibility from the east, The district was well watered by
the tributaries of the Cuyuni, But such was the character of the
land that it was unnecessary to use the streams for purposes of
transit. In this whole territory transit was easily effected by
land.

In view of these facts, which were part of the physical geog-
raphy of the country, it is not surprising that, while the interior
territory was the subject neither of settlement nor of control by
the Dutch from its eastern side, it was subject throughout the
whole period to very extensive settlement and control by the
Spanish from its western side. As to the Spanish settlements
themselves, it is enough to eay that by the close of the century
they numbered upwards of thirty; that their herds of cattle num-
bered two hundred thousand, and that the population of Indians
living directly under the supervision of those in charge of the
settlements numbered upwards of twenty thousand.

As to control, while no Dutch official, except possibly the Post-
holder, ever set foot in the territory, it was repeatedly visited and
patrolled by Spanish officials in command of detachments of men
from the Spanish garrison. These will be more fully spoken of
when we come to discuss the subject of control.

Attention is here directed not only to the point that the falls
of the Cuyuni and Massaruni make a natural boundary for the
colony, bnt that the ridge through which they break in their
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descent indicates a natural line of geographical demarcation for
the district beyond. The fact of this “break” in the mountains
is stated in the Venesuelan case (p. 20), and emphatically denied
in the British Counter Case (p. 18). Yet it rests upon no less an
authority than Schomburgk who, whatever may have been his
ignorance of public law, must at least be admitted by Great
Britain to have been a geographer. He refers to his '‘descent of
the third series of falls, caused by a small range of mountains,
through which the river has broken itself a passage.” (B. C., VII,
29). The river falls 200 feet in thirty or forty miles, and it is this
range through which it breaks that forms the eastern boundary
of the Interior Territory.

This district has heen spoken of in the Venezuelan Case
as ** the Cuyuni-Mazaruni Basin,” a term to which the British
Case takes exception. It cannot be denied, however, that
ita character as a basin is distinctly marked. Starting about
twenty miles from the Orinoco, at the western end of the
Imataka Ridge, which crosses the territory in dispute from
northwest to southeast, the line of demarcation iurns sharply to
the southward, midway between the fifty-ninth meridian and the
Essequibo, and follows the range of mountains through which the
Cuyuni and Massaruni break at the falls; thence passing up
the latter river it crosses over by the watershed separating the
tributaries of the Amazon from the rivers of the north, and finds
its way back to the point of departure by the mountains which
border the Caroni on the east. That there are in the interior of
this country small mountainous areas is undoubted; but these lie
to the south of the Massaruni, where they form isolated points of
elevation, and do not affect the general character of & single geo-
graphical district. That this district was penetrated by the
Spaniards and possession taken of it at an early date, long in fact
before the Dutch were ever heard of in the country, has been al-
ready shown; in fact, the Spaniards could not go twenty miles
south of Guayana Vieja, the second site of Santo Thome, without
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penetrating it. According to the Venezuelan Case (p. 32), the
usual length of the journey from the mouth of the Caroni to
(Giuacipati, more than half way Lo the Cuyuni, was but three days
on horseback; and the country was as accessible in the time of
Berrio and Vera as it was when Barry made the journey.

The British Uruan police station, according to the authorities
cited (V. C., p. 31), can only be reached by a ** very hazardous and
long journey of forty or fifty days,” and it costs the Government
‘an immense annual sumn to maintain their small number of police
at Yuruan on salt and tinned provisions (sent all the way from
. the Essequibo, in paddled boats);” while, ** within 200
yards on the other bank of Kuyuni is the Venezuelan outpost,
supplied with all kinds of fresh food from their cattle farms and
plantations,” and ‘‘in direct communication with their capital by
road and wire.”

‘The claim made by the the Dutch to this region was a claim to
““all the branches and tributaries which flow into it [the Ease-
quibo], and especially of the northernmost arm of the river
named Cuyuni” (V. C, II, 134). It was, therefore, a claim
over the vast territory covered by the mission settlements up to
within twenty miles of the Orinoco. It was based on the possession
of settlements which were wholly below the falls. In other words,
it was a claim to extend as agninst a prior holder, whose prior
title was recognized, a posession of a dozen miles of the course of
the river to the whole extent of the territory watered by that
river, three hundred miles in length, to say nothing of its tribu-
taries.

The principle upon which, apart from any question of
prior titles and adverse holding, title to such a region as the
Cuyuni basin depends is the principle of natural outlets. The
only reason why the possession of those at the river mouth is held
to carry with it a possession of the territory above is, as stated by
Twiss (Oregon Question, p. 247), **because their settlements bar
the approach to the interior country, and other nations can have
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no right of way across the settlements of independent nations."
So Phillimore (Int. Law, § 888): *““The right of dominion would
extend from the portion of the coast actually and duly occupied,
inland so far as the country was uninhabited, and so far as it
might be considered to have the occupied seaboard for its natural
outlet to other nations.” Where is the natural outlet of the
Cuyuni valley? and where is ite natural barrierf This question is
one of geography, and its answer liea in the wall which nature
has erected on the east and in the great streteh of gently sloping
prairies and savannas on the west.

In view of the above facts, it ia well that the British forbear
to press their *“ extreme claim,” which includes the whole valley
of the mission settlements. Ag an alternative proposition, they
fall back on the Schomburgk line, which makes the upper Cuyuni
the boundary from the Acarabisi to its source. As far as natural
frontiers are concerned, this line isno better than the other. It is
not only the accessibility of the mission valley from the Orinoco
upon which we have dwelt, but the accessibility of the Cuyuni
district through the mission valley to the Orinoco. The theory
that the Cuyuni here makes a natural boundary is untenable, As
is well said by F. de Martens (Int. Law, pp. 458-T):

“ Correctly speaking, rivers huve never formed natural obstacles be-
tween nations. On the contrary, the masses of population in the baging of
the principal streams show that they served rather to draw people together,
even in former times, This ie still more true of modern times. Streams
that traverse many States are, in every sense of the word, arteries of inter-
national communication. It may be said, then, of water-conrses that serve
as frontiera: First, nature hersell has predestined them to unite rather
than separate Siates; second, the right to navigate them, gusranteed by
treaties, results, moreover, very naturally, in some diffienlty in determining
the territorial jorisdiction over the water-conrse by the countries so

bonnded ; third, to cstablish this line of demarcation, it iz indispensable
that the States having such boundaries should arrive at & complete under-
standing.

““'The preceding fully demonatrates that, in reality, & water-course can
only serve as an artificial and conventional bonndary, but in no sense as o
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natural one. As to the strategic importance of streams and rivers, that is
incontestable,”

The Coast Territory, between the Orinoco and the Moruea,
while its physical features seem at the first glance to be in direct
contrast with those of the interior, was similar in one essential
particular, that the natural access to the territory was from the
west and not from the east. The territory is separated from the
district which has just been discussed by the ridge of hills known
as the Imataka Ridge, running north-west and south-east from
the Caroni to the Orinoco.

Of the rivers in this distriot four of the principal streams, the
Imataka, the Aguirre, the Amakura, and the Barima, empty into
the Orinoco, and one, the Waini, into the ocean.

The further fact to be noticed is that the rivers in this district
all flowed to the west. In the Interior district the course of the
rivers was to the east. In the interior, however, the rivers were
not navigable from their mouths, being virtually closed a few
miles above the mouth by impassable rocks and rapids. In the
coast territory no such obstructions te navigation existed.

Another difference between these rivers and the rivers of the
interior lay in this, that the rivers of the interior, running east,
took their rise in the extreme western part of the territory in the
neighborhood of the Orinoco; while the rivers of the coast, run-
ning west, did not, on account of the curvature of their course,
take their rise in the eastern part of the territory near the Esse-
quibo. Hence, although the interior rivers were accessible through
their headwaters to the Spaniards, the coast rivers were not in the
gsame way accessible to the Dutch. The source of most of the coast
rivers, in fact, was much nearer the Orinoco than the Essequibo,
while that of the others was close to the district in which lay the
outermost mission settlements of Spain. The principal rivers of
the interior, the Curumo and Yuruari, with their continuation in
the Cuyuni, exteniled through the whole territory, beginning at a
point less than forty miles from the Orinoco and three hundred
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miles from the Essequibo. The rivers of the coast territory, run-
ning first north-east and then north.west, never approached the
Essequibo at all. So that in both regions the rivers were alike in-
accessible from the east and accessible from the west.

The merest inspection of the map shows that all the rivers of
the coast district are a part of the same river system. They rise
in the same range of hills, they follow the same line of curva-
ture in their course, and they empty into the stream of the Ori-
noco. They thus form four concentric water courses, the line of
curvature merely expanding from the innermost arc of the Ima-
taka to the outermost of the Barima. The Waini belongs to the
same system, but the sweep of its curve reaches the coast east
of the Orinoco, and at this point it has found its way to the
Sed.

Singularly enough, however, the Waini, a short distance be-
fore it reaches the sea, is connected with the Barima by a deep
pavigable channel only a few miles in length, a channel through
which the tide ebbs and flows and which at all times affords a
passage for large ships. This is the celebrated Mora Ohannel or
Mora Passage, and its existence, by rendering the Waini as acces-
gible from the Orinoco as the Barima itself, and by subjecting it to
the same influences of tides and currents, brings the Waini
directly into the Orinoco system.

It is also to be noticed, with regard to these tributaries of the
Orinoco, that none of them are obstructed to the slightest degree
by falls or rapids except in their upper reaches. Schomburgk (B. C.
VII, 12) describes the Barima as 700 feet wide, with a depth of
18 to 24 feet, and he says ([d., 13): ** A finer river for steamers
could not be desired.” All of them are distinctly navigable rivers.
In fact, their navigability is the one physical fact that is of
cruical importance in the history of this region, just as the im.
passable character of the Cuyuni and Massaruni, due to the
obstruction of the falls, is the crucial physical fact in the history
of the interior district. So far as physical conditions were con-
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cerned, the navigability of these tributaries of the Orinoco deter-
mined the history of the coast district for two centuries. In the
same way, with reference to physical conditions, the non-naviga-
bility of the Cuyuni and Massaruni determined during the rame
period the history of the interior district. The two facts, taken
together, afford a perfect explanation of the fact that, apart from
political’ considerations, the river system in the Interior Territory
was destined to be controlled from its headwaters, and the river
rystem in the Coast Territory from ita point of discharge.

The natural gateway tc the Interior Territory was from the
headwaters of the river, while the natural gateway to the Coast
Territory was from the lower waters of the river; hut in bhoth
cases it was from the west,

Another noticeable fact in connection with the coast territory
ie to be found in the ‘‘ffabos.” These are shallow passages
or ditches through the savanna, and connect at different points
the tributary creeks of the large rivers. They are only useful for
navigation by canoes and other small boats. They are kept
open more or less by artificial means, and during a considerable
part of the year cannot be used at all. Most of these, such
as the itabo called Morebo, which connects the tributary
creeks of the Barima with those of the Waini in the interior,
and a similar chain of passages between the Aruka and Ama-
kuru, have no special significance. By means of these creeks
and bayous, it was often, though not always, possible to make
a short cut between the upper waters of the rivers of the
coast territory, only, however, in boats of the lightest draught.

There was one itabo, however, which crossed the savanna be-
tween the Moruka and a system of creeks called the Biara and
Assacatta, which emptied into the Baramani, which in turn
emptied into the Waini. This itabo formed the only natural con-
nection between the Moruka and the west. Great reliance is,
therefore, placed upon it by the British Case as showing a natural
means of access to the territory commonly known as Barima from
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the Essequibo. It was, however, a very uncertain reliance. The
savanna was about six miles in width, and this was the only pas-
sage through it. Moreover, it did not connect with the Essequibo,
From that river it was necessary first to go by sea to the mouth
of the Moruka, thence proceeding up that stream, and finally to
pass through the itabo, when the itabo was passable. Even from
Pomeroon, it was usual to go to the mouth of the river and pass
by sea to the mouth of the Moruka in order to get through; and
from Essequibo in the Dutch period it was customary to go round
Cape Nassau for the purpose. The passage through the itabo
seems to have been peculiarly liable to interruption. It necessi-
tated, when coming from Essequibo, a voyage partly by sea, and
it was the only means of access into the district. On the other
side, however, any one could start from the Orinoco in a vessel
of almost any size and range freely through the whole district as
far as the Moruka itabo without going outside at all.

There is abundant evidence, both Dutch and British, as to the
accessibility of the Coast Territory on the west from the Orinoco,
and its inaccessibility on the east from the Essequibo. Thus, in
1889, Crichton, the British Superintendent of Rivers and Creeks,
making his first journey to this territory from Pomeroon,
““ learned also that I could not proceed through the savanuah,
as it was almost dry and totally impassable except for very small
corials” (B. C., VI, p. 68). He therefore returned down the
creek, proceeded by the sea coast, and entered the coast territory
from the sea. On his return, notwithstanding the heavy weather
and that he was ‘‘in repeated danger of being swamped,” he
again took the sea route (B. C., VI, p. 72), '‘ as the inland com-
munications were all nearly dry.”

Still more emphatic is the testimony of Superintendent
McClintock in 1848 (B. C., VI, p. 171), who said:

“The want of a canal through this part of Upper Morocco forms a com-
plete barrier for seversl months of the year to all communication with the
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Rivers Winey, Barima and Oronoco, thereby cutting off, ulthough for a
time only, that intercourse so essential to the general welfure of the Pome-
roon District."”

Mr. im Thurn, the able and efficient British Government
Agent in.charge of the exieting Northwestern District, who
has had twenty years' experience in the colony, says (V. C., p.
27) of what he calls “*a narrow itabbo or artificial water-path,
which connects the Moruka with the Waini River :

“This connecting passage is in all about 30 miles iu length; but ouly
abuut the first 10 miles of this is actually semi-artificial itabbo, made by
the constunt passuge of the canoes of the Redman through the swampy
savaunah. :

“We found the itubbo section of this pussage very difficult to get
through., Generally, it was hardly wider than the boat, und its many
abrupt windings added to our difficulties. . . . We had either to
force the boat under the low-lying branches or muke a passage by cutting
them away. On either side of the channel the ground is so swampy as
hardly anywhere to allow foothold of even « few inches in extent.

““This itabbo is quite dry in the longer dry seasous, and is then, of
course, impassable; for walking slong its banks is out of question—a cir-
cumstance which has a good deal to do with the fact that the partas beyond
bhad op till then been almost completely shut off from the rest of the
colony.”

The principles which have been already stated in discussing the
legal effect of geographical features in the interior -district apply
with equal force to the coast. As has been already stated, the
question is a question of natural outlets. Is the natural outlet of
the Amakura and the Barima, and even of the Waini, which is to
connect those rivers with the nearest trade centres and with the
rest of the world, through the broad and deep channels at their
mouths, into the Orinoco, or is it through an artificial water-path
thirty miles long, '‘ hardly wider than the boat,” which during a
great part of the time is wholly impassable! These last are the feat-
ures of the only outlet from the coast territory to the Essequibo,
according to the highest British authority, the Government Agent
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for the district. To which river system are these great water
courses and the territory through which they flow naturally
appurtenant! 7This admits of but one answer.

Close the itabo permanently and it will have no appreciable
effect upon this district. Is it to be supposed that anybody goes
now by that route in preference to going outside by steameri This
immense territory is in no way dependent upon the passage
through the savanna.

We cannot close this discussion without calling attention to the
grossly misleading character of Map 3 of the British Atlas, which
purports to show the water-bagins. The author of the British
Case has chosen to unite the basin of the Cuyuni and Massaruni
with that of the Essequibo. Of this we do not complain, because
it is, perhaps, well to show in this graphic way how the applica-
tion of the watershed theory makes in the British view of this case
the possession of the island of Kykoveral extend constructively to
the banks of the Orinoco. It also shows to what impossible re-
sults the watershed theory would lead if it were applied, as the
law forbids it to be applied, to lateral frontiers. The point with
which we are particularly concerned, however, especially in view
of the definition given to Lhe so-called ‘‘ Essequibo basin,” is that
given to the Orinoco basin. While every tributary of a tributary
of the Essequibo is carefully included in the *‘ basin” of that river,
one of the most important tributaries of the Orinoco is excluded
from the Orinoco basin, and the Barima is joined with the Waini
as if it were a tributary of the latter. The Barima certainly is a
tributary of the Orinoco. If the Waini is a tributary of the
Barima, it is also a tributary of the Orinoco. If they can be
united by a common outlet, they form an integral part of the
basin of the Orinoco.

A discussion of the principles of law bearing upon natural
features is unnecessary in this case, because they have no applica-
tion where the gquestion, as here, is of establishing title by adverse
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holding. They have only been mentioned in order to emphasize
the fact that the physical features of the territory in dispute make
it a natural appurtenance of the Orinoco rather than of the Esse-
quibo, and because at various times in the history of the contro-
versy, chiefly through the West India Company’s ignorance of
this fact, some claimn inconsistent with it has been made. In the
case of an adverse holder, however, all these grounds of con-
structive possession are denied. He takes only that which he
actually holds; and whether the natural outlet is through him or
through the holder of the prior title, it can avail him naught.




CHAPTER VL

SPANISH TITLE—DISCOVERY.

We now address ourselves to a discussion of the territorial
titles of Spain and Venezuela, on the one side, and of the Nether-
lands and of Great Britain, on the other, in Guiana.

Venezuela asserts a title to the territory in dispute, based upon
the discovery of Guiana by Spain. Guiana had become a known
and defined geographical district, by the name of the ‘‘ Province
of Guiana,” before the earliest Dutch voyager touched its shores.

Antonio de Berrio, writing in 1598, speaks repeatedly of
“ Guiana,” and gives iws bounds thus:

““ These great proviuces lie between two very great rivers, namely, the
Amazon and the Orinoco ™ (B. C., L., p. §).

In the anonymous petition to the States General, assigned by
the British Case to the year 1603, we have this description of the
** Province of Guiana ”:

«The Province of Guiana, situated in America, liee upon 4, 6, and more
degrees north of the equator, extending from the great River Amazon to
Punt della Rae or Trinidad ” (B. C., L, p. 24).

From this we learn that, before the Dutch had enteriained a
thought of going there for settlement, the bounds of Guiana were
well known to them, and that it had come to be called a '‘ Prov-
ince,” a name that does not appropriately describe an unappro-
priated country.

But we do not need to follow the evidence found in the cases
of the respective governments, in order to establish our point
that Guiana, at the time of its discovery and settlement by Spain,
was a distinct geographical unit, having natural boundaries as

* The region was described by Domingo de Vera as * the noble proainces of Guisna and
Dorado ™ (V. C, vol. 1, p. 38).
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distinct as those of an island—for all this is most forcibly stated
to be true in the British Case. It is there said:

“Guisna, as understood by historians and geographers, comprises the
territory bounded by the Orinoco, the Cassiquiare, the Rio Negro, the
Amazon, and the Atlantic Ocean, whence it was often spoken of ss the
Ieland of Guiana ” (B, C., p. 6).

Major John Bcott, who is given credit by the presentation
in the British Case (I., p. 187) of a report ascribed to him, upon
Guiana, and attribnted to the year 1660, speaks of Guiana as a
‘“ province ” bounded on the southeast by the Amazon and on the
northwest by the Orinoco, fronting 230 leagues on the Atlantic
Ocean, and says these rivers meet in the interior. He therefore
calls it an “island.” The area embraced within these bounds is
about 680,000 square miles.

And yet in the British Counter-Case (p. 187, par. 2) we have
this remarkable statement:

““There was no province of Guians, and no defined tract of territory
to which Bpain became entitled by virtue of her settlement on the
Orinoce.”

It is admitted by Great Britain that this distinct, well defined
geographical unit, called Guiana, was discovered by Spain. We
quote:

“It is admitted that Spain was the first nation to discover Guiana”
(B. C.-C., p. 180).

These admissions might be fairly taken to relieve the counsel
of Venezuela from the duty of referring to any of the evidence
bearing upon the subject of the discovery of Guiana by Spain.
But we prefer to call attention briefly to a few of the
Spanish voyages to the coasts and rivers of Guiana, and of
Spanish expeditions into the interior, especially as it is claimed
by Great Britain that Spain's explorations were very limited.

Asg early as 1502 Alonso de Ojeda, sailing from Cadiz, in com-
mand of an expedition, visited the Gulf of Paria, at the mouth of
the Orinoco (Winsor. Narrativeand Critical History, vol. ii, p 189),
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In 1580 Pedro de Acosta, with 300 men, settled ‘‘in Parema, south-
ward of Oranoque.” (B.C. I, p. 169). In 1531 Diegode Ordaz sailed
from Spain with 400 men, cruised along the whole coast of Guiana
from the Amazon to the Orinoco, proceeded up the Orinoco for a dis-
tance of 200 leagues (Herrera, General History; London edition of
1726,vol. 4, pp. 182-186). In 1541 Francisco de Orellana went down
the Amazon, tauking possession as he went, and passing out into
the Atlantic sailed northward and westward along the entire sea-
coast of Guiana (Herrera, General History; translated by C. R.
Markham for the Hakluyt Society, vol. 24, pp. 34, 28 ef passim).
In 1560 Pedro de Ursua started from Peru with an expedition in
search of El Dorado. He started down one of the affluents of the
Amazon. Lope de Aguirre, one of his officers, after Ursua’s death,
led the expedition down the Amazon to the Rio Negro, and thence
reached the sea by way of the Orinoco, thus completing the cir-
cumnavigation of Guiana island, begun by Orellana above twenty
years before. (Fray Pedro Simon, Noticias Historiales; 1827,
translated by C. R. Markham for the Hakluyt Society, vol. —-,
1881). In 1568 a Spanish colony of 126 families settled at Cayenne
(B. C., I, p. 169). Prior to 1581 Gonzalo Jimenez de Quesada had
undertaken expeditions into Guiana, expending 50,000 pesos in
connection therewith. Before his death Antonio de Berrio suc-
ceeded him, and in the course of ten years made three expeditions
in search of El Dorado, expending 100,000 pesos, and settling
Trinidad in 1591 *“for depot and entrance to these provinces"
(B. C., I, p.8). In 1581 or 1592 he founded Santo Thome. In 1594
Berrio thus wrote to the King of Spain:

“Last year I wrote to your Majesty how the Maestro de Campo,
Domingo de Vera y Ybargoien, . . . had entered and seen the begin-
ning of the magnificence of these provinces which it was imposgible to do
by force according o the many people who have fried if, with 500 men,
ete.”(id., p. 8).

On April 28, 1593, Maestro de Campo Domingo de Vera, on
behalf of Antonio de Berrio, * Gouernour and Captaine generall
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for our Lorde the King, betwixt the riners of . . ., Orenogue
and Marannon,” took very formal possession. A copy of the
document reciting this formal taking of possession is printed in
the Case of Venezuela (pp. 38-41).

In 1598 Cabeliau, who reported on the first official Dutch
voyage known to historical records, says:

““the Spaniards . . . have commenced to make a road through
the rocks and hills of the mountains of Weyana, about six days’ journey
south of the River Worinoque,which road is sbout 1600 ‘stadien’ long,
and so broad that they can march five horses abreast through it, and they
think by these means to conquer the conntry ™ (B. C, I, p. 20).

Major John Scott, writing in [? 1688), says:

‘1 shall now only mencion those brave Spaniards that from the first
discoveries of the West Indies to the yeare 1647—some with great force,
others with few followers—have attempted the discovery of the many
provinces in the mayne of Guniana, as well up the Great River Amazones
88 from the Atlantique Ocean, and from the River Oranoque, most of
which perished in their designes, and have left little behinde them saveing
the remembrance of their brave undertakings.

1. Diego Deordas. 12. Diego d'Vorgas.

2. Juan Cortezs. 13, Caceres.

8. Jasper d’8ylva. 14. Alonzo d’Herera.

4, Juan Gonsales. 15. Antonio Sedenno.
5. Phillip Duverne. 16. Augustine Delgado.
6. Pedro d’Lympaa. 17. Diego d’'Lozada.

7. Geronimo d'Ortel. 18. Rineso.

8. Ximenes. 19. Pedro d'Orsua, jun.
9. Pedro d’Orsua. 20. Montigeno.

10. Father lala. 21. Philip d’Fonta.

11. Fernandez Diserpa. 23. Juan d’Palma.”

(B. C. 1, p. 171.)

These are a few of the Spanish expeditions and settlements
prior to the year 1600, After that time, and possibly before Esse-
quibo itself was settled by Spaniards, and for many years prior to
the first Dutch establishment in that river, the Spaniards were
accustomed to traverse the coast region between the Orinoco and
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Essequibo, and to trade with the Indians in Barima, Pomeroon
and Moruca.

It appears, then, conclusively, from the admissions of Great
Britain and from historical records, that Spain discovered the
Province of Guiana, a well defined territorial unit; circumnavi-
gated the ‘‘island”; took a most formal and public ceremonial
possession of it in 1598, accompanied by a public declaration of
her purpose to appropriate the whole region from the Amazon to
the Orinoco, and further accompanied by the submission of certain
of the savage tribes within the region, and by the appointment of
a governor; entered its principal rivers; sent her exploring ex-
peditions into the interior; founded settlements, that were never
abandoned, af Trinidad and Santo Thome, and another that waa
maintained for a time on the Essequibo; another at Parema
“gouthward of Oranoque”; and yet another at Cayenne; that this
was done at au enormous cost and with the publicly avowed in-
tention of appropriating the Province of Guiana—and all this
before any Dutch settlement, within the bounds of Guiana, was
made or attempted.

It may be safely said that no title by discovery to any part of
the terra firma of the New World was more distinctly and natur-
ally defined as to its limits, or more safely rested upon a full ex-
ploration of all its boundaries and upon a public and persistently
maintained assertion of a purpose to appropriate it,

It is not objected by Great Britain here, as it has been in other
cases, that the discovery was only from the sea; or that it was
casual; or that the land was not visited or explored; or that Guiana
was too vast to be appropriated by one nation; or that the cere-
monial occupation was not by the national authority, or, for any
other reason, imperfect. The evidence presented by the British
Case alone shows that all the necessary incidents of a good discovery
of Guiana and of a good ceremonial occupation were complete.

But, if anything is lacking, the evidence presented by Ven-
ezuela, taken with the admissions of the British Case, we submit,
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establishes beyond debate that the Bpanish discovery of Guiana
was accornpanied by every incident necessary to give to Spain
whatever right and title a discoverer may have to a region, every
boundary of which he was the first to traverse, and into the in-
terior of which he has sent many official expeditions,

Let us now try to ascertain what place and what scope the
writers upon international law and the usage of the great
nations give to discovery as a source of title. We may con-
fidently declare, at the outset, that every important commentator
upon international law admits discovery to be a good source of title
and that every one of the great nations has asserted and defended
territorial rights based upon discovery. The writers are not at
one, perhaps, as to all the necessary incidents of this title; but all
agree that a good discovery gives a title to the thing discovered—
a primary and exclusive right to appropriate it, and that the
second comer enters rightfully only when there has been an
abandonment, de faclo or de jure, by the discoverer.

Before examining the authorities and the precedents it may be
well to ascertain, if we can, just what is the position taken by
(Great Britain in the pending controversy upon this subject; and
we have therefore assembled these extracts from the *‘ Principles
of Law " stated in the British Case:

¢ Discovery of new territory, apart from possession and effective occu-
pation, does not establish an absolute and permanent right to dominion ;
it only gives to the discovering comntry a right (which, if the intention

to exercise it is openly asserted, remains for a reasonable time the best right)
to effectively ocoupy the newly-discovered territory ™ (B. C., p. 149).

Again:

“Newly-discovered territories, if not effectively occupied within a rea-
sonable time by the discoverer, are open to the occupation of other Powers,
and the firet power effectively occupying such territory obtains an abeolute
right to the sovereignty of the territory occupied ” (B. C., p. 149).

Again:

“In the passage cited sbove from Vattel, the true effect of discovery is
for the first time pointed out, namely, that it gives to the discoverer an
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opportunity, by taking formal but notorious possession, to acquire an in-
choate title, which he may perfect by actual occupation within a reasonable
time. . . . However, all writers, both before and since Vattel, whether
they do or do not expresaly concede the discoverer an inchoate title, agree
that mere discovery, apart from occupation, can of itself give no permanent
dominion ™ (B. C., p. 151).

Again:

“ The abeolute right of the discoverer has never becn asserted by Great
Britain, It is trne that in some early charters, such as that to the Hud-
son's Bay Company in 1870, it is recited that the territory to be ocenpied
was a British discovery, but this, not being intended to justify the dispoe-
seasion of any sctual occupant, is not material ” (B, C., p. 152).

“ The right of the discoverer during the timo which elapses before
effective occupation being a merely inchoate right, it follows that there
must come & time when it Japses de jure, whether the discoverer, in fact,
acquiesces or not. Where this is the case the country may be occupied by
others, whoso title is in that ease rightfol from the beginning.

“ 8ir Travers Twise eays :

¢ Settlement when it has supervened on discovery constitutes a perfect
title, but & title by settlement when not combined with a title by discovery
is in iteelf imperfect, and its immediate validity will depend upon one or
other condition that the right of discovery has been waived de jure h{‘ uon-
user, or that the right of occupuncy has been remounced de facto by the
abandonment of the territory.’

¢ No hard and fast rule can be laid down as to the period during which
this right remaine alive. Hall suggests ‘such time as, allowing for acci-
dental circumstances or moderate negligence, might elapee before a force or
a colony were gent out to some part of the land intended to be occupied.”
The period may well vary with the circumstances of the territory and of
the discoverer, and it wonld not be reasonable to allow as long for the com-
pletion of effective occupation at the present day as might have been allow-
able some centuries ago” (B. C., pp. 153-154).

And then we have;

“ The inchoate right of the discoverer, as appears from the passage
already cited from Vattel, and as is also made clear by Hall, is based
theoretically on his formally taking possession. That the form should for
the moment be accepted as equivalent to the fact is only rensonable in the
application of the theory to the circumstances of a discoverer and the
natore of the subject-matter. But formal acts of possession become unreal
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and unmeaning from the commencement when they have been left to stand
alone for a longer period than the reasonable indulgence above mentioned
requires ” (B. C., p. 154).

We derive from these statements these distinct concessions:

FirsT.—~That the discoverer acquires, by his discovery and
public ceremonial occupation, the best—which we take to mean
the exclusive—right to occupy the ferrifory discovered.

SecoND.—That the ceremonial possession taken by the dis-
coverer is for a time accepted as an actual possession of the terri-
tory discovered and retains that equivalency until a time when
the form becomes ‘' unreal and unmeaning,” and that this point
is reached if the ceremonial possession is ‘‘left to stand alone”
for an unreasonable period.

Tairp.--That the reasonable period is not to be determined by
any ‘‘hard and fast rule,” but by all the circumstances surround-
ing the discoverer and the territory; that the rule of to-day is not
the rule of the sixteenth century; but that within that reasonable
period, when thus ascertained, the fact must supersede the form.

FourrtH.—That where a discovery has been made and the
‘“inchoate right " bas accrued to a nation, the second comer must
found his right upon an abandonment by the discoverer of the
territory, and this abandonment may be derived either from a
presumption of law drawn from the attendant circumstances, or
from a formal renunciation by the discoverer of his title,

Firra.—If the British Case may be taken to approve the extract
from Hall—and it is apparently quoted with approbation—that
the duty to be discharged by the discoverer within the reasonable
time mentioned by the law writers is to send out ‘“a force or
colony ” ** to some part of the land " discovered.

But Great Britain does not seem to allow to Spain the use
of Hall’s rule, though quoting it with approval; and we therefore
proceed to discuss the question: What must the discoverer do to
prevent his ceremonial occupancy from becoming ‘‘ unreal and
unmeaning " It is not claimed that the ceremonial occupation—
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the setting up of the flag or cross, and the accompanying procla-
mation—is effectual only as to the spot or locality where the cere=
mony takes place. The discovery and the proclamation furnish
us with the limits of the ceremonial occupation, and the question
that remains to be debated is: Does an actual occupation within
the bounds of the ceremonial occupation, and made with refer-
ence to that ceremonial occupation, have the same limits, or is it
narrowed to the region actually occupiedi Must the ceremonial
occupation be replaced throughout itsa whole extent by an actual,
effective occupation, in order to save the title of the discovereri

When the discoverer has made and maintains some settlement
within the limits of his ceremonial occupation, and is publicly
and continuouely asserting sovereignty over the whole, an actual
intent to abandon is excluded. If in such case abandonment is
decreed, it must be because of a controlling legal presumption,—
one that cannot be overcome by evidence. The British Case
makes, so far as we can see, no question that Spain sent forces to
and made permanent settlement in Guiana, within a reasonable
period, and before any settlements were made or forces sent
thither by any other nation. We think we are then justified in
saying that the case has been brought to this: That Spain
acquired a discoverer’s title to the whole of Guiana; that this title
gave her the exclusive right to occupy that whole territory within
a reasonable time thereafter; and that, before this indeterminate
period expired, and before any other nation, Spain sent her
forces there and made actual settlements within the discovered
territory.

Why, then, is not Spain’s title that perfect title of which Sir
Travers Twiss speaksi Settlement has ‘‘supervened on dis-
covery,” and that before any other nation had made any setile-
ment within the bounds of Guiana, We are answered that Spain
did not effecfively occupy the whole of Guiana; that she perfected,
by an actual occupation, her title to a part of it, but abandoned
another part—not in fact, nor because she did not continue fo
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proclaim an intent and make efforts to occupy all of it, but by a
conclusive presumption of law, one that is not to be shaken by
her vehement and persistent assertions of her righte, nor by the
repeated expulsions by her armed forces of those who entered
adversely. The intruders knew there had been no abandonment
as a matter of fact by Spain; she had done everything else that was
possible to maintain her title; and if she failed it was because
ghe did not effectively occupy every part of Guiana before the
Dutch came in.

We address ourselves therefore to the question: Did a con-
clusive legal presumption of an abandonment by Spain of her
title, as a discoverer, to the disputed territory, arise from the
fact that she had not ‘‘effectively occupied ” every part of it
before the Dutch came int

Before proceeding to consider the legal rules applicable to this
particular question, it may be well to look into the history of dis-
covery as a source of title and to examine the general rules applic-
able to it, as given by the courts and by writers upon international
law. We shall in the first place undertake to show that every
nation that has ever claimed an original title to territory in
North America has put forward discovery as a good source of
title.

Chief Justice Marshall, in the opinion delivered by him in the
case of Johneson v. MclIntosh, decided by the Supreme Court of
the United States in 1828, and reported in 8 Wheaton (p. 528),
deals at length with this question, and the opinion has been
cited with approval by writers on international law,

We quote from this distinguished jurist this clear and com-
prehensive discussion of the law of discovery and occupation, as
applied by all the great powers of Europe in the settlement of
America:

“On the discovery of this immense continent, the great nations of

Europe were eager to appropriate to themselves so much of it as they could
respectively acquire. Its vast extent offered an ample field to the ambition
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and enterprise of all; and the charscter and religion of its inbabitants
afforded an apology for considering them as & people over whom the
superior genius of Earope might claim sn ascendancy. The potentates of
the old world found no difficulty in convincing themselves that they made
an ample compensation to the inhabitants of the new, by bestowing on
them civilization and Christianity, in exchange for unlimited independence.
Bat, as they were all in pursnit of nearly the same object, it was necessary, in
order to avoid conflicting settlements, and consequent war with each other,
to establish a principle, which ull shonld acknowledge as the law by which
the right of acquisition, which they all asserted, should be regulated as be-
tween themselves. This principle was, that discovery gave title to the
government by whoee subjects, or by whose anthority, it was made, against
all other European governments, which title might be consummated by
possession.

The exclusion of all other Europeans, necessarily gave to the nation
making the discovery the sole right of acquiring the soil from the natives,
and establishing settlements upon it. It was a right with which no Euro-
peans conld interfere. It was a right which all asserted for themselves,
and to the sssertion of which, by others, all sssented.

[ ] #* L * * * #* *

In the establishment of these relations, the rights of the original inhab-
itants were, in no instance, entirely disregarded; but were necessarily, to a
considerable extent, impaired. They were admitted to be the rightful
ocoupants of the soil, with a legal as well as just claim to retain possession
of it, and to use it according to their own discretion; but their rights to
complete sovereignty, as independent nations, were necessarily diminiched,
and their power to dispuse of the soil at their own will, to whomasoever they
pleased, was denied by the original fundamental principle, that discovery
gave exalusive title to those who made it.

While the different nations of Europe respected the right of the natives,
as occupants, Lhey nsserted the ultimate right to be in themselves; and
claimed and exercised, as a consequence of this altimate dominion, a power
to grant the soil, while yet in poesession of the natives. 'These grants have
been understood by all to convey a title to the grantees, subject only to the
Indian right of occupancy.

The history of America, from its discovery to the present day, proves,
we think, the universal recognition of these principles.

Spain did not rest her title solely on the grant of the Pope. Her discus-
sions respecting boundary, with France, with Great Britain and with the
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United States, all show that she placed it on the rights given by discovery.
Portugal sustained her claim to the Brazils by the same title,

France, also, founded her title to the vast territories she claimed in
America on discovery. However conciliatory her conduct to the natives
may have been, she still asserted her right of dominion over a great extent
of country not actually settled by Frenchmen, and her exclusive right to
acquire and dispose of the goil which remained in the occupation of Indians.
Her monarch claimed all Canuda and Acadie, as colonies of France, at a
time when the French population was very inconsideruble, and the Indiaus
occupied almost the whole country. He also claimed Louisiana, compre-
hending the immense territories watered by the Mississippi, and the rivers
which empty into it, by the title of discovery. The letters patent granted
to the Sieur Demonts, iu 1603, constitute him lientensnt-general and the
representative of the king in Acadie, which is described us stretching from
the 40th to the 46th degree of uorth latitnde; with anthority to extend the
power of the French over that country, and its inhabitants, to give laws to
the people, to treat with the natives, and enforce the observance of treaties,
and to parcel out, and give title to lands, according to his own judgment.

The States of Holland also made acqnisitions in America, and sustuined
their right on the common priuciple adopted by all Europe. They allege,
as we are told by Smith, in his History of New York, that Henry Hudson,
who sailed, as they say, under the orders of their Enst India Company, dis-
covered the country from the Delaware to the Hudson, up which he suiled,
to the 43d degree of north latitude; and this country they claimed under
the title acquired by this voyage. Their first object was commercial, as
appears by & grant made to a company of merchants in 1614; but in 1621,
the states-geners] made, a8 we are told by Mr. Smith, a grant of the country
to the West India Company, by the name of New Netherlands,

The claim of the Dutch was always contested by the English; not be-
cause they questioned the title given by discovery, but because they insisted
on being themselves the rightful claimants under that title. Their preten-
sions were fiually decided by the sword.

No oue of the powers of Europe guve ita full assent to this principle
more unequivocally than England. The documents upon this subject are
ample and complete. So early as the year 1496, her monarch granted a
commission to the Cabots to discover countries then unknown to Christian
people, and to take possession of them in the name of the king of England.
Two years alterwards, Oabot proceeded on his voyage, and discovered the
continent of North America, along which he sailed as far south as Virginia,
To this discovery the English trace their title.
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In this first efort made by the Bnglish government to acquire territory
on this continent, we perceive & complete recognition of the principle which
has been mentioned. The right of discovery given by this commission is
confined to oountries *'then mnknown to all Christian people”; and of
those conntries Cabot was empowered to take poasesgion in the name of the
king of England. Thus ssserting a right to take possession notwith-
standing the occupancy of the natives, who were heathens, and, at the same
time, sdmitting the prior title of any Christian people who may have made
a previons discovery.

The same principle continned to bo recognised. The charter granted to
sir Humphrey Gilbert, in 1578, authorizes him to discover and take posses.
sion of such remote, heathen, and barbarous lands as were not actoally pos-
sessed by any Christian prince or people. This charler was afterwards
renewed to Sir Walter Raleigh in nearly the same terma

By the charter of 1606, under which the first permanent English set-
tlement on this continent was made, James I. granted to Sir Thomas Gates
and others, those territories in America lying on the seacoast, between the
34th and 45th degrees of north latitude, and which either belonged to that
monarch, or were not then possessed by any other Christian prince or people.
The grantees were divided into two companies at their own request. The
first, or southern colony, was directed to settle between the 34th and 4lst de-
grees of north latitnde ; and the second, or northern colony, between the 38th
and 45th degrees.

In 1609, alter some expensive and not very saccessful attempts at settle-
ment had been made, a new and more enlarged charter was given by the
crown to the first colony, in which the king granted to the “ Treasurer
and Compsny of Adventurera of the City of London for the first colony in
Virginia,” in absolute property, the lands extending along the seacoast
four hundred miles, and into the land thronghout from sea to sea. This
charter, which is a part of the special verdict in this cause, was annulled, so
far as respected the righta of the company, by the judgment of the court of
king’s bench on a writ of guo warranio; but the whole effect allowed to
this judgment was, to revest in the crown the powers of government, and
the title to the lands within its limits.

At the solicitation of those who held under the grant to the second or
northern colony, a new and more enlarged charter, waa granted to the
Duke of Lenox and others, in 1620, who were denominated the Plymouth
Company, conveying to them in absolute property all the lands between the
40th and 48th degrees of north latitade.

Under this patent, New England has been in a great measure settled.
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The company conveyed to Henry Rosewell and others, in 1627, that territory
which is now Maasachusetts; and in 1628, a charter of incorporation,
comprehending the powers of government, was granted to the purchasers,

Great part of New England was granted by this company, which, at
length, divided their remaining lands among themselves ; and, in 1635, sur-
rendered their charter to the crown. A patent was granted to Gorges for
Muine, which was allotted to him in the division of property.

All the grants made by the Plymouth Company, so far as we can learn,
have been respected. In pursuance of the same principle, the king, in
1664, granted to the Duke of York the country of New England as far
south as the Delaware Bay. His royal highnees transferred New Jersay to
Lord Berkeley and Sir George Uarteret.

In 1663, the crown granted to Lord Clarendon and others, the country
lying between the thirty-sixth degree of north latitnde and the river St
Mathes; and, in 1666, the proprietors obtained from the crown a new
charter, granting to them that provinoce in the king’s dominions in North
America which lies from thirty-six degrees thirty minutes north Ilati-
tude to the twenty-ninth degree, and from the Atlantic ocean to the South

BEd.
* #* #* * * * #*

Further proofs of the extent to which this principle has been recognised
will be found in the history of the wars, negotiations and treaties, which
the different nations, claiming territory in America, have carried on, aad
beld with each other.

* * * 'I' * * * ]

The treaty of Aix la Chapelle, which was made on the principle of the
status ante bellum, did not remove this subject of controversy. Commis-
sioners for ite adjustment were appointed, whose very able and elaborate,
though uosuccessful srguments, in favour of the title of their respective
sovereigns, ahow how entirely each relied on the title given by discovery to
lands remaining in the possession of the Indians.

After the termination of this fruitless discussion. the snbject waa trans-
ferred to Europe, and taken up by the cabinets of Verssilles and London.
This controversy embraced not only the bonndaries of New England, Nova
Scotia, and that part of Canada which adjoined those colonies, but embraced
our whole western country also. France contended not only that the St
Lawrence was to be considered as the centre of Canada, but that the Ohio
was within that colony. She founded this claim on discovery, and on hav-
ing used that river for the transportation of troops, in & war with some
southern Indians.
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This river was comprehended in the chartered limits of Virginia ; but,
though the right of England to a reasonable extent of country, in virtue
of her discovery of the seacoast, and of the settlements she made on it, wae
not to be questioned ; her claim of all the lJands to the Pacific ocean, be-
cause she had discovered the country washed by the Atlantic, might, with-
ont derogating from the principle recognised by all, be deemed extrava-
gent It interfered, too, with the claims of France, founded on the same
principle. She therefore sought to strengthen her original title to the
lande in controversy, by insisting that it had been acknowledged by France
in the fifteenth article of the treaty of Utrecht. T'he dispute respecting the
construction of that article, has no tendency to impair the principle, that
discovery gave a title to lands still remaining in the poseession of the In-
dians. Whichever title prevailed, it was still a title to lands occupied by
the Indians, whose right of occupancy neither controverted, and neither had
then extinguished.

»* &* * #* * * - -

Thus, all the nations of Europe, who have acquired territory on this
continent, have asserted in themselves, and have recognised in others, the
excolusive right of the discoverer to appropriate the landa occupied by the
Indians,

* * * #* #* * #* *

This opinion conforms precisely to the prineiple which has been supposed
to be recognised by all European governments, from the first settlement of
America. The absolute nltimate title has been eonsidered as scquired by
discovery, subject only to the Indian title of occupaney, which title the dis-
coverers possessed the exclusive right of acquiring.”

Hume (Hist. England, Chap. 48) gives this account of the
view taken by the Protestant nations:

“The more scrupulous Protestants, who acknowledged not the an-
thority of the Roman pontiff, established the first discovery as the
fonudation of their title.”

Spite, then, of the declaration of the British Case that " there
has never been any question among legal writers that the title of
European nations to territory in new countries rests not upon
discovery, but upon occupation,” it is historically true that Great
Britain based all of her original titles on the Atlantic coast of
America upon discovery; that she in the most formal and serious
state papers claimed title as the discoverer, granted that title to
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companies of her subjects while the lands were in whole or in
great part not only unoccupied, but absolutely unexplored, and,
by these grants became a warrantor of the title and made good
that warranty by her arms.

The British Case disposes of these historical incidents in a way
that is not British. It is true that in these charters the Nation,
by its sovereign Head and under its Great Seal, recited that the
lands granted were English lands by the right of discovery, * but
all this,” says the British Case (p. 152), ‘‘ not being intended to
justify the dispossession of any actual occupant, is not material.”
Is it meant that Great Britain was putting forward a title that
she was ready to surrender to any contesting occupant—one that
she would not support in behalf of her grantees; that, while
asserting a title by discovery, she did not believe that any title
could be rested on discoveryi Is it meant that the lands granted
to be settled were not British territory until made such by the
effective occupation, by the grantees, of every part of the vast
regions described? The only title Great Britain had to grant
was the discoverer’s title, for the lands covered vast tracte—in :
the watershed of the Mississippi and beyond the seacoast
ranges—upon which no British foot had trod, and which no
rule of constructive possession would have assigned to her as
appurtenant to any actual occupation.

A map of the British possessions in North America in 1609, or
in 1620, laid down on the principles she now seeks to apply to
Venezuela, would be a most interesting exhibit.

But if these British Charters are to be construed as granting
only the lands settled and those appurtenant to such settlements,
we shall have occasion at a later stage of the argument to show
what a tremendous scope (Great Britain gave to a feeble coast
settlement, and how little regard she then paid to natural bound-
aries and watersheds.

The statement that the claim to a title by discovery, put for-
ward in these British charters, was not ‘‘intended to justify the
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dispossession of any actual occupant,” is not true. The claim was
put forward in {he controversy with the Dutch over New Nether-
land, to dispossess the Dutch who were in actual occupation.

In 1632, England, by a paper sent to Holland, asserted a right

“ for first discovery, occupation and the possession which they have taken
thereof, and by the concession and Letters Patent they have had [rom our
sovereigns ” (Brodhead Papers, i, 55).

Later in the discussion (February 9, 1865) it wae said on behalf
of the Dutch Company, to the Dutch States-General, and through
that body to the English Governinent:

* The right which the English found on the Letters Patent, wherein
their king grants such vast extent to the limita of the Euglish so as to in-
clude also all the possessions of this nation, is as ridiculous as if your High
Mightinesses [the States-General] bethought yourselves of including all
New England iv the patent youn would grant to the [Dutch] West Indin
Company. Therefore, & continued possession for such a long scries of ycars
must confer on this nation a title which cannot be questioned with any
appearance of reason.” (Brodhead Pupers, i, 325.)

In his reply (April 7, 1665) the British Ambassador said:

**The Deputies do not deny that this Land called New Netherland is
within the patents granted by his Majesty to his subjects, and he, the said
Envoy doth affirm that it is

“ And a8 to the point of Possegsion, there is nothing more clear and
certain than that the English did tike poascasion of and inhubited the
Lands, within the Limits of the said patents, long béfore any Duich twere
thers. ' Tis not to say (nor is it requisite that it should be eaid) that they
did inhabit every Individnall Spot, within the limits of them. It is enongh
that their patent is the first, and that in pursuauce thereof, they had taken
possession, and did inhabit and dwell within the same, and made consider-
sble Towns, Forts and Plantations therein before the Dutch came to dwell
there. Is it to be imagined that the Dutch Eust-Indie Company have fully
peopled and cnltivated the Tsland of Ceylon, and other of their great
Colonies in the East-Indie, and yet if the English should, upon such pre-
tence, endeavor to settle there without their consent, Wonld they approve
thereof, or suffer the same or accomp their title there to be good, or other
than Precarions?” (Brodhead Papers, i, 332.)

The Dutch set up a double title by discovery to the New Neth-
erlands (New York); a discovery, by Spain, of the New World, to
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which they had succeeded, as to the New Netherlands, by the
Treaty of Munster; and a discovery of this particular region by
their own navigators. In the charter granted to the West India
Company in 1664, a title by discovery is also set up. We quote:

““Now, therefore, we, being hereby desirous of assuring all and sundry
whom it may in any way concern, of our intention in the aforewritten
Charter, do declare our meaning to have been expressly, and still to be, that
the aforementioned Company, in conformity with the aforewritten Charter,
was empowered, aad still is empowered, to establish colonies and settlements
of people on lands which are not occupied by others, to extend themselves
80 far as the limits hereinbefore related, and especially since the same is
necessary for preservation of the right which is due to them, by virtue of
the aforewritten Charter, by discovery and ocowpation on the fresh river,
and other places situated more easterly in New Netherland, up to Oupe Cod,
wnd from Cape Hinloopen, and 16 miles southerly, both along the cosat,
provisionally, and pending further agreement, respecting the limits to
be made between the King of Great Britain and ourselvee.” (B.C,, I, p.
151.)

Russia, too, has brought forward a title by discovery as applic-
able to her former American possessions. Sir Travers Twiss saya
(Oregon Case, p. 162) that as to Alaska, Russia claimed ‘‘the
title of first discoverer; the title of first occupation; and in the
last place that which results from a peaceable and uncontested
possession of more than half a century.”

As we have already seen, France ‘‘founded her title to the
vast territories she claimed in America on discovery.”

That Spain and Portugal asserted the right of the discoverer,
from the earliest times, cannot be denied.

The statements we have quoted from Chief Justice Marshall,
and the following from Wheaton's International Law (Sec. 168)
are historically indisputable: '

““ Independent of this papal grant, the right of prior discovery was the
foundstion upon which the different Enropean nations, by whom conquests
and settlements were successively made on the American continent, rested

their respective claims to appropriate its territory to the exclusive use of
each nation. Even Spain did not found her pretensions solely on the

papal grant.™




DISCOVERY. 185

The United States presented a claim to Oregon based on dis-
covery. And Cobbett (Int. Law Cases, 2d Ed., p. 857) says:
“In support of the British claim strees was luid on the discovery of

Meares and Vancouver and other Evglishmen who had made explorations
inland.”

It appears then that Fngland, Holland, Spain, Portugal,
France, Russia and the United States—the only nations that have
claimed original titles to American territory—have all rested their
rights to such territory upon discovery, and have, as we shall
see, treated this title as perfected, by feelle seitlements, to vast
regions not only not ‘*effectively occupied” but largely unex-
plored.

Let us now see, somewhat in detail, what the writers upon in-
ternational law say as to the two forms of title by appropriation —
that of the discoverer, and that of the second comer—and par-
ticularly the rules they give us for determining whether there
has bean such an abandonment by the discoverer as to give
another the right to enter and appropriate.

It is clear that a right to appropriate property can only exist,
first, when the property has never had an owner, and, second,
when, having had an owner, it has been abandoned. The first is
the discoverer's appropriation, and is a perfect title from the be.
ginning. The appropriation of the second comer gives an imper-
fect title, especially if the abandonment upon which it rests for its
validity is a mere implication,

The British Case, in the extract already given (p. 158), quotes
Sir Travers Twiss as saying:

* Bettlement, when it has supervened on discovery, constitutes a perfect
title, but a title by settlement when not combined with a title by discovery
is in itself imperfect, and its immediate validity will depend npon one or
other condition that the right of discovery has been waived d¢ jure by non-
neer, or that ¢he right of coccupancy has been renounced de facto by the
abandonment of the territory ™ (Twiss, Law of Nations, 2d ed., p. 310).

The proposition of law propounded by Great Britain as applic-
able here, is that in order to perfect his title the discoverer must,
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** within a reasonable time,” *‘ effectively occupy ” all of the ter-
ritory discovered; and that if he does not do so the *‘first power
effectively occupying such territory obtains an absolute right to
the sovereignty of the territory occupied ” (B. C., p. 149).

The effective occupation which it is claimed the discoverer
must accomplish within a reasonable time after discovery is
thus defined in the British Case:

“ Effective occupalion means the use and employment of the re-
sonrces of 4he country snd the general control of its inhabitants
under the protection and by the authority of a government clasiming
and exercising joriediction in that behalf” (B. O., p. 149).

This is to say that the discoverer’s title is not perfected
until he has brought into use the resources of the whole ter-
ritory discovered, and has subjected its savage inhabitants to
his control.

Upon this, we remark, in passing, firsf, that it iz not a
correct statement of the law; second, that if it were it would
involve a very great extension of '‘the reasonable period ”; and,
third, that it will hardly be claimed that a less strict rule
must be applied to the second comer,

This last difficulty Great Britain has not failed to observe.
If the rule were to be applied to the Dutch in all ita strict-
ness, it was obvious to the compilers of the British Case that
the Dutch possessions in (Guiana would be very limited; and
so we find some labored attempts to introduce ameliorations
of its strictness, adapted to British needs. Thus it is said
(p. 185), that while settlement and culfivation are always pres-
ent in effective occupation, *‘of course the area occupied will
not be confined to the actual sites appropriated for residence
or cultivation”; and a quotation from Field, used approvingly,
allows that an ‘' effective control” of a region raises a legal
presumption of occupation—effective occupation, of course—
and this with or without the use of its resources. Again, it
is said that the asserfion and maintenance of an exclusive




DISOOVERY. 197

right to trade ‘in any specific area, surrounding its settle-
ments,” is ‘‘effective control.” '

And if the right to trade is used (we suppose a use is im-
plied), though it be the merest and most primitive barter of
beads for skins, in a land capable of producing enormous crops
of the best cereals to feed a hungry world, or of producing the
precious metals, that is a sufficient use of the '* resources of the
country ¥ to complete effective control. In other words, if the
discoverer, or the second comer, claims and enforces’a right to
dispose of the trade with the savages within *' any specific area
(he may fix his own limits) surrounding his settlements,” that is
the control of the inhabitants—one element of '* effective occupa-
tion”; and, if he uses this primitive trade in any degree, he
has perfected his title, by an effective occupation, to the ‘‘spe-
cific area,” however vast.

In another statement upon this subject (B. C., p. 156) an
‘“* effective occupation” is allowed without the use of either of
the elements of the formal definition we have been discussing.
We quote:

“ Again, when the Government of u settlement ncquires the exclusive
uscendancy over, and alliance with, surrounding tribes, and by that means
excludes foreign influemce from the territory which they inhabit, that

territory is effectively occupied s agsinst the colonizing enterprise of any
other country.”

Here no control of the inhabitants is required, for the ‘‘as-
cendancy ” goes with an ‘‘alliance;” no use of the resources of the
country, but only the exclugion of ' foreign influence,” and that
effected by alliances with the savage tribes. If by the gift of
three pints of glass beads a native chief can be made to keep out
*¢ foreign influence,” an ** effective occupation ” has been perfected.
In other words, a commercial treaty with a savage chief, by which
an exclusive right to the foreign trade of a region is secured, may
constitute ** effective occupation,” without a post or a settlement,
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or indeed without any right to establish one; for the acceptauce of
a treaty grant to exclusive trade rights from a native chief is an
acknowledgment of his sovereignty.

It seems to huve been overlooked that Rule (a) of our
Arbitration Treaty contains an implied admission that even an
** exclusive political control,” which is much larger than a trade
alliance, is not, by the rules of international law, an '‘effective
occupation,” else it would not bave been left in the Tribunal's dis-
cretion whether it should be taken as such.

But, without further comment upon these impossible and
irreconcilable definitions, let us see what a discoverer is required
to do, after his ceremonial occupation, to save his title. It should
be first stated—a proposition that we think will not be coniro-
verted—that a good ceremonial possession extends to the entire
region discovered. There was no rule of international law when
the New World was discovered and was being occupied, by which
the regions appropriated by discovery could be limited. The mere
sighting of a continent from the sea, or a single landing upon its
shores, might not support a title by discovery to the entire con-
tinent. But, if not, it was because there had not been a good dis-
covery of the continent. We do not need here to discusa that
point, however, for the regivn in question i only the ‘‘ province
of Guiana,” and the discovery was accompanied by many land-
ings and very extensive explorations, including every part of all
its boundaries.

The claim of Spain, by her ceremonial posseesion, included the
province of Guiana, and her title, as the discoverer covered the
whole of it. No other nation could thereafter found any right to
any part of the province upon discovery; for Bpain had left no
part undiscovered.

Twiss says:

“There can be no second discovery of a eountry. In this respect title by
discovery differs from title by settlemeni” (Oregon Oase, p. 166).
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International law offers only three titles to a second comer: A
title by conquest, a title by treaty, a title by prescription—the last
including the title based upon the discoverer’s abandonment,

It seems to be the contention of the British Case that if the
discoverer fails to accomplish an ** effective vccupation,” according
to one of the various definitions of those terms given, within a
reasonable time, his title absolutely fails, and tbat whether any
other nation has entered or not. This we deny, and assert the
rule and the reason to be that no matter what time has elapsed
after discovery, if the discoverer makes an actual occupation
before any other nation his ‘‘ title by settlement is superadded to
title by discovery.”

And, first, as to the reason of the rule requiring occupation,
It is that the vacant lands of the world may not indefinitely be
kept out of use; that, failing such a use by the discoverer, a pre-
sumption of abandonment arises, and any other nation may take
and use them. The reason only requires that the title of the dis-
coverer be'subordinate to a possible public need of the lands. But,
if their non-occupalion refutes fhis presumption, and the dis-
coverer, after any time, becomes the first settler, why should any
forfeiture be enforced against him. Indeed how can a forfeiture
be enforced against him in his own bebalf. Can he prescribe
against himself in his own behalf?

Vattel (pp. 99-100) has this to say of the title by discovery:

“ All mankind have an equal right to things that have not yet fallen
into the posseasion of any one; and those things belong to the person who
first takes possesgion of them, When therefore a nation finds a country
uninhabited and without an owner, it may lawfully take possession of it :
and after it has sufficiently made known its will in this respect it eannot be
deprived of it by another nation. Thus navigators going on voyages of
discovery, furnished with a commission from their sovereign, and meeting
with islands or other lands in & desert state, huve taken possession of them
in the name of their nation : and this title has been ususlly respected, pro-
vided it was soon after followed by & real possession. But it is questioned
whether a nation can, by the bare act of taking possession, appropriate to
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iteelf countries which it does not really occupy and thus engross s much
greater extent of territory than it is able to poople or cultivate. It is not
difficult to determine that such a pretension would be an absolute infringe-
ment of the natural rights of men, and repugnant to the views of nature,
which, having destined the whole sarth to supply the wants of mankind in
general, gives no nation a right to appropriate to itself a country, except for
the purpose of making use of it, and not of hindering others from deriving
advantage from it. The law of nations will, therefore, not acknowledge the
property and sovereignty of a nation over nny uninhabited countries, except
those of which it hag really taken actual possession, n which it hae formed
settlements, or of which it makes actual use.”

In view of this quotation (partially given in the British Case, p.
150), we cannot understand how Great Britain can justify the
assertion that ‘“ Vattel never even notices the claim of a discov-
erer as such; nor does he appear to regard newly discovered terri-
tory as subject to any other rule as regards their appropriation
than other vacant lands.” For, to the most casual reader, it must
be plain that this author speaks first of a ceremonial possession by
the discoverer, the nation thus making known its purpose to ap-
propriate the region, and declares that the title, acquired by these
acts, which is that of a discoverer, has been usually respected,
** provided it was soon after followed by a real possession.” If this
is not to affirm that, pending the ** soon after,” the discoverer has
a title, what is it And if for ‘‘soon after” we read ‘‘ within a
reasonable time,” do we not have the tule as to title by discovery
stated much as other writers state iti No one has claimed that a
ceremonial possession gives to the discoverer an indefeasible title.
We should notice, also, that the reason given by Vattel for this
rule is precisely what we stated it to be, namely, that for one
nation indefinitely to exclude others from territory that it does not
attempt to occupy is repugnant to the law of nature, which des-
tined the earth to supply the wants of mankind. A title defeasi-
ble by the effective appropriation of another nation fully responds
to this law of nature. It is the hindering of others from using
what you do not yourself nse that is not allowable; and a defeasi-
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ble title removes the hindrance. It is not, however, a question of
the fullest or the best use of the territory. That would be a peril-
ous test of dominion. Great Britain has much territory that is
not settled.

We thus find that Vattel, who is supposed by our oppunents
to be less favorable than other writers to title by discovery, only
requires that the ceremonial possession shall ** soon after " be fol-
lowed by an actual posssession. Some settlement, or some actual
use makes the title good, that is, perfects it. He does not at
all support the doctrine that every part of the territory must
be ‘feffectively occupied,” its resources appropriated and ita
inhabitants brought under control hefore the discoverer's title
is perfected. On the contrary, he allows title to the terrifory
** in which " settlements have been made. Waeshall find upon a
fuller examination, we think, that the requirement is that, within
a reasonable time, such acts shall be done as give evidence of an
intention in good faith to carry out the implication of the cere-
monial possession; that is, to appropriate the region to actual
uses. This does not require the occupation of every part—at once
or at any time

The quotations from Martens and Kluber, given in the British
Case (p. 151) not only do not support the theory that the dis-
coverer's title can only be perfected by an effective occupation of
the whole territory, but are to the contrary. Martens speaks of
the case where the discoverer of an island, &c., immediately
abandons it, leaving no '* permanent traces of possession and of
his snten!.” What is demanded here is evidence, in the territory,
of an intent—enough to be notice that there is a bona fide pur-
pose to occupy.

So Kluber only disallows intention as a mere mental process,
and requires that it shall have a tangible expression. This we
allow, but insist that Trinidad, Santo Thome and Essequibo, and
the armed expeditions of Spain, the expulsion of the Dutch, etc.,
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furnish the required indicia of possession and of intent—the tang-
ible expressions that these distinguished writers insist upon.

The British Case (p. 158) quotes, as we have seen, with apparent
approval, from Hall, this definition of the time limit, and of the
occupancy to be accomplished within it:

‘* Buch time as, ullowing for accidental circumstances or moderate neg-
ligence, might elapse before a force or a colony were sent out to some part
of the land intended to be occupied ” (Hall, Int. Law, 4th Ed., p. 108).

As is well said by Hall (Id., p. 118):

““ When voyages of discovery extended over years, when the coasts and
archipelagos lying opeu to oocoupation seemed inexhanstible in their vast-
ness, when states knew litlle of what their agents or the sgents of other
conntries might be doing, and when commuonication with established posts
was rare and slow, isolated wnd imperfect acts were properly held to have
mean ing and valoe. When therefore it first became worth while to ques-
tion rights to & given ares, or to dispute over ita boundaries, the testa of
effective occupation were necesearily lax.”™

There is no period to which these words can apply so forcibly
as during the century and a half immediately following the dis-
covery of America by Columbus; and we believe it to be true that
in no case has the title to extensive regions on the Continent of
America been established and perfected by a more complete series
of acts of occupation than those of the Spanish in Guiana during
the first century and a half.

That the views of this wriler may be better understood, we
quote from him more at length. He says (ib., 'pp. 106-109):

““§ 32. When a state does some act with reference to territory unappro-
pristed by a civilieed or semi-civilised stute, which amounts to an actual
tuking of possession, und at the same time indicates au intention to keep
the territory seized, it is held that a right is gained as against other states,
which sre bound to recognise the intention to aequire property, accom-
panied by the fuct of possession, ue a sufficient ground of proprietary right.
The title which is thus obtained, and which iz ealled title by oecnpation,
being based solely upon the fact of appropriation, would in strictness come
into existence with the commoncement of effective control, snd would last
only while it oontinued, unless the territory ocoupied had been so long held




. DIBOOVERY. 208

that title by occupation had become merged in title by prescription.
Hence occupation in ita perfeot form wonld suppose an sct equivalent to a
declaration that a particular territory had been seized as property, and s
sabsequent continuons nse of it either by residence or by taking from it its
natural products.

States have not however Leen content to mssert » right of property over
territory actually occupied at a given moment, und consequently to extend
their dominion pari pasew with the setilement of nnappropriated lands. The
earth-huoger of colonising nations has not been so readily eatisfied; and it
would besides Le often inconvenient and sometimes fatal to the growth or
perilous to the safety of & colony to confine the property of an occupying
state within these narrow limita. Hence it has been common, with a view to
future effective appropriation, to endeavonr to obtain an exclusive right to
territory by scts which indioste intention and show mcmentary posseesion,
but which do not smount to contivued enjoyment or control; and it hes
become the practice in making settlements npon continents or large islands
to regurd vast tracts of country in which no sct of ownership hng been done
us attendant upon the appropristed land.*

In the early days of European explorution it was Leld, or at lenst every
atute maintained with respect to territories discovered by itself, that the die-
covery of previonsly unknown land conferred un sbsolute title to it upon the
state by whose sgents the discovery was made. But it bas now been long
sottled that the bare fact of discovery is un insufficient ground of proprietury
right. It is only so fur uselul that it gives additional value to acts in them-
selves doubtful or inadequate. Thus when an unoecupied conntry is formally
snnexed an inchoate title is acqnired, whether it has or hus not been dis-
covered by the state annexing it; but when the formal act of taking
possession is not shortly succeeded by further acts of ownership, the claim
of u discoversr Lo exclude other stales is looksd upon with more respect than
that of a mere approprialor, and when discovery las been made by persons
compeleni {o act as agenis of a slate for (he purposs uf annezulion, il will
be presumed that they have wsed their powers, so that in an indirect mun-
ner discovery may be alone enough lo set up an inchoate title.

An inchoate title acts us a temporsry bur to occupation by another state,
but it must either be converted into a definitive title within ressonable time
by planting ssttlements or mililary posis, or il wmusi al least be kept alive by
repeaied lscal acls, showing an inieniion of continwal claim. What wots

*8omas writers (¢. g,, Kliber, § 126 ; Ortolan, Domaine International, 45-47 ; Bluntachli,
§§ 778, 281) refuse to acknowledge that title can he acquired withoul continucus occupation,
but their dockrine Is iodepsadeot of tee faets of universsl practice.
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are sufficient for the latter purpose, and what constitutes a reasonsable time,
it wonld be idle to attempt to determine. The effect of acts and of the
lapee of time must be judged by the light of the circumstances of each case
a8 a whole. It can only be said, in & broad way, that when territory has
been duly annexed, and the fuct has either been publiched or has been re-
corded by monuments or inscriptions en the spot, 2 good title has slwuys
been held to have been acquired as against s state making settlements
within such time as, sllowing for nccidental circumstances or moderate
negligence, might elapse before a force or a colony were sent out to some part
of the land intended to be occupied; but that in the conrse of a few years
the presumption of permanent intention afforded by such ucts has died
away, if they stood alone, and that more continuouns acts or actual settle-
ment by another power became u stronger root of title. On the other hand,
when discovery, conpled with the public assertion of ownership, has been
followed up from time to time by further exploration or by temporary
lodgments in the country, the existence of a continued interest in it is evi-
dent, and the extinction of a proprietary claim may be prevented over
& long space of time, unleas more definite acts of appropriation by another
state sre effected without protest or opposition.”

It will be seen that Hall strongly supports the contention of
Venezuela. He holde that the inchoate title of the discoverer may
be converted into a definitive title by planting settlements or mili-
tary posts, and may even be kept alive by repeated local acts of
less moment, but showing ‘* an intention of continual claim”; and
that vast tracts of country, in which no act of ownership has been
done, may be effectively appropriated by very limited settlements.
It is only where the ceremonial occupancy has *‘stood alone'--
has not been followed by expeditions, explorations, settlements or
other like acts—that it becomes unmeaning.

Discussing the inchoate title by discovery or occupation, West-
lake says (Int. Law, pp. 160-161):

** The first of the questions of detail which bave been alluded to is under
what conditions did discovery formerly, or does a commencement of oceupa-
tion now, confer an inchoale titls to terrilorial sovereignty—thal fis, the
right of occupying or completing the occupation within a reasonabls time,
and of subjecting or expelling the seltlemenis which other civilived powers
or thewr subjscis may have made in ihe injerval? The most important con-
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dition is that the state claiming an inchoate Litle shall make known its in-
tention of deriving the foll benefit from the discovery made or oconpation
commenced by itself or its enbjects, or at least that there shall be no reason-
able doubt about the intention in the circumstauces. Were this not the
case, another state or its subjects might enter the country under a reason-
able belief that it had not been appropriated by a foreign power, and might
justifiably complain if an inchoata title claiming precedence over theirs was
afterwards sprung on them. Accordingly it has slwaye been usual for the
state which intends to claim an inchoate title to make its intention known
from the beginning. ‘In newly discovered countries,” Lord Stowell said,
* where a title is meant to be established for the first time, some act of pos-
session is usnally done and proclaimed us & notification of the fact." (In
the Fama, 5 C. Robinson 115.) Here notification is to be understood in
the general sense of making known, and not in the special sense of an ex-
press communication to other powers, in which it is used in Art. 34 of the
general act of the Conference of Berlin,

- L *® . * - - » ®

What has been deemed sufficient to make known the intention of appro-
priating the sovereignty has naturally varied with the circamstances of dif-
ferent timea. It never was thought that a discovery might be kept secret
and the benefit of it retained.”

This writer does not attempt here to specify the particular
things that a discoverer must do, for there is no fixed schedule.
He must do such things as will make known his intention *‘ of
deriving the full benefit from the discovery;” such things as
will be reasonable notice to other States, so that they may not
enter in the reasonable belief that the lands are unappro-
priated. In the case in hearing no inchoate title was “‘sprung "
upon the Dutch. They entered in disregard of Spain’s well
known intention to claim the full benefit of her discovery.

Surely it cannot be contended that a post or colony, estab-
lished by a discoverer within a reasonable time, can have no
reference to the extent of his discovery and of his ceremonial
occupation; that the discoverer gets no more by his settlement
than a second comer would get—only so much as he actually
occupies—or as is appurtenant to it by the ordinary rules of
law; that to this extent only the inchoate title is perfected,
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and, as to all else, lost to any comer; that the discoverver's first
actual settlement is not to be accepted as a Leginming only,
but a beginning and an end. Hall says: *““The claim of a dis-
coverer to exclude other States is looked upon with more re-
spect than that of a mere appropriator.” Or does Great Britain
mean that the discoverer has a reasonable time to make a first, a
second and a third settlement, and so on until he has * effect-
ively occupied” his whole discovery?

Do the nations stand by, hour glasses in hand, timing these
intervals, and ready to intervene and seize when the interval
between settlements is fancied to be unreasonable! Not so. If
the discovery of Guiana by the Spaniards was a good discovery —
and it is not challenged--the inchoate title derived therefrom was
to Guiana; and a firm settlement within that region, and within
a reasonable time, or before any other nation had entered, per-
fected that title—not in part, but in its entirety. Spanish Santo
Thome is not to be limited by the rules that apply to Dutch Esse-
quibo, Spain was the discoverer; the Dutch *‘mere appropri-
ators.” What else can Hall mean when he speaks of sending a
force or a colony ‘to some part of the land intended to be occu-
pied”! Such an act is completely expressive of the discoverer's
‘“intention,” as Westlake says, *“of deriving the full benefit from
the discovery made.”

Legal possession, which may form the basis of a title, may
exceed the limite of actual physical occupation. The mere act,
considered by iteelf, is possession only of the land physically occu-
pied. Bat the occupation of part of a tract, in the name of the
whole, constitutes an entry into and possession of the whole.
The contemporaneous manifestation of intent will define the
legal effect of the act.

In private law an entry, under a deed deecribing certain metes
end bounds, upon any part of the land, is a possession of the
whole, if there is then no adverse possession.
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In Ellicott v. Pearl (10 Peters, 441-2), the Supreme Court of the
United States says:

. ‘““An entry into possession of a tract of land, under a deed containing

specific metes and bounds, gives a oenstructive possession of the whole
tract, if mot in any adverse possession, sithough there may be no fence or
enclosnre aronnd the ambit of the tract, and an actual residence only on s
part of it."”

And again in Hunnicutt v. Peyton (102 U. 8. Sup. Crt., 838,
368), that Court says:

“ When the owner of the Basquez title entered npon the tract, took
sctual possession of a part by his tenant, and retained it, claiming the
whole, the law gave to that owner the constractive possession of all that
was not in the sctusl sdverse possession or occupsncy of another.”

The entry of the discoverer upon a part, under a claim to the
whole, is, upon the same principle, an occupation of the whole.
His claim is to the territory diecovered; and, when that terri-
tory as here has well-defiued bounds, his entry is to be referred
to that claim, precisely as if he had entered nnder a deed or
patent.

That an entry upon a part for Lthe whole is good, Great Britain
asserted distinctly, as we have seen, in her controversy with the
Dutch over New Netherland. The British colonies were settled
under patents from the King defining vast territorial limits
and Great Britain claimed that a few settlements within those
limits effected a good posesession of the whole.

We quote again the words of the British Ambassador:

““ And as to the point of Possession, there m nothing more clear and
certain than that the English did take possession of and inhabit the
Lands, within the Limits of the said patents, long before any Duich were
there. 'Tis mot to say (nor is it requisite that it shonld be said) that
they did inhabit every Individuall Spot within the limits of them. J¢
is enough (Aat their palent iz (he first, and that in pursuance ihereof, they
had taken possession, and did inhabit and dwell within the same, uwnd

made considerable I'owns, Forts and Plantations therein beforo the Dutch
came to dwell there.” (Brodhead Papers, i, 832.)
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If the principle thus invoked by Great Britain be applied to the
case at bar, it is difficult to see how, in view of the Spanish grant
to Berrio, Great Britain can avoid admitting that Guiana was

possessed by Spain. The evidence regarding this grant is as fol-
lows:

“The Audiencis of the new kingdom of Granads made a contract
» . . with Captain Antonio de Berrio respecting the exploration and
settlement of El Dorado . . . They gave him the government of
THOSE PROVINCES for two lives . . . His Majesty was pleased to ap-
prove, and ordered arrangement to be sanctioned in 1586 ; thereupon the
said Berrio entered on the work and founded in ., . . Trinidad the
town of Sun Joseph de Aruna and inland that of Santo Thome. He died
in 1397, and was succeeded by his son Fernando de Berrio.” (V.0.-C.,
vol, iii, p. §.)

This Berrio grant was prior to any Dutch grant; it was, there-
fore, so far as the Dutch were concerned, a *‘first pafent”: it was
‘“fn pursuance thereof ” that Berrio took “* possession and did in-
habit and dwell within the same,” making ‘* considerable towns,
forts and plantalions therein before the Dutch came to dwell there.”
Does not such a grant, and do not such acts, meet the require-
menta of the law as stated by the British Ambassador?

It is well shown, as matter of fact, that the settlements at
Trinidad and at S8anto Thome had a direct reference to the
occupation of the Province of Guiana. The letter of Berrio to
the King of Spain, written in January, 1588 (B. C., I, p. 1),
showe that the occupation of Guiana was the great object for
the attainment of which he endured so many perils, privations
and losses. BSpeaking of Trinidad, he says:

“] saw clearly that if that island were not settled it would be im-
possible to settle Guayana” (Id., p. 8).

And, in December, 1594, he wrote:

*“ And thig Island of Trinidad, whioh I settled three years ago for deptt
and entrance to these great provinoces” (Id., p. 8).
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In these letters we have such further expressions of his

purpose as these:

¢*I shall attempt to penetrate into the interior of Guayana.”

“1 will enter immediately into Guayana: and if it is one-twentieth of
what is snpposed, it will be richer than Pern.”

The account given by de Vera of the possession taken in
April, 1598 (V. C., vol. i., p. 381), refers to Berrio as Governor
and Captain-General for the King between the Amazon and the
Orinoco, and of Trinidad; recites that Berrio had discovered ** the
noble provinces of Guiana and Dorado,” and had taken *' posses-
sion to govern the same;” that he (de Vera) had been sent to
find out and discover the way *‘ to enter and to people the said
provinces,” etc. The publicity which these proceedings were
intended to have was promoted by the fact that the letter of de
Vera fell into the hands of the British by capture at sea. 3o
that Great Britain had, in 1593, the most formal and effective
notice of Spain's purpose to occupy the whole of Guiana; that
her entry on the Orinoco was to be referred to that intent, and
that Guiana had been constituted a Spanish Province, and a
Governor appointed over it.

In furtherance of this purpose to occupy Guiana, which did
not originate with Berrio, Trinidad and Santo Thome were settled
and fortified, and for a time a settlement was maintained at
Essequibo.

Access to the interior—the Caroni and Cuyuni basins—was
then believed to be only by the Orinoco, from its south bank, at
some i:mint’. below and near to the mouth of the Caroni.

If, then, settlements made by the discoverer of a defined
torritory within that territory, and haviug for their expressed
purpose the appropriation of that territory, can in any case have
that effect, we have that case here.

Our adversaries are driven to maintain the proposition that the
discoverer must, within the reasonable time given for the substi-
tution of an actual for a ceremonial possession, accomplish the
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“‘ effective occupation ” of the whole region; that the settlements
of the discoverer can have no larger constructive extent or effect,
than those of a nation coming afterwards into the territory.
Which is to say that the possession of one entering under a deed
cannot be larger than that of a squatter. These propositions, we
believe, have never been put forward before, and they are on their
face untenable and unreasonable. It is certain that they do not
square with the former practice and diplomatic pretensions of
(Freat Britain,

Twiss (Oregon Case, pp. 164-5), quotes from a note of Messrs.
Huskisson and Addington, the British Commissioners iu the
Oregon dispute, under date of December, 1826;

“Upon the question how fur prior discovery constitutes a legal cluim to
sovereignty, the law of nations is somewhat vague and undefined. It is,
however, admitted by the most approved writers, that mere accidental dis-
covery, unattended by exploration—by formally taking possession in the
name of the discoverer's sovereign—by occupation snd scttlement more or
less permanent—by purchase of the territory, or receiving the sovercignty
from the natives—constitutes thy lowest degree of title; and that it is only
in proportion as first discovery is followed by uny or ull of these that such
title is strengthened and confirmed.”

Here the Spanish discovery of Guiana was not accidental; it
was attended by extended and costly explorations, by the formal
taking of possession, in the name of the discoverer’s sovereign, by
the formal submission of certain tribes on the Orinoco and in the
interior, and by permanent occupation and settlement. These
British Commissioners did not venture to suggest that the actual
occupation must cover the whole region; indeed, what they say is
quite to the contrary. If they had advanced such a contention to
defeat the claim of the United States, they would have left no
ground for the British claim to rest upon.

And Twiss himself says (Uregon Case, p. 165):

“Tt thus seems to be universally acknowledged that discovery, though it

gives a right of occupancy, does not found the same perfect and exclusive
title which growa out of occupation, and that unless discovery be followed
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within a reasonable tima by some sor! of selllewient, it will be presumed
either to have been originally imoperative, or to have been subsequently
abandoned.” .

If followed by ** some sort of settlement,” there is no inference
of abandonment. Now, much as Great Britain minimizes the
Spanish settlements, she will hardly contend that they did not
meet this description.

In his Law of Nations (Sec. 128), Twiss distinctly rests the title
of the second comer, upon an abandonment by the discoverer, upon
his implied acquiescence. He also quotes Wheaton to the same
effect. He rsays:

“ Hettlement when it has supervened on discovery constitutes a perfect
title, but a title by settlement, when not combined with a title by discovery,
ig in itsel! imperfect, and its immediate validity will depend on one or other
condition ; that the right of discovery has been wuived de jure by non-user,
or that the right of occupaucy has been renounced de faclo by the abandon-
ment of the territory. When title by settlement is superadded to title by
discovery the law of nations will acknowledge the settlers to have a perfect
title, but when title by settlement is opposed to title by discovery, although
no convention can be appesled to in prool of the discovery having been
waived, still 8 tacit nequiescence on the part of the nation that asserts the

discovery, during u reasonablo lapse of time since the scttlement has taken
place, will bar its claim to disturb the settlement.”

Again he says (Sec, 129):

“Title by settlement, then, as distinguished from title by discovery,
when set up as a perfect title, resolves itsell into title by usucaption or
prescription.”

This shows that any settlement by the discoverer has this
special effect and significance: it refutes the implication of an
intent to abandon his discovery. It does more--it is the affirma-
tive expression of his purpose to make good his title, not to a
part, but to the whole. No other can enter until the discoverer has
in fact or by implication abandoued his right, and no such
implication can arise after he has taken an actual possession of a
part for the whole. It is most important also fo notice that in the
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opinion of this author the Dutch title here must be rested on
prescription.

The following from a dispatch by Lord Salisbury, December 26,
1889, to the Portuguese Government (Blue Book, Africa, No. 2,
1890), recognizes the difference between a paper occupancy and
one where there are acts that express the intention :

“ It is not, indeed, required Ly international law that the whole extent
of a country occupied by a civilized power should be reclaimed from bar-
barism at once; time is necessary for the full completion of a process
which depends upon the gradoal inerense of wealth and population ; but,
on the other hand, no paper annexation of Lerritory can pretend to any
validity as a bar to the enterprise of other nations, if it bas never, through
vast periods of time, been accompanied by any sndication of an intention to
make the occupalion a reality, and has been suffered lo be ineffective and
unused for cenfuries.”

This is to say that if Spain, by actual settlement within
Guiana, made her occupation * a reality,” and, by her expeditions
into the counéry and the expulsion of others, continued to assert
her purpose, her appropriation of- Guiana was good. She did not
loose to any comer the regions which she had not reclaimed from
barbarism.

Field, in his National Code (p. 29), proposes that the right of
the discoverer shall be decreed to be abandoned * if the infent fo
exercise it is not manifested within twenty-five years after dis-
covery."”

This recognizes the principle that before a second comer can
have a perfect title, the right of the discoverer must be gotten
out of the way, and the further principle that an abandonment
cannot be inferred while he continues to manifest, by suitable
acts there, the intent to appropriate the territory. A settlement
or a post in any part of the land - especially when it has, or is
given, a definite relation to a specific discovery—is an eflicient and
open manifestation of that intent.

If Great Britain might completely withdraw from the Falk-
land Islands, leaving them without any semblance of occupation
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for over fifty years, and still maintain that she had not aban
doned them, with what show of reason can she claim an abandon-
ment of any part of Guiana, as against Spain, in the face of her
actual and maintained settlements, of her constant and public
assertion of her rights, of the frequent marches of her armed
forces through the interior, and of the expulsion by her of in-
truders from time to timet No; unless it results from some
inexorable rule of law, that will not take any account of these
things; that will accept nothing less than the effective occupation
of every part, no title can be maintained against Spain to any
part of Guiana upon the theory of an abandonment.

So Grotius (War and Peace, Book 2, Ch. 4, p. 86) allows that
the infention of the rightful owner may be manifested by *‘some
external sign.” It is the intent to abandon upon which the right
of the other rests, and this is rebutted by express and visible
acts showing an intent to keep. A settlement in any part of
the country may be that.

That an ‘“‘effective occupation” of the whole territory is not
necessary to perfect the title of a discoverer (for surely the rule is
not less liberal in his case) seems to be admitted by Lord Salisbury
in his despatch to Sir Julian Pauncefote, of May 18, 1896. He said:

“ All the great nations in both hemispheres claim and are prepared to
defend their right to vast tracts of territory which they have in no sense
occupied and often have not fully explored.”

There may be, in some cases, a question as to the extent of
the discovery; for the discovery of a locality is not necessarily
a discovery of all the contiguous lands without regard to their
extent: but there can be no such question here. Guiana was a
unit, and the discovery included all of its boundaries,

This question is discussed by Twisa (Law of Nations, Sec.
122-8). He says:

“ Prior discovery gave & right to occupy, provided that occupancy tock
place within a reasonable time, and was ultimately followed by permanent
settlement and by ounltivation of the soil.”
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*'The question as to the extent of territory over which the discovery
of a part gives rise to the right ol occupancy, may receive a solution by
reference to the principles of law, which decide to what extent natural pos-
session must go in order to give a title to more than is actually inhabited.
It is not necessary, in order to constitute the occupant of & thing the legal
proprietor of it, that he should have natural possession of the whole of it;
if he has possession of a part, which cannot be separated from the whole, he
i8 in possession of the whole.”

He next quotes from Vattel (Sec. 124):

“ It may happen that a nation is contented with possessing only certain
places, or appropriating to itsell certain rights in a country which has not
an owner, without being solicitous to take possession of the whole country.
In this case, another nation may take possession of what the first has
neglected; but this canuot be done without sllowing all the rights acquired
by the first to subsist in their full and absolate independence.”

It is not a question of the right of the discoverer to possess all
that he has discovered—that cannot be questioned; but of his right
to extend the limits of his discovery, to go beyond to a natural
boundary, or to include a place, beyond the limits of the dis-
covery, that is necessary to the security of the discovered region.

Twisa speaks of * the discovery of a part,” and of the lands
beyond the part discovered, that may be regarded as attendant,.

But in the case of Guiana the Spanish discovery embraced the
whole of it. The great rivers that define its eastern and western
limits—the Amazon and the Orinoco—and the Essequibo between
them, had been entered and navigated, and landings made upon
their banks. In the search for Eldorado Spain had sent many
expeditions into the interior. It seems that as early as 1561
Aguirre, a Spanish explorer, passed by boat from the Amazon to
the Orinoco, through that *‘ double-ended stream, the Casiquiare,"
and down the Orinoco to the sea. The Amazon had already been
followed to its mouth by other Spanish explorers, and the entire
seacoast bad been traced, thus completing the circumnavigation
of Guiana.

These acts, we maintain, effected not only a discovery, but an
appropriation of the whole province; but, if they can be treated
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only as completing the discovery of the province, they at least
prove discovery of the whole of Guiana; and the settlements after-
wards made are to be taken as an entry npon a part for the whole.
1t is not, then, a question as to ‘‘the extent of territory over
which the discovery of a part gives rise to the right of occupancy,"
for here was no discovery of a part. No other nation has ventured
to claim the discovery of any part of Guiana. The Dutch title
and the British title must be rested upon Spain’s abandonment or
upon a conguest and cession,

Our object here is to show that Spain’s settlements and all of
her acts of sovereignty had reference, not to localifies in Guiana,
but to Guiana. The world at that time was afire with the lust of
gold, more than of fields. It was Guiana—not its borders, not
localities—the possession of which was sought. The Eldorado,
whose fabled riches drew Raleigh and other adventurers again
and again to the Orinoco, was in the interior; every recorded
attempt to reach it was from the Orinoco, and that entrance was
promptly occupied by Spain.

Santo Thome, often attacked, sometimes destroyed, always
restored and strengthened, was declared by the acts of all
European navigators to be Eldorado’s gateway, and its destruc-
tion a condition of every successful foray into the interior.

Can there be found, in this shortly told story of Spain's rela-
tions to Guiana, anything that can be made the basis of an infer-
ence that she intended to or had abandonmed any part of the
province! On the other hand, did not these facts make it plain to
every other European nation that any settlement by any of them
in Guiana would be an invasion of Spanish territoryi In fact all
the expeditions of other nations that went there went in contem-
plation of an armed conflict with the Spanish forces. Spain com-
plied with the conditions named by Westlake (anfe, pp. 204-5);
made known her *‘ intention of deriving the full benefit ” of her dis-
covery. The Dutch did not enter ' under a reasonable belief that
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it (the province of Guiana) had not been appropriated by a foreign
power.” Spain’s title was not ** sprung " on them.

Having now considered the rules relating to title by discovery,
and the perfecting of that title by an actual occupancy, let us next
see how the rule as to occupation has been applied by the Great
Powers ; what they have regarded as a sufficient occupation of
new countries, and the constructive reach they have given to their
settlements. This subject is discussed by Chief Justice Marshall
in the extracts we have given, but some further illustrations may
be useful.

We affirm that no one of the great nations that participated in
the settlement of America ever allowed, as applicable to its own
discoveries and settlements, the limitations which Great Britain
seeks to apply to the Spanish settlements in Guiana,

Edmund Burke, speakicg of the European settlements in
America, in 1757, said:

“ We derive our righta in America from the discovery of Sebastian Cabat,
who first made the Northern Continent in 1487. The fact is sufficiently

certain {o establish a right to our settlements in North America.” (Winsor,
Nar. and Crit. Hist, vol. iii, p. 1.)

But Great Britain effected no permanent settlement within the
limits of the discovery until 1607, when the colony at Jamestown
was founded—followed by Plymouth in 1620. More than a full
century elapsed after discovery before Great Britain effected her
first permanent settlement in North America,

These English settlements were, for a long time, mere spots on
the coast, many hundred miles apart, and reaching only a few
miles into the interior. And two centuries later, down to the era
(say 1850-60) when franscontinental roads and railways became
near certainties, the explorer might journey for a thousand or
fiflteen hundred miles west of the Mississippi and in the corre.
sponding portion of Capada without encountering traces of civil-
ized man, and in coustant peril from unsubjected savages. Down
to the period of the discovery of gold (1848), the Pacific coast,
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north of what is now San Francisco, for some thousand miles had
no white inhabitants save two or three small settlements, as at
the mouth of the Columbia, and in the Vancouver region, with
one or two Russian posts farther north.

In 1845 aun Englishman could huve entered from Canada and
gone to Mexico without encountering a single white man, unless
it might be the Mormons at Salt Lake City. A Russian could, in
the same way, have traversed British Columbia from Alaska to
Winnipeg.

In 1870 the vast continent of Australia, which the English had
held or claimed to have held for one hundred years, had never
been traversed from east to west; only one or two attempts at
exploration had reached over a hundred miles from salt water;
even its coasts, except in one or two stretches, were virtually
unknown and unvisited. Leaving the coast settlements, the ex-
plorer could go fifteen hundred miles in almost any direction
towards the interior without touching ground previously trod by
awhite man, and if he could reach the northern or western seacoast
he would, in most parts, find no white man nearer than those
whom he had left. The area of the continent of Australia is
3,000,000 square miles, about eight times that of Venezuela.

* Western Australia " has an area of 975,000 square miles (two
and a half times that of Venezuela), but in 1392 its population
was only 60,000. The newspapers of a very recent date contain a
report of an address delivered by M. de Rougemont before the
Anthropological section of the British Association, in London, in
which he gives an account of his long residence among the
Indians of the Cambridge Gulf region of Australia. He found
there a vast region into which no trace of British occupation or
influence had penetrated.

Yet no one supposes that these uninhabited stretches consti-
tute ferra nullius, or unpossessed land, open to be acquired by
whatever nation might choose to go there. For they formed part
of a territory which, as a whole, the dominant nation possessed.
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The whole Oregon dispute, from 1817 onwards, was based by
both sides upon the proposition that all the northwest belonged to
England or to the United States, save only the seacoast strip
which Russia held; and they consecrated this idea by the bound-
ary treaty of 1844.

This division of 1848 rested on the rights of 1817 or earlier; yet
even in 1646 the entire partitioned region was less marked by the
white man’s presence and the white man's power than Guiana
had been marked by Spain in 1620.

The English view about effectivity of occupation is also specifi-
cally illustrated in New Zealand. The area of the two islands is
a trifle over 100,000 square miles, that is, almost exactly the same
as that of the Kingdom of Italy, including Sicily. In 1843 its
European population was 13,000, collected in a few centres
(Stanford, p. 6578). But England has always insisted that it had
a title to the two islands by * occupation™; and it took this
ground during the first year of actual occupation.

But we have specific instances of the recognition by England
and Holland, in dealing with America between 1580 and 1680,
that a new country held as a whole is, in law, deemed to be
“‘ occupied " in all its parts, thougﬁ its actual settlements are few
and far apart. The value of such a recognition by our two oppo-
nents, for that country and at that time, is obvious.

Raleigh's charter was dated March 25, 1534, and confirmed by
Parliament, with soms modifications, in December, 1584 (Maine
Hist. Soc. Coll., N. 8., ii, 172; Jeze, p. 126, note). It named no locus,
but purported, in the language almost invariably used for two
bundred years and substantially copied from the Bull of 1494, to
authorize him to plant colonies upon **such remote, heathen and
barbarous lands, not actually possessed by any Christian prince
nor inhabited by Christian people,” as he might discover. But
what is the limit of the ** possession” secured by settlementi
The patent proceeds to express English official views in the same
way that the Gilbert patent of 1573 had expressed them. It
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authorizes him, in language repeated from Gilbert's patent, to
“repel ” all persons who come to inhabit within fwo hundred
leagues of the places where he or his colonists should make their
dwelling, and gives him ‘' jurisdiction ” within those limite.

These two charters were given by Queen Elizabeth; the one
two years before and the other four years after the announce-
ment by ber of Great Britain’s position, as given in the British
Counter-Case (p. 44).

Such was England's view of the ‘‘scope” of a settlement and
the title it would confer. Now from Santo Thome to the Esse-
quibo was about one hundred leagues; that is, kalf the distance
named in the English charters; and other Spanish occupation soon
much diminished that distance,

On April 10, 1606, on the petition of Hukluyt, James I. granted
to new companies, successors of Raleigh's original, the territory
from 34° to 45° latitude; that is, from Cape Fear, at the southern
boundary of North Carolina, to New Brunswick;—from 34° to 40°
to the ** London " or Virginia Co., and from 40° northward to the
northern, then or afterwards the ** New Eangland Co.,"” established
at Plymouth, New England (Palfrey Hist. N. E., i, 190, nofe).
These grants covered, say 760 miles in latitude, and over 1,100
on the coast (Winsor, iii, 127). But the only settlements to hold
it were those on or close to the James,

If this goes beyond the just limits of the law of that period,
it is not for Great Britain to say so. Her views of international
law ought not to be wholly governed by her interests. It cer-
tainly goes far beyond any claim that can arise in reference to
(luiana. For it is one thing to hold a width of 760 miles by one
group of settlements at its middle point, with no other settle-
ments by the claiming nation on the whole continent—which is
the case of the King James and Hakluyt charters—and it is quite
another thing to assert against Spain, possessing and holding
virtually the whole northern part of South America, that a corner

piece, itself containing settlements and frequently overrun by its
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expeditions, was ferra nullius. 1t should also be kept in mind
that when the Dutch settled at the Essequibo, Portugal was under
the Spanish crown, and the Portuguese settlements on the
Amazon are therefore to be accounted at that time as Spanish
settlements.

When we read these three English charters we must agree that
the Spanish claim for Guiana falls far within the doctrine of the
period as asserted and put in praclice by England.

It is true that it might be physically possible for another nation
to settle on a part of one of these large tracts and maintain its pos-
session for a long term of years; and in such a case it would get a
title. But it would be by prescription, in derogation of the first,
and adverse to it; it would not be an oceupation as of ferra nul-
lius.

Between 1626 and 1670 the question of the limits of attributive
legal possession and right beyond an actual settlement arose be-
tween England and Holland, the latter claiming on behalf of the
very Dutch West India Company which made the Guiana settle-
ments,

Here, therefore, we have our two consecutive opposing inter-
ests declaring the law of the period upon the questions we have to
consider; and while they differed as to the application of the rules
and neither was always consistent, yet they agreed that a settle-
ment, small in actual extent, would constitute occupation of a large
region if it had no previous occupant, actual or constructive; that
ig, if it were ferra nullius. The documents we shall refer to are
printed in ‘' Documents relaling to the Colonial History of the
State of New York,” vols. i, ii, published by the State, and edited
by Mr. Brodhead. Some of the papers are also in Aitzema.

England claimed title from Carolina to the extreme north by
virtue of the discoveries of Cabot.

Virginia claimed, under the first English charter, of 1584, two
hundred leagues north from the James River settlement in Vir-
ginia, and under the second charter as far as Halifax.



DISCOVERY. 291

Now the mouth of the Hudson River (New York) is a little less
than one hundred leagues (three hundred miles) from the Virginia
settlement.

In 1620-21 England had established Plymouth Colony on Mas-
sachusetts Bay, a trifle under two hundred miles from New York,
in a direct line, and about three hundred by water along the coast.
The Royal Grant of Nov. 3, 1620, z0 The Council for New England,
was from 40° to 48° latitude, and from the Atlantic to the Pacific;
the colony at Plymouth, Mass., got its territorial rights by a sub-
grant under this (June 1/11, 1621), approved by the King (Palfrey,
Hist. New Eng., i, 190-4; Winsor, iii, 275, 295), as did also the
colony of Massachusetts Bay on March 19, 1628 (Palfrey, i, 288,
290; Winsor, iii, 309-10).

Hendrick Hudson, in 1609, was the first white man to enter
New York Harbor and the Hudson. After some inconsiderable
efforts the Dutch West India Company settled ‘* New Netherland,”
now New York. Their main settlement was where New York
City now is, but after a time they built small forts as far east as
the Connecticut River, *‘ took possession” of Long Island and es-
tablished some villages at its western end (Brodhead, Docs., vol. i,
pp. 133 et seq.).

The English antagonized them from the outset. Before 1620
they had warned off the few Dutch at Manhattan (Palfrey, Hist.
New Eng., i, 236); and in 1622 the English Government addressed
a formal remonstrance to the States General * against intrusions in
New England ” (éb., 237). In 1627 the Plymouth Governor warned
the Dutch that the Plymouth territory reached to 40° latitude (a
few miles north of the southern boundary of Pennsylvania and
about one hundred and fifty miles south of New York), and
forbade them to intrude upon it. The English also, but after the
Datch had actually made their permanent settlement, approached
it as far as Providence and New Haven, the latter seventy miles
from New York (ib., 236). They took possession of Long Island,
tore down the Dutch Company’s coat-of-arms from their posses-
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sion posts, and set a fool's head in their place, and founded two
villages at the east end of Long Island (Brodhead, Docs., vol. ii,
p. 185).

Each of the contending parties claimed priority of discovery
for its nation; but each also claimed that its settlement gave i, in
law, the possession and the title to all the unsetiled land between
the actual towns of Plymouth, New York and Jamestown.

The discussion just referred to was terminated by what was
called the ‘ Treaty of 1650,” that is, a local agreement forced
upon the Dutch Ly the strength of the New England colonies.
This agreement secured to the English a peaceful occupation
east of the Connecticut, though it did not formally recognize
their title. (See Brodhead, Docs., vol. i, pp. 459, 541, 567, 611).

In 1660 the discussion between the two governments became
acrimonious; the principal papers are in Brodhkead, vol. ii, and
Ailzema. The controversy was ended in the general war, when
England conquered New Netherland, and the peace of Breda,
which terminated it (1667), left this region in the possession of
England. But the papers exchanged in the course of the dis:
cussion make it clear that both parties admitted as sound certain
principles of law, among which are these:

Both parlies claimed by right of discovery; the English under
Cabot and the Dutch as originally subjects of the King of Spain,
and as holding the right of Spain by the cession contained in
the peace of Munster (1648). Neither of these discoveries was
followed by any occupation north of Florida or Virginia until
1600; that is, for more than a hundred years.

Each also relied on occupation, after 1600; and they referred
both to eccupatio or primitive occupation of a ferra nullius, and
long continued occupation constituting title by prescription.
They both asserted or admitted that one or a very few actual
settlements would or might constitute, in law, a possession or
occupation, perfecting title to a large region of ferra nullins. This,
they conceived, did not apply to the case of a nation which was
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the second to make its entry on lands which the rule had already
placed in such constructive possession of amother; such second
entry was in the nature of a dispossession; and it extended in
law no further than it did in fact. When, in the course of dis-
cussion, the shoe pinched a little on the one party or the other,
neither was very cousistent; but the papers show that each
side appreciated the law to be as we have stated it.

On November 5, 1660, the Dutch West India Company sent to
the States General a long account of the controversy, as a basis
for complaints about the English usurpations.

New Netherland originally, they say, began at latitude 88°—
which is in Virginia, south of Washington, and half way between
t1at city and James River, the seat of Raleigh’s colony. Its true
northern limit, they allege, included Cape Cod; that is, it reached
to Massachusetts Bay, which they had entered and explored.
The paper, in Brodhead, Docs., vol. ii, pp. 133-184, says:

“Thig province of New Netherlsnd was then immediately occupied and
tuken possession of by the ssid Compuny, according as circumstances per-
mitfed, as is the case in all new undertakings.* For which purposc they
cansed to be built there, since the year 1623, four forts, to wit: two on the
North river, namely, Amsterdam and Orsuge; one on the South river,
called Nassaw, and the last on the Fresh [Connecticut] river, called tho
Hope. From the beginniug s garrison hss been slways stutioned and
maintsined in all these forts.

The Company had created these forts both Southwurd and Northward,
not only with a view to close and appropriate the uforesuid rivers, but like-
wise as far aa title by occupation tends, the lunds around them and within
their borders (being then about sixty leagues slong the coast), sud on the
other side of the rivers, to possess, to declare as their own and to preserve
againet all foreign or domestic nations, who would endeavor to usurp the
game, contrary to the Companys will and pleasure.”

They intended, they say, to build forts behind Cape Cod, but
their circumstances did not permit of this, and they never did it.

*The plrase is a happy ooe to express the requiremeots of the law; and therefore
when Spain, beginning with true discovery, and ending with making the country Bpanish,
progressed with a vigor which has astonlshed the world, it complied with the strictest rules
of the law, The Dulch intruded in Guaysos and scquired a title; but conquest, cession,
or preseription supports this, not cecupaiio,
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The New England English have usurped upon them, claiming
under a patent from Charles I.; but this they assert cannot dis-
place the earlier title of the Dutch. Elsewhere the Dutch Co.
mentions 414° as their limit.

Such un extent of right from a single settlement was evidently
then a familiar if not an accepled doctrine; but a prior occupatio
based on the James River settlement was impliedly admitted to
be extensive enough in law to restrict the later New Netherland
claim.

But even in that view the Dutch say that they had a better
title; for they came to America while ‘‘subjects of the King of
Spain, first finder and founder of this new American world, who
by the conclusion of the peace” (Munster, 1648) made over to
them his title. Buat this argument, which extended Spain’s right
by discovery to the whole of the new world, they admit to be
*“rather forced,” and is, they say, unnecessary, for they have a
title of their own as * first discoverers and possessors.”

January 21, 1664 (¢b., p. 226), they ask the States (General to .
fix the limits of New Netherland *‘along the coast from 37}
degrees unto 414, and, furthermore, landward as far as men can
travel.” Latitude 37} degrees marks, virtually, the actual Vir-
ginia settlement; 41} degrees means Plymouth, that is, their
view is that the first occupatio (which was what they claimed) is
displaced by the second comer only so far as the latter physically
extends, which is good law.

Sir George Downing, British Ambassador, sent a mermorial in
reply. In answer the States General, on February 9, 1665, trans-
mitted these comments, addressed to them by their Committee on
Relations with England (ib., p. 325):

** The English have no other title to the possession of what they hold;
namely, New Belginm, than those of this nation have to New Netherland;
to wit, the right of occupation ; because all those countries being desert,

uninhabited and waste, 18 if belonging to nobody, became the property of
those who have been the first occopants of them. "Tis thus the English
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have occupied, snd this is the title by which they possess New Engluud, us
those of this nation, New Netherland. ‘The right which the English found
on the letters patent, wherein their king grants such a vast extent to the
limits of the English so as to include also «ll the possessions of this nation, is
as ridicalous as if your High Mightinesses bethonght yourselves of includ-
ing all New Eugland iu the patent yon would grant to the West Indis
Compuuy. Therefore, a continued possession for such a long series of yeurs
must confer on this pation a title which cannot be questioned with any
appearance ol reason.”

The reply of the British Ammbassador, April 7, 1865 (., p. 332),
lias been used in another connection (anfe, p. 193). He as-
serted that the English had entered under patents, and that
their settlements were to be taken as a possession of all lands
within the bounds described in the patents; that it was not
necessary that every part should be effectively occupied.

The States General rejoined (ib., p. 379):

The patent of the King of England cannot ‘‘ prejudice the
rights of the subjects of other Kings and States;” neither does
the patent prove possession.

The States General next turu to the question we have Lbe-
fore us. They first quote (ib., p. 380) from the British Ambas-
sador's paper:

“+ Bat," he says: *’Lis not requisite that men should inhabit every in-
dividoal spot; it is enough that they had taken possession of a part within
the linits of their Patent, and so sequire the remainder mentioned in their
Patent.” This would well apply to any pluces which are not tuken pos-
session of, and mol embraced within those parts that are possesxed; * Lut in-
asmnuch as another has full fifty years' adverse possession, it does not enter
into consideration, except to gloze over snch violent msnrpations as are
here perpetrated; it being notorious that u thing eun be pussessed by only

one. We gball willingly concede tv the Ambussudor, if Lhe English in
Ceylon or other Dntch Colonies, posscssed a country as the Dutch have in

#* [ o, the rule of extended posssssion of s universiiss applies Lo regions where there is
no provious possession in law by another. But when it encounters previnus possession by
another it must yleld : and it must do Lhis equoally whether that previous possession be by
setoal physieal oceupation, or be merely logal possession by Lhe rule of extension from a
seltlement,
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the Northeru part of America, that the sole right which is bere claimed,
shonld belong to them.'

That Great Britain gave her full consent to the doctrine that
a possession of a part, in the name of the whole, effected a
good occupation of the whole, and herself sought to apply the
doctrine to Guiana itself, appears from this incident: In 1608
Harcourt visited the coast of Guiana and altempted to seize it
for his sovereign. This is his account of the method used:

“ I took possession of the Land, by "I'urfe aud Twigge, in bebalfe of our
Suvereigne Lord King James; I took the eaid possession of a parl, in name
of the whole Continent of Guiana, Iying betwixt the rivers of Amazoues,
and Orenoque, not beeing actually possessed, and inhabited by any other
Christian Prince or State; wherewith the Indians seemed to be well content
snd pleased ” (V. C-C., vol, ii, p. 55).

Upon the strength of this, the King (James 1.), granted to
Harcourt a charter, but, manifestly recognizing at the time that
the territory west of the Essequibo was Spanish, he limited the
grant to the territory between the Amazon and the Essequibo.

It appears also, from the later history of this incident, that
the claim which Great Britain is now, as the successor of the
Dutch, setting forward—that in the early years of the 17th cen-
tury the coast of Guiana was ferra nullius and not Spanish—Great
Britain at that time did not maintain in behalf of her own sub-
jects, who had attempted settlements on that coast.

Upon a protest from the Spanish ambassador, based upon the
ground that Spain had before appropriated the region to which
the Harcourt grant related, proceedings under it were suspended.
Later (1623-25) a communication was addressed to the King on
behalf of these patentees, setting forth reasons for maintaining
the rights of England, in which it was said:

“Your Majesty’s subjecta many yeares since found that countrie free
from any Christian Prince or State or the subjects of any of them.”
“Your Majesty's subjects with the faire leave and good liking of the native

iuhabitants liave theis 13 or 14 yeares continuallie remayned in the aaid
River [the Amazon] and also in the River of Wiapooo, being npon the
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sume Cosste.” ** Your Ma* hath bine pleased to graunte eeverall Commis-
sions for these parts, and (w * good advice of your Councell) bath grantcd
two scverall lefters I'stients the one in the 11* of your laigne of England,
the other, the 17%.” * The Count of Gondomer [the Spanish Ambassaador]
did bouldlie and moet cunfidentlie utfirme that his Muster had the actuall
and present poesession of theis parts: whereupon he obtained of your Mu™
s suspence and stay of all our proceedings for a tyme. Abont two yearcs
and s halfe afterwurd the ssid Emlustadonr caneed wbout 300 men to be
sent into the River of Amazones, then to beginn the forcsaid possession
and to destroy the English and Dutch there abideinge” (V. C-C., vol. 1,

p. 53).
In 162¢ Harcourt, in a new edition of his *‘ Relations " gives

this account of the incident (p. 7): :

“ And here I think it fit to give notice of the dealing of n Spanish
Ambassadour (whilst he resided in England) against these men [Lhe
Euglish colonists in Guinua], after he had procured them to bee altogether
ubundoned by their owne Country, by his fulse suggessious, and violent
importunity.”

These historical incidents illustrate the stretch that was given,
both by Great Britain and the Netherlands, to the constructive
possession attributable to a small actual occupation when the New
World was being settled. No one of the great powers is more
distinctly committed to the doctrine that vast stretches of unoc-
cupied territory may be rightfully claimed by constructive occupa-
tion, as appurtenant to small settlements, than Great Britain,
Nor has she ever failed, when the facts offered any justification
for it, to put forward a title by discovery. In the present case
she insists upon a very strict rule as to Spanish settlements, but
she saves her record, in part, by demanding for herself the broad
effect she has been wont to give to her own settlements.

Perhaps we should say a word here about the reasonable period,
though we hold that if the discoverer is the first to make an actual
settlement the question cannot be raised.

As we have suggested already, the thing to be done by the dis-
coverer must be defined before we can say what time should be
allotted for the doing of it. Is the thing to be done by the dis-
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coverer, in order to perfect his title to the whole region dis-
covered, the sending of ‘““a force or a colony to some part of the
land intended to be occupied "—the entry upon a part for the
whole—(as Hall says); or is it the bringing into use, by the dis-
coverer, of the resources of the whole territory and the subjecting
of all its savage inhabitants to his jurisdiction and control, as Great
Britain now contends. If the rule is as first stated, and 1500
is taken as the date of the discovery of (Guiana, Spain sent out
a force to that region as early as 1530, and in 1591 established a
permanent settlement,

This was a very much earlier actual occupation after discovery
than that made by Great Britain in North America—the timeli-
ness and effectiveness of which she has asserted and main-
tained.

But if the discoverer cannot enter upon a part for the
whole, but must appropriate the resources and subject the
inhabitants of the whole region in order to perfect his title,
the reasonable time during which no other nation can in-
trude must be greatly extended, And, in view of the slow
development of the British colonies in North America, it can
hardly be contended bere that Spain should have appropriated
the resources of the whole of Guiana and subdued all of its
savage tribes before 1613, which is the date assigned by Great
Britain to the first appearance of the Dutch in Guiana. Such
a demand would be preposterous. The colonization of America
did not proceed on such a schedule,

Is it to be claimed here that Spain lost Guiana because
within {wenty years after ber first permanent settlement-—if
Santo Thome is to be taken as the first—she had not used
the resources of the entire region, and subdued all of its
savage fribest Santo Thome, settled in 1591, was a timely
first settlement; and can the entry of the Dutch in 1613 be
defended upon the ground that Spain had forfeited her in-
choate title, because she had not, within twenty years, so ex-
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tended her settlements as to effectively occupy the whole of
(Guiana! Upon any conceivable estimate of the ‘‘ reasonable
period,” the Datch entry into (uiana was premature and
wrongful.

As we have seen, the British Case concedes that all of the con-
ditions and circumstances affecting the territory and the dis-
coverer are to be allowed for in delermining whether he has been
reasonably diligent.

Of some only of these retarding conditions we shall speak
briefly. In the aggregate they were so great that, but for the
stimulus received from the belief that fabulous stores of gold were
to be found, they would have further delayed the settlement of
the New World for at least a century. The seas were uncharted;
no coast lights gave friendly warning. The ships were, at the
first, so frail that one like them could not now find a crew, even
for a coast voyage, without a convoy. A voynge from Cadiz to
Santo Thome occupied from two to three or more months, and
one hundred tons was a large cargo.* All of these wild lands were
peopled by wilder men. Every tree and jungle was a citadel of
fear. The painted brave, the poisoned arrow, the scalping knife,
the fire—for the torture or for the feast—and the burning bome,
were waiting in fact, or in the fears of those who were sought as
colonists. In Guiana a Bpanish force of 470 men was re-
pulsed by the Indians with a loes of 850. In Bt. Lucia a
British colony was utterly destroyed by the Caribs. In all the
American settloments the coloniste carried their rifles to the

® “ The course from bere (Holland), thither and back, is very much easier than from
Spain, for it takes our ships osoally six weeks or two mooths to sall from here thither.” (See
U. 8, Com. Rep., vol Ii, p. 31.) Casbelian set sail from Trinidad * for this country ™ (Hol-
land) on October 13, 1598, reached Plymouth, Ragland, Dec. 11, and Middelburg, in Zeeland,
Dec, 28, 1692 ; the voyage thus taking about 11 weeks. Oan Lhe way they spoke, In the
Weat Indies, an English galley of 35 tona. Cabellan's veasels were the Zeeridder, 180 tons,
aod Jomas, 120 tona, (B, C. I, p. 18.)

Coasldersble delay was nsually sxperienced in getting from she Urlnooo’s mouth up Lo
Santo Thomé. Cabeliasu spent 20 days In ascending the Orinoco to Santo Thomé—about
forty (Dutch) miles, with a ship of * about 79 tons,” a yacht * of sbout 18 tons,” and ancther

yacht ; altogether carrying ' about 80 persons.” (B, C. I, p, #0.)
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fields and to the meeting house, The fun;ata of Guiana were dark
and limitless, and the making of fields was a work that bowed
the backs of many generalions of pioneers, even in the
northern colonies. In the tropics the woods had no paths,
save the streams, and even these had sometimes to be cleared
with the axe for the passage of a canoe. The interlacing and
matted vines stopped the feet as effectually as a stone wall.
The wild vegelation speedily recovered the possession of which
the settler had by vast labor robbed it -if he at all relaxed his
vigilance. To cut a path through the forests was, as Courthial
said, a work for a colony, not for a man. Piracy, attracted
by the gold that Spain was taking from her colonies, threat-
ened all of her ships and all of her settlements. The Dutch
West India Company counted these captures as its richest per-
quisite. Raleigh apparently thought himself entitled to divide
this source of wealth with the Dutch. In 1614 the Duteh with
the Caribs invested Trinidad (B. C., p. 22). In 1618 Raleigh de-
stroyed Santo Thome (B. C., p. 49). In 1629 the English and the
Dutch made a combined attack on SBanto Thome (B. C. I, p. 70).
In 1637 the Dutch and the Caribs captured, burned and plundered
Santo Thome (B. C. I, p. 88).

These acts delayed Spanish settlement, and it would seem to
be contrary to familiar rules of law that the Dutch and British,
who so much contributed to the delay, should acquire an advan-
tage from their own wrongs.

About the year 1748 a diplomatic controversy between Eng-
land and France, as to the ownership of 8f. Lucia Island, was re-
ferred to commissioners for adjustment., The English had settled
there in 1639, but were driven out the following year by the
Caribs, many of the settlers being killed. The French seized the
island in 1850, upon the claim that Great Britain had abandoned
it. Phillimore (vol. i, p. 368), says,

** the English negotiators contended that their dereliction had been the re-
sult of violence * * * and that it was not competent for France to
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profit by this act of violenceand surreptitiously obtain the territory of an-
other state.” :

Well, was not Spain's colonization of Guiana also retarded
by these Caribe—svt on often by the secret machinations of
the Dutch, and by Dutch attacks upon the Bpanish posts, and by
the piratical raids of Raleigh! Was not Spain'a dereliction the
result of violence! And have we not here an attempt to profit by
this violence, and to ** surreptitiously obtain the territory of an-
other state”! Can the Dutch, keeping themselves under cover,
send the Caribs to destroy a Spanish mission, and then base a claim
to the territory upon the failure of Spain to re-establish it promptly1
England’s settlements on the New England coasts grew, not out of
the attractiveness of that region, but out of the unattiactiveness of
England to men who valued religious liberty more than personal
comfort and riches, Men were punished for crimes by deportation
to the colonies. The slave trade was put under requisitivn for
laborers that Europe could not supply. This was especially true of
the tropics, where white men could not do the work of the fields.
The Dutch Guiana colonies depended absolutely upon their slaves
to work their plantations, so much so that the slaves far outnum-
bered the colonists and, though unarmed, were a constant menace
to the peace and safety of the settlements. So inexorable was the
demand for slaves that the Dutch stimulated the Caribs to make
war upon the interior tribes, that the captives taken might be
enslaved. Europe was not wanting ‘‘lands for the landless.”
England had appropriated an extent of territory so great that free
lands of the best quality were offered, three hundred and seventy-
five years after Cabot’s discovery, both in the United States and
Canada, to all who would settle upon them. Bureaus were eatab-
lished and agents sent to Europe to seek for emigrants, and the
supply of free lands has not yet been fully exhausted. No other
nation was hindered or kept out of the present use of lands that it
was then waiting to cultivate. So far as there were contentions,
they were for power, for points of future advantage, for gold --
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not for setllement. The Dutch were not kept by Spain out of a
territory they were ready to Settle. The small region they had
seized as an act of war, on the coast of Guiana, was in excess of
their ability to setile, and so remained up to the cession to Great
Britain, two hundred and one years after the date of the first Dutch
settlement, as fixed by the British Case.

It is to this period and to these conditions that the doctrine of
a ‘“reasonable time" is to be applied; and in the further light of
the practical definition given by the other great nations in those
parts of America claimed by them.

Before concluding this discussion, we think it well to say that
it is the law and the international usage of the 16th and 17th cen-
turies, and not the stricter modern view of occupation, expressed
in the Berlin Convention of 1884, that must govern in this case.

This is admitted in the British Case (p. 154) to be the rule as
applied to the reasonable period given for actual settlement, and
by the same reason it must be the rule as to the character of the
settlement required, and the constructive extent given to such
settlements.

Ch. Soloman, in his ‘‘ Occupation of territories without an
owner,” takes the view that the occupations effected in former
times cannot be considered by the standard of principles admitted
in Berlin, but according to the principles ruling at the time. As
an example, the author presents the case of the Caroline Islands,
and asserts Lhat the question was settled with as much wisdom as
impartiality by the Pope. Germany alleged the existence on the
islands of commercial establishments of her subjects; the steps
taken by the founders of such establishments toinduce the German
Government to establish a protectorate over the island; the absence
of sovereignty of Spain, who did not have even subjects engaged
in commerce in that region; the want of indications to the powers
that there was a nation exercigsing right of sovereignty over the
territory, and the participation of Spain in the Berlin Congress.
The exceptions taken by Germany and Great Britain in 1875 were
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also alleged respecting the case of a consul having claimed as
Spanish subjects some natives of the Caroline Islands, saved by an
English vessel from a shipwreck, an exception over which Spain
remained silent, as though she did not pretend to rights of
sovereignty over those islands.

Spain alleged that effective occupation was not applicable to the
island of Tap; first, on account of its geographical position; second,
becanse it was not an object of new occupation. There had been
a prior occupation; Spanish officers were on land engaged in build-
ing a small fort when the German officers arrived; the Spanish flag
had floated over the Caruline Islands since 1526, From that time
forward and in the 16th, 17th and 18th centuries, Spain had sent
to those islands a great number of military expeditions and many
religions missions, and had made repeated attempts at coloniza-
tion. In 1781 the Philippine missionaries succeeded in reaching
the archipelago. Spain had the monopoly of missions, the dif-
fusion of religion, and of the planting of civilization in those
remote islands. In 1885 the frigate Velasco visited the island of
Tap, and the Minister for the islands informed the Senate that it
was the intention to renew those visits, and that the manifestation
of sovereignty seemed expedient; that the natives knew the name
of His Majesty Alfonso XII., and knew also that they were under
Spanish control.

Appointed as a mediator, the Pope recognized the sovereignty
of Spain over the Caroline and Palaos Islands, based on the fact of
discovery, and the acts performed there by the Spanish Govern-
ment, though these acts did not give it the character of effective
occupation,

In 1843 Mr. Upshar, Secretary of State of the United States, in
a letter of instructions to Mr. Everett, our Minister to (ireat Brit-
ain, said. (Wharton, Int. Law, i, 5):

 How far the mere discovery of a territory which is either unsettled, or

settled only by savages, gives a right to it, iz & question which neither the
law nor the neages of nutions hay yet definitely settled. The opinions of
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mavkind, upon this point, have undergone very great changes with the
progress of knowledge and civilization. Yet it will scarcely be denied that
rights acquired by the general consent of civilized nations, even under
the erroneous views of an unenlightened age, are protected against, the
changes of opinion resulting merely from the more liberal, or the more just,
views of alter times. The right of nations to countries discovered in the
sixteenth century is to be determined by the law of nations as understood
at that time, and not by the improved and more enlightened opinion of
three centuries later.”

Bat, if it is still said that the whole of Guiana cannot be
claimed by Spain under her title as a discoverer, notwithstanding
the law of that time and the practice of the nations in the settle-
ment of America, surely the limited claim here involved cannot be
denied.

In the Case of Venezuela (vol. i, pp. 281, 283; paragraphs 9, 17)
there are described as having the characteristica of geographical
units, certain regions less than the whole of Guiana, to which it
is claimed the occupation of Spain, at the least, extended. The
British Counter-Case denies that either of these regions was a
geographical unit, and denies a Spanish actual or attributive
occupation, with this reservation as to the region described in
paragraph 9: '‘and except so far as Mission stations constituted
occupation, it is not true that Spain occupied any part of such
region.” (B. C.-C., pp. 189-140; paragraphs 9, 17.)

It is further said that the Dutch ‘‘occupied or controlled the
rest of that region.”

The Spanish missions constituted an official occupation in a
mosat distinct sense, and looked directly to the use of the soil for
crops and grazing, It is a small claim that Venezuela—the suc-
cessor of the discoverer—puts forward when she suggests these
limited areas as the scope of Spain’s occupancy and title. If the
Biitish claim to Barima were'granted, not one foot of the sea
coast of Guiana would remain to the discoverer,

If Venezuela's claim is allowed to the Essequibo she will then
take less than one-third of Guiana.
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Before the Dutch settled in Guiana Spain had occupied the
region to the north and west of the Orinoco. She had traversed
the Orinoco from the sea to ils head waters, and from its sources
to the sea. She had settled Trinidad as a base of supplies and
defense for her contemplated river settlements, and for her pro-
jected occupation of Eldorado. She had founded Santo Thome at
the most available point on the east bank of the river—above the
marsh lands—as a nearer base for her inland occupation. All the
region to the north and west of the Orinoco River she had actually
appropriated. Spain had also appropriated the Pacific coast, and
her occupation there cut off the approach of other nations from
that direction to the head waters of the Amazon and of the
Orinoco; while her own people came from the Pacific to the
Atlantic by way of those rivers. Portugal, which from 1580 to
1640 was under the crown of Spain, had occupied and appropriated
the Amazon, and thus Spain held the approaches to Guiana on
three sides, when the Dulch entered the Essequibo. But Spain's
coast nccupation was not limited to the Amazon and the Orinoco.
She had occupied the Essequibo before the Dutch came.

It will hardly be denied by Great Britain that the line of the
Essequibo might bave been well and rightfully claimed by Spain
when the Dutch entered there, if, as we claim, there had been an
earlier Spanish settlement on the Essequibo, even if it was not
then maintained. Spain was, in other places, and by other public
and effective acts, prosecuting and proclaiming her purpose to
occupy Guiana, and the withdrawal for a time of the Essequibo
settlement did not work an abandonment. In view of her own
contentions in the St. Lucia and Falkland Island cases, Great
Britain can not be heard to say that it did. The evidence of a
Spanish settlement in the Essequibo is, we think, complete.

The constructive effect which Great Britain gives to the Duich
settlement on the Essequibo certainly cannot be denied to the
earlier Spanish settlement there, and, given that scope, the whole
interior was in Spanish occupation.
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But if there had never been a Spanish settlement on the Ease-
quibo, the settlements at Trinidad and Santo Thome, taken in
connection with the explorations and acts of dominion by Spain
on the coast and in the interior, surely had a larger effect than
to give to her,as the discoverer of Guiana, a mere strip on the
eastern bank of the Orinoco below the Caroni, and even that strip
hroken on the lowest stretch of the river, so as to wrest from her
the control of that great water way and isolate her settlements.
It would be an unprecedented application of the rules and usages
of the time to limit Spain to the Essequibo line. To give less
effect than that to her discovery and occupation would be to say
that discovery is so reprehensible that no large constructive ex-
tension of its bounds can be allowed; that all such beneficial con-
structive effects are reserved for the meritorious second comer.

We have limited our discussion under this head to the question
of Spain’s title by discovery, and have chiefly referred to such
Spanish explorations and settlements as antedated the first Dutch
settlement on the Essequibo. Our purpose has been to show that
Spain’s title covered that region, and that the Dutch could not
enter there as upon lands ferra nullius; that they could only dis-
place Spain’s title by conquest, by cession or by preecription. At
a later period in our argument we will discuss the limitations that
attach to those forms of title, and the extent of territory that
must be allotted to Spain, even if her just claims as the discoverer
of Guiana are ignored.

We have maintained, we think, these propositions:

First,—That Spain discovered and took a good ceremonial
occupation of Guiana, which was then a distinct geographical
unit, a region every boundary of which could be traversed by a
continuous boat journey; that the geographical separateness of
the region was further emphasized by the fact that in its centre
the Eldorado was, in the belief of the time, located.

Secoxp.—That Spain’s discovery and ceremonial occupation of
Gniana were followed, within a reasonable time, by the organiza-



DISUOVERY. 237

tion of a nuwber of strong and costly exploring expeditions, which
fought their way against the Indians into many parts of the
interior, entered every important river and coasted every boun-
dary, and that the avowed purpose of all these labors was thy
occupation of Guiana.

Tump. —That before any settlement within the bounds of
(3uiana had been made by another nation, Spain had established
permaneut settlements on the Island of Trinidad and at Santo
Thome, had for a time maintained a settlement on the Kssequibo,
and had appointed a Governor of the * Province of Guiana.”

FourtH.—That these acts and settlements were, and wore
publicly known to be, a part of Spain's scheme for the occupation
of Guiana, and, in the belief of the time, closed the only prac-
ticable entrance to the Eldorado in the interior of that Province.

Firra.—That Spain’s purpose to occupy and hold Guiana, and
her presence there, were so well known to the Dutch and to the
English, that when they came there, with any intent to enter or
to occupy, it was in the expectation of an armed conflict with
Spain.

SixTH.—That when the Dutch settled on the Esseyuibo, Lhey
well knew that Spain claimed Guiana, and especially had pot
abandoned her claim to Kssequibo. They were at war with Spain
aund seized her territory. They held Essequibo just as they would
have held Trinidad and Santo Thome if they had been able to main-
tain themselves there.

SevenTH. —That Spain had perfected her title to Guiana by the
rules of law and the practice of the nations then prevailing, and
had never abandoned any part of it. But that even if Spain’s acts
were inadequate to confirm her title to the whole of Guiana, they
were certainly adequate to confirm her title to the territory in
dispute; that the Dutch could not therefore rightfully occupy, as
terra nullius, Essequibo or any part of the disputed territory, and
that any title acquired by the Dutch there must be rested either
upon conquest, cession or prescription.
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EiGHTH.---That if by Spain’s dereliction any part of her dis-
covery became subject to appropriation by another nation, Spain's
inchoate title was mot lost until—and only so far as—that other
nation first accomplished a competent, actual occupation.

We state here, for elaboration hereafter, these further proposi-
tions:

(A.) That as Spain was the discoverer and made the first settle-
ments, she is entitled to claim the full benefit of every rule, giving
a constructive extension to the limits of her actual occupation,
before any of these rules can be invoked to aid the Dutch.

(B.) That titles by conquest, cession and prescription are not
helped by the large rules of comstructive occupation, but are
strictly limited.

Before, however, discussing the boundary upon the theory
propounded by Great Britain, namely, that Spain must be limited
to her actual occupation, we desire to discuss the Dutch-British
title; to show that it has its origin either in conquest, cession or
prescription, and to point out the limitations of those forms of
title.



CHAPTER VIL

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE DUTCH WEST INDIA COM-
PANY AS BEARING ON THE QUESTION OF TITLE

Allusion has already been made to the peculiar character
of the Dutch West India Company ag a private trading cor-
poration engaged in the government of a colony. In order to es-
tablish fully the character of its acts as influencing the question
of title, it is necessary to examine separately the constitution of
the Company, the purposes for which it was organized, and the
mode in which these purposes were carried out.

The Dutch West India Company was originally chartered in
1621, at the close of the truce between Spain and the Netherlands.
Its charter was renewed in 1647, a year before the war came tv
an end.

The Company, as stated in its original charter, was created for
purposes of trade. It was considered by the States-General
that the maritime and commercial enterprise of the Dutch would
be wasted if left to individual enterprise. It was in order to con-
centrate all the efforts of such individuals and to direct them in a
single channel that the West India Company was formed. So
says the preamble of the charter (V. C. vol. iii, p. 1)

¢ And being desirous that the aforcsaid inhubitunts not only be main-
taied in their navigation, commerce aud trade, but also that their com-
merce should incresse as much as possible, especinlly in counformity with
the 'I'reaties, Alliances, Conventions, and Agreements formerly made con-
cerning the commerce and navigation with other Princes, Republics and
nations, which Treaties we intend shall be punctually kept and observed
in all their parts:

And we, finding by experience that without the common help, aid
and means of a (General Company no profitable Lusiness cun be carried
on, protected and maintained in the partsa herenfter enumerated, on se-

count of the great riske from sea pirates, extortions and other things of
the same kind, which are inourred upon euch long and distant journeys:
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We, therefore, being moved by many different and pregnant consid-
erutions, have, after mature deliberation of the Council and for very
pressing causes, decided that the navigation, trade and commerce in the
West Indies, Africa, and other countries lLereafter enumerated, shall
henceforth not be carried on otherwise than with the common united
strength of the merchants and inhabitants of these lands, and that to
this end there shall be established a General Company which, on ac-
connt of onr great love for Lthe common welfare, and in order to preserve
the inhabitants of these lands in full prosperity, we shall maintain and
strengthen with our assistance, favour and help, as fur as the present
state and condition of this country will in auny way allow, and which we
shall furnish with a proper Charter, and endow with the privileges and
exemptions hereafter enumerated, to wit:

L

Thut for s period of twenty-four years no pative or inhmbitunt of this
country shall be permitted, except in the name of this United Company,
either from the United Netherlands or from any place outside them, to
snil upon or to trade with the consts and lands of Africa, from the Tropic
of Cuncer to the Cape of Good Hope, nor with the countriez of Americn
und the West Indies, begiuning from the southern extromity of New-
foundlund through the Straitz of Magellun, Le Muire, and other struits
and chunnels lying thereabouts, to the Strait of Anjau, neither on the
North nor on the South Sea, nor with any of the islands situated either
on the one sido or the other, or between them both; nor with the Aus-
trulian and southern lsnds extending and lying between the twu muri-
disns, reachivg in the enst to the Cape of Good Hope, aud in the west Lo
the east end of New Guinen, inclugive.”

The object of the charter was not to make that a public enter-
prise which had theretofore been private. The West Indian com-
merce of the Dutch was to be concentrated; but it was concen-
trated in the hands of a private corporation. Other corporations
and individuals could only engage in it through and under the
Company which had the monopoly.

The monopoly of trade so given to the Company did not give it
any rights as against other States, or the subjects of other States,
and asserted no rights on the part of the Netherlands as against
other States or their subjects. The territory to which it re-
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ferred included the whole of North and South America, a part
of Africa, the whole of Australia and the islands of the South
Sea. At the date of the charter, a large part of this terri-
tory had already been taken up by various European States; and
obviously the charter never meaut, nor was intended to mean, a
conveyance to the West India Company of rights which had been
acquired by such States, except in so far as such acquisitions might
be made from the enemy of the Republic as an incident of war.
To infer otherwise would be to suppose that the Dutch West India
Company was a gigantic scheme of land piracy, by which a pri-
vate corporation ereated by the Dutch Government was to rob all
the other States of Europe of the soil which they had acquired
and occupied. It is true that proclamations issued later for-
bade all the world to trade with the countries named in the
charter, but these proclamations, which, according to their
terms, would have prohibited England, France and Spain from
visiting or trading with their own colonies, otherwise than
through the Company, must be set down as mere Dutch
rhodomontade. The object and purpose of the West India Com-
pany in 1621 was the development of Dutch trade with Africa,
Australia and the countries of the New World. While the com-
pany was ostensibly a trading company, it was alse, from the
beginning, used as a part of the military organization of the
Netherlands in the war with Spain.

In the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, at any time when a
war was in progress, there was no more important incident of over-
gea trade than privateering. Merchant ships found it necessary to
go armed for defense, and being so armed they took out commie-
gions as privateers, and used their armaments for offensive opera-
tions as well. Privateering against Spain was the real source of the
great profits of the Dutch West India Company during the Thirty
Years’ War. According to Bancroft (V. C., vol. i, p. 75, note):

“ Reprisals on Spanish commerce were the great object of the West
Indis Company. . . . ‘I'he Bpanish prizes, taken by the chartered
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privateers, on a eingle occasion in 1628, were. almost eighty-fold more val-
nable than the whole amonnt of exports from New Netherlands for the four
preceding years.”

For the purpose of injuring Spanish coinmerce in the seas
which it most frequented, and incidentally to enlarge the profits of
privateering, the States-General, in the course of the war, relaxed
its trade prohibitions as to that part of the American coast within
the circuit of the West Indian Islande, including the Orinoco and
the coast line extending around to Florida. These waters were
known to all the world as the Spanish Main. The British Case
appears to lay some stress upon these ‘‘ Sailing Regulations,” as
they were called, as if they were in some sense the definition of
a territorial frontier. Such, however, was not their character or
purpose. They were simply the opening to privateering enter-
prise of a part of the territory in which the chartered Company
had theretofore been given a trade monopoly, and their object, as
stated in Article I (B. O,, I, p. 78), was:

““In order to injure and offer hostility to the King of Spain, his subjects,
and adherents, both on land and water.”

For this purpose the Netherlands threw open to all ita sub-
jects those parts of the coast west of the Orinoco “in order there
to carry on all manner of warfare by sea and by land against the
King of Spain, her subjects and allies.” (V. C., vol. ii, p. 20.)
A share of the prizes taken in this region was, however, reserved
to the West India Company. The mention of the Orinoco in
these regulations only indicates that it was recognized as a centre
of Spanish commerce in that region, which included also the im-
portant and neighboring ports of Carthagena, Portobello and La
Guayra.

The charter was from the first essentially a war measurs.
Efforts had for some years been made to obtain such a concession,
but the Dutch Government refused to grant any charter during
the Twelve Years’ Truce from 1609 to 1621, and the attempts of
the Dutch to make colonies on the coast of Guiana before that
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date had been individual attempts, and had been checked, as in
the case of the Corentin settlement, in 1613, by repressive meas-
ures on the part of Spain. As soon as the Truce was ended, how-
ever, the charter was granted (V. C., vol. i, pp. 89, 75). It doubtless
contemplated the possibility that by the succeas of the Dutch arms
during the war a foothold might be acquired at some point in the
vast territories named in the Company's charter, in America,
Africa or elsewhere, by conquest from Spain, a part of which
might still remain in occupation at its close and be ceded
by Spain in the treaty of peace, as was actually done, on the
basis of ufi possidetis. (rdinarily, such a foothold, if pre-
gerved at all during war, is preserved by a military occapa-
tion. The charter, however, having given the Dutch Company
the trade monopoly in all territories that might possibly be subject
to conquest, also provided for occupation by the West India Com-
pany, which was allowed to build ‘‘ fortresses and strongholds,
appoint Governors, soldiers, and officers of justice, and do every-
thing necessary for the preservation of the places and the main-
tenance of good order, police, and justice” (V. C., vol. i1, p. 2).
These are attributes of internal sovereignty, delegated by a Gov-
ernment for specific purposes to a private corporation. It was also
allowed, within the limits named in the charter, to make ** con-
tracts, leagues and alliances with the Princes and natives of the
lande therein comprised.” The only limitation upon it was that
““the representatives of the Company shall successively com-
municate to us and hand over such contracts and alliances as
they shall have made with the aforesaid Princes and nafives,
together with the situation of the fortresses, strongholds, and set-
tlements taken in hand by them.”

These powers were renewed in the charter of 1647, and thereby
projected into the period of peace following the Thirty Years'
War, and they were substantially repeated in the charter of 1674,
given to the new West India Company, which only terminated in
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1791, but limited in terms to the two geographical points of Eese-
quibo and Pomeroon.

It will thus be seen that, under their charters, the West India
Company held certain deputed and delegated powers over the settle-

-ments comprieed in their charters and over the colonists of which
these settlements were formed. It not only held these powers, but
it exercised them. The authority over Essequibo and Pomeroon
was thereafter entirely in the hands of the Company. The Dutch
Government never interfered with it except to settle the occasional
quarrels as to their respeciive powers between different Chambers
of the Company. The States General had given powers of govern-
ment to the Company, and they left them to the Company. The
acts of the Company during this period, therefore, in the exercise
of these powers were the acts of the Dutch Government. Its ad-
missions and claims in reference to territorial rights were the ad-
missions and claims of the Government. The Dutch title, what-
ever it may have been, could be asserted only through the Com-
pany. It was in fact asserted only by the Company, except on
the three formal occasions when the Company applied to the
States General to cause representations to be made to the Spanish
Government by their Ambassador at Madrid, and upon all of
these occasions the Company had already been acting directly
by means of correspondence with the Spanish authorities on the
spot.

Whatever Dutch claims, therefore, may be asserted to terri-
tory in Guiana, no such claim ever was, and cannot now be sug-
gested apart from the Company, and the admissions of the Com-
pany are the admissions of the Netherlands themselves.

The programme outlined in the charler of the Company was
substantially carrvied out. Dutch expeditions made incursions at
various points in the Spanish territory, as on the Orinoco and in
Trinidad, which, however, they did not hold. Under cover of these
incursions, the Dutch established themselves at points to the east-
ward, including Berbice and Essequibo, in which latter river they
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found the remains of a Spanish fort ready to their hand, on the
island of Kykoveral.

At the close of the war, when an adjustment came to be made
on the principle of present possession, the westernmost of these
establishments, as is clearly shown by the evidence, was this fort
in the Easequibo, marking what was still called, as late as 1814, the
¢ Establishment ” of that name. It is conclusively shown by the
evidence that at this date the Dutch neither held nor possessed
anything to the west of the Eesequibo.

By the Treaty of Munster, therefore, the *“ Establishment ™ at
Kykoveral, with all the other possessions to the eastward, was
ceded to the Netherlands, and, as will presently be shown, the
West India Company expressly admitted that they held these
possessions under a grant of the Spanish title.

As might be expected from the circumstances leading to the
creation of the Company, the necessity for its existence, at least
in the form in which it had been originally constituted, ended
with the close of the war. Its first charter had expired, but was
renewed in 1647, the limits remaining unchanged, and it was
under this charter that the colonies in Guiana were conducted
from the conclugion of the Trealy of 1’eace. In 1674 this charter
expired, and the States General resolved to create a new Company.
In their resolution they stated, (B. C., I, p. 174) a8 to the former
Company that they had *‘ observed that the affairs of that Com-
pany had, through many disasters, fallen into such a state that
shareholders in the same have suddenly become unwilling to con-
tinue the aforesaid Company.”

The charter of the New Dutch West India Company of 1674
was on an entirely new basis. It expressly changed the territo-
rial limits. It said (B. C., I, p. 174):

« None of the natives or inhabitants of this or any other country shall
be permitted, other than in the nume of this United Company, to sail and

trade upon the coasts and lands of Africa, . . . together with the
places of Isekepe [Essequibo] and Bsuwmerona [Pomeroon], sitnated on
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the continent of America, as well as the Islands of Curacao, Arubs, and
Buonaire. . . . Bo that the further limits of the aforesaid charter shall
be open to all the inhabitunts of this State without distinction, to be navi-
gated and traded in by them at their pleasure.”

While the charter of 1621 took in the whole of the New World,
the charter of 1674 was resiricted on the mainland of South
America, to two points, namely, Essequibo and Pomeroon. Be-
yond these two points the Company hud no rights,  The powers
of government that were given them applied only to the manage-
ment of the colony at these two points, and the separate naming
of Essequibo and of Pomeroon, the latter a small stream less than
forty miles away by the coast, showed that the names were used as
specific designations of specific points, and could not be extended
by any general interpretation to cover stretches of territory be-
yond the specific points so expressly named. The charter of 1674
constituted, on the part of the Dutch Government, a delimitation
of the Company’s frontier.

Under this charter and its renewals, always including the
same specific points, and these only, the Company continued
during the rest of its history. Of course. it could not take more
than was granted under its charter, Nor could it extend its
territories. It could not hold adversely to the government creat-
ing it, supposing the title to the adjoining lands to have been in
that Government; nor could it hold adversely to Spain, if the title
were Spanish except within its charter limite of Kssequibo and
Pomeroon. Its charter was renewed in 1700, 1780, 1760 and 1762,
each time without change of limits on the west. The Company
was dissolved at the close of the year 1701 (V. C., vol. i, p. 57), and its
territories theu reverted to the State; but whatever the State may
have taken under this reversion, it could take no more than that
which the charter had named, to wit, Essequibo and Pomeroon.
The boundaries of this reversionary title were, at least by this
time, definitely known.

Of course the Dufch Government could not take from the
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Company in 1791 more than the torritory to which the Company
held title, and the Company could oot hold title to anything be-
vond its grant. If the Netherlands poseessed territory at the
Treaty of Munster beyond that defined in the charter of 1674,
they did not give such territory to the Company. They must
therefore, unless they abandoned it, have held it themselves.
Yet the fact is indisputable that they never held, or imagined
they beld any territory except that which finally came to them
by the reversion. There is no pretense that they ever held a
title or claimed or exercised dominion otherwise than to the
territory covered by the Company’s grant. The Government
never did an act, made a claim, or passed a measure, from 1674 to
1791, in reference to this territory otherwise than by or through
the West India Company.

Under these circumstances, how can the Netherland’s grantee,
under a conveyance of the ‘ Establishment of Essequibo,” assert
a claim to anything beyond the limits of the charter of 16741 She
cannot contend that the Company held more than its grant. She
cannot contend that the Netherlands held anythiog, or pretended
to hold anything, except their reversivnary interest in the Com-
pany's territory. Whence comes this British title, spreading out
over about one hundred thousand equare miles of land west of the
Essequibo and the Pomeroon, when Great Britain’s grantors held
only these two specific * establishments™1

The British Counter-Case attempta to answer by the startling
proposition that the territory was terra nullius, not only in 1648, in
1874, and in 1814, but even at the date of the Treaty of Arbitra-
tion, and that as Great Britain has mow got possession of it, in
defiance of the Agreement of 1850, she takes it as first occupant,
even though ber possession may antedate the Treaty only by a
day. It says:

« Her Majesty's Government would be entitled to retuin the whole ter-

ritory up to the Schombargk line, on the simple ground that ut the date of
the Treaty of Arbitration they were in possession, and that the territory in
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question ocannot be shown to have ever belonged either to Bpain or Vene-
zueln”

The terra nullivs theory is discussed in other parts of this Argu-
ment. Here it is only introduced to show one of the many dif-
ficulties it was intended to overcome. It makes ite first
appearance in the last part (p. 114) of the Counter-Case, and it
may be regarded as the last resort in Great Britain's line of
defense.

The British Case has, however, another answer to the question
of the charter of 1674. This is apparently based on an entire mis-
apprehension of the terms of that instrument. The Case states
(pp. 28-9):

“In 1674 o new Chartered Company was formed with fhs same rights
and limils s those posseseed by the former Dutch Company. Pomeroon
and Essequibo are specifically mentioned in the grant.”

The above is directly contrary to the fact, as is disclosed by
the most casual perusal of the provisions of the charter. The
limits were distinctly nof the same limits. The first charter had
included the whole of the New World. The second charter in-
cluded nothing on the mainland of America except Hesequibo and
Pomeroon. These points are not named, asthe British Case sesams
to suppose, as mere descriptive or illustrative designations of parts
of a larger region, but they are named as the limits of the whole
grant as to the mainland of America.

While the charters of the West India Company gave to the
Company certain powers of quasi-sovereignty within the limits
stated in the charter, namely, Essequibo and Pomeroon, the
Wesl India Company, mindful of its character as a private
corporation and of the commercial purpose of its existence,
adopted an organization entirely in accord with this character
and purpose. This organization not only as to the super-
visory direction of the Boards at home, but also as o the ex-
ecutive management of colonial affairs on the spok, remained
chiefly that of a trading company. The local head at first
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called “Commandeur,” but later ** Director-General ” was in the
nature of a General Manager. The local advisory body, when it
came to be constituted, was a Court of Policy, and the duties of
this board were what the name would imply. The functions of
the General Manager and his advisory Board related almost exclu-
sively to trade. Police powers he doubtless had and exercised in
the colony itself. He took cognizance of offenses committed by
the colonists. He settled their disputes, and made regulations for
defense, for police, and for the general health and welfare when-
ever necessary. His relation to the colonists included that sort of
disciplinary supervision which is necessary in a new country; but
by far the largest part of his acts were, as might be expected, in
furtherunce of the purpose for which he as well as the Company
existed, namely, the regulation and promotion of trade.

As the object of the West India Company was to make money,
its interests were to a considerable extent adverse to those of the
colonists. A constant struggle went on, which only terminated
with the termination of the Company in 1781, for the profits of
business in Essequibo. The Company engaged in agriculture to a
limited extent, and as a rule rather disastrously. It had three or
four plantations, on which sugar, coffee and indigo were more or
less raised; but ite main profit was from trade, and in order to de-
rive a profit from that source, it was necessary to keep it in its
own hands and to exclude the colonists. Wherever it saw a pecu-
liar chance of making money out of a given trade, it reserved the
trade to itself and prohibited the colonists from engaging in it.
Numerous instancee may be cited of such prohibitions, in fact the
regulations in reference to trade were constantly changing to meet
these considerations of possible profit to the Company. Thus,
from time to time the colonists were excluded from the horse
trade, the baleam trade, the trade in letter-wood, the Indian slave
trade, the annatto trade, or the trade with the Orinoco, and only
allowed to engage in it through the Company, or by paying a toll
to the Company.
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As all the trade of the colony except that over sea was in or
across the adjoining territory of Spain which is the subject of the
present controversy, these prohibitions became operative upon the
movements of the colonists in that territory, and the reserved trade,
whatever it might be at a given time, was conducted by the Com-
pany’sagents. For a long time it employed to carry on this trade
certain old negro slaves, who were familiar with the paths of the
forest and with the Spanish and Indian traders who were to be
found there or beyond the forest in the savannas of Yuruari and
Cuyuni, near the Orinoco. Later it employed Dutchmen, more or
less, in this work. These employees were of three classes, the
Outliers (Uitleggers), Byliers (Bijleggers) and Outrunners ( Ustlop-
ers). The Outliers remained at specified pointe, and constituted
the so.called Postholders, The Byliers were their assistants,
when they had any. The Outrunners were the employees
whose duties corresponded to those of the old negroes above
mentioned. Except the diminutive garrison, which in 1760
comprigsed only 30 men, the crew of the Company’s yacht, which
watched the mouth of the two rivers, and the Master Planters in
charge of the Company’s plantations, these were all the personsin
the Company’s employ. They were official in the sense that they
were trading employees of the Company; but they exercised no
functions of government,

[t bas been stated that the Company from time to time re-
served to itself certain branches of trade. This reservation, how-
ever, only had reference fo its own colonists of Essequibo, whom
it regarded, and not without reason, as its business competitors.
The prohibition of trade did not apply to anybody else, because
the General Manager of the colony did not pretend to have either
the authority or the ability to enforce such a prohibition against
anybody else. The Spaniards and the Indians were, of course,
never regarded by the Commandeur or by anybody else, as being
affected by such prohibitions. Neither were the other foreigners
who frequently visited and traded in the territory, even as far in
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the interior as the Pariacot Savanna, especially the French and the
English.

In order to enforce the trade prohibitions and other regulations,
it was necessary that the Commandeur should know what the
colonists were about and their movemeunts to and from the colony.
In the exercise of the disciplinary authority which he had as
Geperal Manager of the settlement, the Commandeur required
them, accordingly, to obtain permission to go out of the territory.
This permission was evidenced by a so-called passport. They
were gimply permits to he absent from the colony, or to go to
certain localities, and were for the purpose of enforcing the
Company’s regulations as to trade.

Much has been said about the establishment of the so-called
** posts.” Two of these pusts, those at Mahaicony and at
Demerara, were in the annexed district east of the Essequibo,
and therefore have nothing to do with the present controversy.
Another post was established for a short time in the interior,
and another existed during a greater part of the Dutch period
on the Pomeroun or in its immediate neighborhood, at Wakepo
or Moruca. These posts were points where an Outlier or a
Bylier was placed for purposes of trade and observation. They
also served some purpose in connection with the apprehen-
sion of runaway slaves, which were regarded precisely, being
only a form of property, as strayed animals would be re-
garded. The post at Pomeroon was of an exceptional char-
acter. It was not only a trading depot, but it became the
Colony's custom-house, as it lay upon what they clearly regarded
as the frontier. All the traffic with the Orinoco, which was
extensive for those days, passed through it, and paid a duty there,
in cases where duties were levied. The post in Ouyuni was of too
short duration and too feebly administered to be an important
feature of anything. As far as it went, however, it also was a
mere trading station, and it had none of the features of a frontier
custom-house which marked the post at Pomeroon.
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The relations of the Colony with the Indians will be more fully
treated later. They were maintained primarily for purposes of
trade, especially the slave trade, which became extensive after
1785. Incidentally, they were conducted, as every colony would
conduct them, so as to ward off possible attack and as far as
might be to promote the safety of the settlement. With that
object the colonial authorities, as in all the other colonies of Amer-
ica, took many precautions to regulate the conduct of the
colonists so that offense should not be given to the Indians and
peaceful relations thereby disturbed. This fact, which has been
used in the British case as the foundation for a claim that the
Indians were protected from the settlers, was merely an ordinary
and obvious precaution for the protection of the colony from the
Indians. It is noticeable here as being an additional reason for
maintaining a close and constant supervision of the coloniste out-
side of the limits of the Colony.

As a rule, the trade prohibitions, like all other regulations,
were issued in the form of general prohibitions and are so referred
to in the Dutch correspondence, and from this fact it is contended
that an inference may be drawn as to a general control over trade
in the disputed territory. There is nothing to justify such an in-
ference. The colonists were not specifically named in the prohi-
bitions because there was no need of naming them. No one,
whether of the Company at home, the (olonial Government and
its employees, the colonists, the Spaniards, the Indians, or the
other foreigners, ever supposed that they applied to anybody but
the colonists. Bo with all the other general regulations and pro-
hibitions of the Company, such as those relating to passports, the
movements and other acts of individuals, and the like. When
the Court of Policy issued an order that no one should stop in
Barima, in consequence of the scandalous conduct of Van Rosen
and his companions, it meant that no one of the colonists ghould
stop in Barima. The trade monopoly of the West India Com-
pany, therefore, which is spoken of as an exclusive right of trade,
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was only exclusive of other Dutchmen. The exercise of this ex-
clusive right was not territorial in any sense, but personal. It
may be added that the charter by its very terms restricting the
acts of Dutch subjects in all the territories of the new world,
of whatever nation, contemplated this personal jurisdiction over
Dutchmen on foreign soil.

It is a well recognized principle that the dominion of a State
may extend over its subjects or citizens wherever they may be,
and it was this personal jurisdiction or control that the Colonial
authorities exercised over the colonists outside of the limits of the
colony itself. The union in these authoritiee of two distinct
functions, namely, the government of the colonists and the
prosecution of trade in which the colonists were competitors, led
toa more extensive application of the principle of personal con-
trol than is usually to be found in practice. The Company used
its authority over the colonists to sustain its trade monopoly; and
it is sometimes difficult to see where the trade functions and the
governmental functions respectively begin and end. The point,
bowever, is that the control was in no sense a territorial control
except as exercised within the limits of the tervitory of the colony.
Outside of these limits it operated only upon the persons of the
colonists. No attempt was ever madeto exercise any supervision
or control over anybody except colonists west of the falls of the
Cayuni, in the interior, and west of Moruca, on the coast

This distinction is clearly shown by the controversy which
took place, between 1712 and 1718, between the free colonists and
the Company with reference to the trading monopoly of the lat-
ter. In this the position of the Company was that ite powers
were in no way restricted by Dutch terrilmial limits. It con-
tended that its trade monopoly extended to the control of its
subjects in foreign territory, because such foreign territory was
within the trade limits of the Company’s charter, or, as it
expressed it, *' it is all the Company's territory, though within
the power of the Spanish Crown.”
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By this the Company meant to say simply that, as against
other Dutchmen, it had a right to monopolize trade within the
territory of Spain. This is fully shown by the correspondence.

Thus, Commandeur Van der Heyden, writing in 1718 (V. O.,
vol. ii, p. 75) to the Company, said:

In pursusuce of your order, the prohibition concerning the trading-in
of red slaves, anunstto dye, and balsam copaiba, issned by me on 24 Jaly of
last year, shall provisionally be left standing, and be executed until I receive
counter orders: althongh this causes great regret among the free, who have
complained abont this at various times, urging that they did not clsim to
trade within the territory of the Company, but asked only permission to do
80 on Spanish territory, such as Orinoco, Trinidad, etc.; which I refused
them.

And in a report of the same year he added (V. C., vol. i, p. 76):

Upon this eubject I wrote at much length to the Chamber at the time;
therefore, it cannot be denied that copaiba was ere this sent from here to
the Fatherland, because this trade has been permitted to be free, as it took
place outside of the Company’s district and was only carried on upon
Spanish territory in the river Orinoco, where the inhabitants of the colonies
Berbice und Surinam trade likewise ; however, since the prohibition, no
copaiba oil has to my knowledge been sent, and it shall remain prohibited
until [ receive connter orders.

The Company replied on May 14, 1714 (V. C., vol. ii, p. 78):

“ We leave it still most urgently recommended to you that you strictly
maintain the prohibition of trade in red slaves, annatto dye, and balsam
copaiba; for the Company desires as heretofore to keep that trade ex-
clueively for itself, in order thereby in & measure to provide for the costs
und heavy expense of keeping up that colony, and we ocan therefore give
no heed to the compluints of the inhabitants.

““ And, 88 for their protestations that they are not going to trade within
the territory of the Company, that is absurd indeed; for, although Ori-
noco, Trinidad, ete., is [#ic] under the power of the Spaniards, still it also
lies within the charter of the Company, where nobody hse the right to
trade except the Company and those to whom the Company gives per-
mission to do so; so that it all is the territory of the Company, even
though we huve no forts there. And it is an untruth that an enactment
wae ever published making that trade free; but the contrary is clearly
enough to be seen in the resolution of the Board of Ten. This has there-
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fore crept in there only through neglect; for which reason you are in-
structed, as above stated, to see closely to it that the Company suffer no
injury herein."”

On May 24, 1717, the ably-written ** Memorial of the Free
Settlers of the Colony of Essequibo to the Directors of the West
India Company ” was drawn up, showing clearly the injury that
the Company was doing by prohibiting their trade in Spanish ter.
ritory. The Memorial raid (V. C., vol. ii, pp. 77-78):

“Tt is now nearly five years since we have been prohibited by the Heer
Commander Pieter vun der Heijden, acting under the orders of Y. N. from
trading, as well within as without thie Colony in Ked Indian slaves, balsam,
&c.; through which probibition we find ourselves deprived not only of the
advantages the said bnsiness, however small, would have been able to bring
to ms, but fnrther must see the profits, which were to be expected therefrom,
acorue before our eyes to onr neighbours, to wit, the colonists of Surinam
and Berbice, and seeing that it has pleased Y. N, to make a prohibition of
such a character to take effect, we trusted that it, through the serions recom-
mendation of our aforesaid Heer Commandenr would have been suspended,
so we take liberty, Y. N., simply and directly to show how little advantuge
it is for the Noble Company that the aforesaid prohibition continues to re-
main, how moch prejudice we suffer therefrom, and how it favours the
inhabitants of Surinam and Berbice, and also encourages them to push on
the business more and more to their profit.

“ Your Noblenesses are well aware that it is permitted to those of the
said colonies to traffic in everything they can get, nothing else is left for us
than the bartering for Indian vessels, canoes and coriale, und occasionally
some hammocks or cacuo from the Spaniards in Orinoco; so that we are
restricted in a river, which is ontside of the territory of the Noble Com-
pany, where the same has no more power than a private merchant, which is
in the Spanish possession, and where the commouest porson of our neigh-
bours ia allowed to carry on trade in anything that he plesses, as well as the
Noble Company, without exception from what place they come, Y. N. are
also aware (or at least we suppose so) that Orinoco is a river which is ac-
connted aa the property of the King or Crown of Spain, and consequently
that nation there master, and whenever u vessel from Essequibo (we repre-
sent the matter truthfully) be now come in Orinoco, whether it be for trad
ing in vessels or otherwise, und likewise & canoe out of Sarinam or Berbice
find itself there, and that sccording to the fashion of the Indian traffic
one of these Indians with some of his wares (whether it be slaves, balsam,
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or anything that for us is contraband, and nevertheless to those of our
sforesaid neighbours is allowed), to come alongside of the Hs-
sequibo canoe (to which be it said without flattery they also
sell more eagerly partly becanse they have better cargo, partly because
they are able to come to an agreement with us more peaceably),
then are our settlers obliged to apswer the Indians that such
merchandize cannot be traded in by them, thns sending them back to the
Surinam canoe; in consequence against their will they are obliged to con-
tribute to the profits of the same, or otherwise the French and English
barques know well how to pass up. Yet further, whenever a canoe, be it of
Surinam or Berbice, having set sail, has in the neighbourhood of this river
or elsewhere met any free Indians who bave red slaves for asle, they buy the
same in, yes, bring the purchased slaves within the river, deliver them to
one or another of our inhabitants, prooeed on their voyage, traffic in the
Rivers Marocco, Weijne, Barima, Pomeroon, Orinoco, Trinidad, and
wherever it is convenient to them, aim at the greatest profit, and when they
have got everything they can in repassing, take in again their slaves that
they had left here, and push on their journey to Surinam, being well
pleased that the Essequibo inhabitants were oppressed by those who ought
to protect them and their gaing (from which the Noble Company can make
no profit) tnken away and driven into the Surinam purse. That which 1e-
lates to their busiuess presents itself to ue very painfully, sseing that the
Iudians get just as good payment in cargo, no matter with whom they deal,
yet they of Essequibo are much the best supplied, and being the nearest
situated have always before the prohibition been on the most friendly terms
with them.

““ We cannot eo far comprehend what is the object of Y. N. in prohibit-
ing the business to us, seeing that you cannot hinder those from Surinam
and Berbice—yes, not even French, English, and other foreign nations—it
appearing to us as if Y. N. wished to place the yoke on our neck aloue, be-
cause, 80 long a8 Essequibo has been in Eunropean hands, there cannot be
any instance shown that the inhabitants of thie Colony alone were restricted
80 a8 not to be able to carry on this traffic, &e.”

For the purposes of the present Argument, it makes no differ-
ence whether the Company were right or wrong in their theory.
The point is that they clearly distinguished between territorial
rights and the right of exclusive trade, and that they held the
latter to extend, as against Dutch subjects, into what was ad-
mittedly the territory of a foreign State. No conclusion, there-
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fore, can be drawn as to territorial claims froin any assertion of
the West India Company to exclusive rights of trading.

Another result of the constitution of the Colonial Government
as being in the hands of a Lrading company is to be noticed in its
important bearing upon the evidence in the present case. Owing
to the fact that the Company was engaged in commercial business,
as well as in governing a colony, and that its representative on
the spot was not only the Colonial Governor, but the business
agent of the Company, his reports and correspondence describe
the course of events with a minuteness and detail which would
never be found in the archives of an ordinary Government colony.
This correspondence is open to inspection, and has been examined
and in large part offered in evidence by both parties. It is so full
and detailed that it may almost be said to give the daily record of
every event, even of minor importance, in the history of the
colony; in some cases it is actually a daily record. It follews that
where no mention i8 to be found in the Dutch archives of an
alleged event of importance, it is well-nigh conclusive evidence
that no such event took place. Especially as to questions of set-
tlement and political control it may be safely assumed that, what-
ever other persons may have imagined, there was nosuch thing as
Dutch settlement or Dutch control beyond that which the Dutch
archives indicate. If, therefore, the Governor of Cumana or
Guayana reports that a rumor, as was now and then the case, of
some important act of the Dutch, by way of making settlements or
exercising control, had reached his ears, it may safely be assumed
that the rumor was without foundation unless it is confirmed by
the Dutch archives. It is impossible to read these latter at any
point without being struck by their minuteness of detail; and no
event, the record of which is omitted in the archives, can be proved
in the present proceeding by the mere rumor from another source
of its occurrence.

The Spanish Colonial authorities, on the other hand, reported
little to the Council of the Indies that can be called a record of
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current events, certainly nothing with reference to the course of
trade. Substantially everything that we have on this subject,
even as to the trade of the Spaniarde themselves, comes from the
Dutch archives. In 1750 the Spaniards were coming down the
Cuyuni in such nambers to trade in Essequibo that a Committee
was actually appointed to report a plan by which they could be in-
duced to defer their traffic until they reached the lower Essequibo,
where the Company’s warehouse and principal plantations were
situated. (B. C., App. II, p. 68.) The Spanish trade in hides,
tobacco and live stock with Moruca by way of the Barima was
likewise a very extensive traffic, carried on wholly, in the later
periods, by Spaniards. But as to these two facts, proved conclu-
sively by the Dutch records and of such vital importance in this
controversy, not a word is to be found in the Spanish archives.
The reports written by the Colonial Governors were always of a
general character, in the nature of extended dissertations upon the
general welfare of the colony, and it was only when some special
occasion arose for it that they dealt with passing events at all, In
the construction of theee general reports the Governors dealt
largely with subjects which they only knew from hearsay, especi-
ally in reference to any movements of the Dutch. Under these
circumstances, ne conclusion is to be drawn from a failure to refor
to any given occurrence, for such occurrences, unless there was
special occasion for doing it, were rarely or never reported.




CHAPTER VIIL
THE DUTCH TITLE—CONQUEST.

The Dutch title, to such possessions as they had in Guiana in
1648, was acquired by war; is a title by conquest and was con-
firmed and perfected by the Treaty of Munster.

In the British Case (p. 21) it is said:

“ In 1581 the Dutch had formally renonnced the sovereignty of Spain,
and the war then raging between the two countries continued till 1648,
with an interval of partial truce from 1609 till 1621."

The Dutch then entered Guiana while they were in a state of
war with Spain, a war for independence on the part of the Dutch,
and, on the part of Spain, to reduce its rebellious subjects and to
re-establish its sovereignty.

If the Dutch were the victors, all Spanish territory actually
held by the Dutch at the close of the war became theirs by con-
quest—the title to be perfected by a treaty of peace.

If Spain was victorious, the attempt to introduce a new state
would fail; there could be no treaty, for there would be hut one
sovereignty. Spain’s old title and sovereignty would be re-
established, and Essequibo would be a Spanish colony.

It may be said that to allege a Dutch title to Essequibo by con-
quest from Spain is to assume a prior Spanigh title. We reply
that the manner and circumstances of the Dutch occupancy and
the cession taken from Spain were a recognition by the Dutch of
Spain’s prior right.

It is not necessary that Spain’s title should have been a perfected
title, or that the places seized by the Dutch should have been at
the time in the actual oscupation of Spain. It is enough that the
Dutch entered in war to seize and appropriate Bpain’s title—what-
ever it was—by force, and at the close of the war took by treaty a
release of that title. As against Spain, the Dutch limits must be
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determined by the rules applicable to a conquest, and by the terms
of the treaty of peace. The Dutch entry in Guiana was an act of
war, not the peaceful appropriation of lands believed to be unap-
propriated, and, by the treaty of peace, the Dutch asked and took
a transfer to themselves of Spain’s title to Essequibo, which they
had seized in war and then held,

Spain’s title was appropriated by conquest, and was extin-
guished only so far as the actual Dutch occupation extended.
The Treaty of Peace runms in those terms, and implies that a
title to the territory ceded was derived from Spain, and that
beyond the cession the territory was Spain’s. In other words,
that prior claim or title in Spain, which is necessary to give the
Dutch acquisition the character of a conquest, was conceded by
the Dutch. They expressly set up a title to their New World pos-
sessions based upon conquest from Spain, in the New Netherland
controversy, as we ghall see. Spain claimed the Essequibo terri-
tory and defended that claim by arms. The Dutch, by arms,
effected an appropriation of Spain’s claims, and so wers able to set
up, as they did, the Spanish title against other claimants.

They cannot say they took nothing in Essequibo from Spain,
either by conguest or cession. Spain parted with her title—de-
prived herself of the right to recover Essequibo--and the Dutch,
while holding that title, cannot free themselves from the limi-
tations that attach to it.

Until the treaty of peace was signed and Dutch independence
recognized, Spain’s right to take—if she could—every foot of ter-
ritory possessed by the Dutch, must be conceded. In the Treaty
of Munster the Dutch distinctly recognized the fact that Spain
as sovereign of revolted Portugal, had still a title to ** the places
in Brazil,” though they were then as much in the effective control
of Portugal as Essequibo was in the control of the Dutch. By
that treaty they took an absolute assignment of Spain’s title to
Kssequibo, and a conditional assignment to ** the places in Brasil,”
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both at the time in the occupation of provinces of Spain that had
revolted and declared their independence.

The war between Spain and the States General was waged
with a bloody intenstity in the Low Countries, but it was not
limited to that region. The Dutch carried it into the distant
possessions of Spain; sent out their fleels to capture Spanish
Colonies, to harry the coasts of Spain's distant possessions, to de-
stroy her commerce and to seize her ships. This from Brodhead
gives a comprehensive sketch of these military operations:

“The Company laid waste Bahia, which, independent of the incurred
damages, cost the King of Spain over ten millions to recover it; and,
also, captured, plundered, and destroyed Porto Rico, Margarita, Sancta
Martha, 8t. Thomas, Guiana, and sundry other places;

Took and retsined Pernambuco, and Tamarica, whereby the King of
Spain hath lost over a million and a half of yearly revenue. .

Prevented the Portuguese, by the continual cruizing of our ships on
the coast of Brazil, from bringing over their sugars and other prod-
wee. . . .
Algo, captured his fleet from New Spain, and thrice made prize of the
rich Honduras ships; took, moreover, in divers parts of Africa and
America, over a hundred of his vessels, most of which had full freights,
including several of his best galleons ; and burnt and destroyed nearly as
many, if not more, that had ran ashore.” (Brodhead, Docs., vol. i,
p. 83.) -

Even the truce of 1609, as the British Case admits, was
“ partial ” and not effective, The Dutch knew that Spain claimed
Guiana; that she was engaged in settling it; that she was draw-
ing from her American colonies the wealth that enabled ber to
continue the war; that some of her treasure-ships rendezvoused
in the Orinoco, and that in the interior of that province there
was believed to be a fabulous store of gold. Guiana was a
vulnerable and exposed point. The Spanish garrisons were not
strong, and a ‘‘ sedem belli ” there offered great opportunities to
harass Spain and to divert from her treasury to the Dutch
treasury a great store of the precious metals. It also offered an

opportunity to cripple and appropriate the trade of Spain to the
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West Indies, It would seem, therefore, unduly to discredit the
intelligence and strategy of the Dutch to assume that they did
not carry the war thither. We should expect them to do so,
and we find that they did.

In a minute made by the Estates of Zeeland, in November,
1599, we read:

“In the matter of the request of the Burgomaster of Middelburg,
Adrisen ten Hueft, setting forth how that in the preceding year, 1598, at
heavy cost to himself, he caused to be investigated on the continent of
America many different rivers and islands,—and how that in this voyage
were discovered various cousts and lands where one conld do notable damage
to the King of Spain ™ (V. C., vol. ii, p. 12).

Commenting upon this, Professor Burr, in his report to the
American Commission (V. C.-C., vol. ii, p. 46), says:

““ What it seems safe to infer is that this was the beginning of Zeeland's
dealings with these unsettled coasta of the West—that the coasts in view
were conceived of as belunging to the King of Spain, and that the enter-
prise was one of hostile aggression.”

In a note Professor Burr says:

“*It should perhaps be remembered that it was in this year, 1599, that
there sailed forth from the Zeeland port of Flushing the Duteh armada
under Pieter van der Does, which, after taking a town in the Usnaries and
avenging at the Isle de Principe that unsuccessful enterprise of Balthazer de
Moucheron in 1698 which Berg van Dussen Muilkerk calls the *earliest
attempt at colonization from out the Netherlands,’ sent seven or eight of its
ships across the Atlantic to ravage the coast of Brazil. They returned,
with great booty of sugar, in the following year” (V. C-U,, vol. ii, p. 46).

We have the report of a Dutch expedition to Guiana—probably
the very first—in 1597-8, by Cabeliau, clerk of the expedition.
The States General voted aid towards the arming of the expedition,
and its destination was ‘‘ Guiana, in the Kingdom of Peru” (V.
C.-C., vol. ii, p. 48).

By the report of Cabeliau the States (General were advised that
the Spaniards were established at Santo Thome, and that there was
then a Spanish Governor over all the coasts to the Amazon.
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He further says:

*To sum up briefly, there ig up that river (Caroni) in the kingdom of
Guiana certainly mnch gold, as we were told by the Indians from there
as well s by our Indians here present, and the Spaniarda themaelves say
so; but for our people busied with trade it is not feasible to cxpect any
good therefrom, unless to that end considerable expeditions were equipped o
altack the Spaniards, This is the only means of learning the whereabouts
of any gold mines from the Indians; for whosoever are enemies, and bear
enmity to the Spaniards, are [riends with the Indiuns, sod they hope
steadily that they shall be delivered from the Spaniards by the Datch and
the English, as they told us * (U. 8. Com. Rep., vol. ii, pp. 18-20; for a
different translation see B. C., I, p. 21).

That is to say, we may get some trade to these coasts, but
if we seek to enter the country—to appropriate its mines, &c.—
we must fight the Spaniards.

There is an anonymous petition to the States General, given
in the British Case (App. I, p. 22), to which the date of 1603 is
ascribed (with an interrogation) in the table of contents.

This document was found by Professor Burr in the archives
at The Hague and examined by him. He believes it to be the
" work of Willemm Usselinx, the well-known originator of the
Dutch West India Company ” (V. C.-C., vol. ii, p. 48). We quote
from this document:

«“® ® & hot the most important and principal thing that your
Lordships have to observe is the suitable situation in case chance or your
Lordshipe should in the future resolve (in imitation of the Homans) to
divert thia long war from these lands, and carry it thither. This province
being the most suituble and best situated place in all America in which

to establish an arsenal and a sedem belli, where the war could easily feed
itsell or be carried on and supported by all kiuds of foreign nations " (B. C.

App. I, p. 25).

To be sure, this writer, in the opening paragraph of his petition,
speaks of the region as a country which ‘' has now recently by
some of the merchant-ships of this country been discovered sit-
uated in America and named the Province of Guiana” (B. C,, I,
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p- 22); but the States General were too well-informed to bring
forwaid a Dutch discovery.

The petition gives the bounds of the province on the west as
including Trinidad and the Punta de Araya salt deposits (U. 8.
Com. Rep., vol. ii, p. 83). This might seem at first to imply
mig-information, but in fact the occupation of the island of
Trinidad by the Spanish was, as we have seen, a part of their
occupation of Guiana. Berrio indicated it as a secure seat from
which the occupation of Guiana might be prosecuted, and it was
for a time under the Governor of Guiana.

This anonymous writer does not fail to take note of the dan-
ger to be feared from Spainand Portugal, if the Dutch should at-
tempt settlements there. He relies, however, upon the difficulty
of access to the harbors, for safety, It must be kept in mind that
before the date ascribed to this paper the Spaniards were estab-
lished at SBanto Thome and in the Island of Trinidad. The interest,
bowever, in this petition, is in the sugyestion of a war policy,
that of the Romans, namely, to carry the war into the enemy’s
couniry, and to ‘‘establish an arsenal and a sedem belli ¥ there;
and in the further suggestion that the States General organize an
*‘Indian Chamber” to carry out the scheme. The date assigned
to this petition is six years before the truce.

Van Meteren, a contemporary of Usselinx, writing in 1607,
represents him as putting forward these views:

“ For it was evident (he urged) that the Spaniard had still many foes
in America, or the West Indies, who were strong and not easy to conguer,
snd who, with a little help, would be able to resist the Spaniards, especially
if one ghould furnish them weapons and should teach them to use horses,

snd algo to move and manipulate troops, 8o as to make the Spaniard show
his back ” (V. C-C. ii, p. 50).

Van Meteren also refers to a prospectus drawn up by Usselinx
in 1804, in which be speaks of the Indians there as

““* * * pgood and friendly folk desiring the acquaintance and
friendship of the Dutch people, whom they knew to be foes of the
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Spaniards, in order to be helped by them agaiust the Spanish tymuny, etc.,
especially the peopls of the interior, these being not barbarizns but tolerably
civilised and organised, not going naked but clothed, and well disposed.”
(V. C-C., vol. ii, p. 51.).

This reference to a tribe of semi-civilized Indians, supposed to
live in the interior of Guiana, and the reference, in the petition of
16083, to some valuable gold mines that had been discovered, sog-
gests that Usselinx’s scheme involved seizing the whole of Guiana
when they had made the *‘ Spaniard show his back.”

The suggestion that the Indians should be used against the
Spaniards was not allowed fo wait the expiration of the truce.
The British Case (App. I, p. 35 ef 2¢q.), with the purpose of showing
the presence of the Dutch on the Guiana coast, prints an account
from Spanish sources of the state of things about 1614 at
Trinidad and on the mainland. Some of these statements,
probably based on rumor, wers unfounded, but so far as the ac-
count is taken to prove the presence of the Dutch, it shows a
hostile presence—a state of war. The Dutch, allied with the
Caribs, were threatening and attacking the Spaniards; and the
latter, in return, were attacking the Dutch and seeking to drive
them from the coasts. These quotations from the British Case
(p. 22) confess a state of war on the Guiana coast:

“In that year (1618) the Bpaniards surprised and destroyed one of their
(Dutch) Settlements upon the River Corentin,”

Again:

“In 1614 the Duotch invested the Island of Trinidad in conjunction
with the Caribs. Reinforcements and ammunition were sent from Spain
with & view to protecting that island, which was in imminent danger.”

The Dutch were trying to possess by arms and hold by force,
not only places where the Spaniards were not actually present,
but the Spanish posts and forta.

The British Case (p. 23), after referring to the destruction of
Santo Thome, in 1618, by Raleigh, says:
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‘“ At this period the Spaniards were definitely exclnded from the coast
to the eastward of the Orinoco. This appears to have been frequented by
them for trading purposes at the close of the sixteenth century; but after the
advent of the English in 1595 and of the Dutch in (at the latest) 1598, and
the succeeding years, it became more and more inaccessible to them. The
English and Dnteh allied themselves with the Curib Indians against the
Spaniards; and after the sack of Santo Thomé by Raleigh in 1818 the
Arawake, till then tho friends of the Spaniards, also turned against them.”

This is a highly instructive statement. It concedes that the
Spaniards, before 1618, ** frequented ” the coasts of Guiana * for
trading purposes,” which was, according to Great Britain's defin-
ition of effective occupation, to use the resources of the country.
The Duich up to this time had no colony on that coast, So far
as they were there it was ‘‘for trading purposes ” only. We
learn, in the next place that at this period the Spaniards were
definitely '‘ excluded ” by the arms of the Dutch and English,
combined with the Caribs, and the coasts of Guiana made ** more
and more inaccessible to them.”

We digress to remark that it must be a little awkward for
Great Britain now to argue that Spain’s failure to appropriate
the resources of Guiana left these coasts open to a peaceful occu-
pation, as upon an abandonment, The facts stated in the
British Case are wholly inconsistent with the theory of a peaceful
entry by the Dutch. Spain was “excluded,” and by arms; and
whether the territory was actually or only constructively a
Spanish possession—the title acquired by the Dutch is a title by
conquest, and can be no broader than the actval exclusion. A
title accomplished by the destruction of Spanish posts and the
forcible exclusion of Spaniards, is not a title by occupatio, and
cannot claim for itself the benefit of the constructive extensions
that apply to such a title. The entry of the Dutch at the Esse-
quibo followed the exclusion of the Spaniards. Professor Burr,
in his report to the American Commission on * The Dutch in
Eseequibo” (V. C-C., vol. ii, pp, 58-88), we think conclusively
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shows that the Duich did not occupy Eseequibo before 1625. The
Spaniards had been there before them.

At the end of the truce, the suggestion of the anonymous
petitioner of 1603 was put into effect by the organization of the
Dutch West India Company. We are told by the British Case
(p. 12) that:

“In 1621, npon the termination of the twelve years' truce between
Spain and the Netherlands, s Company, called the West India Compuny,
was formed under a Charter granted by the Duotch Government for the
purpose of trade and colonization in the Indies. At this date there were
already Dutch settlers in Essequibo. The Company at once established
there an organized Colony, which wus held and governed by Companies
under successive Charters until the year 1791."

Berthold Fernow (Winsor, vol. iv, pp. 8985-396) says of the
Dutch:

“They had studied the weak points of that vast Bpanish empire ‘ where
the sun never set,’ and found in the war with Spain a good excuse to make
_ use of their knowledge, and to send their ships to the West Indies and the
Spanish main to prey upon the commerce of their enemies. The first
proposition to make such an expedition, submitied to the States-Genersl in
1581 by an English seacaptain, Beets, and refused by them, was un-
doubtedly conceived in & purely commercial spirit. Gradually the ides of
destroying the transstlantic resonrces of Spain, and thereby compelling
her to submit to the Dutech conditions of peace and to the evacuation of
Belgium, caused the formation of & West Indis Company, which, author-
ized to trade to and fight the Spaniarde in American waters, appears in
the light of a necessary political measure, without, however, throwing in
the backgronnd the necessity of finding a shorter route to the East
Indies.”

He says that as early as 1606 a plan for the organization of a
West India Company was drawn up, but that the project failed:

“ A pesace or truce with SBpain was abont to be negotiated, and Olden-
barnevelt, then Advocate of Holland and one of the most prominent and
influential members of the peace party, foresaw that the organization of a
West India company with the avowed purpose of obtaining most of its
profits by preying on Spanish commerce in American waters would only
prolong the war. . . . It was only when Oldenbarnevelt, accused of
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high treason, had been lodged in prison, und the renewal of the war with
Bpain had been commended to the public, that the scheme was taken up
again, in 1618 ” (Id., pp. 396-397).

The organization of the West India Company was not con-
sistent with the truce, for it contemplated war upon Spain’s
colonies and commerce in the West Indies; and, while hostilities
were actually allowed there, they could not be thus publicly and
officially sanctioned.

About six months before the first charter of the West India
Company was granted, Cornelis Janssen Vianen, in a memorial
to the Prince of Orange, after referring to his own visits to
Guiana, said:

“Bixthly, regarding the opinion sometimes advanced, that notable profits
might be obtained through diverse products and fruits which might be
found or raised on the mainland of America, between Brazil on the east and
the river Orinoco on the west, in and abount the river Amuzon.

I anewer, that several of our Netherlanders have as yet attained little by
the aforesaid means, althongh up to now they engage there in peacefnl.
trade; and if an uttempt were made with superior force to gain the land
there and by such cultivation introduce products of Brazil and the West
Indiee, the Spaniards would beyond doubt seek foreibly to prevent this, the

more 80 a8 thereby their navigation to Brazil and the West Indies would be
impeded ” (V. C. vol. ii, p. 17).

We are further told in the British Case (p. 12) that, ‘* between
1621 and 1648, during the Thirty Years’ War, the Dutch com-
manded the whole of the coast of Guiana and as far as Trinidad.”

Manifestly this means a military control, and of territory
claimed by Spain. For no pretense has ever been made that, by a
peaceful occupation, the Dutch ever had or claimed such bounds
as are here ascribed.

But we are not left to inferences; for the British Case proceeds
to inform us (p. 12), that ** the Dutch were allied with the Indians
againgt the Spaniards of Sanot Thomé and Trinidad. In 1629 and
again in 1687 they sacked the settlement of Santo Thomé, and in
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the latter year they also raided the Island of Trinidad and burnt
the Spanish settlements there.”
And again (p. 25):

“ In 1629 the English and Datch, under the command of Adrien Janss
Pater, attacked and destroyed SBanto Thomé, and afterwards fortified them-
selves in the branches and creeks of the River Orinoco.”

This alleged occupation of the Amacura and Barima is put for-
ward as the origin of the Dutch title to that region. But if any
title was thus acquired it was clearly one by conquest.

We are further told (p. 18), that “during the whole of this
period ” the Dutch ** were masters of the sea in the neighbourhood
of the mouths of the Orinoco.”

In the British Counter-Case (p. 181, par. 7) we are told:

¢ Tt is true that the earliest relations of the Dutch with Guisns and
with the Essequibo related to trade and hostile operations againsi the
Spaniards, but these relations immediately developed inio the taking of
possession of paris of the country.”

This seems to ue a full admission that the occupation of Esse-
quibo was an act of war,

Winsor gives us this account of Dutch naval operations:

“The Dutchman Spilbergen was raiding here in 1614, and ten
years later, and in the years following, the Datch admirals, to distract
the attention of Spain while the patriots of Holland were struggling
for their independence, hovered here and on the Gulf coast with their
fleets; damaging towns, intercepting Spanish ships, and sometimes mak-
ing a great capture, aa when Admiral Heyn captured the silver fleet
near Matanzas, Ouba, in 1628." (Narrative and critical history, vol. riii,
p. 168.) .

Especial provision was made in the regulations adopted by the
West India Company for Colonies, in 1628, for the capture of
prizes.

The attack upon Santo Thome by the combined Dutch and Brit-
ish forces in 1629, and the alleged attemptsa of the Dutch to fortify
themselves in the creeks of the Orinoco, show that the Dutch
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projet in Guiana was not a peaceful occupation of unappropriated
lands, but an attempt to dispossess an enemy.

If the Dutch forces, after the destruction of Santo Thome, in
July, tarried for a short fime near the mouth of the Orinoco, it
was manifestly to prepare for the attack on Trinidad, which fol-
lowed in October. It was a temporary military occupation, and
no right can be predicated upon it after it was let go. Yet Great
Britain attempts to use it to support a title by occupatio.

In “Documents relative to the Colonial History of New
York,” edited by Brodhead (vol. i, p. 89), we have a report made
by ‘‘the nineteen” to the States General, in 1620, in which it is
declared that, as they had before represented, to make a truce
with the enemy (Spain) would probably ruin the Company. In
the course of an account of what had been done in the region of
Guiana, it is said:

‘“From the commencement of our administration we preferred to pro-
ceed in a warlike manner against the common enemy,” ‘¢ becanse we found
that the expected service for the welfare of our Fatherland and the destruc-
tion of our hereditary enemy could not be accomplished by the trifling
trade with the Indians or the tardy cultivation of nninhabited regions, but
in reality by acts of hostility against the ships and property of the King of
Spain and his subjects, eurprising his possessions snd preserving them for
the pablic service, which plan has been 8o graciously blessed by God dar-
ing these latter years that grent wealth has thereby been brought to this
Btate, and the enemy’s finances thrown into ench arrears and confusion
that no improvement is to be expected therein except from cessation of our
arms and retaining our fleets at home, out of those countriea” * We,
therefore, confidently, and of our own certain knowledge, do assert that
the entering into a trnce must be the runin of this Company.”

Among the sources of wealth, they mention that “the silver coined
and in bars recoived at the beginning of this year, in consequence of the
captare of the fleet from New Spain, amounted to so great a treasure that
never did any feet bring such a prize to this or any other country.”

In the sailing regulations, of the States General for the West
India Company, May 14, 1632, and July 17, 1633, given in the
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British Case (App. I, p. 78), and in the Case of Venezuvla (vol. ii,
pp. 19-20), we have this:

“*Firstly, no such ships (i. &, from any part of the United Provinces,
other than the Company’s) may sail to the coast of Africa, or the New
Netherlands, or elsewhere where the Company may trade, on any pretence :
but they may sail to the coast of Brazil; likewise into the West Indies, to
wit, [from] the River Orinoco wesiwarde along the coast of Cartagena,
Portobello, Honduoras, Campeche, the Gull of Mexico, and the coast of
Florids, together with all the islands situated within these limits, in order
there to carry on all manner of warfure by sea and by land againat the King
of Bpain, his subjects and allies”

The next article made provision for payment to the Company
of certain proportions of the proceeds from the sales of prizes
taken from the enemy. The Company would conduct the ** War-
fare by sea and land ” to the east of Orinoco for its sole profit, but
would open the region to the west to all privateers, for a share in
the war booty.

The letter of Jacques Ousiel to the West India Company, in
1637 (B. C. App. I, p. 82) gives an account of a projected Spanish
and Indian expedition to besiege the Dutch fort at Essequibo.

But the Dutch military operations against Spain in South
America, and the seizure of her territory, were not limited to the
Guiana coasts. They were especially aggressive in Brazil, and
were there also directed against places actually occupied by the
Portuguese—then under the Spanish crown.

In 1623 the Dutch attacked San Salvador or Bahia and took
it; and two years later yielded it again to Spain after a fight in
which the Dutch fleet was destroyed. The war there against
Spain continued until after the Portuguese revolt from Spain, and
afterwards against the Portuguese.

When the treaty of Munster was made the Dutch still held
some of the captured places in Brazil, and had lost some of them.
To these vonquered places, held and lost, the Dutch took Spain’s
ceesion—just as to the places in Guiana still held by them.



272 THE DUTCH TITLE.

All this may seem to be work of supererogation, but at least it
completes the demonstration of the fact that the Dutch attempts
to appropriate QGuiana were not acts of peaceful occupation, but
were acts of war, directed against and intended to weaken an
enemy; that the lands appropriated were the prizes of war quite
as certainly as the ships taken at sea.

But we are not left to argument to establish our proposition
that the Dutch settlements in Guiana were conquests, and that
the Treaty of Munster was a grant or cesgsion by Spain confirming
the Dutch title to these conquests.

We have a definite and nearly contemporaneous admisaion of
these facts by the Dutch. In the sailing permits of the West
India Company—of which one of the year 1653 is given in the
British Counter-Case (App., p. 25)—the Dutch possessions in
Essequibo are explicitly declared to be ‘‘ conquests.” The language
is ‘‘ except in our conquests of Africa, the Wild Coast, Essequibo,
Berbice,” &c.

In November, 1660, only twelve years after the treaty of
Munster, in a *‘ Deductie as to New Netherland, submitted by the
Woeset India Company, to the States General ” we find this:

““King Charles I (of England), of illastrious memory, being likewise of
too just and too generous & nature to give away and present to his subjects
lands and places slready posscssed and governed by other free nations, his
allies, and over which, consequently, no disposition in the world apper-
tained to him.

Unlese such should be claimed on the gronud that the English nation
have settled [Aun neergeslagen] about that region of America (namely, in
Yirginia), prior to and before the Netherlanders.

If that be given weight, then we think the Dutch nation must instead
be preferred, being considered the same as in earlier times, namely, vassala
and subjects of the King of Spain, first discoverer and founder of this new
American world, who since, at the conclusion of the peace, has made over to
the United Netherland Provinces all his right and title to sach countries
and domains as by them in course of time had besn conguered in Europe,
America, ete. (als by hasr ingevolge van iyt in Europa, America, elc., waren
gecoonquesteert).” (V. C., vol. iii, p. 86%.)
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Spain’s title by discovery is here distinctly admitted, and quite
as distinctly the fact that, ‘‘at the conclusion of the peace,” by
the Treaty of Munster, Spain made over to the United Netherland
Provinces all her * right and title to such countries and domains
as by them in the course of time had been conqguered in Europe,
America, etc.”

The Treaty of Munster was a grant by Spain to the Dutch, and
the grant was of territory taken in war.

But we have further evidence, from British sources, that the
Dutch territorial claims in Guiana, now represented by Great
Britain, were based upon conquest from Spain, confirmed by the
ceasion contained in the Treaty of Munster.

In his letter to Senor Rojas, of January 10, 1xs0 (B. C. App.
VII, p. 96), Lord Salisbury, speaking of the boundary dispute, says:

“* With regard to the first of these questions, 1 have the hovour to state
that Iler Majesty’s Government are of opinion thut to argue the matter on
the gronnd of strict right would involve 8o mauy intricute questions con-
nected with the original discovery and settlement of the country, and sub-
sequent conyuests, cessions, und Treatics, that it would be very inlikely to
lead to s satisfactory solutivn of the question. . . . The boundary

which Her Mujesty's Government cluim, in virtue of suciont Treaties with
the aboriginal tribes and of subsequent cessions from Holland, commences,

ete.”

Now, here we have a distinct statement that the British title
rests in part, al least, upon conquest and cession, and those terms
could only be appropriately used of Dutch conquests from Spain
and of Spain’s cession to the Dutch; for (ireat Britain does not
allege a conguest from Spain or any direct cession from her. As
to the reference to ‘‘ treaties with the aboriginal tribes,” it is
enough to say that the reference is to treaties that preceded the
British acquisitions and that no such treaties have been exhibited
—even if sovereignty could have been acyuired by that means.
All of these references to sources of title must relate to a Dutch
title; for Great Britain does not claim to have acquired any direct
title as against Spain, either by congquest or cession. If she has
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any title referable to such sources it is derived from the Dutch.
In his letter of November 26, 1895, to Sir Julian Pauncefote (V.
C.-C., vol. iii, p. 275) Lord Salisbury says (p. 276) the British claim
is “‘in accordance with the limits claimed and actually held by
the Dutch, and this has always since remained the frontier claimed
by Great Britain.”

It is elsewhere affirmed by Lord Salisbury that Schomburgk
did not ‘discover or invent any new boundaries,” but only laid
down the line of Dutch appropriation.

And again, on May 26, 1893, Venezuela, through Tomas Mich-
elena, submitted bases for the conclusion of a Preliminary Con-
vention between Great Britain and Venezula for re-establishing
diplomatic relations and the settlement of the questions pending.
Article 1 contains this recital:

“‘ The Government of Great Britain claims certain territory in Guiana
as successor in title of the Netherlunds, and the Government of Venezuela
claims the same territory as being the heir of Spain” (V. C., vol. iii., pp.
286-287),

In his reply, July 8, 1893, Lord Rosebery amends this state-
ment to read as follows:

*“(Whereas) The Government of Great Britain claims certain territory
in Guayana as successor iu title of the Netherlands and [by right of conquest
a8 against Spain, and whereas] the Government of Venezuela,ete., (V. C.
vol. iii, p. 289).

The British Premier inserts the words, ‘‘and by right of con-
quest as against Spain.” Now, it is not claimed that Great
Britain ever took any part of Guiana from Spain by conquest.
‘We have no hint of such a claim in the whole British Case. The
title by conquest here asserted must then have been based upon a
conquest by the Dutch, and this conquest must have antedated
the Treaty of Munster; for there neither is, nor can be, any claim
made of a later conquest * as against Spain.”

We have then the distinct admissions of the Dutch and of Great
Britain that the territorial titles, which were confirmed to the
Dutch by the Treaty of Munster, were acquisitions by conquest.
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Let us now inquire what the law is as to the limits of a title by
conquest.
The sources of territorial Litle are thus stated by Phillimore:

“ From Grotius we learn that these modes of acquisition were:

1. By oceupation (oceupatione derelicli).

2. By treaty and convention (paclionibuas).

3. By conquest (viclorie jure). And if acquisition by accession and
by prescription be considered as corollaries to occupation, and all cases of
transfer be held to full under the category of treaty and convention, the
enumeration may be considercd as sufficient and complete ” (Phillimore, 3d
Ed., i., 328).

Mr. Wheaton (Int. Law, 3d Ed., Sections i45-t) says:

“T'he treaty of peace leaves everything in the stale in which it found it,
unless there be some exprese stipulation to the contrary. The existing
state of possession is maintained, except so far as altered by the terms of
the treaty. If nothing be said about the conquered country or places, they
remain with the conqueror, and his title cannot afterwards be called in
question. During the continuance of the war, the conqueror in possession
has only a uenfructuary right, and the latent title of the former sovereign
continues, until the treaty of peace, by its silent operation, or express provi-
siong, extingnishes his title forever.

The restoration of the conquered territory to its original sovereign, by
the treaty of peace, carries with it the restoration of all persous and things
which have been temporarily under the enery’s dominion, to their original
state. This general rule is applied, without exception, to real property or
immovablea. The title acquired in war to this species of property, until
confirmed by a treaty of peace, confers a mere temporary right of posses-
gion. The proprietary right cannot be transferred by the conqueror to &
third party, so as to entitle him to claim against the former owner, on the
restoration of the territory to the original sovereign. If, on the other hand,
the conguered territory is ceded by the treaty of peace to the conqueror,
such an intermediate transfer is thereby confirmed, and the title of the pnr-
chaser becomes valid and complete.”

In a note (346¢), Mr. Boyd, the editor of the edition of
Wheaton to which we refer, says:
*“ Firm military occnpation transfera all the rights of the displaced sov-

ereignty to the victor, and he may therefore use the public property of the
former a8 he thinks fit, and may appropriate to himself the rutes and taxes
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due to it. But this is the case only so long as the occupation lasts; as soon
a8 the district is lost, the rights of military occupation over it are also lost.
If the district is retaken by its original sovereign, it reverts to the saume
state it was in before it was lost.”

Grotius (Peace and War, iii, par. 4, 219), says:

‘ Lands are not nnderstood to become a lawful possession and absolute
conquest from the moment they are invaded. “For although it is true, that
an army takes immediate aud violent possession of the country which it has
invaded, yet that can only be considcred as u temporary possession, unac-
companied with any of the rights and consequences alluded to in this work,
Lill it has been ratificd and secured by some durnble means, by cession or
treaty. For this reason, the land without the gates of Rome, where Hanni-
bal encamped, was so far from being judged entirely lost, that it was sold
for the same price that it would Luve been sold for Lefore that period. Now
land will be considered us completely conquered, when it is enclosed or se-
cured by permanent fortifications, so that no other state or sovereign can
have free access to it, withont first muking themselves maaters of those
fortifications.”

This author (Id., par. 5, 221), further says:

“The right of making things change their owners by fores is of too
odious & nature to admit of any extension.”

And (Id., p. 353), speaking of treatiesof peace that leave things
in the ‘‘ state to which the war has reduced them,” he further
Bays:

““And lunds are said to be so possessed, when inclosed or defended by
fortifications, for a temporary occupation by an encampment is not regarded
in this case. IHence Demosthenes in his speech for Ctesiphon, says that

Philip was anxions to make himself master of all the pluces he could seize,
as he knew that upon the conclasion of a peace, he should rotain them.”

The military occupation must have the character of a firm
holding and of a permanent, not a transitory, occupation.

Field (Int. Code, p. 482), proposes this rule:

** Military or belligerent occupation, as used in this book, is a possession

by the military power of a belligerent sufficiently firm fo enable such bellig-
erent to execute its will within the limits of the occupation, either by force
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or by acquiescence of the people for an indefinite future, subject only to
the chances of war.”

He further proposes that:

“ The allegiance of the members of a belligerent nution resident within
the limits of the military occupation of the enemy is suspended.”

This suggestion furnishes a good test of the limits of a mili-
tary occupation. The subjects of the power from whose control
the territory has been taken may, during and within the occupa-
tion, recognize the military control of the enemy, and may submit
themselves to and even take part in the local administration,
without treason to their sovereign.

Could a Spaniard in the Pomeroon, or in the Barima region, or
above the first falls of Cuyuni, have taken office under the Dutch,
without treason to his King, in 16487

Phillimore (vol. iii., p. 814), says of title by conguest:

“ Qonquest and occupation are distinct things, governed as to their
legal effects in various respects by different principles and attended with
different consequences. Nevertheless there is an analogy between the two,
and, in some respects, rules of occupation are applicable to the case of con-
quest. Conquest is often defined as occupatio bellica ; and it so far par-
takes of the nature of occupation that unless the conqueror has actual pos-
session of the things conquered he can exercise no right over it .
It has been already seen that, in the case of immovable property, even
actual possession by the conqueror does not confer a right of alienation,
which, after the conqueror haa departed, will inure to onst the originsl

owner, unless such a resnlt has formed part of the stipnlations of a treaty
or been ratified by some pnblic act of the state.”

Euogene Ortolan, in a treatise entitled **On the means of
acquiring international dominion or state ownership between
nations, according to the public law of nations, compared with
the means of acquiring ownership between private persons accord-
ing to private law, and followed by the principles of political
equilibrinm,” says:

“ But leaving aside this ususl exception, which st the end of a very

short time and belore any Treaty gave recognition to the right of property,
to booty or maritime sp-uila. we must be certain of the fact n.ck:mwladsed
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Ly the laws of nations ruling to-duy in Europe, that war is a method of
procedure where there is no definite sentenco valid as in law in reference to
property, except by virtue of a Treaty ending the war, and from the
moment that this has been agreed to.”

Military occupation, he further says,

““constitntes a valid possession ; the victor may perform in the territory Ly
him occupied the ucts of u bona fide possessor; may collect tuxes, exercise
authority, jurisdiction. The foreign nations, if they wish to remain neu-
Lrul, are under obligation to recognize such possossions, and the bell igerent
nation itself, upon recovery of the territory, conld not derogate such acts
that imply not only definitive property but also a pussing possession.”

* The victor, however, can not validly perfurm any of the acts which in-
dicale a right to international domain ; can nol sell the property, mortgage
the couniry, alienats the lerritory lo a foreiyn nation, disposs of it in any
manner whatever. The power of the victor is transient as the probabilities
of the success to whick it is dus, and this power expires al the same tims of
the possession and nothing of it remaius thereafter."

In the case of American Insurance Company v. Canter (i.
Peters, U. 8. Sup. Crt., 511) Marshall, C. J., says:

*“ The ueage of the world is, if a nation be not entirely subdued, to
consider the holding of the conquered territory as a mere wilitary occupa-
tion, until ita fate shall be determined at tho treaty of peace. If it be
ceded by the treaty, the ucquisition is confirmed and the ceded territory
becomes a part of the nution to which it is aunexed; cither on the terms
etipulated in the treaty of cession or on such terms as its new master
ghall impoze.”

In the case of U. 8. v. Hayward (2 Gallison, U. 8. Cir. Crt.,
485), a case growing out of the military occupation of the Town
of Castine, in the State of Maine, by the British forces during
the war of 1812, Story, Justice, says:

“By the conquest and occupation of Custine thut territory passed
under the sllegiance and sovereignty of the enemy. The sovereignty of
the United States over the territory was of course suspended and the
luws of the United States could no longer bé rightfully enforced, or Le
obligatory upon the inhabitants whe remained and submitted to the
conguerors. Custine thercfore could not strictly speaking be deemed a
post of the United States, for its sovercignty no longer extended over the
placs.  Nor ou the other hand, could it strictly spaaking be deemed n post
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within the domivions of Great Britian, for it has not permanently passed
under her sovereignty. The right which existed was the mere right of
saperior force; the allegiance was temporary snd the possession not that
firm possession which gives to the couqueror plenum dominivm et ulile—
the complete and perfect ownership of property. It could only be by a
renuneiation, in a treaty of peace, or by possession so long and permanent
as ghould afford conclusive proof that the territory waa altogether
abandoned by its sovereign, or had been irretrievably subdued, that it
could be considercd as incorporated into the dominions of the British
sovereign.”

Castine was at the mouth of the Penobscot River, and the
Governor of Nova Scotia, by proclamation, claimed for Great
Britain, by conquest, all of the territory east of that river; but the
claim was absurd. If (eneral Pakenham had captured New
Orleans, Great Britain would hardly have put forward a title by
conquest to the whole Mississippi Valley, even if her view of the
watershed doctrine had been then what it is now.

The case of United States v. Rice (4 Wheaton, 246), also grew
out of the military occupation of Castine by the British; the
question being whether an importation of goods made into the
port, while the British had control, could, after the treaty of
peace and the restoration of the port to the United States, be made
subject to duties. The Court (Story, J.) said:

« Under these circumstances, we are of opinion that the cluim for duties
cannot be sustained. By the conquest and military occupation of Castine,
the enomy sequired that firm possession which enabled him to exorcise the
fullest rights of sovereiguty over that place. The sovereignty of the United
States over the territory wus, of course, suspended, sud the laws of the
United States could no longer be rightfully enforced there, or be obligatory
upon the inhabitants who remained and submitted to the conquerors. By
the surrender tho inhabitants passed under a temporary allegiance to the

British Government, aud were bound by such laws, and such only, as it
chose to recognize and impose.”

Chief Justice Taney said, in Fleming v. Page (» How., 615):

* For by the laws and usags of nutions, couquest is a valid title while
the victor maintains the exclusive possession of the conquered territory‘ o
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The convenience of an intruder is not to be consulted. A con-
quest is an actual taking and nothing goes with it. One who, by
conquest, takes a river mouth or a line of sea coast, cannot invoke
the rule as to the watershed, or as to the middle distance, or the
rule of safety, against the dispossessed nation. So a treaty of peace
confirming to the conqueror what he has taken—the places then
held by him—is not to be taken to give those natural and conven-
ient boundaries that a discoverer, or a first occupier, might have
claimed. It gives only those limits that the conquered nation
must fight to repossess itself of —at the fims of the trealy. Tt is
not significant that the conqueror may have sent expeditions into
further regions or have had very temporary posts there. It is
only that which he has securely possessed himself of that he has
title to. Now it is quite certain that the region from which the
Dutch had, by armed occupation, excluded Spain, comprised only
the very lowest parts of the Essequibo River, within the disputed
territory. They had attacked Santo Thome, but withdrew, and
there was no part of Guiana, save the lower Essequibo, where the
Spanish could not and did not go as they pleased. It was not the
stress of war in Guiana, nor Dutch victories or power there, but
at home, that brought the peace and the cession.

We conclude this discussion with these propositions:

First.—The Dutch occupation of Guiana was effected as an act
of war against Spain upon territory known to be claimed by Spain,
and with a view Lo the appropriation of the Spanish title and the
use of the places seized as depols and arsenals in further contem-
plated attacks upon Spain’s ships and settlements.

8econp.—That as matter of law, the Dutch could by these
hostile acts acquire no more territory than was actually and firmly
held by them. That the bounds of their military occupation cannot
be extended by the use of any of the equitable intendments allowed
in hehalf of nations that discover and peaceably occupy unappro-
priated lands.

THIRD.—That the Treaty of Munster is to be read as confirm-
ing the Dutch title only to such territory as was thus strictly held.



CHAPTER IX.

THE DUTCH TITLE—-TREATY OF MUNSTER A CESSION.

If the Dutch holdings in Guiana, in 1!5-!-3—nnd especially
Essequibo—were the fruits of conquest from Spain, a purely
peace treaty would, ex re termm: have the effect of confirming
thﬂ Dutch title to such places as they then firmly held. The

trml:j' might, by express stipulation, have confirmed this legal

consequence of the agreemant to termmaba tha state of war, or
it might, by cession, ha.ve an]argad the hﬂldmgﬂ of the Dutch,
or have reduced those holdings or required a complete surrender
of them to Spain. What the treaty did was, as the British Case
admits, to *‘confirm ” the Dutch in their *‘ possessions,” to give
them that ‘* perfected ” title of which tha 1uw mltars speak
To be sure, Greal Bnt.a.m cnntands that there is in the treaty a
provision for a contingent enlargement of the Dutch possessions;
but this, as we shall show, had no operation westward of Esse-
quibo. We think that the treaty is to be read as a_ cession of
territory acqmnad by conquest, and limited by the rules applica-
ble to . &E]ueata That reading is confirmed, as we have seen,
by the unequivocal admissions of the Dutch and of Great Britain.
But if the Dutch did not hold by conquest, but by a disputed
occupatio—disputed by arms—this comprehensive treaty of peace
must be so read as to settle that dispute; to leave it open would
be to make no peace. And after _all, (Great Britain's contention
of a Dutch right to enlarge the possessions of 1648 is rested
upon the treaty, which is said to contain a provision authorizing
it. Unless then that provision does have that effect as to the
territory in dispute, the Dutch were limited by the trealy to so

e e si————

much of the disputed territory as they had m:tua]ly occupied,

— ———

There was no possible imum for a targcar Dutch claim,

)
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We maintain that by the Treaty of Munster, Spain ceded and
the Dutch accepted as a ngmepﬁ;in, those parts of Guiana
the'n_o_ccupied by the Dutch; that the treaty plainly implied that
the bounds of the territory ceded and of the territory retained by
Spain were co terminous, and that by the treaty the Dutch
expressly engaged not to attempt any enlargement of the ceded
territory, oxcept a8 they were specifically allowed 0 to do by the
treaty; that these exceptions related wholly to lands and not to
any part of the disputed terrvitory; and that any occupation of
territory west of the proper bounds of the Dutch possessions
occupied by Portugal, in Essequibo—as they were in 1848—was
in violation of the treaty and an encroachment upon Spanish
territory.

In the memorandum of the British Foreign Office, July 24,
1890, we have a most formal and definite admission that the
Treaty of Munster was a grant. We quote :

“That territory, and by far the greater portion of the large tract of
country which the Venezuelan Government seeks to put in question,
accrued to the Netherlands under the Treaty of Munster of 1648 by right
of previous occupation.” (V. C., vol. iii, p. 283.)

The British positions, as disclosed by the British Case and by
the Counter-Case, are these:

By the Treaty of Munster the Dutch were ** confirmed in the
possession of all the lordships, fortresses, commerce, and country
which they then held, as well as the places which they should
thereafter acquire without infraction of the Treaty * (B. C., p. 13).

In the British Counter-Case (p. 35) it is said that the Treaty of
Munster ' cannot possibly be regarded as a ‘grant’ by Spain to
the Dutch of their Settlements, ﬁﬁmat__t-heru was nothing in
that Treaty to limit the expansion of the Dutch Settlements, pro-
vided they did not encroach upon territory actually held and pos-
sessed by Spain.”
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And, again, of the clause of Article V. of the treaty—

# including also the localities and places which the same Tords States
shall hereafter without infraction of the present Treaty come to conquer

and possess ;"
this is said (B. C-C., pp. 41-42):

“ Now, bearing in mind tbat the only three European Iowers in
Guisna, the country immediately in question, were Spain, the Dutch, and
Portugal, it is obvious that these words were intended to refer to the un-
conguered and unoccapied territories then in pussession of native
tribes.”

It is not easy to recouncile these propositions. The Counter-
Case seems to counter on the Case. It is said in the Case, that
the treaty ‘* confirmed ” the Dutch title; that is, made it a firm
title; which certainly implies a betterment of it, and that derived
from Spain. Yet the Counter-Case eays it was not a “ grant.”
1f no Spanish claim or title was released or passed by the treaty,
how could it operate to make the Dutch title better? And, if such
a claim or title was given or released to the Dutch it was a
‘ grant.” After, and by the treaty, the Dutch were in a position
to set up, as graniees, a Spanish title; and this they did, in the
dispute with Great Britain over the New Netherlands, as we have
geen. The language fhen used was the ** King of Spain
has made over to the United Netherlands all his right and title to
such countries, &c.” The Dutch accepted the Treaty of Munster
as a Spanish ‘“ grant.”

The British Case (p. 13) admites that, after the conclusion of the
Treaty of Munster, ‘‘great extensions of their possessions in
Guiana were made by the Dutch "—meaning, of course, within the
disputed territory.

It contains this further statement in explanation of the Dutch
attempts to extend on the west:

In 16566 the Duntch were driven from Brazil by the Portuguese, and
this seems to have had the effect of concentrating their efforts upon
Guiana ” (B. C., p. 27).
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That is, the extensions contemplated and allowed by the
treaty, in the eas/, having been balked by reason of the superior
power of the Portuguese, the Dutch turned to the prohibited west
for enlargement.

A discussion of these propositions brings us to a particular con-
sideration of the Treaty of Munster, and our first remark is that it
was a treaty of peace. It terminated a long war. During the
progress of the war, and as acts of war, the Dutch—revolting
provinces of Spain—had seized Spanish towns, fortresses, and
provinces; had battled with Spanish fleets, seized Spanish mer-
chant and treasure ships, and had attacked Spanish posts and
settlements, not only in Europe but in the East and West India
Islands, and on the coast of America. The close of the war found
the Dutch in firm possession of some of these places.

Under the next preceding head we have discussed the rules of
international law applicable to the situation. As we have seen,
the title acquired in war by the Dutch, until confirmed by a treaty
of peace, was a mere temporary right of possession, a title that
could not be transferred by the victor to a third party. A cession,
by which the claim of the original sovereign was transferred, was
essential to “‘ confirm " the Dutch title, to give tliem a dominion
that they could transfer to another.

Wheaton (Int. Law, Sec. 543) says:

“The treaty of peace lenves everything in the state in which it found it,

unless there be some express stipulation to the contrary. 'Ihe existing

slate of posscasion is maintained except so fur as altered by the terms of the
treaty.”

It appears, then, that even if the treaty of peace between
Spain and the Dutch had not contained a distinct cession, the
effect would have been to confirm the Dutch in the places actually
held by them; the places from which they had excluded the
Spaniards, and which the latter could not repossess themselves of
without a conflict. Regions into which the conqueror may have
sent expeditions or in which he may have established temporary
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posts would not be included, nor wonld any of those beneficial
implications which are allowed to some other titles be applicable
here. The title is bottomed upon force, and is strictly limited.

Having now found the position in which things were when
the plenipotentiaries of Spain and the Netherlands met to frame
a treaty of peace, we turn to the treaty itself, to see whether it
does not proceed along the lines of the rules of law we bhave in-
dicated. But, before looking at its particular terms, let us con-
sider some of the rules applicable to the interpretation of
treaties.

In the British Counter-Case (p. 39), it is said:

“ In considering these Articles, it must be borne in mind, us will be
subsequently shown, that the Dotch were at the time in a position to make
their own terms, snd that the Spaniards werc most anxious to agree to
Treaty at any price, and had in fact given instructions to their Plenipo-
tentaries to that effect.”

And again (id., p. 46), it is said:

* It is unuecessary to sdduce detailed argument to show that at the
time she was negotiating the Treaty of Muunster, Spain wae practically at
the mercy of the Dutch, and that the Dutch, many of whom would have
much preferred that .the war shonld continne, conld and did dictate their

own terms.”

And again (id., p. 48):
*¢ Further, an examination of the negotistions prior to the Treaty,
shows that the actual terms of Articles V and VI were dictated by the

Dutch.”

The legal rule applicable to a treaty made under such condi-
tions is that it is to be construed most strongly against the party
who was in a position to dictate its terms,

Vattel says (p. 443):

In case of doubt the interpretation goes against him who prescribes
the terms of the treaty.”

The victor is always more or less firmly master of the situation,

and therefore this author (p. 265) says:
“ Everything that contains a penslity is odious.”
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And again (p. 268):

“ Thua the cession of a right or of a province made to a conqueror in
order to obtain peace is interpreted in ite most confined sonse. If it be
true that the boundaries of Acadia have always been uncertain and that
the French were the Jawful possessors of it, that nation will be justified in
maintaining that their cession of Acadia to the English by the Treaty of
Utrecht did not extend beyond the narrowest limits of that province.”

Among the rules submitted by Great Britain to the Arbitra-
tor—The Emperor of Germany—in the dispute with the United
States as to the Northwest boundary, were these:

*“3. In interpreting any expressions in a treaty, regard must be had to
the context and spirit of the whole treaty.”

‘“*4. The interpretation shonld be sunitable to the ressom of the
treaty.”

‘5. Treaties are to be inlerpreted in a favourable, rather than sn odious
sense.”

“6. Whatever interpretation tends to change the existing state of

thinge at the time the treaty was made is to be ranked in the class of
odions things " (Wheaton, Int. Law, See. 287a).

We stop here to say, that to so construe a treaty of peace as
to allow acts of hostility, or to leave unadjusted claims that
would inevitably lead to further conflicts, would be contrary to
the spirit of the treaty and *‘odious.” It would be to put Spain in
the position of confirming to the Dutch the territory they had
taken, while leaving them at liberty—by an express stipulation
in a treaty of peace—to seize as much more as they could.
Thig would not be “ suitable to the reason of the treaty."”

Again Vattel says (p. 246):

“In the interpretation of a treaty or of any other deed whatsoever the
question is to discuver what the contracting parties have agreed npon.”

He further says (p. 252), that an interpretation that would
defeat the main purpose of the contract must be rejected; and so,
one that leads to an absurdity, And, again (p. 253), that an inter-
pretation * which would render a treaty null and inefficient
cannot be admitted.”
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Phillimore (vol. ii, p. 112) very pertinently says:

“ Ag  general maxim it is true that good faith clings to the apirit, and
frand to the letter of the convention.”

In Maryatt v. Wilson (i. Bos. & Pul., +19) Eyre, C. J., said:

““ We are to construe this treaty as we would construe any other instru-
ment, public or private. We are to collect from the nature of the subject,
from the words and from the context, the trune intent and meaning of the
contracting parties, whether they are A and B, or happen to be two indepen-
dent states. The judges who adminiater the municipal laws of one of those
states would commit themselves upon very disadvantageous ground, ground
which they can have no opportunity of examining, if they were to auffer
collateral considerations to mix in their judgment in a case circumatanced
ag the present one is.”

In the case of United States v. Arodondo (6 Peters, U. 8. Sup.
Ct., 740), involving the construction of the treaty between Bpain
and the United States, a treaty that was expressed both in
Spanish and in English, it is said:

“ It became, then, of importance to ascertain what was granted by what
was excepted. The King of Spain was the grantor, the treaty was his deed,
the exception was made by him, and its nature and effect depended npon his
intention, expressed by his words, in reference to the thing granted and the
thing reserved and excepted in and by the grant. The Spanish version was
in his words and expressed his intention, and though the American version
showed the intention of this government to be different, we cunnot adopt it
as the rule by which to decide what was granted, what excepted, and what
reserved ; the rules of law are too clear to be mistaken and too imperstive
to be disregarded by this conrt. We must be governed by the clearly
expressed and manifest intention of the grantor, and not the grantee in
private, a fortiori in public grants.”

We come now to a consideration of the Treaty itself, with
these points established:

1. The Spanish King was the sovereign of the Netherlands,

2. Those states revolted, made war against Spain, seized her
fortresses, cities, and provinces in the Low Countries, and her
other possessions wherever they were able.
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3. In 1648, the Netherlands having demonstrated their ability
to maintain their independence and to retain the places they had
seized, Spain yielded and concluded a peace, recognizing the in-
dependence of the States General, and renouncing her sovereignty
over the places held by the Dutch.

4. The Dutch asserted no clailm whatever, had no pretense of a
claim to any Spanish territory save that which they had pos-
sessed themselves of in the war; but, on the other hand, Spain's
claim to the sovereignty of all the territory seized by the Dutch
during the war, and possessed by them at its conclusion, was not
lost in law.

The preamble of the Treaty declares that the object sought by
it was “‘a good and sincere pacification on both sides and the
sweet [ruits of an entire and firm repose and quiet.” (V. C., vol.
3, p. 5).

Article II declares that the peace ‘‘shall be good, firm, faith-
ful and inviolable; ” that all acts of hostility of every kind shall
cease, by land and sea, in all their lands and dominions, for all
persons and places.

It must be assumed, therefore, unless some matter of dispute -~
some claim by one party against the other—is by the treaty itself
distinctly excepted, that all such matters were concluded by the
treaty.

If, therefore, it was known to the Dutch at {he time of the
signing of the Treaty that Spain claimed the whole of the dis-
puted territory, and that she would regard any attempt by the
Dutch to extend the bounds of their possessions there as an en-
croachment upon her rights, it must be assumed that it was the
purpose of both parties to settle that controversy.

In this connection it is not important to determine whether
Spain’s claim was strictly well founded in law. It is enough that
she strenuously and in good faith claimed the territory; that an
invasion of it would be regarded and treated by her as a hostile
act. If this was known to the Dutch when the Treaty was
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signed, then the stipulation that they were not to extend their
bounds in derogation of the Treaty must be construed to be an
engagement nol to invade or appropriate territory thus claimed
by Spain.

An interpretation that would allow the Dutch, immediately
after the signing of the Treaty, to send expeditions and settle-
ments into territory claimed by Spain, and not expressly ceded by
the Treaty, would be an illustration of that hateful bad faith
mentioned by Grotius (Vol. II, p. 144), where he says:

% The cavil of Brusidas, therefore, is highly abominable, who, promisiag
that he wonld evacuate the Boeotian territory, said he did not consider that
as Boeotian territory which he occupied with his army; as if the ancient

bounds were not intended, but ouly what remained nnconguered, an
evasion, which entirely anvulled the treaty.”

The adjustment of differences between Spain and the Dutch
was so comprehensive in the Treaty that not only national claims,
but a long list of individual claims were taken account of and
settled. It seems to us, therefore, to be ‘‘ highly abominable " to
construe any disputable clause of a treaty, introduced by such a dec-
laration of its purpose, to mean that the Dutch were given liberty
to * conquer and possess” territory then claimed by Spain; that is,
to make war upon Spain if she defended her claims. It involves
the grossest absurdity and the grossest injustice to the Dutch
negotiators to assume that they intanded to cover, by such a
phrase, a right to appropriate territory claimed by Spain—and
that without limits.

Article III of the Treaty refers to Europe exclusively, and we
do not suppose that as to the lands, fortresses and cities, described
therein, it will be denied that there was a cession of them Ly
Spain fo the Dutch. The Treaty was the formal renunciation of
Spanish sovereignty, and the transfer of dominion to the States
General. It was a necessary act to divest Spain's title, and to
convert the Dutch seizure in war into a perfect title.

But, on the other hand, the stipulation in behalf of Spain was
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neither a Dulch cession nor a limitation of Spain’s possessions; but
wastosay, “What you have taken you shall keep; what you have
not taken I retain.” It was nota mutual cession. Spain's title was
not "“confirmed.” The two stipulations did not stand upon the
same basis at all. It was simply a method of drawing a line. It
was to put the case both affirmatively and negatively: What is
on that side I granb to you; what is on this side I do not grant,
but keep.

Now, this being the plain effect and meaning of the Treaty, as
to the European possessions of the Dutch, why shall a different
construction be placed upon a similar stipulation in Article V, re-
lating to other places which the Dutch had occupied during the
war? It should be noticed that in Article III, *‘as to the three-
~ quarters of the Over-Maze” it was provided that they ' shall re-
main in the State they are in at present.” But there seems to have
been some reason to think that a controversy might arise as to
what that “‘state " was, and a special provision was made for get-
tling such a controversy if it arose—a further manifestation of a
purpose by the Treaty to settle all possible causes of controversy.

The situation then as to the lands and places mentioned in
Article III was this: After the Treaty the Dutch could support
their title as assignees of Spain’s title, precisely as Great Britain
now supports her title to Guiana by the Dutch cession of 1814,

We come now to the consideration of Article V which deals
with the Dutch possessions iu Guiana. The provision is as
follows:

“ V.—The navigation and trade to the East and West Indies shall be
kept np and comformably to the grants made or to be made for that effect;
for the security whereof the present treaty shall serve, and the Ratification
thereof on both sides, which shall be obtained; and in the said treaty shall
Le comprehended all potentates, nations, and people, with whom the said
Lords the States, or members of the East and West India Companies in
their name, within the limits of their said grants, or in friendship and alli-
suce. Aud each one, that is to say, the said Lords the King and States re-
apectively, shall remaiil in possession of and enjoy such lordships, towne,
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castles, fortresses, commerce and conntries of the East and West Indies, as
well as of Brazl, and on the coasts of Asis, Africa and America respectively,
which the said Lonls the King and States respectively hold and possess, in
this being specially comprised the spots aud places which the Porfuguese
since the year 1641, have taken from the said Lords the States and occu-
pied : comprising also the spots and pluces which the said Tords the States
hereafter without infraction of the present treaty shall come to conquer and
possess.”

We quote here also Article VI of the Treaty:

v VL—And us to the West Indies, the subjects and inhabitants of the
kingdoms, provinces and lands of the said Lords, the King and States
respectively, shinll forbear sailing to, and trading in any of the har-
bours, places, forts, lodgments or castles, sud all others poaseased by
the one or the otber party, viz, the subjects of the said Lord the King
shall not sail to, or trade in those held and possessed by the suid Lords
and States, nor the subjects of the said Lords and States suil to or
trade in those held and possessed Ly the said Lord the King. Aud among
the places held by the suid Lords the States, shull be comprehended the
places in Brazil, which the Portuguese took out of the hands of the
States, and have been in possession of ever since the year 1611, as ulso all
the other pluces which they possess at prescnt, so long as they shall con-
tinue in the hands of the said Portuguese, anything contained in the
preceding article notwithstanding.”

Of this last article, the British Counter-Case (p. 43) says:

“ 'Phe object of Article VI was entirely different from that of Ar-
ticle V. It related to trade.”

Not so; for Article V also rolates to trade. It opeus with
a most important trade stipulation, and closes with another.
Neither article relates exclusively to trade. The trade limits
preacribed by Article VI are the respective ‘' possessions” of
the Datch and of Spain; and the definitions of those Dutch
possessions, actual and contingent, there given, are effective,
standing alune, to confirm an exclusive Dutch claim to do-
minion as well as to trade. It seems, for some reason, to
have been thought necessary by the Dutch—who, we arve told,
were dictating the Treaty—that the description of the Dutch
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“* possessions ™ in the West Indies and Brazil, contained in
Article V, should be more clearly stated.

Articles V and VI must therefore be read together, for
both contain a description of places that were to be taken to
be held and possessed by the Dutch, though not actually so
possessed. Indeed, the description in Article VI is declared
to be the more authoritative, for it is to prevail ‘‘anything
contained in the preceding article notwithstanding.” Article V
declared that the places possessed by the Dutch should be held
to comprise—

“ the spots and places which the Portuguese since the year 1641, have
taken from the said Lords the States and occupied : comprising also the

spots and places which the said Lords the States hereafter without infrac-
tion of the present treaty shall come to conquer snd possess.”

This apparently left it an open question whether the Dutch
could seize Portuguese possessions, other than those which the
Portuguese had taken from them, ** without infraction of the
present treaty,” and that was to be made plain by Article
VI, which was to prevail, ““anything contained in the pre-
ceding article notwithstanding.”

The thought here manifestly was: Portugal had been under
the Spanish crown; had revolted in 1640, but Spain had not yet
recognized ber independence and still had a claim to Portugal
and to all Portuguese settlements. An attempt, therefore, by the
Dutch to seize Portuguese possessions, other than those which
the Portuguese had taken from them, and which were specifically
provided for in Article VI, might be construed to be the taking
of territory to which Spain had a claim. Therefore, the added
stipulation in Article VI:

** As also all other places which they possess at present, so long as they
shall continue in the hands of the said Portuguese.”

The Duich thought of expansion for their Guiana settlements
vﬂw and against Portugal, and they wanted the

—

——
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consent of Spain that they might seize these Portuguese posses-
sions, else Spain might claim that such a seizure was an infrac-
tion of the Treaty. But even this right was not conceded fully.
It was to continue only so long as these lands remained *‘in the
hands of the said Portuguese.” In other words, if Spain suc-
ceeded in recovering them first, the Dutch right to possess them
under the Treaty was at an end. Spain was quite willing that the
Datch might raid the settlements of her revolted province, and
that manifestly was the purpose. A permit to do so was plainly
what was intended by this paragraph in Article V:—

" comprising also the spots and pluces which the said Lords the States
hereafter without infraction of the present treaty shall come to conguer

and poasess.”

But the purpose was veiled. Portugal was not named, and
the cautious Dutchmen, it seems, upon reflection, concluded that
it was necessary to have a specific consent from Spain; and this
Spain was willing to grant, but not absolutely. She desired to
weaken Portugal, and was willing to stimulate the Dutch to
a raid upon her settlements; but she reserved her rights if she
should be so fortunate as to be able to seize them firat.

Article VI deals completely with the subject of the posses-
gions of the respective partiese in the West Indies and Brazil.
Neither is to trade to the places possessed by the other; which is
to say, as in Article V, that each shall hold what it possesses.
But it was not thought to be enough to leave the places which
might thereafter be possessed by the Duich as they were defined
in Article V; and a new definition is attempted, which must be
taken to include all of the future acquisitions which were to be
allowed by Spain to the Dutch in the regions referred to. It is,
therefore, we think, according to the rules of construction, to be
taken as the final and authoritative declaration—as a revised
restatement, of those places which might be added to the
actual Dutch possessions. The language of Article VI as to
such possessions carries a grant, and would be complete
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and effectual as such even if nothing had been said about
these places in Article V. Indeed this description in Article VI
of the places to be contingently possessed by the Dutch is ex-
pressly declared to be the one that shall prevail—not as to trade
merely, but as to dominion. It is manifestly intended to be a full
description and not a partial one. Why, therefore, if, by Article
V, the places which *‘ the Lords and States shall come to conquer
and possess” in the West Indies and Brazil were other than those
places which they might conquer from Portugal, were they not
also included in Article VII Was it not intended to secure the
trade of such places to the Dutch? Why was not the language of
Article V, as to the respective possessions of the parties, repeated
in Article VI? Especially why was the stipulation of Article V,
as to the places that they should come to conquer and possess, not
included in Article VI, if it was intended to extend to any other
places than those which might be taken from Portugal! Here the
Dutch were so particular as to secure a cession from Spain, not
only of the territory they then possessed in (Guiana, and of
territory that had been taken from them by Portugal, but to pro-
cure title from Spain to other territory then held by the Portu-
guese, with the purpose to treat the title so procured as justifying
them in seizing other lands from Portugal.

If Article VI did noi have the effect of releasing Spain’s claim
to dominion as well as to trade, the seizing of dominion by the
Dutch would have been an infraction of the treaty. And,
further, if there were other contingent possessions of the Dutch,
than those in Brazil—if they were given a right to take, by con-
quest from the Indians territory claimed by Spain—why were not
the trade stipulations of Article VI extended to such placesl

Article VI of the Treaty, as a trade regulation, would have
been complete with a statement that the trade of each nation was
to be confined to its own possessions, actual and constructive as
scheduled in Article V; but, for some reason, the Dutch do not
seem to have been content to leave it so. The schedule of the
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constructive posesessions of the Dutch, in the West Indies and
Braszil, is restated. And, in ‘the restatement, the provision of
Article V as to lands to be conquered and possessed is omitted,
and in the place of it we have the item relating to the conquest of
places from the Portuguese. Plainly this was intended to be sub-
atituted for, or to furnish an explanation and limitation of, the
clause in Article V. In this revised schedule these words, '‘as
also all the other places which they possess at present, so long as
they shall continue in the hands of said Portuguese,” are substi-
tuted for the words, * comprising also the places which the said
lords, the States hereafter, without infraction of the present
treaty, shall come to conquer and possess.” The new schedule de-
fines the places that may be conquered and possessed, and the
definition is a limitation.

1f, as the British Case affirms, Spain was ‘‘ practically at the
mercy of the Dutch,” so that the Dutch could and dill dictate
their own terms in the treaty, there could be no possible reason,
so far as Spain was concerned, for.any veiled or doubtful expres-
sion of any concession exacted from her. If the Dutch demanded
a right to extend the bounds of their existing settlements to the
south and west, and the demand was yielded, we should look for
a clear statement of the concession, and not for the obscure and
doubtful clause to which that effect is given by Great Britain. If
a veiled expression is used, instead of & plain and direct one, we
must conclude that the Dutch had some reason for it, and one that
related to some other power than Spain. No reason can be found,
if Spain only was to be affected; but a most natural one is found
when the purpose to secure a release from Spain to territory that
was to be wrested from Portugal is disclosed. The Dutch did not
desire that Portugal should know, in advance, of the contemplated
raid upon Brazil, and Spain was quite willing that Portugal
should be taken unawares. It was not simply that the Dutch
contemplated the recovery of the territory Portugal had taken
from them. That, perhaps, could not be hidden.  The driv-
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ing of Portugal out of Braszil was a thing that did need cover.
But, when the next section came to be framed the cautious
Dutchmen who were dictating the treaty apparently concluded
that the veil was too heavy; that Spain might, with good rea-
son, claim that an attempt to seize the territory of Portu-
gal was an infraction of the treaty, and this must be provided
against. The clause introduced in Article VI makes this pro-
vision, but in such a way that it might be said—as it is now eaid
—that it was only a grant of an exclusive Dutch right to trade to
Brazil, while it was really effective to estop Spain from treating
the conquest of Brazil as an infraction of the treaty, and to trans-
fer the Spanish title.

We remark further that—in view of the great care taken tfo
specify that the recovery from Portugal of settlements made by the
Dutch in Brazil, and even the seizure of the whole of Brazil from
the Portuguese, should not be treated as an infraction of the
treaty—it is impossible to believe that the question of the seizure
of territory directly from Spajn, up to the very banks of the
Orinoco, would not also bave been provided for if such a project
had then been contemplated. The Dutch knew that such a
seizure would be regarded as an infraction of the treaty, even
more certainly than the recovery of the lost Dutch settlemente or
the seizure of other Portuguese territory from which Spain had
already been driven. The contemporaneous acts of the Dutch
confirm our contention; for, as Great Britain concedes, it was not
until the allowed extension on the Amazon had been balked that
the Dutch turned their eyes to the prohibited west.

It is pnot capable of belief that, while taking such care to
acquire the cession of Spain to territories in the actual possession
of Portugal, and which could not be recovered except by war,
the Dutch were left at liberty, without any infraction of the treaty,
and without any stipulation that it should not be so regarded,
to extend their possession on the west, even to the Orinoco iteelf.

In the British Counter-Case (p. 41), it is said:
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“ In the absence of provision to the contrary Spain might have claimed
the right to possess any territory won back from Portugal. This concession
to the Dutch was & recognition of their right to acquire, if they conld.
territory which Spain had at one time hoped to regain. But the words
which immediately follow—* including also the localities and places which
the sme Lonls States shall hereafter withont infraction of the present
Treaty come to conquer and poasess,’ clearly introdnoe and refer to u com-
pletely new subject. They contemplate something beyond, and in nddition
lo, the recaptores to be madi from Portugal ; they are unnecessary if they
only refer to territory nccnpied by Portugal.”

The fault here is, that the fact that there were two classes of
' territory occupied by Portugal” is suppressed. Article V. ex-
pressly provides for one class, namely, lands taken froin the Dutch
by Portugal; but the other class, namely, lands of the Portuguese,
that the Dutch had never possessed, are only included by reference
to the general clause. Those lands were the ‘‘ new subjecl” re-
ferred to in that clause.

Portugal itself and all these Portuguese settlements were
claimed by Spain; and the seizure of them by any other sovereign
would have been an act of war against Spain, precisely as the
seisure of the State of Florida by Great Britain, during the Civil
War in America, would have been an act of war against the
United States. The revolt of Portugal had not destroyed the
Spanish title, and the Dutch plenipotentiaries at Munster did not
make the mistake of supposing that they could seize territory
from Portngal without the consent of Spain. Indeed, but for the
purpose of the Duich to seize those lands from Portugal, the
words referred to would have been unnecessary, and not only
unnecessary, but an insult to Dutch sovereiguty. Can it be sup-
posed that the Dutch—whose sovereignty was acknowledged by
the Treaty—found it necessary to stipulate with Spain that they
might possess and own lands that they should thereafter conquer
from England, or lands that they should discover and settlel Such
rights are inherent in sovereignty, and it cannot be supposed that
the proud Dutch plenipotentiaries, dictating a treaty of peace—as
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we are told—thought it necessary to stipulate for the consent of
Spain that they might in the future acquire title to territory to
which Spain had no claim, through those ordinary sources of title
by which national dominion is acquired. The stipulation that their
possessions should extend to places that they should thereafier
conquer and possess must have relation to Spain and to the tak-
ing of some territory to which Spain had a claim; else it is not
only senseless but derogatory to Dutch sovereignty.

In the absence of a further provision to the contrary, Spain
might rightly have regarded any attempt to seize, from Portugal,
territory other than such as had been taken from the Dutch, as
an invasion of Spain’s rights and an infraction of the treaty.
The words quoted were necessary to cover the case if the Dutch
desired to have the right to seize from Portugal territory other
than that which they (the Dutch) had once possessed. So these
words are given a meaning. They are interpreted by Article VI.
Why should they be supposed to give the right to seize ter-
ritory anywhere claimed by Spain at the date of the Treatyt
They cannot have such a meaning. A treaty of .peace cannot
be construed to give liberty to one nation to conquer territory
claimed by others; nor can any reasonable, disinterested man
persuade himself that it was the purpose of the treaty, either
expressed or implied, that the Dutch—after being secured in
the places they then possessed—were given permission to ex-
tend their bounds indefinitely into territory claimed+by Spain.
It would be to say, ‘‘Keep all you have taken from us and take
all you can. It was never in the contemplation of either party to
the Treaty of Munster that the Dutch should be at liberty to
spread their possessions westward and in the interior, so as to
possess *' the Dardanelles of the Orinoco” and to ‘' approach to
the very heart of Spanish Guiana.”

The United States Commission requested Prof. George Lincoln
Burr, of Cornell University, to prepare and submit a report ad to
the meaning of the clause ‘‘ comprising the places which the said
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Lords the States hereafter without infraction of the present treaty
shall come to conquer and possess,” found in Article V of the
Treaty of Munster. The report submitted by him is printed in
volume 2 of the Counter-Case of Venezuela. Professor Burr, after
making the report, was sent by the Commission t» make an ex-
amination of the Dutch Archives, and found nothing inconsist-
ent with the conclusions he had reached. He shows:

1. That the only places mentioned or suggested by the record
we have of the negotiations that led up to the treaty, as being in
the minds of the Plenipotentiaries in the use of the terms other
‘“ places ” that the Dutch might *‘ conquer and possess,” were
thoee to be won from the Portuguese in Braszil.

2. That in all the controversies and conflicts that followed the
treaty as to territorial rights, the Dutch never appealed to the
Treaty of Munster in support of any aggressions on territory
claimed by Spain; never sought to use the treaty as Great Britain
is now seeking to use it.*

8. That among all the authorities consulted by him bhe had
found no other interpretation of the clause under consideration
than that it refers to Portuguese possessions. (V. C.-C., vol. ii,
p. 13.)

The failure of  the Dutch Governors of Essequibo and of the
States General, in any of their conflicts with Spain, to refer to
this clause of Article V of the treaty as justifying the attempted
extensions of the Dutch boundaries shonld, we think, be accepted
as a conclusive construction of the clause. If it had the meaning
now contended for, it was the sole basis upon which such exten-
sions could be justified. If the Dutch limits had depended upon
conquests from the natives, the resident Governors who had made
the conqueets would have known their limits and would not have

#* [n u note (V. C.-C., vol, il, p. 13) written after his examination at The Hagoe, Profesaor
Barr says: * To other clanses of the Treaty I find the Dutch nppealing ; to this never™ In
the same note he gives an instance where Spain did appeal Lo it in & protest against a pro-
posed Duich setilement in the region of Darlen ; and in a postscript (ib. p. 14) he gives another
Spanish exposition of the trealy addressed to the Dutch Governmeot in 1788.
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been appealing to the home authorities to give them a boundary.
Every act of resistance by Spain to the extension of the limits of
Kssequibo was a disaffirmance of the comstruction of the Treaty
now set up. And the failure of the Dutch at any time to sel up
the Treaty as a justification of such extension gives us a contem-
poraneous construction by both the parties to the Treaty.

We then have Great Britain insisting upon a construction of
this clause that was never claimed for it by the Dutch; that was
always repudiated by Bpain; and that is inconsistent with the
reason and spirit, and, indeed, with the very words of the treaty.
It should be noted that if the British construction is admitted,
this clause of Article V cannot be limited to Guiana, but em-
braces the whole world, and gives to the Dutch the right to
““conquer and possess” any lands claimed by Spain the world
around, that they might assume were not **effectively occupied
by her, in the sense of those terms given in the Britich Case.
There is no limitation of the clause that can be suggested, save
that it related to the Portuguese possession,

It is said (B. 0.-C., p. 44) that before 1648 the Dutch did not
recognize Spain’s title to territory not effectively occupied by her,
but expressly repudiated such title, whether based upon the
Papal Bull or upon discovery. As to title by discovery, this is
not a correct statement of the Dutch position. Discovery, as a
source of title, was recognized by the Dutch as by every other
European nation; and the doctrine of the British Case, as to the
character of the occupation necessary to perfect that title, was
never put forward by the Dutch, or by Great Britain, in the
seventeenth century. The views expressed by the Dutch in the
New Netherland controversy were, as we have seen, such as would
give to Spain a wide claim in Guiana.

Spain’s claim to the whole of Guiana might be contested, but
it was not to be treated as baseless or fictitious, and was not so
treated by the Dutch. They well knew that the Spanish claim
made their rights insecure. They demanded and secured a release
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of that title and afterwards set up that ceesion as a muniment of
the Dutch title. They were careful to get a release to all terri-
tory claimed by Spain that they then occupied, to all that they
bad once occupied and bad loet to Portugal, and to any further
territory they might be able to take from Portugal in the future,

Now, as to lands on the west; they knew them to be claimed
by Spain; they knew that any occupancy of them would be
treated by Spain as an infraction of the treaty: they took pains
in Article VI to specify against a seizure from Portugal being so
construed, and would have taken the same precaution on the
west if they had supposed they were securing the right to occupy
them. They left Spain’s claim there untouched, and not there-
after to be contested by them.

The British use made of the clause of Article V of the treajy
relating to places to be thereafter conquered, involves the conces-
gion that withont it the Dutch could not have extended their
bounds without an infraction of the treaty. It conferred the
right to take territory somewhere that could not otherwise have
been taken. Great Britain says it was the disputed territory—if
it was, then the Dutch acknowledged Spanish rights there.

This statement, made in the British Counter-Case (p. 132, par.
14) seems to commit Great Britain definitely to the proposition
that any Dutch right to extend their possessions in Guiana is
derived from the Treaty of Munsier:

¢ These settlements [on the Pomeroon] were not in violution of tho
Treaty of Munster, but were expressly in sccordunce with the rights
reserved to the Dutch by the Vth Article of that Treaty.”

1t follows that unless the British contention as to the meaning
of the disputed clause of Article V is allowed, the Dutch had no
right to extend their possessions in Guiana.

The treaty must be construed in the light of the known claims
of the parties to it. These were: w direct “lai,T to the whole
of Guiana and to Brazil t.h:_-u_u_gh%:':'_*grtugal; and a Dutch ¢laim to

“What they had taken and then occupied in Brazil and in Guiana,
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and to what they had lost in Brazil, after occupation, to Portugal
since her revolt. The Dutch made po claim to any lands in
Guiana beyond the proper line of their then possessions. These
claime made all of the disputed territory to belong to one or to the
other, and the adjustment of these claims required the drawing
of a boundary; there was no other way. And it must be pre-
sumed, if not expressly left open for a future adjustment, that
these claime were adjusted by the treaty. The Dutch dictated
the treaty, and it must be construed strictly against them. Spain
is not to be taken to have released any territorial claim by implica-
tion: nor can the Dutch rest a claim {o make future ‘‘ great exten-
sions ” of their possessions upon implications or doubtful phrases.
A specific enumeration of what the Dutch were to have cannot be
enlarged by implication. It is equivalent to saying they shall
have nothing else at the cost of Spain. If, before the treaty,
the Dutch might have disputed Spain’s claim to adjeining
territory not within her effective occupation, they could not do so
afterwards. The consideration for Spain’s confirmation of the
Dutch fitle was the limitation of the Dutch title to their actual
possesgions. Spaiu claimed that she possessed the whole of
(iuiana by a perfected discoverer’s title, and the treaty adjusted
that claim. Unless, therefore, it contains an express stipulation
that the Dutch may further limit Spain’s claims, such extensions
were wrongful. The phrase as to other places to be conquered
and possessed, having by the treaty been given an express appli-
cation to the Portuguese possessions, cannot by implication be
construed to further restrict Spain’s claims or to take from her
territory not specified. A construction that would authorize the
Dutch to build a post at Barima the next day after the signing,
would violate every rule of construction and make the treaty a
trick and a fraud.

If the Dutch did not regard Spain as having any claim to
the settlements they possessed in 1648, in Guiana, and did not
ask or take any grant or release from Spain as to them, why
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should they be so careful to get the consent of Spain te the recon-
quest of what they had lost to Portugual! What had Spain to do

ith thati If the Dutch occupation of those places gave them a
serfect title—and it was the same title they had to Essequibo—the
ight to retake them was equally perfect, Ii is only because,

k of the Dutch occupation of all these places—those held as

ell as those lost—there was Spain’s claim and right, which
he Dutch insisted must be released to them. Now they knew
at this same Spanish claim covered all of Guiana, and that
to the region now in dispute no other nation had then any
retense of dominion or settlement. Is it then to be supposed
’that, while taking a transfer of the Spanish title to lands that
Spain had lost to them, either by conguest or occupation, and
to other lands lost to the Portuguese in war, the Dutch were
left at liberty to appropriate, at their pleasure, Spain’s title to
lands she had never lost, without an express cession! The title
the Dutch took from Spain to the lands they possessed was pre-
gisely the same title that Spain had to the adjoining lands, and if
they had contemplated seizing the latter they would not have left
their right to do so without a clear expression.

The effect of the treaty was to cut off, from a region claimed
by Spain, specified parts thereof. If the boundaries of the parts
given to the Dutch had been definitely laid down in the treaty,
the legal effect would not have been different. Yet, if the treaty
bad fixed the Essequibo as the western boundary of the Dutch
possessions, would we still have bad a claim that the Dutch were
at liberty to go beyond it? That the Kssequibo was not the
boundary between Spain and the Dutch!

Spain was not releasing any claim, save to the Dutch. She was

not making a cession to mankind, or establishing a world’s com-
mon. The Dutch were seeking advantages for themselves —to ac-
quire territory, not to open a region to settlement by their active
trade rivals on their own borders. If the KEssequibo was their
western boundary, by the treaty, it was not to their interest to
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require Spain to open the west bank to an English or a Swedish
settlement. The protest against a Swedish settlement in 1734 on
the Barima, shows that the Dutch did not then hold that the
region was ferra nullius, but that Dutch bounds and Spanish
bounds were co-terminous; that there was no room for strangers.

We think it must be clear thenm that, unless the Treaty of
Munster expressly and clearly gives to the Dutch the right to
extend their possessions in Guiana in derogation of S8pain's claims,
any such extensions would be an infraction of the treaty. This
conclusion seems to be accepted by Great Britain, for she seeks to
find in the treaty a stipulation autborizing such an extension.
The contention is that Article V of the Treaty of Munster, in the
clause so much disputed, gave to the Dutch the right to extend
their possessions over ‘‘the unconquered and unoccupied territo-
ries then in the posseasion of native tribes " (B. C.-C., pp. 41-42).

Is it meant that this right to ‘‘ conquer and possess ” the lands
between the Dutch and the Spanish settlements was a special,
exclusive right given by Spain to the Dutch, or only a recog-
nition of Spain’s want of title to these lands; that they were
res nullius, and so open to the occupation of all nations! The
propogitions are inconsistent, and one of them must be aban-
doned. If the first is maintained, these things are involved:

1. A further contingent cession by Spain of territory on the
west of the Dutch settlements.

2. The recognition by the Dutch of an exclusive Spanish right
to this lerrifory. For Spain could not grant what she did not
have. If the Dutch derived from the treaty an exclusive right
to occupy the disputed territory, then Spain before had that ex-
clusive right.

3. That the contingent right given could only be perfected
by a conquest of the native tribes, followed by an effective occu-
pation, and that until so perfected, it remained Spanish.

4. That the boundary was a common, but a shifting and in-
determinate one.
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We think we are quite safe in saying that, from the very

beginning, neither the Dutch nor Spain ever allowed that there
was any territory between the Essequibo and the Orinoco that
was not either Dutch or Spanish territory; and that since the
cession to Great Britain that government and Spain have held
the same view. Neither party to this contest—either by itself or
ita predecessor—has ever justified its entry or its presence in any
part of the disputed territory upon the claim that it was * ferra
nullius,” after 1848. The Dutch said, ‘‘ You have crossed the
line into our territory.” Spain’s answer was, ‘‘ No, the line is
not thers, but here.” Both agreed that there was at all times a
common boundary; though it had not been laid down. They dif-
fered as to its location, but neither claimed at any time that the
line of right was a shifting one—here to-day, there to-morrow.
In all these disputes, the Dutch never defended any post or
shelter, expedition or trade, upon the theory that the original
bounds of the colony, as prescribed by the Treaty of Munster,
had heen enlarged by conquest, or that any adjoining territory,
outside those bounds, was not Spanish. Nor did they ever
claim that the bounds of the treaty had been or could right-
fully be enlarged within the disputed territory, by virtue of any
provigion in the treaty itself.
- We are not quite sure whether the British case is rested upon
the proposition that the privilege to ‘ conquer and possess” is to
be taken as a general renunciation of all of the vast regions
claimed by Spain throughout the world, but not yet * effectively
_occupied ” (in the sense of the British contention), or only as a
special permit to the Dutch to take what they wanted. And it
does not matter much—for neither is tenable.

The construction that the right to acquire by conquest related
to native tribes, is contrary to the accepted European view of the
relation of these tribes to the territory they occupied. Such lands
were not treated as accessions by conqueset, but by discovery or
sottlement; and only a nation having already an original title
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could, either by conquest or treaty, acquire the possessory right of
the tribes. To make war on the tribes was to make war on the
nation having that original title, if there were such. And if there
were none such, it was to take title to lands ferra nullius — not title
by conquest. The terms ‘‘conquer and possess™ were appropri-
ate if applied to territory held by Portugal, and wholly inappro-
priate if applied to lands occupied hy savage tribes and owned by
no civilized nation.

But, if the British construction of the disputed clause of Ar-
ticle VI could be allowed, what would resulti That construction
is, as we understand, that the earlier provisions of the treaty con-
firmed the Dutch title absolutely to the places in Guiana then
possessed by them, and that the clause in question gave them
the right to conquer from the native tribes and to poesess further
territory not then ‘‘effectually occupied ” by Spain. It cannot be
claimed that this clause could have any effect to make the then
possessions of the Dutch any larger than they would have been
without it. The bounds of Essequibo were not enlarged. New
territory could only be acquired by new conquests and new settle-
ments. The Dutch objection to the Spanish title, us we are told,
was that Spain’s occupation of the territory was only a con-
structive occupation, and it will hardly be argued that a con-
structive Dutch occupation was to be made effective. The neces-
sary conclusion from the British premises is, that the Dutch could
acquire new territory only by an effective conquest and un actual
occupation. Now, as we shall show in another place, the Dutch
never subdued any one of the tribes, and never made a permanent
new settlement within the disputed territory, except in the Pome-
roon-Moruca region.

As Mr. Blaine said, in one of his despatches, the claims of
Great Britain in Guiana have been rested on a ‘‘shifting fool”;
but we are now fairly entitled to know from her whether her
claims in the Cuyuni basin are rested upon the proposition that
the Dutch settlement at Essequibo made that basin a Dutch pos-
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session in 18648—one that was confirmed by the general clause of
the treaty; or upon the ground that the basin was part of tbat
region that the Dutch were given the right thereafter to '’ con-
quer and possess.” To affirm the latter proposition is to abandon
the water shed claim, for it involves a Dutch admission by treaty
that the basin was not appurtenant to Essequibo. Our answer to
the water shed claim will be made in another place.

We have perhaps already spent too much time in this discus-
gion, and we therefore conclude it by saying:

Firer. —That both of the signatories to the Treaty of Munster
treated it as a cession by Spain to the Netherlands.

Seconp.—That the absolute cession was of lands actually poe-
seased by the Dutch at the date of signing.

Tairp.—That the contingent cession related wholly to places
occupied by the Portuguese. :

FourTta.—That the treaty established a conymon Dutch-Spanish
boundary, and neither interposed a ferra nullius, nor gave to
the Dutch any special license to extend their possessions to tbe
north or west.

FirrH.—That Great Britain's construction of the treaty, taken
in connection with her contention as to effective occupation,
involves the monstrous and impossible conglusion that Spain gave
to the Dutch, or opened to the world, the right to seize the mouth
of the Orinoco, and to isolate all of her settlements in the
interior.

S8rxte.—That to give a disputable phrase in a treaty of peace
a construction that would leave nnadjusted so important and so
threatening a question is absolutely inadmissible.

Sgventa.—That any extension, within the disputed territory, of
the actual Dutch m of 1648, was an occupation of ter-
ritory that the Dutch had admitted to be Spanish territory and
not terra nulliuas, S e o







CHAPTER X.
ADVERSE HOLDING—DUTCH BOUNDARY.

There is no more important branch of this investigation than
the examination of the territorial claim of the Dutch authorities
during the century and a half of their possession of the Colony of
Essequibo.

By the Treaty of Munster the title of the Netherlands was
mnﬂrmad to the p-oaanae_u?na which thuy had cqrvet_l_ out of the
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by geographical points or ]EIEE the Dutch boundary, and a temp-
tation was thus offered to the manufacture of pretensions and
claims, which few States situated as the Netherlands then were
have found themselves able to resist, and to which the latter
would no doubt have yielded had their new charter in 1764 not
reatricted them in terms to the Essequibo and Pomeroon.

The gituation was somewhat exceptional, by reason of the fact
that Essequibo was governed not by officers reporting directly to
the national executive, but by a private trading corporation, to
which vague powers of government had been delegated. These
powers, as bas been explained, included the ordinary manage-
ment of the foreign relations of the colony as they arose in and
near the colony itself. During the whole period of one hundred
and sixty-six years from the Treaty of Munster to the Treaty of
London, by which the ' Establishment of Essequibo " was ceded
to Great Britain, but three occasions are recorded in the evidence
where the Dutch West India Company called upon the Government
of the Netherlands to intervene, and upon these occasions the
local authorities of the colony had already taken international
activn. During all the period, the Company, as far as the evidence
shows, were, with these exceptions, left by the States-General to
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manage their affairs as they pleased. Even on the three occasions
referred to, when representations were made to the Spanish Gov-
ernment, the States-General took the facts and the law as the
Company presented them, and confined their action to directing
the Dutch Ambassador at Madrid to give formal expression
to the request or remonstrance which the Company set up.

In view of these facts, the question of importance is not what
the States-General thought and claimed, but what that branch of
the Government of the Netherlands thought and claimed, in
which resided the powers which the States General had set apart
and delegated for the purpose of managing and controlling the
colony. Owing to their deputed powers of quasi-sovereignty, the
Company’s claims and the Company’s admissions were the claims
and admissions of the State itself.

The importance of this inquiry in a boundary dispute is ob-
vious. The question is, What are the rights of the partiee to the
dispute! A court cannot take their respective pretensions as evi-
dence of their rights, but it can and must take the limits of their
pretensions as evidence of that to which they have no right.
When one State claims a certain point as marking the boundary
between it and another State, it admits the title of the other State
to all beyond the point claimed, and it is bound by the admission.
In making a claim of right, what it does not claim as of right it
concedes as of right.

Next in importance to the actual claims are the grounds upon
which the claims are advanced.

As has been already shown, the Treaty of Munster was a
treaty between Bpain and the Netherlands, anl the question is not
what interpretation Great Britain, who was not a party to it, puts
upon the Treaty, but what was the understanding of it by the
parties themselves. The British case is at pains to quote Major
Scott (p. 28), the commander of the force that captured Pomeroon
and Essequibo in 1665, as saying that by hie conquest English poe-
sessions were extended from Cayenne to the Orinoco. Apart
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from Secott’s tendency to braggadocio, he isa discredited authority;
but the objection to his testimony lies deeper. The question is not
what a British officer thought should have been the Dutch claim,
bat what was the Dutch claim. For this we must look to the
Dutch themselves, and we must look to what they said and did in
reference to it. We must look to their acts as well as to their
words, and not only to the words found in their formal inter-
national communications, but still more to the words of their
unrestrained and confidential intercourse and correspondence,
when they settled down for that long period of a cetury and a
half with the Spanish as their neighbors on a common frontier.
This correspondence we possess, and it is in evidence in this case.
It is a correspondence between the directing head of this quasi-
sovereign company in Holland and its directing head in the
colony. It was carried on with that unrestricted freedom with
which men write when possessed of the firm belief that their
letters will never be seen except by those to whom they are
addressed. Tt lays before us, as in an open book, the thoughts,
purposes, claims and reasonings of the sovereigns of Essequibo.
After reading it we know exactly where they stood on the ques-
tion of boundary.

The first position taken by the Dutch West India Company on
the question of American titles is perhaps the most important.
It is contained in the '* Deductie " formally presented by the Com-
pany to the States.-General November 5, 1660 (V. C., vol. iii, p.
387), and already referred to.

Their words are:

“, . . the Dutch nation must instead be preferred, being consid-
ered the eame as in earlier times, namely, vassals and subjects of the King
of Spain, first discoverer and founder of this new American world, who
gince, at the conclusion of the peace, has made over to the United Nether-
land Provinces all hia right and title to such countries snd domains as by
them in course of time had been conguered in Europe, Americu, ete.”

Two vital points are established by this document. Firs, it
was a solemn recognition by the West India Company of the
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Spanish title to the King's possessions in America by discovery and
*‘founding ™ or occupation. Secondly, it was a solemn recogni-
tion that what the Netherlands had taken by the Treaty of Mun-
ster, and what the King of Spain had made over, was *“‘all hds
right and title ” to such territories as the Dutch had conquered in
America. It was a declaration that the Treaty of Munster was,
not as the British Case contends, a mere mutual acknowledge-
ment of title, but that it was an actual cession to the Netherlands
of the title of the King of Spain. It was a declaration that the
West India Company were his grantees, and it was an abeolute
and unqualified admission that the title to all the territory not so
ceded was still in the Spanish Crown. It even went so far in its
reliance upon the prior Spanish title as to make a ** far-fetched *
appeal to it as a ground of priority over the English in North
America, in that the Dutch at the time of the first discovery and
occupation were themselves the vassals of the King of Spain. It
established the fact that the Dutch could-not extend their posses-
sions beyond those ceded by the Treaty of Munster, except by
encroachment upon Spanish territory, and that, therefore, the
only claim which they could ever raise to such territorial exten-
sions was a claim of adverse possession.

In the face of this document there is no escape from the posi-
tion that the Netherlands, as represented by the Dutch Weat
India Company, could not acquire one foot of territory, and that
their grantees in this controversy could not be entitled to one feoot
of territory, beyond that which the Dutch acquired in 1648, ex-
cept in accordance with the rules governing adverse holding.

"This declaration alone finally disposes of the ultimate British
contention of a ferra nullius, to which any possession prior to the
Treaty of Arbitration, however recent, may give title.

In 1674, as already stated, the old Dutch West India Company
came to an end and a new Company was created, with a
new charter, by which the operations of the West India Com-
pany, on the mainland of South America, were confined to two
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points, namely, Essequibo and Pomercon. Beyond these two
points the Company possessed no authority under the charter.

The charter of 1674 (B. C. I, 173) therefore, shows conclusively
that any territorial claim made by or throngh the Dutch West
India Company—and, as we have seen, there conld be no other
Dutch claim—by reason of operations wholly or in part subse-
quent to 1674 must be confined to the Kssequibo and the Pome-
roon, bécause from this date down to the final termination of its
existence, in 1791, the West India Company had, under the terms
of ‘the act creating it; no power to operate on the mainlaud of
South America beyond these points, It would, therefore, make
no difféerence what settlements they created, or what control they
exarcised, other than at these points; any such settlement or con-
trol was ulira vires. :

Starting with these two formal declarations—one of the Dutch
Government, the other of the Dutch Company; one defining the
points at which alone the charter was operative, the other recog-
nizing the prior Spanish title by discovery and occupation, we
find for ‘a ‘hundred’ years after the Treaty of Munster not a
whisper of territorial extension, much less of territorial claim,
outside of the:charteréd limits. Neither in the mind of the
Company at home nor in that of the Commandeur in- the coluny
can any trace of such a proposition be discovered.

On. the contrary, upon the only occasion during this period
when the question arose, the Dutch Governor admitted the terri-
sorial title of Spain and her right to exercise territorial dominion
in the now disputed territory, and the Company passed over the
report of his admission without comment. This was the occasion
of the prohibition of the Dutch horse.trade in the Cuyuni, one of
the most important episodes in the history of the Guiana boundary
question. ,

Horses and other live stock were then, as for more than a cen-
tury after, the principal product of the colony of Spanish Guayana,
and its principal article of trade. The horse trade with the
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Bpanish was most essential to the Dutch colonists, becanse at
the time it was their main, if not their only reliance, for these
animals so indispensable in the production of sugar, the staple
of the colony of Essequibo.

The trade is firest mentioned in 1688 (V. 0. I, 68), when the
Company writes to the Commandeur that

““ No slight advantage, moreover, haa been brought to the Company
through you by your having found out, up in the river of Cuyuni, a trade
in horses.”

The locality here referred to, as already explained (p. ), is the
Cuyuni valley above the falls,

This trade is spoken of from time to time during the following
years—in 1607 (Id., 656), when reference is made to the price '* paid
for the horses bought for you up in Cuyuni,” and again in 1701
(Id., 85), at which latter dateit is reported that

“The trade in horses up #n Cugyuni does not go se briskly as it used
to do.”

In 1702 the reason for this change becomes apparent. War
was then about to break out in Europe, and the Cuyuni horse
trade suffered in consequence. The Spanish authorities prohib-
ited the trade, as they were entitled to do, in the Cuyuni basin,
which was their territory, and the testimony to both
these facts, namely, the territorial rights of Spain and
the exercise of these rights by prohibiting the horse trade is given
by the Dutch Governor himeself (V. 0. II, 68). In proposing
to the Council that they should purchase horses out of a Rhode
Island ship, a thing forbidden by the Uompany, he advises, in
view of the urgent necessity of the colonists, ‘ that they agree
and consent hereto, the more so because all the lands where we
carry on our horse-trade, are under the King of Spain”; and the
following year, 1702, he reports to the Company the death of
horses, which ' truly is a greatloss to the Colony, the more so

since the Spaniards will no longer permit any trafficking for
horses on their territory " (V. C. 1I, 88).
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In the following year he renews his complaint and puts the
cause of the tronble on the same ground as before, saying that
‘* owing to the present war, no horses are to be had abouve here as
formerly, inasmuch as those Indians think they stand under the
crowns of Spain and Frauce, and this trade is thereby crippled.
We cannot, however, get on without these and attain our object,
having lately lost many of them by sickness” (V. C. 1I, 69).

What is the significance of the above citationst Here are
three statements made by the Governor of Essequibo, in three
separate years, which assert in terms as plain as can be framed:
First, that the territory of the Cuyuni valley is the territory of
the Spaniards—not merely that they claim it to be their territory,
but that it ie their territorv—that there is8 no question about it;
and, secondly, that upon their territory, namely, '‘ up in Cuyuni,”
“gbove here,” the Spanish authorities aseert their territorial
rights and prohibit the Dutch from engaging in a trade of the
utmost importance to the latter. At this early day, in the open-
ing years of the eighteenth century, Spanish control was suffi-
ciently active to command and enforce & prohibition of trade in
this wilderness.

What does the Dutch Governor do when his colony is thus cut
off from an article so essential to its existence! Does he pro-
test to the Bpanish authoritieel Does he suggeet a protest to
his own Government! Does he claim either to his own Govern-
ment or to the Spanish that this is Dutch territory, even when
he knows and himself reports that the prohibition is based on a
territorial claim? So far from disputing the rights of Spain in the
territory, he states and admita them as an established fact, and
acquiesces in their enforcement on this ground. The action of
the Dutch Governor is more than an admisgion of the absence
of any territorial right in the Netherlands: it is an express recog-
nition of the territorial rights of Spain.

A recognition of Spanish sovereignty in the Coast Territory
was made in a letter of the Dutch Governor in 1694, where he



316 ADVEESE HOLDING.

said “ Most of the red slaves come from the rivers Barima and
Orinoco, which lies [sic] under the dominion of the Spaniard ”"—
evidently referring to the region in the neighborhood of the two
rivers.

Not for half a century afterwards was any reference made to
territorial claims or territorial extension west of the Essequibo
and the Pomeroon.

The attitude of Spain during this period was that of a terri-
torial sovereign holding possession of and dominion over the terri-
tory im question up to the Pomeroon and the Essequibo. When
the occasion arose it did not hesitate to assert its dominion, as in
the Cuyuni horse trade and in the lower Orinoco, where from
time to time Dutch traders were arrested for a violation of its
regulations (B. C., ).

Upon such occasions the assertion of dominion was received
with entire acquiescence. The sovereignty of Spain was not only
unquestioned but admitted.

As time wore on, however, the more farsighted of the Spanish
officials, who were familiar with the conditions in Guayana, per-
ceived that a time might come when the Dutch, under the lead of
an aggressive Governor, would attempt to encroach upon their
territories.

In the Memorias of the Marquis de Torrenueva on the Com-
misgion in Seville in 1743, this possibility seems to have been
periously considered for the first time (B. C. II, 41).

Torrenueva was looking broadly at the condition of the Span-
ish colonies in America, and had observed the importance of
checking the ** usurpations” of Brazil in South America and of
the French on the Mississippi, and he remarked that equal at-
tention is due to ‘‘the object with which the Dutch established
themselves to the windward of the River Orinoco.” Of this ob-
ject, he says: ** And this could be no other than to get nearer to
the mouth and banks of the said river, and to found thereon
plantations, which might facilitute their traffic with the New
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Kingdom and enable them to penetrate by that part to those
places and districts which their avarice might dictate until they
made themselves masters of the mouth of the Orinoco, and the
nations that dwell there, in a vast extent of 280 leagues from
there to the ' villa’ of San Juan de Los Llanos.”

He recommends that to check this advance the mouth of the
Orinoco should be occupied by a fort and a town. He does not
refer Lo any act of encroachment that has already taken place,
and he evidently has no such act in mind. His recommendation
is based wholly on the possibility of what may happen in the
future, but he suggests an inquiry as to the points then occupied
by the Dutch in Guayana, ‘ to consider whether they were in
poesession of those territories at the time the Treaty of Munster
or Westphalia was signed in 1648, taking the necessary measures
for the purpose, in connection with what was stipulated and is
deduced from Article V. of the said Treaty,”—whether, in other
words, the treaty included anything on the Essequibo beyond
Kykoveral—a suggestion which shows that in Spain the basis of
determining the boundary line was clearly understood, and that it
was suspected that the early Pomeroon settlement was an unwar-
rantable intrusion.

It is worthy of remark that this first expression of apprehen-
gion on the part of a Spanish statesmen as to the possibility of
Dutch aggression in Guayana was coincident with the appoint-
ment as Commandeur of the colony of the first Dulch official, and
it may be said the only Dutch official, to conceive a policy of
territorial acquisition by means of encroachment. This was
Storm van’s Gravesande, whose administration as Commandeur
and Director-General lasted from 1742 to 1782, and who is the sole
author of the Dutch boundary dispute. The history of that dis-
pute is confined to Storm’s administration. It came to an end
with his retirement from office, only to be revived in the next
century as a British dispute by the geographer Schomburgk.

Storm's theory on the question of boundaries was a theory
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not of territorial right, but of territorial encroachment. Like
Schomburgk, he believed in the rectification of frontiers. The
Company did not believe in his plans, and refused to adopt them.
On the question of right, they decided that they could find no
ground for a claim to territory to the westward, and their sug-
gestion of such a claim in their First Remonstrance of 1769 was
based upon a misapprehension of the facts upon the discovery of
which it was quickly withdrawn.

I. INTERIOR TERRITORY.

‘The question firet came up in Storm’s mind when the progrees
of the Spanish missions in the savannas near the Cuyuni grad-
ually attracted his attention. The missions had been at work in
the 17th century, but the founding of permanent settlements had
begun in 1724, Before 1746, when he wrote his first letter on the
subject, several of these settlements, such as Cupapuy, Alta
Gracia, Divina Pastora, with its immense cattle farm, Cunuri,
and Tupuquen had been established on the rivers tributary to the
Cuyuni, while others had been founded in adjoining territory on
the south of the Orinoco. From that time on Storm makes the
boundary the subject of continual letters and appeals to the Com-
pany. He represents that he is unable to do anything as to the
Spanish settlements, because he does not know at what point to
set up a western boundary.

This new boundary he wishes the Company to fix. The ques-
tion that he presents is not a question of title. In that he takes
no interest. What he proposes is territorial extension, but he
wishea definite authority from the Coinpany as to the point to
which he shall extend. Finding that the Spanish settlements are
moving eastward, he desires, if possible, to erect a barrier. lleing
unable to extend his settlements, the next best thiog is to extend
his boundaries. For topographical and other reasons, plantations
cannot be created beyond the actual boundary at the Cuyuni falls.
His plan is, therefore, to set up a territorial claim; but he cannot
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set up such a claim because he does not know what boundaries
the Company will set for it. He lias no reason for supposing that
the boundary is beyond the falls. No such claim had even been
set up or even heard of before; but in view of the Spanish ap-
proach, he is satisfied that such a claim is deeirable, and that it
must and will be made by the Company. Will the Company tell
him what it is?

That the above correctly states the position of the Colonial
authorities is shown by the correspondence.

In July, 1746 (B. C. II, 45), when Storm had received word
that the Spaniards had established a new mission on the settle-
ment, he writes:

“ | feel not the least diffidence us to dislodging them from that place and
capturing thoss forts, but snch a step being one of great consequence, I

dare npt take anything upon myself, especially a8 the proper frontier-line
there is unknown to me."

On December 7, 1744 {B. C. 11, 46), the Commandeur again
writes about the Spanish fort and mission up in the Cayuni, and
states that the inhabitants are very much aggrieved thereat;

“ gnd the Carib Indians a great deal more #o, since it perfectly closes the
Slave Trafflc in that direetion from which nlone that nation derive their
livelihood. They have also expressed & desire to surprise the Mission and
level it to the ground, which I mot witliout trouble, have preveuted, be-
cause they belong to our jurisdiction, sod all their trade being carried on in
the Duteh Colonies ” [that is, the slave trade], *“ such a step would certainly
be revenged npon us by the Spaniards. It is very perilous forthis Colony to
have such meighbours so close by, whoin time of war would be able to come
wnd visit us overland, and eapecially to make fortifications in onr own land
ie in breach of all custom. [ say upon our own lund—I cannot lay this
down, however, with full certainty, becanse ¢ha limils wesl of this river are
unknown fo ma."

The above shows clearly that in this Colony of Essequibo,
which had been in existence for a century, there was no knowl-
edge of any territory belonging to the colony west of the river,
As the Commandeur says, ‘‘ The limits west of this river are un-
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known to me.” He knows that the plantations are on the river
below the falls, but beyond that he knows nothing.

One significant conclusion to he drawn from this is that there
could have been no seftlements west of the Essequibo. If there
had been, the Commandeur would not have said that he had no
knowledge of the limite weet of the river.

In a report of Storm, dated March 28, 1747 (B. C., II, 48), is a
statement that '‘ the Spaniards had made a journey in the south-
western direction right behind us, and had there discovered the
origin of the Rivers Cuyuni and Massaruni,” flowing out of a great
lake, and that their intention was to establish a permanent settle-
ment., The letter concludes:

‘I should already long ugo have removed and demolighed the first fort
up in Coyuoai (which even now is easy of accomplishment on my part through
the Caribs), it T were but rightly conscions how far the limits of your Hon-
ours’ territories extend, both on the eastern and northern sides, ss well us
south and westwards, for the decision wheroof nof the least help is t2 be got
in this office here, 1 therefore eurnestly request your Honours to be pleased
to send hither the necessary information concerning that matter, because an
error in this might lead to quite too evil consequences.”

It is significant that the Commandeur, especially as intelligent
a man as Storm, could get no information whatever on the bound-
ary question in the records of the celony. It is a conclusive proof
that the Dutch had at this time never made a claim or established
a settlement in the territory now in question.

The Company considered the question presented to it, and
ordered that a map be made of the colony. This map was pre-
pared and sent by Storm in 1750.

It shows no occupation west of the Essequibo, except the post
at Moruka.

It was further decided by the Council of the Company (Sept.
6, 1747) that all the Chambers should investigate each by itself
““whether it can be discovered how far the limits of the Com-
pany in Rio Essegnibo do extend,” and report to their respective
Chambers what they found and discovered. The Commandeur
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was directed that ‘' if in the meantime, he can by indirect means
and without himself appearing therein, bring it about Lhat the
Spaniards be dielodged from the forts and dwellings which they
have, as he maintains, made on the territory of the Company
and be prevented from further extending themselves there, he
shall be permitted to carry this oul " (B. C. II, 51).

It appears from this reply of the Company that they were
equally ignorant with the Commandeur ag to any Dutch territory
west of the Essequibo. Nor were they willing that he should
assert any claim to such territory as against the Spanish, for they
direct him, not to protest, not to write to the Spanish authorities
not to attack the intruder, not to raise the question himself in
any form, but “if he can by indirect means and without himself
appearing therein, bring it about that the Hpaniards be dislodged,”
he may do so.

Any territorial claim, therefore, made by Storm after 1747 in
relerence to the Spanish missions, is made not only without au-
thority, but in contravention of the Company's orders.

On December 2, 1748, Storm wrote (B. C. II, 57) that * the
Spaniards were beginning to gradually approach the Upper
Cuyuni,” and he added: I wish however, that, if it were pos-
sible, I might know the proper boundaries.”

A curivns phase of the dispute which Btorm, against the ex-
presa instructions of the Company, attempted to create appears
in a communication to the Company of September 8, 1749 (B. C.
IT, 63), in which he reported a correspondence with the Governor
of Cumana. As we have only Storm’s version of what was gaid,
it is dificult to know exactly what was the position of the two
parties. Storm says:

‘“ Having written (o the Governor of Cumand that, if he persisted in
the design of founding a Mission in the River Cuyuni, I should be obliged
to oppose myself there against effectuslly, he has replied to me that such
was withoat his knowledge (not the founding of the new [Mission], but

the site), and that it should mot be progressed with, as in reality nothing
has been done.”
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Storm carefully refrains from saying that he asserted any ter-
ritorial claim, and from enclosing either his letter or that of the
Governor, from which the Company might have been informed
exactly what had been done. No trace of these letters has been
found. Storm represented Lo the Company that the Governor
had said that the mission ‘‘should not be progressed with,” but
with the additional statement that ““in reality nothing has been
done.” This would seem to imply that all the Governor had said
was that he did not intend to build such a mission, and that, in
fact, Storm had been misinformed. Whether he took any ground
a8 to Spanish rights in the territory S‘orm fails to state, and as far
as the evidence shows the correspondence raised no such question,
The letter, however, was clearly a violation of the Company’s
orders given two years before.

Some years later, that is to say, on September 2, 1754 (B. C.
L1, 98), Storm had occasion to refer to this matter, and bhe ad-
mitted that the letter was contrary to the ‘* command that I must
try to hinder it, but without appearing therein.” He said: *'I
did not agree in the reasons which have actuated your Honours
to command this secretly;” but he justified himself on the ground
that his letter had been written before the instructions were re-
ceived, in which statement he was in error. He added that he
took the statements of the Governor as * sterling coin,” but that
since then, instead of stopping the establishment of missions or
moving them back, the Spanish authorities had founded two
new settlements at a point lower down the Cuyuni valley.

This outcome of Storm’s attempt at independent action shows
that he never made auy claim of territorial right. He never
again addressed the Spanish authorities on the subject of their
seftlements, though he did not agree in the reasons that had
actuated the Company; and it was this presumptuous desire of a
subordinate to impose upon the Company his policy of territorial
extension that was at the root of the whole difficulty. The Com-
pany did not believe that they had a claim, and acting on that be-
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ief refused to assert it. Btorm tenaciously adhered to his pur.
)ose, however, and at last succeeded in getting the Compauy
nvolved in a position from which they were only too glad sub-
equently to withdraw.

In a report presented personally by Storm at his visit to Hol-
and in 1750 (B. C. II, 67), the Commandeur again called attention
0 the boundary, and said:

“ It is necessary that the limits of the Company’s lerritory should be
cnown, in order successfully to oppose the continual approach of the neigh-
bouring Spaniards, who, if they are not checked, will at last shat us in on
all sides, and who, under pretext of establishing their missious, are forti-
f[ying themselves everywhere, And decauss the limils are unknown, we
dare not openly oppose them, aa might very ensily be doue by means of the
Carib nation, their sworn enemies.”

This is at least the fifth time that the question of boundaries
had been brought up by the Company’s principal agent at the
colony and had remained unanswered by the Company. It re-
mained unanswered because the Company knew that none of this
territory had ever been acquired by the Netherlands, while their
own charter limited their possessions to Essequibo and Pomeroon,

By report of the Commitiee of the Company July 27, 1750
(B. C. II, 68), it appears that the question of the boundary had
been called to the attention of ‘* His Highness,” but apparently
without result.

On September 8, 1750, the Acting Commaundeur, who evi-
dently had not grasped SBtorm’s theory of rectification of frontiers,
reported to the Company (B. C. 1I, 89), in reference to informa-
tion that the Spanish had begun to construct a new mission
*“close by here,” that he had carefully informed himself about it,
and that in his opinion the last mission which was being con-
structed ** is directly far outside the concern of this colony.”

Even Storm’s visit to Holland had not resulted in any adoption
of his boundary theories, but he had no intention of dropping the
subject. Two years after his return, baving as yet received no
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answer, he sent, on September 2, 1754, his sixth appeal to the
Company for information as to the boundary (B. C. II, 98):

‘1 have the honour to assure your Hononrs that I shall not slumber in
this matter, but shall do everything in my power, and meanwhile await
your Honours’ orders, respecting the so long sought definition of frontier, so
that I may go to work with certainty. (Has not this been regnlated by
the Treaty of Manster 7)”

It was in the same letter that he referred to the establishment
of two new missions, notwithstanding his former letter to the
Governor, and to the fact that he did not agree with the Com-
pany in their policy of non-interference,

The answer of the Company was finally given January 6, 1755
(B. C. II, 101). It was not an answer at all. After nine years of
investigation and discussion, the Company acknowledge their
inability to state any specific boundary, and fall back upon the
terms of the charter. They say (B. C. II, 102):

“ We would we were able to give you un exnct and precise definition of
the real limits of the river of Essequibo, such as you have several times asked
of us; but we greatly doubt whether any precise and accurate definition can
anywhore be found, save and except the general limits of the Company's
territories stated in the preambles of the respective Charters granted to the
West India Company at various times by the States-General, and cxcept the
description thereof which is found in the respective memorials drawn up,
printed and published when the well-known differences arose concerning
the exclusive navigation of the inhabitants of Zeeland to those parts,
wherein it is defined as follows: ¢ That region lying between those two
well-known great rivers, namely, on the one side, that far-stretching and
wide-spreading river, the Amazon, and on the other side, the great and
mightjly-flowing river, the Orinoco, occupying an intermediate space of ten
degrees of north latitude from the Equator, together with the islands ad-
jascent thereto." For neither in the Treaty of Munster, concerning which
you gave us your own opinions, nor in any other is there to onr knowledge
anything to be found about this. The only thing we have discovered up
to this time by our search is & definite boundary-line made in the West

Indies between New Netherland and New England in the yesar 1850, but
nothing more or further.
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« For which aforesaid reasons, it is therefore onr opinion that one ought
to proceed with all circumspection in defining the Company's territory,
and in disputing about its jurisdiction, in case this may have led to the afore-
said preparations of the Spaniards, and that it would be best in all befit-
ting and smicable ways to guard against all estrangements and hostile acte
arising therefrom.”

The above letter is conclusive evidence that in 17556 the West
India Company did not claim any part of the territory now in
dispute above the falls or west of Pomeroon. It begins by saying:
“ We would we were able to give you an exact and precise defini-
tion of the real limits,” which plainly shows that they were un-
able to do so; and it adds that they *‘ greatly doubt whether any
precise and accurate definition can anywhere be found,” except-
ing in the charters.

In this statement the Company were correct; and if they had
only read the charter of 1674, they would at once have found
what they were seeking, namely, the limits of the Dutch claim.
This charter gave the Company two places on the continent of
America, namely, Essequibo and Pomercon. Whether the Dutch
Government had a title that enabled it to make this grant may be
a question, but that this was all that it granted is beyond question.

The Memorial from which the Zeeland Chamber, writing this
letter, quotes a vague and grandiose phrase referring to a ' re-
gion * lying between the Amazon and the Orinoco, and which it
cites as the only indication of a boundary, was a memorial pre-
pared by itself three years before, in 1751, in a dispate between
the different Chambers of the Company. Such a statment made
by one or the other of the contending parties in the Company, in
a brief in support of rival pretensions could indicate nothing as to
the limits of chartered rights; still less could it be used in an in-
ternational controversy as a definition of specific frontiers, espe-
cially when the individuals who made it were the same as those
who were now referring to it as the only suggestion they could
find as to colonial limits. Such phrases could certainly never
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be the foundation of title and the Company evidently did not
rely upon them as such,

The Company sagely observe in conclusion that the only thing
which their search has discovered so far is a boundary line made
between New Netherland and New England, * but nothing more
or further,” It would seem that there could not well be anything
further from the question then under consideration.

Finally, in answer to Storm’s intimation that he did not agree
with them in abstaining from territorial claims, they made the
significant statement:

“For which aforessid reasons, it is therefore our opinion that one ought
to proceed circumspectly in defining the Company’s territory and in dis-
puting about its jurisdiction,”
and that it would be best to guard against all entanglements.
Not only were the Company ignorant of any claim to extended
territories, but they distinctly refused to make such a claim, and
most solemnly enjoined upon their agent in the colony that he
should do nothing to raise the question, an injunction that was
all the more emphatic in view of the letter to which it was a
reply.

The destruction by the Spaniards of the Dutch post at Quive-
Kuru in 1758 led the Director to write a long and emphatic pro-
test to the Spanish Governor (B. C. II, 154).

In examining this letter, it must be remembered that Storm
was precluded from sefting up any territorial claim, first, by the
want of any foundation for such a claim, as was repeatedly ad-
mitted in his letters, and, secondly, by the express prohibition of
the Company. All such claims are, therefore, carefully avoided
in the letter. The Director-General axpresses his surprise at the
attack, at the imprisonment of the occupants of the post, and- the
destruction of the house. He refers to it as an offense ‘‘ directly
opposed to the law of nations, and to the Treaties of Peace and
Alliance.” - He asks how such violence could be committed
** without previously making a complaint.” He dwells upon it as
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an unfriendly act and even an outrage. But he fays no word to
indicate that it was performed on Dutch territory, or that it was
in breach of the territorial rights of Essequibo. The letter is in
‘every word such a letter as might have been written had the acta
complained of been committed on the other side of the Orinoco in
the heart of Venezuelan territory; in fact, the absence of any
reference to a violation of territorial rights as the gravamen of the
offence is so studied and marked as virtually to amount to a dis-
claimer.

Storm’s letter having been delivered by the Commandant of
Guayana to Don Nicolas de Castro, Governor of Cumand, under
whose administrative supervision the province of Guayana at that
time was placed, the latter replied to it in terms about which
there was no ambiguity. The letter was as follows (B. C. II,
169-70):

«The Commandant of Guayana hsa forwarded to me, among other
documents, a letter which you sent him claiming the two Dutch prisoners,
a negro alave, and half-breed womau with her children, whom the guard
dispatched from that fort seized in an island of the River Cuyuni, estab-
lished there in & house, and carrying on the unjust traffic of slavery among
the Indians, in the dominions of the King my Sovereign. As this snme
River Cuyani and all its territory is included in those dominions, it is
incredible that their High Mightinesses the States-General ghould have
authorized yon to ponetrate into those dominions, and still leas to carry on
a traffic in the persons of the Indians belonging to the settlements and
territories of the Spaniards. I therefore consider myself justified in approv-
ing the conduct of this expedition.”

Storm chose to consider himself affronted by De Castro’s letter,
because it was addressed *‘ To the Dutch Commandant residing in
Essequibo,” and he conceived the idea of having the letter
answered by the officer who commanded his little garrison. The
answer begine (B. C. II, 173):

“1 duly received the letter which was written to me by Mr. Don

Nicolas de Castro, whose person or quality I do not have the honour to
know, in answer to the letter which our Governor had written to you.”
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This arrangement served two purposes: it enabled Storm to
resent the supposed affront to himself, and also to evade the pro-
hibition of the Company as to a territorial claim, by making it in
the name of an irresponsible subordinate.

In this letter the act of the Spaniards is characterized as a
‘* violation and insult done to the territory of his Sovereigns.” It
adds that

“Since it seems to him, according to the letter in question, that in
Guayann and at Comang there is ignorance of the boundaries of the terri-
tory of His Oatholic Majesty and those of the States-General according to
the Treaties at present subsisting, he has ordered me to seud you the in-
closed map, on whioh you will be able to see them very distinctly.”

The only comment {o ke made on this statement is that the
ignorance of the Spaniards in reference to the boundary, however
great it might be, could not exceed that of the Dutch them-
selves, as plainly admitted by the letters both of the Director-
General and of the Company.

This letter was sent back unopened by the Spanish Command-
ant, the latter stating that he was ‘‘ forbidden to enter into any
correspondence concerning the matter of Cuyuni” (B. C. II, 175).

Storm reported the facts in two letters, one of September 9,
17568 (V. C. 1I, 126), the other undated, but written in the follow-
ing year, 1759 (Id., 129)

In the first of these letters he wmerely gaid that the claim that
the post was on Spanish ground was ‘‘utterly and indisputably
untrue,” and referred to D’Anville's map as authority for the
boundaries.

In his second letter he was more specific. He said:

“There pot being the slightest difficulty or doubt concerning the
ownership of this branck* of Essequibo, most undounbtedly belonging, as it
does, to the West India Company, this unexpected and unheard of act is s
violation of all existing Treaties.”

The position taken in the above letters must be looked at in
the light of Storm’s previous correspondence, which abundantly

* Erroncously translated pertion in B, C,, 11, 174,
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shows that he was ignorant of any Dutch claim of right weet of
the Essequibo River and of any ground for such a claim. We
have six letters, from 1740 to 1754, stating that he knew no
boandaries. He suggests, however, that he has found them in
D’Anville's map. Now, D’Anville’s map (Br. Atlas, p. 18) is a
map of the whole of South America, and a glance will show that
the boundary therein traced is an arbitrary line, representing the
mere speculation of the geographers. It was enough for Storm,
however, and he adopted it and passed it on to the Company.

In his second letter he suggests the theory that the river
belongs to the Company because it is a branch of the Essequibo.
This which amounted to saying that because the Dutch were set-
tled for a dozen miles along the Essequibo, their occupation was
constructively extended to include an immense lateral territory,
300 miles in width, to within 20 miles of the banks of the Orinoco,
a territory which at that moment was occupied by numerous
Spanish settlements controlled and governed by the King of Spain;
a territory, moreover, whose natural outlet and natural entrance
were on the Spanish or western gide and which the Dutch were
precluded from settling, according to their own statement, by
natural barriers (p. ). So far as Storm is concerned, all this was
mere matter of suggestion. Up to this time he had repeatedly
affirmed his ignorance of any ground of right, and had declared
that there was nothing in his possession upon which to base a
territorial claim. His letters amount to a denial of any ground
of claim. He does not base such a claim upon anything now.
He merely suggests that a French geographer has laid down a
boundary, and that the branches of the Essequibo are indisputably
the Company’s territory. The methods of ‘ rectifying frontiers”
are alike in all ages, Substitute **Schomburgk ” for ** D'Anville”
and the sentence describes the process of reasoning which has
led to the present ‘' extreme British claim.”

The West India Company were far from beingsatisfled. They
wanted something as a ground of right, which as yet the
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Director-General had not furniched them. They therefore replied
on May 381, 1759, asking (B. C. IL., 174)—

** what grounds yon might be able to give us to {urther support our right
to the possossion of the aforesaid Post—perhnps a declaration by the oldest
inhabitants of the Colony conld in this connection be handed in, which
might be of service.”

The reply of the Director-General to the Company’s inquiry as
to what he knew about the boundary shows, as do his previous
letters, that he knew nothing. He justified his claim by the
statement (Report of S8eptember 1, 1759, B. C. II, 180):

““That Coyuni being one of the threc arms which constitate this river,
and your Lordshipe having had for very many years the coffee and indigo
plantation there, also that the mining master, with his men, having worked
on the Blue Mountain in that river without the least opposition, the pos-
session of that river, as far, too, as this side of the Wayne, which is pre-
tended to be the boundary line (althongh I think the latter ought to be ex-
tended as far as Barima), canuot be gquestioned in the least possible way,

and your Lordships’ right of ownership is indisputable, and beyond all
doubt.”

In reply to the Company’s inquiry as to the location of the
post, he stated that it ‘' was situated about fifteen hours above the
place where Cuyuni unites with Massarani,” and he adds:

*“ But this has little to do with the matter, even if the Post had been
situated fifty hours further up, it was a matter which did not concern the
Spaniards, and in the same way as thoy are masters upon their territory to
do what pleases them, 8o your Lordships are slso masters upon yours"

Here we got the real underlying idea of Siorm's territorial
claims. He is not concerning himself with any question of right
or of title. The questions which he is considering are questions
of expediency or convenience. His argument is: *‘ The territory
is ours because we want it.” He says that the Waini is pretended
to be the boundary line (by whom he does not say), but that he
thinks the boundary “* ought to be extended "’ as far as the Barima.
It is an extension of boundaries on grounds of expediency to which
Storm is looking, not to a definition of boundaries on grounds of
right. The fact that the Dutch had plantations on the 12-mile
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stretch of the Cuyuni below the falls, and that for a few months
a Dutchman had prospected for minerals in the Blue Mountains,
near the same falls, did not constitute posseesion of a territory
three hundred miles to the westward. Storm's real contention is
not that the post was placed on Dutch territory, but that the
establishment of the post made it Dutch territory. He says it
was ' fifteen hours” from Essequibo, but if it bad been fifty
hours it would have made no difference.

Before the receipt of this letter, and while its own inquiry for
further information remained unanswered, the Company made
their First Remonstrance (V. C. II, 133), that of 1759, to the States-
General, and the States-General, through their Ambassador at
Madrid, presented it to the Spanish Government (V. C. IT, 185).
The extent of the claim advanced in this Remonstrance is to the
Essequibo and to *‘ all the branches and tributaries which flow
into it, and especially of the morthernmost arm of that river,
named Cuyuni,” This the Company, in singular ignorance of
the facts of history, bases on the ground of immemorial
possession, though just before they had been searching for
an old inhabitant to prove the possession. The Remonstrance
is exceedingly cautious in its terms. It uses the most guarded
and hesitating language. It nowhere states that the terri-
tory referred to, which includes the whole drainage basin
of the Cuyuni, was Dutch territory or territory belonging
to the Company. It only says that it has been *‘ possessed from
time immemorial ” and that they * in virtue of that possession,
have always considered the said river of Cuyuni as a domain
of this State.”

This is not a claim, but an exceedingly deferential expression
of opinion.

Referring to the attack on the post, it complains of the out-
rage, appends De Castro’s letter asserting that the pos} was “in
the dominions of the King my Sovereign™ (V. C. II, 324)—a
statement, it may be remarked, very different from that which
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says that the Company having been in possession of the Cuyuni
from time immemorial, ‘*‘ have always considered said river of
Cuyuni as a domain of this State,”—and it asks that reparation
may be made for the attack; that the Company may be reinstated
in the quiet possession of the post, and that a proper delimitation
between the Colony of Easequibo and the River Orinoco may be
laid down by authority, so as to prevent any future dispute.

The same position is taken by the Ambassador in his written
protest. He said (V. C. II, 185):

““ His masters have been from time immemorial in nndisturbed posses-
sion of the River Fasequibo, and all the little rivers which flow into it, and
especially of the right arm of the said river, which flows northwards, and
is called the Cuyuni; that, in virtue of the said possession, his masters
have for a very long time considered the whole of the said river as & domain
belonging to them,"

and that they have consequently erected a post, etc.

Here, again, the suggestion is not put forward in language
which suggests a claim. It is rather an invitation to a discussion,
especially in connection with the proposal for a delimitation.
Spain, however, refused to discuss it. No answer was made to
the Remonstrance, as it required none. The letter of the
Governor of Cumani declared that the Spanish dominion
included the whole Cuyuni and its territory. This letter
was expressly referred to in the communication of the Dutch
Ambassador to the SBpanish Government, and the latter were
therefore apprised of the fact that the position taken by the
Spanish authorities in Guayana had been communicated to the
States-General. Spain bad nothing to add to that statement.

Under these circamstances, the statement in the Britich Case
(p. 54), upon which so much stress is laid, that ** this claim the
Spanish Government never denied and never rebutted,” is evi-
cently an error, and the statement in the Counter-Case (p. 102)
that of *‘assertion of sovereign rights’ . . . by Spain in
the territory now in dispute there was none,” is equally an error.
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When the Dutch Government, in making its complaint, an-
nexed to the complaint a complete answer from one of the highest
officers in the Spanish-American colonies, nothing remained to be
done by Spain. The Dutch had had their answer. They had had
their denial. Nothing more was necessary unless Spain proposed
to disavow the declarations of the Governor of Cumanh, which it
certainly had no intention of doing.

Moreover, the claim was not pressed. It was never heard of
again. In its original terms it had been not so much a claim as
the expression, in very doubtful and halting terms, of an opinion
on the part of the Company and of the States-General. The only
ground of the opinion, namely, immemorial poseession, was so
marvelously wide of the truth as to the Cuyuni valley as bardly
to be open to discussion, and the claim, if claim it was, was pres-
ently contradicted and withdrawn.

The S8econd Remonstrance was presented to the Spanish Gov-
ermment in 1769 (B. C. IV, 29), when complaint was made of a
number of acts on the part of Spain, which will be considered
later. It is desired here only to trace the relation between the
two Remonstrances.

Nothing had been done at this time about the Remonstrance of
1759. Spain had paid no heed to it. There is no suggestion that
it had ever been made the subject even of a conversation between
the Dutch Ambassador and the Spanish Ministers. This in itself
is enough, according to diplomatic usage, to show that the Re-
monstrance was not regarded by its makers as a serious claim.

But the Second Remonstrance goes further than mere silence
as to the prior claim. It is an entire waiver and abandonment of
the old cause of complaint. It does not pass it by in silence. It
refers to it, but as a thing long since past and done with. Speak-
ing of the new causes of complaint, it says that ‘‘ the Remon-
strants, especially after what had happened in 1759, had beon
extremely surprised to learn by a letter” from the Director-
(General certain facts, etc.
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Certainly, after this reference, nothing more needed to be said
by Spain about “ what had happened in 1759.” The only remain-
ing importance of the occurrences of 1759 was that they caused
additional surprise in the Dutch at learning of something that had
happened ten years later.

But the Second Remonstrance went further than this. It took
up the territorial question. It alluded to ‘' the establishment of
two Spanish missions, occupied by a strong force, one not far
above the Company’s said Post in Cuyuni (apparently, however,
on Spanish territory), and the other a little higher up on a creek
which flows into the aforesaid Cuyuni River.”

This is all that is said about these missions. No complaint is
made of them. No suggestion is made that they are displeasing
to the Dutch Government. They constitute a mere flourish in the
document.

The extraordinary fact about the allusion, however, is: first,
that it is made at all, as it is not made with a view to protest;
and, secondly, that it is coupled with the statement that the
lowest of the missions is ‘* apparently, however, on Spanish terri-
tory.”

This is a complete reversal of the previous position of the Com-
pany. The claim, if it was a claim, in the Remonstrance of 1759
was a claim to the tributaries of the Essequibo and especially the
river of Cuyuni. Here it is distinctly admitted, and the admission
is entirely gratuitous, that a point not far above the Company’s
post in Cuyuni is in Spanish territory, and that the establishment
by the Spanish Government of a settlement there, as well as at a
higher point on a tributary of the Cuyuni, is not a subject for
complaint. There was no purpose in saying that the mission was
on Spanish territory except to withdraw the claim which they
had previously advanced to the Cuyuni. This claim they in
terms abandoned. All that was left was a cloudy statement
possibly implying a Dutch claim to the post, and to the territory
in the rear of it. As this was the lowest post, and was but a
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short distance above the falls of Cuyuni, it conceded substantially
all that had been made the subject of the First Remonstrance.

As is evident from the tone of the First Remonstrance, the
Company, after sending it, were very far from being satisfied
with the position in which their Director-General had involved
them, and the remaining correspondence shows how they came to
abandon their position.

On December 3, 1759 (B. C. 1I, 181), five months after the Re-
monstrance had been sent, they for the second time wrote Lo the
Director, saying:

*“We stili request you to lay before us everything that might in any

way be of service in proof of our right of ownership to, or possession of, the
aforessid river [Cuyuni].”

On May 2, 1760 (B. C. II, 184), the Director replied:

“ I have very little to add to what I have already had the honour of sub-
mitting to your Lordships in several of my despatches [on the boundary
question] and, althongh I am aware, a8 your Lordships are pleased to in-
form me, that no Treaties have been made which decided that the dividing
boundary in Sonth America shonld run inland in & direct line from the
seaconst, . . . the rivers themselves, which have been in the posses-
sion of your Lordships for such a large number of years, and have been
inhabited by subjects of the State without any or the least opposition on
the part of the Spanish, are most certainly the property of your Lord-
ships.”

Storm’s reiteration of this claim, when the Company so evi-
dently questioned it, and asked for proofs of litle, again shows
that he was only suggesting to the Company the point where they
ought to make their frontiers. Historical facts, questionsof dis-
covery, title, occupation, political control, had no interest for him.
Even the Company's modest suggestion that he should furnish
declarations of the oldest inbhabitants was treated with neglect.
The only argument he could advance was that the Cuyuni was a
branch of the Essequibo, and was indisputably company territory.
This is the explanation of his persistent nagging of the Company
about the Spanish missions, in which the Company never took
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any interest, and which, in Storm’s absence, the Acting Com-
mandeur, who evidently did not share Storm’s theory of the rec-
tification of territorial frontiers, intimated were matters with
which the colony of Essequibo had nothing to do.

In 1764 Storm claimed he transmitted to the Company (B. (..
ITL, 106) ‘““a brief treatise concerning the Honourable Company’s
outposts.” In this he mentioned (p. 109) the post which * was
on the river of Cuyuni,” and described its destruction by * the
Spaniards of Guayana.” He added (p. 110),

* that [the bend of] this river is a Lract of land along which the Spaniards
spread themselves from year to year, and gradually como closer by means
of their missions, the small parties sent out by them coming close to the
place where the Hononrable Company’s indigo plantatiou stood ” [below the
lowest fall], ‘“and being certain to try and establish themselves if they aro
not stopped io time.”

Later in the same letter he said (pp. 111-12):

“What can we expect from the numerous arrivala of settlersin Cayenne
and the removal of Spanish people and plantations in Guayana so much
nearer fo our boundariesf "

Here is the Director-General of Essequibo, as late as 1764, re-
ferring to the imovements of the Spaniards to the falls of the
Cuyuni as a removal of Spanish people and plantations ‘“ so much
nearer to our bonndaries.” There is no claim here that the Span-
iards are encroaching upon Dutch territory. The claim made by
Storm and the point which was really at the bottom of all his
complaints and asseverations was that it was dangerous to have
the Spaniards establishing themselves near the Dutch colony and
occupying the Cuyuni. His last statement is an unconscious ad-
mission, that, in his opinion, the boundary really was at the falla
of the Cuyuni, twelve miles from its mouth. The letter shows
above all how preposterous was the claim of immemorial possession
of the river.

In view of this last admission, it is no wonder that the Com-
pany in 1769 receded entirely from the territorial suggestions of
1759. The Second Remonstrance, at the later date, is the last ref-
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erence ever made by the Dutch authorities to a boundary in the
interior weet of the falls of the Cuyuni. As with the earlier Re-
monstrance, nothing further was heard of it.

II. CoasT TERRITORY.

As in the interior, so in the coast territory the question of
boundaries was first actively pressed by Storm. Beekman, in 1683,
had suggested to the Company to ‘' take possession™ of the
Barima, but the Company had not approved the suggestion.
Evidently at this time there was no immemorial or other posses-
gion of Barima by the Dutch. Except this proposition, which way
a virtual disclaimer, and the allusion already cited (p. ), in
Lﬁﬂ‘il. to the region '* which lies under the dominion of the Spaniard,
nothing more is heard of territorial rights in Barima until Storm’s
administration.”

Storm applied his ideas on the subject of boundaries. Put in
limitation to both the interior and the coast districts, but only
in his correspondence with the Company. He thus alludes to the
latter (V. C. IL, 101) (1748):

“ Aocording to the talk of the old people und of the Indians, this juris-
diction should begin to the east wt the creek Abury snd extend westward
as far a8 the river Barima, where in old times & post existed 5 buf Hhis falk
yives not the slightes! cerivinty.”

This is the first and original suggestion put forth by the Com-
mandeur of Essequibo as the boundary of the colony on the coast.
It originated in talk with ** old people aud Indians.” Storm says
that according to **this talk " the jurisdiction should extend as
far as the Barima. He does not say that it does extend; in fact,
his words imply the contrary. He states that according to ' this
talk” in old times a post existed there, but we know, from the
documents that we have and which he had not, that this talk was
unfounded. But he says himself that *‘ this talk gives not the
slightest certainty.” Doubtless, it was for this reascn that he
omitted to obtain depositions composed of ‘ this talk” for the
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Company when they asked for them in reference to Cuyuni. It
is apparent that in 1748 Storm was entirely ignorant as to any
boundaries or possessions of the Company in the coast territory
beyond Moruca.

The next year an incident happened which is only touched
upon in the Dubch correspondence, the loss of the ‘' Baskens-
burg.” This was a Dutch ship wrecked on the coast, belween
the Moruka and the Waini. In a letter of September 8, 1749
(V. C. 11, 105), Storm referred to his having taken possession of
the ship, and said that he sent the question over and ** took advice
on it from the foremost jurists in the province of Holland,” and
that he was astonished to find out from the opinion that was
rendered that ' I had for their sake risked my honor, reputation
and property, inasmuch as this ship had been stranded at Pechy,
and therefore on the territory of Spain, and I had had no right to
touch it. Of this I had absolutely no thought, and it shall make
me in the future somewhat more prudent.”

The Bouchenroeder map (British Atlas, Mup 35) shows the Gulf
of Pechy on the sea-coast between the Waini and Moruka, and
therefore far within the line to which Storm wished to *‘ extend
the boundary.”

This opinion of * the foremost jurists in the province of Hol-
land ” is one or the most significent facts in this case in reference
to the boundary of the coast territory. The opinion of Storm, an
able Colonial administrator, but evidently unversed in the most
elementary principles of jurisprudence, could not be of much
value as {o territorial claims, or as embodying principles of law.
That of the Company's Directors, whose occupations were essen-
tially mercantile, although their admissions had important effects,
was not much better. But here we have an authority, unnamed,
it is true, but nevertheless so characterized as to entitle it to
the highest respect, consisting not of one man alone, but of
several, whom Storm could designate as “the foremost jurists
in the province of Holland,” delivering a professional opinion,
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in 1749, on the legal aspects of the question of the boundary
between the West India Company’s territory and that of 8pain on
the coast of Guiana. This opinion is not lightly to be thrown aside
by the Tribunal now considering the same question. 'The facts on
which the opinion was based were those furnished by Storm
himself, supplemented by the Treaty and the Charter. The state-
ment of the opinion is so clear that if these very jurists were
themselves here as witnesses, they could not make their conclu-
sion clearer. A point is named between Moruka and Waini, and
that point, in the opinivn of the forewost jurists of Holland in
the middle of the eighteenth century, was Spanish territory. In
the face of this authority, what consideration ig to be given to the
ever-shifting claims of Storm and the Company? Their admissions
of course bind them; but their claims are as naught beside the
weight of this contemiporanevus aund authoritative professional
opinion, from the standpoint of Dutch law.

In the contrite spirit shown by Storm over his mistake in the
affair of the ‘‘ Baskensburg,” nothing can be seen of any terri-
torial claim to Barima. There is no idea of a boundary even at
the Waini, much less at the Barima or the Amakuru. The
boundary in his mind at this time is the Moruka, and the ship is
stranded on the territory of Spain, because it is stranded between
Moruka and Waini.

It will be remembered that three years before this, in 1746,
Storm had spoken of his ignorance of the boundaries in the
interior; that hehad repeatedly asked for instructions on the
point, * regarding which no documents whatever are to be found
in this office” (V. Q. II, 95); that in 1755 the Company, after a
nine years’ investigation (V. C. II, #9), had been unable to dis-
cover any ground of territorial claim. Storm, thereupon, entered
upon the same domain of speculation in reference to the coast.
Notwithstanding the opinion of the jurists and the conclusivn of
the Company, he was still in doubt. He wrote, on September 1,
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1759, speaking of the Cuyuni River and the boundary in that
quarter (V. C. II, 187):
“That river being eo far on this side of Waini (which people cluimn

to be the boundary, although I think it must be extended as far as Barima),
the ownership thereof cannot be involved in the slightest question.”

In 1759, therefore, according to Storm, * people claimed”
the Waini to be the boundarv. This is a considerable step
beyond the Gulf of Pechy, which ten years before Storm had
learned was Spanish territory, which fact was to make him more
prudent in future. Nevertheless, he was not satisfied with it.
"He wanted the Barima, but did not suggest that there was any
claim to the Barima. On the contrary, he admitted that there
was none,

As far as tradition went, he thought that the boundary stopped
at the Waini; but he said: T think it must be exfended as far
as Barima,” by which he meant that it was the policy of the Com-
pany to acquire that territory. A uation does not extend its
boundary when it only claims the territory up to its established
boundary. To extend the boundary is to acquire territory beyond
the established boundary.

In this letter, Storm refers again to D’Auville’s map as indi-
cating the boundary. This map (Br. Atlas, map 18) is a map of
the whole of South America, and was published in 1748. In
1760 D'Anville published a second map (Br. Atlas, map 23). As
might be expected from its date and from its extent, it is ex-
ceedingly imperfect in details. It marks a boundary line some-
where between the rivers Waini and Barima (Amakuru, as he
calls it). The entire course of hoth the Amakuru and the Barima
is put on the Spanish side of the boundary. The position of the
Waini is in doubt. The boundary, however, is placed onthe coast
line well to the east of the mouth of the Orinoco. D'Anville's
borrowing of the line from an earlier map has been already re-
ferred to (p. ).

To this letter the Company replied December 3, 1759 (V. C. 11,
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138-9), asking Storm to lay before them everything which
might be of service in proof of ownership of the Cuyuni, and
they added:

“ We see from your letter that you make the boundary of the Colony
toward the side of Orinoco to extend not only to Waini, bnt even as far as
Barima. We should like to be informed of the grounds upon which yon
base this claim, and especially your inference that, Cayuni being situate on
this side of Waini, it must thercfore necessarily belong to the Colony;
for, so far as we know, there exist no conventions [to the effect] that the
boundary lines in South America run in a straight line from the seaconst
inland, a8 do most of the fronticr lincs of the English colonies in North
America.”

The Company had evidently been led to believe from its
previous correspondence with Storm that the Waini was the
boundary. Now they say he is making the boundary extend to
Barima, and they wish to know the grounds. Grounds, how-
ever, were precisely what Storm was in no position to furnish,
In his reply, May 2, 1760 (V. C. IT, 140), he stated:

“The rivers themselves, which have been in the possession of your
Lordships for such a large number of years, and have been inhabited by
subjects of the State without any or the least opposition on the purt of the
Spanish, are most certainly the property of your Lordships.”

He went on to say:

“ [ am strengthened in my view of this matter by the fact that Cajoeny
is not & separate river like Weyne and Pouwaron (which last has been
settled, and still containe the foundations of your Lordships’ fortresses),
but an actnal part of the River Essequibo,” ete.

The argument here is confined to the Cuyuni, but its negative
application to the coast territory is most significant. It does not
refer to Barima, and its allusion to Waini is directly against a
claim of rights to that river. Cuyuni, Storm reasons, is Dulch,
on the ground of possession and also it is a branch of the Esse-
quibo. Pomeroon is a separate river, but it has been settled;
therefore it is Dutch territory. But Waini, which is neither a
banch of the Essequibo nor settled by Dutchmen, would seem
to be entirely excluded.
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The question of the boundary in the coast territory could not,
however, be settled in this manner. It was sure to come up, and
that shortly. In 1760 Lieutenant Flores made his capture of
boats in the Barima, and Storm, in reporting the fact, said (V. C.
I1, 142):

“They also took some canoes on this side of Barims, and thus within
the Honorable Company’s territory.”

The Company replied in the next year, asking Storm (V. C. 1I,
143)

““ the reasons why you deem that everything which has happened on this
side of Barima must be deemed to have occurred on territory of the Com-
pany; in order that, when we shall have examined all this, we may take
further resolution as to what it behooves us to do in this matter,”

'Ihe answer of the Secretary in Essequibo, Spoors, dated August
5, 1761 (V. C. IL, 144), is not very satisfactory. He said:

‘*In complisnce with these your orders, I respcetfully reply that the
aforesuid boals, having been seized by those robbers between the rivers of
Barima and Waini, were absolately on the Company’s coast, for this is cer-
tain (not to enter upon the various opinions which exist about the limits of
the Company’s domains) that the river of Waini indisputably belonge to the
Company.”

In this rather incoherent reasoning we have still another claim,
and return for the moment to the Waini. But thisletter was evi-
dently sent in Storm’s absence, for a week later, on August 12, he
modified the ¢laim, but in such a way as to reduce the subject to
hopeless confusion. He said (V. C. I, 145):

““The lutter having been captured this side of Barima I am of opinion
that it was captured upon the Honourable Company's territory, for althongh
there are no positive proofs to be fonnd here, such has ulways been so con-
sidered by the oldest settlers, us ulso by all the free Indians. Amongst the
latter I huve spoken with some very old Caraibans, who told me that they
remember the time when the Honourable Company had s Post in Barima,
for the re-establishment of which they had often usked, in order that they
might be relieved from the annoyance of the Surinama traders; and then,
lastly, because the boundaries are slways thus defined by foreigners, s may
be seen on the map prepared by D’Anville, the Frenchmaa.”

T TR e T ]
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In 1759 Storm was expressing the opinion that the boundary
“* must be extended as far as Barima.” In 1761 he apparently has
extended it to the Barima, * although there are no positive
proofs.” That makes no difference; in such a process proofs are
saperfluous. If proofs were needed, they are supplied by the fact
that it ““has always been so considered by the oldest settlers.”
Yet it was of * this talk ” that Storm said, in 1748, that it ‘‘ gives
not the slightest certainty.” Who the settlers were it is difficult
to say. They certainly were not settlers in Barima, for there were
no such settlers.

There remains the fact that ‘‘ the boundaries are always thus
defined by foreigners, as may be seen on the map prepared by
D'Anville.” But unfortunately in D'Anville's map, which we
have in the British Atlas, the line is not on the Barima. The
Barima is entirely included in Spanish territory. 8Sou is the
Amakuru.

How little Storm knew about the geography of the Barima and
how little he was qualified to pass on these questions may be in-
ferred from a statement in his letter of August 27, 1772 (V. C. 11, °
919), which describes a map that a surveyor has just made for
him, and in reference to which he remarked:

“ What astonished me most, my lords, was to see in these exact plans
the sitnation of the Post in Maroco; I could never have imagined that it
Iny 8o fur up the creek from the sea-coast.”

But this is not the last word from Storm about the boundary.
Within three years after the letler last quoted, that is, in 1764,
Storm wrote to the Governor of Surinam, which place was not in-
cluded in the charter or under the control of the Dutch West India
Company (V. C. II, 158), in reference to the Surinam rovers who
were provided with passes by the Governor to go to Barima. He
made the following extraordinary statement: -

“ At this opportunity, since I am speaking of this, I take the liberty to

inform you, that your naming in those passes the river Barima causes com-
plainta from the Spaniards, who, maintaining that that river is theirs,
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WHEREIN I BELIEVE THEY ARE RIGHT, bave already sent some of
these passes to the Court of Spain,.”

Upon thig letter the British Case (p. 51) makes the following
comments:

“ But while claiming as Dutch all the territory up to the right bauk of
the Barima, the Director-General appears to have thought it inexpedient
that the Duteh passes to traders should purport to include that river. In a
copy of a letter, said to have been sent by him on the 18th of Angust, 1764,

to the Governor of Surinam. the latter is requested not to name Barima in
his passes, as that gave offense to the Spaniards.”

The explanation by which the British Case, in the above cited
passage, attempts to do away with the effect of Storm’s conclu-
sive staternent, is that, while claiming the territory as Dutch, the
Director-General thought it inexpedient that the Dutch passes
should purport to include that river. But where was it that
Storm was making any claim? He never suggested any claim to
the Spaniards; on the contrary, when the Spaniards were, year in
and year out, doing acts in the territory that showed exclusive
control, neither Storm, nor the Company, nor the Government,
ever raised a word of protest. In fact, Storm was expressly
avoiding claims, and, as the very letter in question plainly shows,
was endeavoring to convince the Spaniards that he was making
none. Why is it that he asks the Governor of Surinam not to
name the Barima in his passes? Because *‘your naming in those
passes the river Barima causes complaints from the Spaniards,
who, maintaining that that river is theirs, wherein I believe they
~are right, have already sent some of these passes to the Court of
Spain.” The whole object of his communication to the Governor
of Burinam is to prevent any suggestion of a claim which the
Spanish dispute.

The British Case goes on to say of Storm’s letter:

““The writer adds that they * [the Spaniurds| ” maintained that that river
was theirs, and expresses an opinion in their favor upon this point, which,
- in one view, might be said to be inconsistent with the claim of the Director-
General to the territory up to the right bank.”
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What is the *“ opinion expressed by the writer " here referred
tol It is a frank and unqualified statement of his belief in the
merits of the Spanish claim. And what are the words in which
he utters it! ** WHEREIN | BELIRVE THEY ARE RIGHAT.” It 18 cer-
tainly safe to say that, in one view, these words might be said to
be inconsistent with the Dutch claim of territory to the Barima.
It would be more correct to say that, in every view, they not only
might be, but they are, in direct contradiction of any such Dutch
claim: and being, as they are, a contemporaneous statement of the
belief existing in the writer's own mind, they constitute an utter
dismissal and rejection of all doubt or uncertainty as far as his
personal views are concerned in a form than which none could be
more forcible.

Neither the Company nor Storm had ever claimed Barima. In
his correspondence he had advised the Company * to extend their
boundary ” to the Barima; and when the Company had asked him
what grounds he had for the suggestion, he was unable to give
any except a map, which was directly against his contention, the
chance opinions of ancient Indians and colonists, and the mythical
tradition of a Dutch post of which he had norecord. Anything in
. the nature of sending a claim to the Spaniards he discouraged.
No doubt it was with the same feeling in mind that he wrote
"two years later, in 1766, to the Governor of Guayana, in refer-
ence to the Rosen matter (B. C. III, 181), that a party of Dutch
 colonists, the offscourings of the colony of Essequibo, were lead-
ing a lawless life in Barima and that he feared bloodshed and
murder would come of it. To the Company he said:
~ “The west side of Barima being certainly Spanish territory (and that

is where they are), I can use no violent measures to destroy this nest, not
wishing to give any grounds for complaint; wherefore I think of propoging

to the Governor . . . to curry thiz out hand-in-hand, or to permit me
to do 8o, or as and in what manner he shall consider best.”

~ Even in the above letter Storm does not say that the east side
of Barima is Dutch territory. About the Spanish claim to the river
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he believed, as we know from his previous utterances, that the
Spaniards were right. But he does say that there is no doubt that
the west side is Spanish; and with the same idea of avoiding any-
thing that might cause offence to the Spaniards, and expressly for
that reason, he applied in the first instance to the Spanish Governor.

The history of this matter will be referred to later. Here we
are only concerned with the claim. The occurrence led the Court
of Policy to make an order ‘“forbidding any one to stop in
Barima,” meaning thereby, of course, any Dutch colonist, as is
shown by the instruction to the Postholder of Moruka to see that
the order was carried out, ** because in time this would become a
den of thieves, and expose us to the davnger of getting mixed up
in a quarrel with our neighbours the Spaniards” (B. C. III, 132).

The Governor of Orinoco having intimated that he had no ob-
jection, Storm had brought the offenders into Essequibo. The
Company’s comment on his action is to be noticed, as frankly
showing how entirely in the dark it was on the question of terri-
torial claims. It said (B. C. III, 137):

“If that place is really Spanish territory, them you have acted very
imprudently and irregnlarly; and, on the contrary, if that place forms part
of the Oolony, and you had previously been in error as to the territory,
then youn have done very well,and we must fully approve of your course, as
also of the Court’s Resolution that henceforth no one shall be at liberty to
stay on the Barima.”

Storm’s reply is characteristic. He boldly asserts (B. C. III,
141):

‘““The east bank being in our jurisdiction, the Court can enforce its
order there."

Apparently however he has some doubt about it, for he adds,
as a second reason:

““ Becauso I think that the Court certainly has the power to forbid its

citizens and colonists to go to any places when such is considered to be
inexpedient or dangerous for the Colony.”

This is an excellent reason, but it negatives the idea of a terri-
torial claim.
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1t is idle, however, to try to thread the mazes of Storm's mind
in reference to the boundary in the coast territory. His suggee-
tions, from beginning to end, are a masa of contradictions, and
it is hardly to be wondered at that the Company was involved
in like contradictions itself.

Already, in 1764, SBtorm had taken another position on the
boundary question, by which the whole subject was reduced to
hopeless confusion. In that year the Director-General had pub-
lished what purported to be a ‘‘ Register of the Colony of Esse-
quibo and Demerary " (V. C. 11, 169). In this '* Register,” with
that singular variableness which characterized the colonial utter-
ances in reference to the boundary, the Colony was described as
extending “ from the creek Abari on the east to the River Ama-
cura on the north.” This is an entirely new suggestion, never
made in Storm’s reports to the Company, for in these the Ama-
cura was never mentionad. It is the only suggestion made during
the period of Dutch history by anybody, official or unofficial, that
this particular river marked the extent of the Dutch territories.
It of course has reference to the erroneous position of the Ama-
kuru in D’Auville’s map, although even in this map the boundary
not go to that river.

The West India Company, however, took small account of the
various suggestions as to the boundary, either on or beyond the
Waini, or on or beyond the Barima, and least of all to the sugges-
tion in the ‘‘ Register ” about the Amacura. It disposed of all of
them in short order in its Memorial to the States-General, Novem-
ber 26, 1785 (V. C. II, 182), where it stated that

Demerars “* is sitnate between the two extremest trading places or posts
in Basequibo, namely, the one, to the north, on the river Moruca, and the
other, to the south, on the river Mahaicony, both of which rivers, as well

as the others situste between, pertuin to that Colony; which of course
shows undeniably that Demerura is one and the same Colony with Essequibo.™

This statement, of the territorial limits, occurs in an official
communication from the Company to the Government of the
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Netherlands. There is no mistaking the meaning of these words,
" the two extremest trading places or posts in Essequibo, namely,
the one, to the north, on the river Moruca, and the other, to the
south, on the river Mahaicony;” and still more the next phrase,
““both of which rivers, as well as the others situate between,
pertain to that Colony.” In view of this statement alone, it is
impossible for anybody to say that in 1765 the Dutch authorities
were claiming anything for their territorial possessions beyond
the post of Moruka.

This, however, does not prevent Storm from going on with his
suggestions. The very last reference made by him to the boun-
dary is an allusion, in September, 1768, to the capture of a salting
vessel by the Spaniards (V. C. I, 177), * before the River Wayni
(indisputably the company's territory).”

This occurrence was referred to in the Remonstrance (V. C.
I, 200) to Spain in 1769 drawn up by the States-General, and it
is spoken of as undertaking ‘‘to prevent the fishery upon the
territory of the State itself, extending from the river Marowyn
to beyond the river Waini, not far from the mouth of the river
Orinoco, according to the existing maps thereof, particularly that
of M. d’Anville.”

This is the furthest territorial claim ever asserted by the West
India Company in the coast territory. It is important not for
what it claims, but for what it disclaims. It fixes the claim of
boundary of the territory not at the Amakuru, not at the Barima,
‘but ““beyond the river Waini,” a term which can only be under-
stood to mean a claim of territory to both banks of the Waini. It
is only a claim of coast line. It is contradicted by the Memorial of
1765, alro presented to the States Gieneral, naming the Moruka as
the boundary. How far the claim was supported by acts of occu-
pation will be considered in another place. Here it is only men-
tioned to show what the claim was, and what it was not.

Although from this tims on the Spanish guard-boats and
police authorities constantly patrolled the coast territory, fre-
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quently apprehending Dutchmen therein, no remonstrance was
ever made again by the Director-General of the colony to the end
of its history, or by the West Tndia Company or the Duich
Government. No reference was ever made to the boundary
which Storm had sought to establish, and the claim which never
went beyond the Waini was never again heard of,

8o completely was the claim abandoned that in 1704 the first
(Governor-General of Essequibo, after the final termination of the
West India Company’s charter, Sirtema van Grovestins, in re-
porting a voyage of exploration in the Pomeroon and neighboring
districts, stated (V. C. II, 248):

“Went on as far ss the Oreek of Moruca, WHICH UP TO NOW HAS

BEEN MAINTAINED TO BE THE BOUNDARY OF OUR TERRITORY WITH THAT
oF SpPAlN. -

In 1808, according to the British Case (p. 63):

“Two Protectors of the Indians were appointed for the Colony, which
wras divided into two districts for the purpose.”

One of these districts was the Essequibo, with the rivers and
creeks tlowing into it. The other district was stated to be (B. C.
V. 191):

“The west coast of the aforesaid Colony from the Creek Snpename right
up to the Spanish boundary, the River Pomeroon being included therein.”

During all this period the Spanish claim was well known.
That claim extended throughout the whole territory and as far as
the Essequibo.

The boundary claimed by the Spanish authorities is shown
more by their acts than by their words. They never had occasion
to discuss the question for they were not only de jure, but de facto
masters of Barima, as well as of the interior, and the Dutch never
once disputed their innumerable acts of dominion on this territory
unless the reference to the fishing vessel captured '‘before the
river Wayni” can be so considered. Nor did they ever find Ease-
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quibo Dutchmen settled in this territory, except in the case of
Rosen, when Storm asked their consent to act, and in the case of
La Riviere, when they expelled the intruders themselves, In the
interior there never was the slightest semblance of a Dutch set-
tlement.

During all this period the Spaniards exercised control in both
districts. In the interior they destroyed the Dutch post and cap-
tured its occupants, and they patrolled the river to the falls of the
Coyuni, finally establishing a fort on its southern bank at the
mouth of the Curumo. In the coast territory their coastguard
vessels were constantly patrolling the rivers, and they frequently
exercised jurisdiction over Duichmen found in the territory.

Under these circumstances there was little call for the Spanish
Government to express in terms their territorial claima. They had
asserted them in the beginning of the century in reference to the
horse trade, aud they had been admitted. They had asserted them
when Storm protested against the destruction of the post in
Cuyuni, in Governor De Castro’s letter stating that the post was
““in the dominions of the King my Sovereign,” and adding that
*“this same River Cuyuni and all its territory is included in those
dominions,”

When the colonist Pinet, whom Storm sent in 1748 to Orinoco
on a mission of observation, addressed the Spanish Governor on
the subject of his treatment of the Indians, the latter had replied
‘' that the whole of America belonged to the King of Spain, and
that he should do what suited himself, without troubling about
us.” These words are not so grandiose as they sound. Except
for the territories which had been ceded, they claimed the original
title to the whole of Guiana,—a title not only anterior in date to
every other, but one which had been effectively enforced.

So also, when an emissary was sent to the Orinoco, in 1769, to
recover fugitive slaves. The Governor bade him return with this

message (V. C, II, 197);
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“That the land belonged to Hie Catholic Majesty as far as the bank
of Oene, and that he would come and seize those plantations which lay on
Spanish territory.”

So when Don Matheo Beltran carried off a number of Indians
from Moruka, in 1775, he said to the Postholder (V. C. II, 2290):

“ That his lord and master would shortly set a guard in the arm of the

Weene called the Barmuni, and that the whole of Marcekka belonged to
the Spaniards.”

The real and poeitive assertion, however, of the Spanish claims
lies in the acts performed by the Spaniards in Barima, which will
be described in subsequent chapters.






CHAPTER XL
THE LAW OF ADVERSE HOLDING.

Title to real property may be obtained by original acquisition,
that is to say, by the occupation of unoccupied land to which no
one had theretofore any claim of title.

As has been shown in an earlier chapter, the Spanish acquired
by a perfected discovery an origlnal and perfect title to the whole
of Guiana.

After original acquisition, the next form of acquisition is
where the property acquired had been the property of another
before the acquisition, but where the person acquiring the prop-
erty does not in any way base his ownership on the title of the
former owner, or of any formmer owner, but acquires a title
adversely to that of the former owner. This is known as acquisi-
tion of title hy ** preacription ” or ** adverse holding.”

This mode of acquiring title is thus defined by F. de Martens
(Int. Law, pp. 460-461):

“ b, —Prescription (nsucapis). Contrary to the principle of privute law,
internationsl law admiits the rule of prescription ouly in a very limited de-
gree. A résumé of its importance is given in the following:

i1, International law does not recoguize a limit to preseription, for a
state is master of a territory so long as it is able and wishes to maintain ite
anthority therein.

«9. In the domain of international relations nothing can interrupt the
continnance of an ancient right. A government may in fact lose a posses-
sion, but it is always legal to attempt recovery of the same in one way or
another.

3, In international law no real importunce is attached to avything but
immemorial antiquity (antiquitas, velustas, cujus contraria memoria non
existif), ‘This it is which forms the fonundation of all jurul relations, both
for the existence of barbaric and civilized states. Length of time and the
eanction of history impose silence on all cluims and charges that might
have been justified in the beginning Ly the violence and injustice committed
at the time of gaining territory. In this sense it may egpecially be eaid of
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states : ‘ Beali posnidentes/' The accomplished fact covered by immemo-
rial antiquity becomes legitimate in the age of international law,”

The Dutch English claim in the present case is not a claim of
immemorial possession. It lacks this quality, which, as the
learned author says, is the most essential ingredient of prsecript-
ive rights in international law. On the contrary, everything
relating to the origin of the Dutch title is a matter of history.
That title was acquired by cession from Spain, and the question
here is whether, by the subsequent acts of the Dutch, territories
not included in the cession could by prescription have been ac-
quired from Spain, As the learned author intimates, such a mode
of acquisition is favored by iuternational law only to a limited de-
gree, and the law does not recognize a limit of time.

It was in view of this principle of inlernational law that it
was necessary, in order to give effect to alleged acts of Dutch oc-
cupation, if any there were, that the limitation of fifty years was
prescribed by the Treaty. It stated an exception to the general
tendencies and spirit of international law. It was a concession to
Great Britain. It provided that if Great Britain could prove an
adverse possession, by the Duich, for fifty years of some part of
this terrritory beyond that which they had acquired by cession,
such proof should be admitted as vesting a title in the Nether-
lands.

The question here, therefore, is not a question of present pos-
session supported by immemorial antiquity, but a question
whether at any time during the period of Dutch rule an adverse
holding for fifty years by that nation can be shown in any part of
the territory in dispute; in other words, what, if any, territory
west of Essequibo, the Netherlands acquired subsequently by an
adverse holding of fifty years.

Vattel, Book II, Oh. XI (Chitty’s Transn., Phila., Ed. 1859),
says, § 140 (p. 187):

“ Usucaption is the acquisition of domain founded on a long posses-
sion, uninterrupted and wndisputed—tihat is to say, an acquisition solely
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proved by this possession. Woll deflpes it, an acquisition of domain
fonnded on s presumed desertion. His definition explsins the manner in
which a long and peaceful possession may serve to eslablish the acquisition
of domain. Modestinus, Digest, lib. 3, de Usurp. el Usucnp., says, in
conformity to the principles of Roman law, that wsweaplion is the wequi-
sition of domain by possession continued during a certain period pre-
scribed by law. These three definitions are by no means incompatible
with each other; aud it is casy to reconcile them by setting aside what
relates to the civil law in the last of the three. In the first of them we
have endeavored clearly to express the idea commonly affixed to the term
wancapiion.

“ Prescription is the exclusion of all the pretensions to a right—an
exclusion founded on the length of time during which that right bas been
neglected, or, according to Wolf’s definition, it is the loss of an inherent
right by virtne of a presumed consent. This definition, too, is just; that
is, it explains how a right may be forfeited by long neglect: and it agrees
with the nominal definition we give to the term preseripfion, in which we
confine ourselves to the meaning nanally annexed to the word.”

The claim of *‘ prescription ™ or *‘adverse holding,” meaning a
naked holding or possession by which title may be acquired, ad-
versely or in opposition to the holder of the prior title, as applied
by the Treaty to the present controversy between two sovereign
States, has been already discussed. It has been shown that it
necessarily presupposes the prior title, as is admitted in the British
Counter Case (page 114), as follows:

¢ But no question of adverse holding or prescription ean warisc except
where one Power has occupied territory by right belonging to the other.”

It has been further shown that in a case of adverse holding be-
tween States, the possession indicated must be a national posses-
sion. This is characteristic of all occupation upon which public
title is based. Thus F. de Martens says (Irt. Law, p. 463):

¢ From a subjective point of view, the occupation must necessarily be
made in the nume and with the assent of a government. IF this is effected
by officinls representing a state, there is no doubt as to the nation which
should be considered as the rightful proprietor of the occupied land. An
ocenpation nndertaken by individuals shonld be sanctioned by the govern-
ment on whose behalf it has been accomplished.”
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It has also been shown that, under the Treaty as well as under
the general principles of law, nothing less can be held to indicate
possession than an actual settlement, established by national au-
thority and remaining under national control; and that, in this
particular case, the Treaty has, further, authorized the Arbitra-
tors to consider what, if any, effect shall be given to the exercise
of an exclusive political control, if they find such control, lasting
for a period of fifty years, but without actual settlement,.

Apart from these conditions, however, as the term ‘' adverse
holding ” or ** adverse possession ” is one of familiar use in modern
jurisprudence, and has been made the subject of adjudications in
English and American courts, certain well-recognized principles
have been established to describe and define the conditions of ad-
verse holding in general requisite to establish a title. These prin-
ciples are inherent in the common acceptation of the term, and
must be considered in ascertaining its meaning and its application
in this arbitration, in addition to and in conpection with the
definitions stated in the Treaty.

According to Phillimore (International Law, 3rd edition, vol.
I, p. 367), these are not only required in the case of an adverse
holding by individuals under municipal law, but in the case of a
prescriptive holding by States under international law. He says
that the proofs of prescriptive possession are

*+ .« . principally publicity, continned occnpation, absence of in-
terruption (usurpatio), sided no doubt generally, both morally and legally
speaking, by the employment of labor and capital upon the possession by
the pew possessor during the period of the silence, or the passiveneas
(inertia), or the absence of any attempl to exercise proprietary rights, by
the former possessor. The period of time, as has been repeatedly said,
cannot be fixed by international law between nations as it may be by pri-
vite law between individuals ; it mnst depend npon variable and varying
circumstances ; but in all cases these proofs would be required.”

He adds that it is only in cases where dereliction is capable of
proof that *‘the new possessor may found his claim upon orig-
inal occupation alone, without calling in the aid of prescription.”
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In another place, speaking of possession, Phillimore says (Int.
Law, 8rd edition, vol. I, p. 325):

“That person ia properly said to possess & thing who both actually and
corporally retains it, and who desires and intends at the same time to make
it his own.

“* That person who, having no such desire or intention, by mere cor-
poral act retaine a thing, is, only in 8 gross and insccurate sense, said to

possess it.”

Again (p. 327), he says:

“ As dominion is mcquired by the combination of the two elements of
fact and infention, so, by the dissolution of these elements, or by the con-
trary fact and infention, it may be lost or extingunished.”

These requirements, as laid down by Phillimore for Interna-
tional Law, are based upon the Roman Law, and have likewise
been adopted by the English Common Law for an adverse hold-
ing—requirements which are ipherent in the meaning of the
term as used and understood by the negotiators of the Treaty of
Arbitration. These requirements will now be discussed in detail.

1. IN ESTABLISHING A CLAIM OF ADVERSE HoOLDING, THE BURDEN
oF PROOF 18 UPON TRE PARTY BETTING UP THE CLAIM.

As a claim of adverse holding is admittedly and necessarily a
claim to found a title, upon a state of facts, in opposition to that
of the prior owner, which but for these facts would be conclusive
and paramount, the burden of proof is upon the party setting up
the claim. If there were no claim of adverse holding, this prior
title would stand good against all the world. The attempt to
dispute this title must be based upon a certain state of facts,
amounting to adverse holding by the claimant, which the claimant
is bound to prove. His claim is an admission of a prior title.

The burden is, therefore, in the present controversy, upon
Great Britain, as the representative of the Dutch title, of showing
that she, or those to whom she has succeeded in right, acquited
title to the land in dispute by an adverse holding of fifty years,
within the meaning of the Treaty and within the principles not in
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contravention of the Treaty which the law has laid down to
govern the determination of such a claim,

Venezuela is not called upon to prove the absence of settlement
or of political control on the part of the Dutch in the territory in
question, but Great Britain is called upon to show such settlement
or control affirmatively.

1I. AFrer TITLE HAS ONCE BEEN FULLY ACQUIRED, NO OBLIGATION
RESTS UPON ITS HOLDER, IN ORDER TO MAINTAIN IT,
OF BHOWING A CONTINUOUS SUCCESSION OF
AFFIRMATIVE ACTS OF (OCCUPATION.

On the other hand, the holder of the prior title, holding the
property as owner by a right which, except for this claim of ad-
verse holding, is good against all the world, is under no necessity
of setling up or proving the continuance of actual occupation.
His title is an established fact, and all the presumptions are in his
favor. Whatever may Le the conditions required to establish
prescription, the holder of the original title is not affected by
these requirements. He is not called upon to show either actual
settlement or political control. Having established his prior title,
all that is necessary to continue ownership is presumed in the
holder of the title. There is no duty upon the holder of the title
to wild land to settle upon his land in order to maintain his title,
or even to enclose it, or to perform any act upon it or in reference
to it of any kind whatever,

Still less is there any obligation upon States, in order to main-
tain their public title, once acquired, of soversignty or dominion
to territory, actually to people the territory, or to assert an active
political control by the performance of specific acts, for which no
occasion may arise. Even authors who admit the principle of
voluntary dereliction insist that the abandonment must be shown
by the most conclusive evidence. Such abandonment certainly
cannot be shown by the absence of settlement, or by the absence
of affirmative acts of jurisdiction. If it could, a large part of the
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territories held to-day by civilized Stutes under unimpeachable
titles would be considered as in a condition of abandonment, open
to the first comer.

As was well said by the Court of Appeals of the State of New
York:

“ Tho settled principles of law require courts to consider the true owner
as constructively in possession of the land to which he holds the title,
nnless they are in the actual hostile occupation of another under a claim of
title ; and this rule is still more imperative in the case of wild and noculti-
vated tracts or lands, which are not susceptible of nctual ocenpation and
cultivation.”

Bliss v. Johunson, 94 New York Reports, 235, 242, (1883).

Applying these principles to the present controversy and be-
ginning with the starting point of 1648, it has been shown that at
that date Spain held a title to all the territory west of Essequibo.
It matters not, therefore, as far as this controversy is concerned,
whether during the one hundred and sixty-six years following the
date of thetreaty down to 1314, the date as of which these boundaries
are to be ascertained, Spain actually maintained settlements, in the
territory in dispute, or how much of it she settled, or whether she
settled any of it. It matters not whether, during that period,
she exercised affirmative control over a large or a small part of it,
whether this was a political or non-political control, or in fact
whether she performed upon it any acts of control at all. As we
shall show from the evidence in this case, the Spanish actually
exorcised a complete and exclusive political control over the whole
of this territory, and for more than a century after the Treaty the
Dutch pever questioned or disputed it, west of Moruca and the
falls of Cuyuni; but this proof is not necessary to the maintenance
of the Spanish title. The question here is not what the Spaniards
did to assert their title to territory to which they had title any
more than it is a question what the Russian Goverment does in
Kamchatka to assert its title, or the English in the wilds of British
Columbia. The fact that the title existed in Spain is enough,
just as the fact that the title to the other territories mentioned
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exists in Russia or in Great Britain, The question is what was
done in the territory in dispute by the Dutch adversely or in op-
position to the Spanish title, to establish in them a new title as
against the prior title of Spain, within the rules of the Treaty,
and the principles of law governing prescription.

Nor is it necessary, even where adverse possession has been
maintained, however fully and completely, during a part of the
required time and then interrupted, for the original owner to do
any act in order to resume his possession. The temporary dis-
seisin cannot invalidate his title. Tt is simply as if it had
not occurred, and his title revives in all its original force. This
doctrine is firmly established by a decision of the Privy Council
in England, in a comparatively recent case, Agency Company v.
Short (1888) 13 Appeal Cases, 793, 798, Privy Council. The case
arose in New South Wales. Here the adverse holder and those
whom he succeeded in title failed to prove continuous possession
for the whole of the statutory period. The Colonial Court held
that as there was no evidence that the legal owner during the
statutory period retook possession, the statute when set running
continued to run, notwithstanding the fact that there was a break
in the chain of adverse possessors. This decision was reversed
by the Privy Council, on appeal, and it was lield by the highest
Court in Great Britain, that the abandonment of possession by
the intruders left the rightful owner in all respects as he was be-
fore the intrusion took place. The Court said:

“ Their Lordehips are unable to concur in this view [the view of
the Colonial Court]. 'They are of opinion that if a person enters
upon the land of another und holds possession for a time, and then, without
having acquired title under the statute, abandons possession, the rightful
owner, on the abandonment, is in the same position in all respects as he
was before the intrugion took place. There is no one aguinst whom le can
bring an action. He cannot make an entry upon himself. 'There is no
positive enactment, nor is there nny principle of law which requires him

to do any act, to issue any notice, or to perform any ceremony in order to
rehabilitate himeelf. No new departure is necessary.”
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Applying the principle, thus laid down by the highest judicial
authority in Great Britain, to the present case, it appears thal
aven if the Duich had entered into possession at some point and
the possession came to an end before the period of fifty years had
elapsed, the original holder of the title immediately resumed pos-
session and his title revived in all its original vigor. It was not
necessary for Spain, under such circumstances, to do any act
which should indicate such resumption. Mere discontinuance
of possession before the expiration of the fifty years, Bupposing
that there had been possession by the Netherlands during a
part of that time, left the Spanish title in all respects as it was
before the intrusion took place. Thus, where a so-called ** post in
Cuyuni,” that of Quive-Kuru, was maintained from 1755 to 1758
and broken up at the latter date, assuming that the *‘ post” ful-
filled in other respects the conditions of adverse holding, which,
however, is denied, its discontinuance served as an interruption of
the adverse holding, and any consequences that flowed from such
holding came to an end. The Spanish title revived when it
ceased.

So with the second of the so-called * posts in Cuyuni,” which
was established in 1765, and abandoned in consequence of a threat-
ened attack. So with the third * post,” at which the bylier who
had been driven from the post above, finally took refuge, and
which, after dragging out a feeble existence for two or three
years, was finally and entirely abandoned in 1772. It was unne-
cessary that any act should be performed by Spain in order to re-
sume her original and paramount title. If adverse holding had in
any sense begun to run through the temporary sojourn of these
Dutch trading-employees, it ceased to run when the post was
abandoned, and so far as this ephemeral occupation was con-
cerned, the Spanish title was in no way affected. It revived as
of course upon abandonment.

In the case of the first of these posts, that of Quive Kuru, the
case was not even one of voluntary abandonment, as the Dutch
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were captured and the post was destroyed by the force under
Captain Bonalde, sent for that purpose by the Spanish Com-
mandant. Bupposing that Spanish possession had been inter-
rupted by the post (which is denied), there was a forcible resump-
tion of possession on the part of Spain, constituting a most
emphatic reassertion of the Spanish title and of Spanish jurisdic-
tion. But in neither case, under this decision of the Privy Coun-
cil, can that title be held to have been affected by the so-called
““posts in Cuyuni,” and they may be absolutely thrown out of
consideration in this inquiry.

I1I. ApveErse HOLDING MUST BE EVIDENCED BY ACTUAL POSSESSION
AND CONTROL.

The object of adverse holding, in law, being to establish a title
by possession, in opposition to a prior title, the law looks closely
at the evidence of possession and exacts that the facts which are
advanced to sustain it shall be such as amount to actual possession
and control. These may be considered in two aspects, as to

(1) Extent of possession.

(2) Character of pussession.

(1) Ewxtent of Possession.

In reference to the extent of territory to which title may be
asserted by adverse holding, it is a general principle of law that
only such extent of territory may be thus acquired as is actually
possessed. A party who relies on adverse possession must, in
the language of Chief Justice (afterwards Chancellor) Kent,
show a ‘‘substantial inclosure, an actual occupancy, a pedis
possessio, which is definite, positive and notorious, to constitute
an adverse possession, when that is the only defence, and is to
countervail a legal title” (Jackson v. Shoonmaker, 2 Johnson
(N. Y.), 280, 234 (1807).




THR LAW OF ADVERSE ROLDING, 363

The only extension of this rule that is admitted by law in the
case of private individuals is where the adverse holder, entering
under a deed which, though as a deed it may in itself be worth-
Jess, defines the bounds of his territory, takes actual possession
ouly of a part of the territory included in the deed, yet is held to
be in constructive possession of the whole. The reason for this
extension of the rule is plain. As the adverse holder takes his
possession, such as it is. under a paper title which defines larger
boundaries, the taking of possession is to be considered in connec-
tion with the boundaries of the deed, and he is presumed to take
possession of the whole which is included in the paper title under
which he took actual possession of a part; in other words, he is
presumed to enter according to his title, and his deed is notice to
all the world that the possession which he has taken is, by
implication, a possession of that which was defined by metes
and bounds therein. He is then said to be in actual possession
of a part and, by reason of the boundaries stated in the deed, to
be in possession of the whole.

Says Mr. Justice Wondworth:

“When a party claims to hold, adversely, a lot of land, by proving

sctual occapancy of a part only, his clsim must be under a deed or paper

tith. This distinction has been uniformly recognized, and acted npon
in this Court.”

Juckson v. Woodruff (1823),1 Cowen’s lteports (New York),
276, 285,

No such claim of constructive possession can be made in the
present case. The Dutch, whatever rights they may have had,
never had a title, worthless or otherwise, to which any limits
other than those of actual occupation could be assigned. If,
therefore, they acquired actual possession in any part, which is
not admitted, this is no ground for allowing a constructive
possession to any other part. What they take by adverse holding
i that which they actually occupy; that of which they have an
actual pedis possessio.
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Such is the doctrine fully recognized by English as well as by
American courts. Says Lord Justice Bramwell:

“It ia difficult to say that therc is a de facto possession, when there is
no possession except of those parts of lane which are in actual possession,
and there is an interference with the enjoyment of the parts which are not in
uctual possession My meaning is this, if there were an inclosed field and
u man turned his cattle into it, and locked the gate, he might well claim to
have a de fuclo possession of the whole field ; but if there were an uninclosed
common of 8 mile in length, and he turned one horse on one end of the
common, he could not bo said to have a de facfo possession of the whole
length of the common. If it would not be a de facfo possession it wounld
be a nominal possession. If no right were attached to it" (meaning no
definition of boundaries by paper title), *it would not Le a constructive
possession. That I look npon as being the condition of things, and con-
sequently the plaintiff had not a de facto possession beyond the spots where
his animals were grazing.”

Coverdale v. Charlion (1578), Law Reports 4, Queen's Bench
Divigion, 104, 118,

If there were any such thing as constructive Dutch possession
in the present case, there is no possibility of assigning any limits
to it.

Spain as the discover and first occupier of Guiana entered
under defined bounds, upon a part for the whole. Her settlements
had reference to those Lounds. The Dutch entered under no
claim or charter defining any limits.

Says Chief Justice Parker:

¢ But no presnmption of & claim, and of color of title beyond the actunl
occupation conld arise respecting other lots than that of which the party
was in possession. And where the possession was in a township, or other
large tract of land, which had never been divided into lots for settlement,
no particular claim, beyond the actual occnpation, would be indicated, and

of course no notice of any such claim of title ehould be presumed.”
Railey v. Carlefon (1841), 12 New Hampshire Reports, 9, 16, 17.

Says Mr. Justice McLean:

“The plaintiff in error contends, thut as the lessors of the plaintiff have
shown no paper title emanating from the Government, they must be con-
sidercd as trespassers; and that their right is striotly limited to the pedis
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possessio of the occupants under whom they claim. That a mere tres-
passer caunot set up the right of a riparian proprietor nnless his enclosures
are extended so as to include the allurial formation.

“ The position assumed by the plaintifs counsel, that a mere intruder
ig limited to his sctunl possession ; and that the rights of a riparian pro-
prietor do not attach to him, is correct. He can have no rights beyond his
possession. The doctrines of the common law on this subject have been
taken substantially from the civil law,

Watkina v. Holman (1842), 16 Peters’ U, B. Snp. C. Rep., 25,
54, b5.

Even if the Dutch had entered under a title to which definite
constructive limits would otherwise have attached, these con-
structive effects could not operate in the disputed territory, be-
cause Spain had already a good actual and constructive possession.

Says Woodworth, Justice:

“Thus, if A tukes s lease or conveyunce for a lot of sisty-three acres,
and improves a part, his possession ie valid for the whole lot; not on the
ground of having title; which draws the posscssion after it; until an actnal
advorse possession commences; but on the ground of a claim of title to the
whole ; and a possession of a part, which constitutes a good adverse posses-
sion. When a valid possession is acquired in the latter mode, it cannot be
defeated by a subsequent entry on the same lot, making an improvement of
a part ; and obtaining title to the whole, The effect of such subsequent entry
would be ; to give the person so entering a possession of the part actually
occupied and improved ; but no farther. A constructive possession to the
unimproved part of the lot, wonld remain in him who made the first entry
under claim of title and improved a part.”

Jackson v. Vermilyea (1827), 6 Cowen's Reports (New York),
677, 680.

Moreover, constructive possession cannot be inferred even
from possession under a deed with metes and bounds, where the
acts of the claimant are.not such as to indicate an intention to
occupy up to the boundaries of his deed, and still more where
they are such as to actually negative such an intention. As was
well said by Chief Justice Parker, of New Hampshire:

*“If tho occupation is not of a character to indicate & claim which may
be coextensive with the limits of the deed, then the principle that the party
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is presumed to euter adversely sccording to his title, has no sound applica-
tion, and the adverse possession may be limited to the actual occupation.”
Bailey v, Carleton (1841), 12 New Hampehire Reports, 9, 10.

In the case at bar, the facts indisputably show that, even if
they could have done so, the Dutch never entered with any view
to the limits now claimed. The correspondence alone which has
been recited is enough to show this; but hesides the correspond-
ence, there are scattered through the evidence a multitude of
acts, which will be poted in their proper place, indicating that
the Dutch never on any occasion intended to hold any territory
west of Moruca or west of the falls of Cuyuni.

(2) Character of Possession.

The possession must be actual, not only as to the extent of
the territory covered, but as to the character of the possession
itself. The person claiming to lold adversely must claim and
exercise control as an owner. Many acts may be performed upon
the territory of another, especially wild and uncultivated ter-
ritory, which do not imply any claim of title. To constitute ad-
verse holding, the acts must be such as would amount to a dis-
seisin of the true owner.

The Case of Great Britain contains, both in the text of the
Case itself, and in the voluminous appendices, reference to a great
many acts which were performed by the Dutch on the territory
in dispute, and which are put forward as evidence of possession.
These include principally the transit of Dutchmen over the
territory, the trading of the Dutch with Spaniards and with
Indians therein, the maintenauce of an outlier in the Cuyuni for
trading purposes, and the maintenance of relations with the In-
dian tribes, principally for the purpose of obtaining slaves by the
capture of Indians of other tribes and for the purpose of inciting
the Indians to attacks upon the Spaniards. ’

Tt is claimed that these acts in some way or other constitute or
indicate possession of the soil. As a matter of fact, they indicate
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neither settlement nor control, nor occupation nor territorial sov-
ereignty, nor even claim of sovereignty. Most of them are acts
which even in civilized countries anybody may perform without
any territorial significance whatever. All of them are acts which
foreigners are frequently permitted to do even in a comparatively
civilized country as well as natives, and still more when the
country is wild and unsettled.

The most extravagant of these claims is that transit over a
territory, especially such a territory as this, constitutes possession.
Thus, it is stated in the British Case (p. 14) that the Dulch, at a
very early period, had ' penetrated far into the interior;" that
““negro traders were employed by the Company to travel among
the Indians and obtain by barter the products of the country;"”
and that ““in 1683 and onwards these traders are mentioned as
periodically visiting the Pariacot Savannah.”

Suppose that they did all this, what conclusion is to be drawn
from it Does this constitute—we do not say *‘ actual settlement ”
or “ political control,” as prescribed by the Treaty—but does it con-
stitute possession in any sense! The fact that an individual sub-
ject of one country * penetrates” the wilderness on the frontier
of another does not give his country any rights of possession, even
though he be an agent of the Government. That may be done in
civilized countries, and much more so in territory which is as yet
unsettled.

So also with trade and the maintenance of trading establish-
ments. Trading cannot form the basis of adverse holding so as
to create a territorial title. Neither can the maintenance of trad-
ing establishments, which the citizens of one State are constantly
maintaining on the territory of other States, nor the appoint-
ment of agents to conduct such a trade, have any such effect.

The relations of the Dutch with the Indians, which will be
treated fuither on, were inspired by the necessity which is imposed
on every colony of keeping on friendly terms with the savageneigh-
bors on its frontier. It is true that the Dutch promoted wars be-
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tween these savages and other savages, whom when taken prison-
ers by the first, they could purchase as slaves. It is true that
while the Dutch never attacked the Spanish themselves, they
secretly conspired with the Indians and incited the latter to atlack
them, and particularly the Spanish missions. Nevertheless, these
do not constitute acts of ownership performed upon the foreign
territory. As far as acquisition of property or dominion in that
State is concerned, they have no significance.

So of alliances and understandings with Indians, and even
grants by Indians—though of these last it is not pretended that
any existed. Such acts on the part of natives can confer no terri-
torial rights. Says Westlake (Int. Law, p. 144):

““We have seen that natives in the radimentary condition supposed huve
uo rights nnder international law. . . . Ilence, it follows that no docu-
ment in which such natives are made to cede sovereignty over any territory
can be exhibited ns an international title. . . . A strcam cannot rise
higher than ite source, and the right to establish the full system of eivil-
ized government, which in these cases is the essence of sovereignty, cannot
be based on the consent of those who at the utmost know but a few of the
needs whieh such a government is intended to meet.”

IV. ADVERSE HOLDING MUST BE EXCLUSIVE.

Under the well-recognized principles of the English common
law, an adverse holding, to be valid, must amount to a disseisin of
the true owner. The term ‘‘disseisin” is thus defined by Coke
upon Littleton (153b):

“ A disseisin is where one enters, intending to usurp the possession
and to oust another of his freehold.”

Says Chief Justice Hosmer:;

“ By adverse possession is meant a possession hostile to the title of
ancther; or, in other words, a disseigin of the premises ; and by a disseisin
is understood an unwarrantable entry, putting the true owner out of his
seigin,”

French v. Pearce, 8 Connecticut Reports, 430, 442 (1831),
citing Coke upon Littleton, 1535, 181.
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In order to sustain a claim of adverse possession, it is necessary
that the true owner should be ousted; in other words, that the
possession should be exercised in exclusion of the true owner,

If the two parties are settled in the territory, though in dif-
ferent settlements, the adverse holder can claimy only the part
occupied by his own settlements. As a matter of fact, the only
place outside of the Eassequibo plantations where Dutch settle-
ment was in any degree exclusive, or even where there was any
gettlement, was in Pomeroon, and this existed only for a short
fime.

Any act or acts upon which a claim of an adverse holding is
based must have the element of exclusiveness. |

Thus, the miscellaneous classes of acts so much dwelt upon in
the British Case, upon which comment has already been made,
namely, transit, trade, relations with the Indians, capture of run-
aways, etc.—if these acts are brought forward by Great Britain,
to sustain a claim of adverse holding, they must meet the test of
exclusiveness. It is not enough to show that the Dutch per-
formed these acts: it must also be shown that the Dutch excluded
their performance by the Spanish. Insignificant as they are in
any aspect, they may here be thrown out upon this point alone,
that they were not exclusive. It is shown again and again in the
evidence that all this disputed territory was not only as free to the
Spaniards as to the Dutch, but that it was much freer; for while
the Dutch never excluded the Spaniards, the Spaniards did on
numerous occasions exclude the Dutch. The Dutch themselves
testify that Spanish traders were all through this territory; that
Spaniards came down to the falls of the Cuyuni as a habitual
practice; (B. C., II, p. 68) that the trade in the Barima between the
Orinoco and Moruca was largely conducted by Spaniards; that the
Spaniards drove out the settlers on the La Riviere plantation, in
Barima, and confiscated their goods; that the Spaniards arrested
Dutchmen on the lower Orinoco and in Barima; that Spaniards
patrolled the interior and Lhe coast rivers; that the Spaniarde had
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alliances and understandings with the Indians, and that they
drove other Indians away repeatedly, and on other occasions
brought them in to their settlemnents, where thousands of them
were governed, instructed and civilized; and finally that so far
from these acts being performed by the Dutch to the exclusion of
the Spaniards, the Dutch were frequently excluded by the
Spaniards from the performance of them,

There is not a single instance in the record where the Dutch
questioned the right of the Spaniards to do any of these things.

But if two parties may be said to be in possession of land at
the same time, he is held to be the true owner who has the better
title. Where they are in possession of different parts of the land,
the party having the better title is held to be in constructive pos-
session of all that is not actually possessed by the other.

As was well said by Chief Justice Marshall:

“The defendunt also relies on an adversary possession in himself and
those under whom he claima, for more than twenty years. His proof of this
fact is sufficient ; and it is well settled, both in the courts of Kentucky and
in this court, that a possession which will bar an ejectment, is also & bar in
equity. Bot in this case the plaintiffs aleo have been in possession.

Each of the parties then has held possession of distinet parts of
the land in controversy. In this state of things, it is well scttled that the
party having the better right is in constructive possession of all the land
not occupied in fact by his adversary. If then the plaintiffs in this case
have the better title, that title is barred by the possession of the defendant,
g0 far as that possession was actnal, but not farther.”

Hunt v. Wickliffe (1829), 2 Peters' [U. 8. SBup. Ct.] Reports,
201, 211, 212,

S0 also Mr. Justice Story:

** Where two persons are in possession of land at the same time, under
different titles, the law adjudges him to have the seisin of the estate who
has the better title. Both cannot be seized, and, therefore, the seisin fol-
lows the title . . . The disseigsin of Coburn under a junior title did
not axtend beyond the limits of his actual occupancy.”

Barr v. Grafz (1819), 4 Wheaton’s [U. 8. Bup. Ct.] Reports,
213, 223,
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V. TaE CLAIM OF ADVERSE Ha:.mhu MUST BE DEFRINITE.

Courts of justice universally and absolutely refuse to consider
loose and vague claims to indefinite areas as a foundation for
adverse holding.

Thus the Supreme Court of New York:

““ Adverse possession must be marked by definite boundaries and be
regularly continued down to render it availing.”
Doe v. Campbell, 10 Johnson's Reports, 477,

Says Mr. Justice Spencer :

“ In order to bar the recovery of a plaintif who bas title, by a posses-
gion in the defendant, . . . it is also requisite that such posscssion
shonld be marked by definite boundaries.”

Brandt v. Ogden (1806), 1 Johuson's New York Reports,
156, 158,

Says Woodworth, Justice:

Bounduries, therefore, including the premises were indispensable in
order to give this defense the semblance of plausibility. The defendants
stsnd on the same ground as if no deed had been produced; and then the

possession cannot extend beyond the place actually occupied.”
Jackson v. Woodruff, 1 Cowen’s Reporta, 276 (A, D. 1523).

See also Coverdale v. Charlton (1878), 4 Q. B. Div., 104, per
Bramwell, L. J., and Bailey v. Carleton, 13 New Hampshire Re-
ports, 9 (A. D. 1841).

It is therefore well settled that the claim of title, which is the
necessary accompaniment of adverse holding, must be to a ter-
ritory which has fixed and definite boundaries. When the boun-
daries are not fixed by grant they are fixed by the limits of actual
occupation. There was not even a semblance of occupation by
the Dutch west of the Moruca and the falls of Cuyuni.

It is one of the most singular facts in the preseut case that,
while it is claimed that a title has been established in the Dutch
and their successors, the British, by an adverse holding established
prior to 1814, there is not in the whole history of the disputed ter-
ritory, (at least up to 1889,) and of the Dutch colony which adjoined
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it and of the Spanish colony which, as Venezuela claims, included it,
nor in that of the two countries to which these two colonies respect-
ively belonged, as set forth in the vast mass of evidence annexed to
the Cases presented by the respective parties, any definition of the
boundaries of the territory claimed by the Dutch. During the one
hundred and sixty-six years that this situation had lasted, from
the date of the Treaty of Munster, the Dutch never undertook to
state the limits of their claim. Not until 1340, after the Dutch
had long disappeared from the territory and after the British had
been in possession for nearly thirty years, was any definition
made of the boundaries which are the present subject of claim,
and the line put forward at this late date, nearly two centuries
after the Treaty of Munster, was a pure figment of the imagina-
tion, assumed by the caprice of the person employed to make
a survey, and without reference in fact to any question of settle-
ment, or political control, or possession, or occupation of any kind
whatever. This recent invention of the geographer Schomburgk is
the only line that is talked about in the British Case, except indeed
that still more recent invention, known as the ‘‘ Extreme British
Claim.” There is no statement or suggestion in that Case, or in
the Counter-Case, as to what the boundaries of fifty years’ adverse
possession are. There is, of course, no statement that there had
been fifty years' possession up to the Schomburgk line, for such
a statement would be entirely destitute of foundation. We are
left still in absolute ignorance as to what territory is claimed by an
adverse holding.

Of course, the Dutch never knew or imagined any such line as
that which now appears as the Schomburgk line, or even that
which was published by the British authorities as the Schom-
burgk line from 1840 to 1886. Even in those innumerable discus-
sions and suggestions between the Company and Director-General
Storm recited in the last chapter there was nothing that
approached anywhere near this line. At various times, in the
coast territory, these suggestions name the Moruca, the Waini,
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the Barima and the line of D’Anville, which excluded the Barima
and which was entirely on this side of the mouth of the Orinoco.
In the interior territory no point or points were ever suggested as
a boundary. One may read the whole of the Company’s corre-
spondence from beginning to end, with the map lying before him,
and yet be absolutely unable to make a line anywhere on that
map that shows the boundary between the two territories as
the Director-General or the Company at any time thought either
that it was or that it ought to be. It is not only the variety of
his suggestions, but their vagueness, which is to be noticed. He
never speaks of a line except the line in D’Anville’s map, and he
evidently only speaks of that line because he finds it in the map.
Except for its presence in the map it represents nothing. More-
over, he no sooner refers to it, than he makes a suggestion incon-
sistent with it. The boundary claim, so far as it was Dutch,
therefore, fails in this most essential particular, that its extent
was never definitely ascertained.

VI. Apverse HoLDING MUBT BE UNDER A CLAIM OF RIGHT.

The mere possession of the land of another for twenty years is
not enough to give title. A person coming upon the land of
another and taking possession of it i8 a mere trespasser, and his
trespass, though continued for the length of time prescribed by
the statute, will not give him a title unless his possession is in
pursuance of a claim to the ownership of the land.

According to Phillimore (Int. Law, 3rd ed., vol. I, p. 327):

« Dominion is acquired by the combination of the two elements of fact
and intention.”

The intent must be to exclude the true owner. A transient
entry upon land for a temporary purpose can never amount to an
ouster of the true owner. In such case, there is no intent to hold
the land.
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Says Mr. Justice Story, of the Supreme Court of the United
States:

“An onster or disseisin is not indeed to be presumed from the mere fact
of gole poesession; but it may be proved by such possession, accompanied
with a notorious claim of an exclusive right.”

Ricard v. Williams, 7T Wheaton’s [U. 8 Sup. Ot.] Reports,
59, 121.

Says Mr. Justice Baldwin, of the same Court:

““An entry by one man on the land of another, is an ouster of the legal
poesession arising from the title or not, according fo the infention with
which it 15 done; if made nnder claim and color of right, it is an ouster;
otherwise, it ia » mere trespass; in legul language, the intention guides the
entry, and fizes its character.”

Ewing v. Burnet, 11 Peters’ [U. 8. Bup. Ct.] Reports, 41, 52

In a later case in the same court, Mr. Justice Miller says:

“* We think this law is too well settled to need argument to sustsin it.
There must be title somewhere to all land in this country. Either in the
Government, or in some one deriving title from the Government, State or
Nutional. Any one in possession, with no claim to the land whatever must in
presumption of law be in possession in amily with and in subservience fo that
title. Where there is no claim of right, the possession cannot be adverse to
the true title.”

Harvey v. Tyler, ® Wallace’s [U. 8. Sup. Ct.] Reports, 328,
340,

If there is no claim of right, there can be no adverse possession.
Under such circumstances, it is in law deemed to be a possession
under the true owner. This principle has been well expressed by
Chief Justice Beck, of Iowa. He says:

‘ An essential ingredient of adverse possession is & claim of right hostile
to the true owner, So, if one enter upon the land of another, without any
color of title or claim of right, the possession thus acquired is not adverse,
but the poseessor will be deemed by the law to hold under the legal owner.
In sach a case no length of possession will make it adverse. . . .

“The guo animo in which the possession was taken and held is the test
of its adverse character. The inquiry, therefore, as to the intention of the
Ppossessor, i essential in order to determine the nature of his possession, and
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before his possession may be pronounced adverse it must be fonnd that he
intended to hold in hostility to the true owner.”
(Frube v. Wells (1871), 34 Iowa Reporta, 148, 140,

Of course a holding by consent cannot be in hostility to the
true owner, but the possession must be in subservience to the
true title.

Says Mr. Justice Wells:

“ A mere possession of land of itself does not necessarily imply a claim
of right. The tenant may hold in subjection to the lawful owner, not in-
tending to deny his right or to assert a dominion over the fee. But the
terms open, notorious, adverse and exclusive, when applied to the mode in
which one holds lands, must be understood as indicating & claim of right.
They constitute an appropriate definition of a disseizin, and the acts which
they describe will have that offect if not controlled or explained by other

testimony.
* An adverse possession entirely excludes the idea of & holding by con-

ll!:llt.. By
Winthrop v. Benson (1850), 31 Maine Reports, 381, 384,

The general principles requiring a claim of right in order te
make adverse holding as between individuals apply with still
greater force where the question is one as between States. In
the case of individuals, the question is only of private title or
ownership; in the case of States, the question is one of public
title, dominion or sovereignty.

A private individual entering upon the land of another cannot
establish a claim of adverse holding unless both the ouster and the
possession are under a claim of right. Nor can a State endeavor-
ing to acquire a title by adverse holding establish it unless both
the ouster and the possession are likewise made under a claim
of right.

In the case of private holdings, the act of the private holder
sometimes speaks for itself, and may be enough without anything
else to give notice of & claim of right; but in the case of States,
where public title is concerned, the acts of private individuals on
the territory which is sought to be held adversely show nothing
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with reference to the State of which they are subjects; no pre-
sumption can arise from anything they do as to the claim of the
State. The fact that a squatter, or any number of squatters,
establish themselves upon the territory of another State does not
indicate a claim of right sufficient to establish even a private title;
much less does it indicate a claim on the part of the State to
which they belong to assert a public title. The State itself must
take some action in reference to the territory so claimed. Unlesa
it does so by exclusive acts of dominion necessarily implying a
claim of right, the occupation cannot be deemed to have been
made under such a claim; and no matter how long it continues, it
is void and ineffectual as establishing a public title adversely to
the prior sovereign,

Nor is it enough that the State seeking to acquire title through
the acts of its citizens should extend its jurisdiction merel y over
such citizens, because jurisdiction may be personal in its character,
and may follow the citizen wherever he goes. The jurisdiction
which the adverse State maintains must be distinctly a territorial
jurisdiction, one which implies dominion or claim of dominion over
the soil and all who dwell thereon, whether its own subjects, or
natives of the territory, or foreigners sojourning there.

If the acts performed by the Dutch on this territory had been
much more strongly indicative of possession than they were, they
would not, in the absence of a claim of right, amount to a
disseisin of Spain. As has bLeen several times suggested, there
is nothing in these acts to indicate possession. There was no
settlement and there was no control in the territory in question.
If there had been, they might possibly have been of such a char-
acter as, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, to have im-
plied a claim of right, because such a claim may be inferred
from the facts, if the facts sufficiently warrant it. Buot there
being no settlement and no control, the British Case is com-
pelled to fall back upon acts of such slight significance as
trading, the establishment of relations with the Indians, hunt-
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ing, fishing, transit, the capture of runaway slaves, and
the like. Such acts can never be said to indicate a claim
of right, because they are perfectly consistent with ownership
in another, They have no territorial quality. The supervision
which the Dutch authorities exercised over them was merely a
supervision to secure the profits of the trade, or to control the
movements of the ‘‘free colonists,” or to insure the colony
against Indian attack. There is not one of them that constitutes
in any sense an act of territorial jurisdiction, whether it was
performed by colonists or by the old negro traders or by the
Outliers or Qutrunners employed by the Company. They are
void of significance in this inquiry, for the reason, if for no other,
that they import no claim of territorial sovereignty, and therefore
no claim of right.

In the present case, not only do the acts related fall short of
implying any claim, but there is a mass of evidence of the most
significant character which absolutely negatives the existence of
such a claim.

The history of the deliberations of the West India Company
on the boundary question has already been dwelt upon at length.
It is enough to say here that it shows repeated applications on
the part of the Director-General of the colony to the Company for
instructions as to the boundary which he was to claim. It shows
that these applications took the form of earnest appeals, urgenily
demanding an answer. It shows that the request for instructions
was based on a critical condition of affairs in the colony, namely,
the fact that the Spanish authorities were actively enlarging their
actual settlement of the territory in which the Dutch had been
travelling and trading to the Orinoco and in which dwelt the
Indians who carried on the slave trade and otherwise contributed
to promote the interests of the traders of Essequibo. It shows
that the Director-General looked with the gravest apprehension
upon the erection of new Spanish settlements in the territory,
chiefly, no doubt, because it would reduce the facilities and profits
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of the trade there maintained. Itshows, finally, that the Director-
General desired to check this development of Spanish settlement
in the territory by setting up a claim to dominion over it, or over
some part of it, but that he required the authority of the Com-
pany to do so, and he also required mfurmatmu as to what
territory, if any, the Company claimed.

What did the Company do under these circamstancesi As to
the location of the boundary, they refused to give any instructions
whatever. They stated the result of their nine years’ deliberations
and investigations in a letter which showed that they were with-
out result. They stated in terms that they were unable to form
an opinion upon the subject, and they calmly referred to the
boundary question between New Netherland and New England
as the only fact in the history of the New World bearing on the
subject.

It would seem to be impossible to conceive of a territorial claim
where the party interested in making it was so entirely in the dark
as to what he was claiming. If the West India Company never
could determine what territory they should claim, they cannot be
said to have made a claim, because the idea of a claim to terri-
tory by one who does not know what territory he is claiming
is a contradiction in terms. Yet the fact is quite certain from
these letters that whatever territorial extension the Director-
General may have thought the interests of the Company de-
manded, he never was able to reach any conclusion as to the ter-
ritory which should be claimed. Certainly he had ne knowledge
of the limits; nor, as appears from the letters of the Company,
were they ever able to inform him. Moreover, the correspond-
ence itself plainly shows that there was no claim of right, and no
intention to claim as of right. The Director-General’s suggestions
were not in the direction of claiming on grounds of right, but of
claiming upon grounds of expediency, in other words, of simple ter-
ritorial extension; and the Company, while they would have been
willing to claim anything for which they could have found a basis

—
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of right, being unable to find such a basis, refused to assert any
claim,

But they did more than this. Having stated that they could
come to no conclusion on the question of boundary claim, they ex-
pressly enjoined upon the Director-General that he should not raise
the question, and should make no open or direct opposition to the
extension of the Spanish settlements. The Company had received
his hint, ingeniously conveyed, in his letter of December 7, 1746
(B. C., II, p. 46), that the Indians were much aggrieved at the Span-
ish settlements, since they closed the slave traffic in that direction,
and that they expressed a desire to surprise the one last estab-
lished and level it to the ground, *‘ which I, not without trouble,
have prevented.” They had received a further hint from him, in
his letter of March 25, 1747 (B. C., 1I, p. 49): *‘Ishould already long
ago have removed and demolished the first fort up in Cuyuni
(which even now is easy of accomplishment on my part through the
Caribs), if I were but rightly conscious how far the limits of your
Honoure'’ territory extend,” and they had answered, in the follow-
ing September (B. C., II, p. 51), that they had started the inquiry
about the boundary, adding this remarkable instruction, which
has a double significance, in view of the letters that preceded it:
‘“ Nevertheless, if in the meantime you can, by indirect means,
and without yoursel/ appearing therein, bring it about that the
Spaniarde be dielodged from the forts and buildings which,
according to your assertions, they have made upon the terri-
tory of the Company, and can prevent them from spreading
further in that quarter, you will do well to accomplish this,”—an
instruction whose meaning is evident, and which Storm showed
that he understood, by his statement in the following year (B. C.,
IT, p. 58) that ** I intend to tell the Chiefs of the Indians, when they
come to me, that I can provide no redress for them and that they
must take measures for their own security, Then I feel assured
that in a short time no Spaniard will be visible any more above in

Cuyuni.”
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The Director-General fully understood why the Company
were unwilling to make any claim, and why, instead of openly
opposing the extension of Spanish settlements, they covertly
aimed at their destruction by means of the Indians. In his report
in 1750 (B. C., II, p. 67), he says: ‘‘ Because the limits are un-
known, we dare not openly oppose them.”

Finally, the Company, in their remarkable letter of January 8,
1755 (B. C., II, p. 101), which sums up the boundary question, and
explains why they cannot reach a conclusion, warned the Direc-
tor-General against attempting to define the Company’s territory
and disputing about its jurisdiction, for the very reason that the
Company cannot find any ground for asserting a territorial claim.

Mindful of these instructions, the Director-General, when in
1758 he wrote his protest to the Spanish Governor in reference to
the capture of the Cuyuni post(B. C., II, p. 154), carefully refrained
from suggesting that any question of territorial jurisdiction was
involved in the attack, and left it entirely as an unwarranted mo-
lestation of the persons of Dutch subjects. The only allusion to
territorial rights which he allowed was in the letter of his irre.
spoosible subordinate, which was returned unopened.

Under these circumstances, it is evident not only that the
Dutch made no claim of right, but that they intended to make no
claim, and that they expreesly instructed their Managing Agent
to make no claim, with which instruction he complied; and their
reason for doing this was the best of all possible reasons, namely,
that they bhad investigated the subject and that they could not
find that they had any claim at all.

The evidence upon which these facts rest is incontrovertible.
It is the best evidence that could possibly be had, namely, the very
instructions, with the reasons for them, which the Company gave
to the Director-General on the spot. After the most careful in-
vestigation, extending over nine years, they failed utterly to reach
a conclusion. As admissions, the letters of Storm and of the
Company are conclusive. As evidence of what was in the minds
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of the parties,—of that ‘intention” of which the judi-
cial authorities speak in connection with adverse holding,—they
are likewise conclusive; for they lay bare the inner workings of
the minds of those who conducted the Company’s affairs, and in
guch a way as to forbid any idea of intention to claim any parti-
cular limits,

It would be impossible to find a more abseolute negation of all
claim of right than is to be seen in this correspondence between
the West India Company and the Director General. But there
were other facts which negative a claim of right. There was the
express admission of Beekman, in connection with the horse
trade, at the beginning of the century, that the territory up in
Cuyuni, that is to say, beyond the falls, was Spanish territory,
and his submission and acquiescence when such a right was as.
serted by prohibitions against Datch trade, There was the sug-
gestion made by Storm in 1768 to the Spanish Governor that the
latter should deal with the Dutch outlaws in Barima. There was
the entire absence of any exercise of jurisdiction or control by the
Dutch over the territory west of Moruca and above the falls of
the Cuyuni, and entire acquiescence, without a word of pro-
test, in the assertion of Bpanish jurisdiction by innumerable acts
in the same territory. These matters belong more particularly to
the discussion of the question of political control. They are only
mentioned here as proof of the abeence of a claim of right.

On two occasions, and two only, did the Duich undertake to
make anything resembling a claim. These were in the two Re-
monstrances of 1759 and 1789, already considered in the chapter
on the Dutch Claim. The first of these was 8o expressed
that it could hardly be considered a claim at all. It was confined
to saying that the tributaries of the Essequibo had been ‘‘pos-
sessed from time immemorial,” and that the Company ‘' in virtue
of that possession have always considered the said river of Cu-
yuni as a domain of this state.” It protested against the attack
on the Postholder and the destruction of the post; but such a
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protest might have been made, had the post been situated on the
other side of the Orinoco; for the protest was not inconsistent
with the admission of Spanish sovereignty over the territory.
Finally, it invited a discussion to bring about a delimitation of
frontiers., Such a statement as this cannot be said to be a claim
of right. In considering its force and effect in the present con-
troversy, we must read it in connection with the correspondence
of the Company and their officers which lay behind it, and we must
interpret it in the light of this correspondence. Viewed in this
light, it is clear that the Company were unwilling to make a posi-
tive claim, because, first, they felt that they bad no ground of
claim, and, secondly, if they had a ground they could not tell to
what territory it extended. They therefore sent their paper for
what it was worth, and the paper was well called a “ Remon-
strance,” for it was nothing more. Such as it was, however, it
was withdrawn ten years later.

The Company had hoped, when they made their first Remon-
strance, that they might shortly discover some facts that would
justify a claim, and it was in this hope that they had invited a
discussion of the boundary question, and had written repeated
letters to the Director-General asking for further information.
This further information they had never been able to get, and
when the occasion arose for them fo ‘' remonsirate ” a second
time about fugitive slaves and other matters, they referred to
Spanish settlements which they understood were placed in the
Cuyuni, and referred to them solely for the purpose of disclaim-
ing any territorial rights in that neighborhood; as a result of
which the only effect of the second Remonstrance on territorial
claims in the Cuyuni was that it admitted the Spanish claim to
the Cuyuni Valley in general and denied the Company’s pre-
vious poeition that ** they had always considered the said river of
Cuyuni as a domain of the state.” This left the matter substan-
tially as if no claim had ever been made.

They did, however, make a specific claim in the second Re-
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monstrance to territory of the State ‘‘extending from the river
Marowyn to bayond the river Waini.”

This is the only intelligible claim ever made by the Dutch
Government or by the West India Company. It may, of course,
be assumed to state the full limit of the claim, and thus included
only the left bank of the Waini.

With the exception of this claim to Waini—and the important
fact is to be noticed that this is only a claim along the coast to the
mouth of the Waini--there is nothing to indicate a claim of right
on the part of the Dutch to the territory in dispute, and there is
everything to indicate the contrary. It is even a question
whether, in view of the conflicting suggestions put forth in the
correspondence, any importance can be attached to the claim to
the Waini. This claim, however, was likewise abandoned, as
appears from the often-quoted statement of Governor-General
Van Grovesting in 1794 -and it cannot be guoted too often—in
which he names the Moruka as the line (V. C. II, 248) * which up
to now has been maintained to be the boundary of our territory
with that of Spain.”

Two incidental points are to he noticed in connection with the
requirement of a claim of right. These relate (1) to the time of
making the claim, and (2) to the extent of the claim.

(1.) The time of making the claim.

The claim of right must be contemporaneous with the adverse
holding. If it begins without a claim of right, it is not an adverse
holding, and a subsequent claim of right will not refer back to
the beginning of the possession. Nor can prescription run after
the claim is actually or by implication withdrawn.

Adverse holding can only begin with an ouster or disseisin ac-
companied by a claim of right. If there is mo claim of right at
the time of the first entry, the entry is no ouster, and he who so
enters holds, in contemplation of law, in subservience to the legal
title. It follows that one may be in possession for any number of
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years, but such a possession is not an adverse possession until a
claim of right is set up, and the duration of the possession anterior
to the setting up of the claim is immaterial. This doctrine has
been repeatedly affirmed.

Bays Mr. Justice Spencer:

““ In order to bar the recovery of a plaintiff who has title, by a possession
in the defendant, strict proof has always been required, not only that fis
first possession was taken under a claim hostile to the real owner, but that
such hostility has existed on the part of the succeeding tenants.”

Brandi v. Ogden (1808), 1 Johnson’s New York Reports,
156, 1568.

Says Mr. Justice Baldwin, in a case already cited:

“ It suffices for thia purpose” (adverse possession) ** that visible and
notorious acts of ownership ure exercised over the premises in controversy
for twenty-oue years, after an entry under claim and color of titls.”

Ewing v. Burnet (1837), 11 Peters’ [U. 8. Sup. Ct.] Reporis
41-52.

We have seen from our examination of the Dutch remon-
strances that their alleged claims, which could only be construed
as relating to portions of the territory now claimed by Great
Britain, were made in such qualified terms that they could bardly
be considered as claima at all; that, such as they were, they were
in great part withdrawn; that the Dutch never made any entry
thereunder; and that of the territory which it is alleged they
claimed they had no possession.

We have seen further that the acts and papers of the Dutch
during the 110 or 120 years before these Remonstrances expressly
admitted Spanish dominion in the Cuyuni and in Barima.

It may be worth while to notice in this connection that no
claim of right was ever made by the English until long after
their acquisition of British Guiana. Even after the Schomburgk
line had been laid down, the British Government in 1841 expreasly
disclaimed it as a line of right, and it was not until later that
there could be said to have been any such claim in existence.
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(2.) The extent of the claim.

Not only must a claim of right be contemporaneous with the
entry in order to constitute an ouster, but it must be co-extensive
with the entry. An entry upon a tract of land, where there is a
claim of right only to a part of the tract, even though there may
be actual possession of the whole, constitutes an ouster or disseisin
only of that part, and consequently an adverse possession only of
that part. The adverse holding cannot be larger than the claim
of right. A holding that is less than the claim is limited to the
holding; a holding that is greater than the claim is limited to the
claim. Poasersion outside of the limits of the claim is not adverse
possession.,

Says Chief Justice Parker, in a case already cited:

“* And where the pussession was in & township, or other large tract of
land, which had never been divided into lots for settlement, no particular
claim, beyond the actual occupation would be indicated, and of course no

notice of any such claim of title should be preeumed.”
Bailey v. Carleton (1541), 12 New Hampshire Reports, 9, 16.

Says Mr. Justice Story, also in a case cited above, referring to
the claim of a life tenant:

¢ His title being evidenced only by possession, it must be limited in its
extent to the claim which he asserted.”

Ricard v. Williams (1822), 7 Wheuton's [U. 8. Sup. Ct.]
Reports, 59, 111.

Applying this principle to the present case, it establishes that
no matter what acts of occupation the Dutch may have per-
formed in the territory in question, the effect of these acts as
constituting an adverse possession is restricted to that portion of
the territory to which they made a claim of right. Whatever
may have been the character of their possession, to make an
adverse holding it must be included within the limits of their
claim,
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VII. Apverse HoLbiNe MusT BE CONTINUOUS AND UNINTERRUPTED.

The term of adverse holding pecessary to give title being
fixed by the Treaty at fifty years, the general principle requiring
continuity of possession must be applied to this period. No prin-
ciple is better established than that such possession, in order to
give title, must be continuous. A possession for a few years,
interrupted either by forcible dispossession or by voluntary aban-
donment, although resumed at intervals, is not such a possession
as the law requires to give title to an adverse holder. The holdiog
must continue during the whole period, without a break, If it is
broken, the holding comes to an end, and the existence of new
conditions at a later period, which amount to adverse holding,
cannot be deemed a continuance of the first holding, bat must he
considered by themselves as beginning a new period of tifty jears,
which, in order to be effective, must also be continuous,

In Agency Co. v. Short (1888), 13 Appeal Cases, 793, 798, 799,
(Privy Council), previously cited as to another principle, the plain-
tiff sought to recover land in Botany Bay, New South Wales.
The defendant set up an adverse possession for the stat-
utory period, but failed to prove that he and the persons
through whom he claimed had been in continuous possession
during that period. It was held by the Supreme Court
of New Bouth Wales, that there being no evidence that the
legal owner during the statutory period retook possession, the
statute when set running confinued to run, notwithstanding
the fact that there was a break in the chain of adverse pos-
sessors. Upon appeal to the Privy Council, it was held that the
abandonment of possession by the trespassers left the rightful
owner in the same position in all respects as he was before the
intrusion took place. Lord Macnaghten, delivering the judgment
of the Privy Council, and referring to the decision of the Colonial
Court, said:

““Their Lordships are unable to coneur in this view. They are of
opinion that if a person enters upon the land of another and holds pos-
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session for a time, and then, withont having sequired title under the
statute, sbandons possession, the rightful owner, on the abandonment, is in
the same position in all respects as he was before the intrusion took place

, The possession of the intruder, ineffectusl for the purpose of
transferring title, ceases upon its sbandonment to be effectual for any
purpose. It does not leave behind it any clond on the title of the rightful
owner or any secret process at work for the possible benefit in time to come
of some casual interloper or lucky vagrant.

«There is not, in their Lordships’ opinion, any snalogy between the
caso supposed sud the case of successive disabilities mentioned in the
statute. There the statnte ‘continues to run’ becanse there is o person in
possession in whose favor it is ronning.

The effect is the same whether the possession is terminated by
a voluntary abandonment, or by a forcible dispossession. If the
possession depends upon settlement and the settlement is aban-
doned, the adverse holding, in so far as it is based on that settle-
ment, comes to an end. A new settlement will not continue it.

Tt may or may not bo the beginning of a new adverse holding,
according to whether or not it fulfills the conditions of adverse
holding; but the adverse holding based on the previous settlement
s determined forever. The occasional existence, therefore, during
along period—two hundred years, for example—of settlements
lasting & short time, when there are long intervals of abandon-
ment during the period, count for nothing unless some one of the
settlements shows a continuous existence during the whole period
of fifty years.

A fortiori, the adverse holding is terminated by a forcible dis-
possession by the former owner. There is no more effectual mode
of putting an end to adverse possession on the part of a State than
by forcibly ousting the intruder. It is not only a cessation of the
possassion, but it is notice at the same time, and that of the clear-
est kind, that the claim, if any, is not only disputed, but is to be
resisted by all means at the disposal of the sovereign.

Applying these principles to the present case, it is found that
the settlements or other establishments relied on to prove adverse
holding were from time to time totally abandoned. Such was
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the case with the first Pomeroon colony in 1665, after an ex-
istence of seven years; the second Pomeroon colony in 1689, after
an existence of three years, and the second and third posts in
Cuyuni, each of which lasted three years. The destruction of the
first post in 1758 was a furcible dispossession by the holder of the
prior sovereignty. Each of these brought to an end the rumning
of the 50-year rule, as to that particular establishment, and each
required a new act of settlement, in order to begin adverse hold-
Ing again.

The same rule holds good as to political control. Political
control is by the Treaty made, with certain reservations, a pos-
sible foundation for adverse holding; but the political control
must be continuous for fifty years. A fitful control, exercised
spasmodically and capriciously from time to time, with long in-
tervals of apparent abandonment of control, cannot be deemed to
be sufficient under the Treaty.

Whatever the Dutch did that had a shadow of resemblance to
political control in the disputed territory they did in this spas-
modic way. There was no such thing as a systematic adminis-
tration of any district. There was no such thing as a continuous
control of any district. Of political control in the real meaning
of the word there was none whatever. Even the acts upon which
the British Case relies to prove some sort of control, and espec-
1ally those relating to the Indians, had about them no element of
continuity.

VIII. ApversE HoLpise MusT BE OPEN AND NOTORIOUS.

The theory upon which an adverse holding is allowed to make
title is that if the true owner, knowing the fact of the entry
upon and adverse possession of his land, nevertheless sleeps upon
his title and allows the encroachment to go unchecked for a long
period of time, he shall be held to have forfeited his rights. But
in order that such a principle may apply, the adverse possession
must be of such a character that the owner is chargeable with

e i



THE LAW OF ADVERSE HOLDING. 380

actual or constructive knowledge of the possession, and of the
claim under which it is taken. A silent and secret taking of
possession, in the case of individuals, cannot create an adverse
title. Much more is this true in the case of States; above all,
in territories such as those now in dispute, which were in con-
siderable part a trackless wilderness, where the opportunity
for secret and ohscure acts by individuals in remote and un-
frequented localities was exceptionally great.

So, too, with the claim of right. It is not ouly the facts
which are alleged to constitute possession that must be notorious,
but the claim must also be notorious. It mustbe brought to the
knowledge of the prior holder, actually or constructively, not
only that the adverse holder has possession, but that he has
possession under a claim of right.

No principle of the law of adverse holding is more clearly
recognized than this, and notoriety is one of the most necessary
elements of any definition or the term. Thus, the definition of
Chief Justice Kent, already quoted, is:

@ A realand substantial inclosure, an actual occupancy, a possessio peds,
which is definite, positive and notorions.”

Jackson v. Shoonmaker, 2 Johnson’s New York Reports, 230,
234 (1807).

So also says the United States Supreme Court, by Mr. Justice
Baldwin:

It guffices for this purpose, that visible and notorious acts of ownership
are exercised over the premises in controversy, for twenty-one years, after an
entry under claim and color of title.”

Ewing v. Burnet (1837), 11 Peters’ [U. B. Sup. Ct.] Reports,
41, 62,
Says Mr. Justice Story:

 An ounster, or disseisin, is not, indeed, to be presumed from the mere
fact of sole possession; but it may Le proved by guch possession, accom-
panied with & notorions claim of an exclusive right.”
Ricard v. Williams (1822), 7 Wheaton’s [U. 8. Sup. Ct.] Re-
ports. 59, 121.




390 THE LAW OF ADVERSE HOLDING.

See also Chief Justice Parker:

““There should be something more than the deed itself, and & mere
entry under it—something from which a presumption of actual notice may
reasonnbly arise. It is not necessary to show actual knowledge of the deed.
Acts of ownership, raising a reusonable presumption that the owner, with
knowledge of them, must have understood that there was a claim of title,
may be held to be constructive notice.”

Baisley v. Carlston (1841), 12 New Hampehire Reports, 9, 16.

Applying this principle to the present case, it is admitted that
many of the acts which are adduced in the British Case to indicate
possession on the part of the Dutch were of sufficient notoriety.
The fact that Dutch colonists and traders passed over the territory,
forexample, and that they passed over it for purposes of trade, was
doubtless well known, for the reason, if for no other, that a large
part of this trade was carried on by or with the Spaniards them-
selves, who, in like mmanner and to an equal extent, frequented the
territory for the same purpose; in fact, much of the trade which
is spoken of was a direct trade between the Spaniards and the
Dutch themselves, and the fact has been noted that, especially
during the seventeenth century, comprising the largest part of
the period, the trade between the two colonies, particularly in
Barima, was almost wholly carried on by the Spaniards, who
came to the Dutch post and settlement, and but little by the
Dutch going to the Orinoco. It was the distinct and avowed
policy of the authorities of Esseguibo to have the trade proceed in
this way. The question of trade, however, is wholly unimpor-
tant, because there is no possible way in which it can be made the
foundation of adverse holding, for it fulfills none of the require-
ments of adverse holding.

As for the other acts upon which the claim is made, there is
no evidence that any of these had the notoriety which the law re-
quires to establish adverse holding. So as to the two or three
instances referred to of alleged cutting of timber, although no
timber was cut. So with the prospecting of Hildebrandt in the
Blue Mountains, of which some mention is made. Nothing of
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importance was ever discovered there, and it was, for that reason,
abandoned by the Company. The Spaniards never knew that it
had been carried on.

As to the maintenance of  posts,” so-called, there was no
post west of the line connecting the falls of the Cuyuni, in the
Interior, with Moruka, on the Coast, which the Spaniards did not
break up as soon as ite existence became known. We know with
what rapidity and thoroughness they acted upon the report of
Fray Benito as to the post at Quive-Kuru; and as to the second,
the Spaniards were preparing to attack it when the post was
moved, and as to the third, there is no evidence that the
Spaniards were even aware of its existence. If they were, ite
pretensions were so slight and its activities so feeble and harmless
that it might well have been left, as it was, to the natural death
which was its fate after three years of precarious existence.

Finally, in reference to the relations with the Indians. Apart
from all the other considerations excluding these relations from
the question of adverse holding, they entirely lack the element of
notoriety. They were carried on by secret intrigues and conspira-
cies. The most pronounced effect of them in this controversy,
pamely, the attacks upon Spanish missions, which the Dutch in-
stigated, were of so secret and sinister a character that the Com-
pany, even in its correspondence with the Director, referred to
them with guarded indirectness of speech, but in phrases beneath
which lay an unmistakable meaning. The Director hinted that
he could bring about an attack. The Company adopted the hint,
and hinted back that he should do it, but cautioned him that it
must be done covertly and secretly. *‘If you can,” says their ex-
traordinary letter of September 9, 1749 (B. C. II, 51), “ by indi-
rect means and without yourself appearing therein, bring it about
that the Spaniards be dislodged from the forts and buildings
. . . you will do well to accomplish this.” And the burning
of the missions and the murder of the missionaries followed in due
course. Certainly these acts, however else they may be charac-
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terized, purposely and actively shunned that notoriety which is
required to establish adverse holding. .

The process, of acquiring prescriptive rights by ntea]t.h is
precisely what the law forbids, and it is to prevent this that
it exacts that adverse holding shall be under a notorious
claim. Itis the laches of the owner that justifies the rule by
which a wrongful possession may grow into a title; but the owner
is not chargeable with laches unless he has notice that the pos-
session is held under a claim, and lie has no such notice where the
acts by which the possession is sought to be established are not
inconsistent with the ownership of another, or where the adverse
claimant studiously refrains from advancing his claim and is
silent where he ought to speak.

Before dismissing this subject it may be well to contrast the
Spanish claim and their method of enforcing it with that which
the Dutch Company imposed upon the Director-General. Accord-
ing to the latter's own testimony in his Memorandum of 1764
(V. C. II, 157), he Bays:

““ What can we expect from . . . the removal of the Spanish
colonies in (Guayuna so much nearer to our boundaries ? The latter go

to work openly, like a proud nation, and they can therefore be better op-
posed, an open enemy never being so dangerous as a secret one.”
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